
Contact: Priya Patel 
Telephone: (01344) 352281 
priya.patel@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
Date Published: 28 May 2008 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 

05 JUNE 2008 
 

TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the above Commission on 05 June 2008 at 
7.30 pm in the Kitty Dancy Room at Sandhurst Town Council, to transact the 
business set out in the attached agenda.  

 
 Alison Sanders 
 Director of Corporate Services 
 

Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
Councillor Edger (Chairman) 

Councillor McLean (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillors Mrs Birch, Brunel-Walker, Burrows, Finnie, Leake, Mrs Shillcock, Thompson, 
Virgo, Ms  Whitbread and Worrall 

 
Substitute Members of the Commission 

Councillors Baily, Mrs Beadsley, Beadsley, Browne, Dudley, Mrs Pile and Wade 
 

Church Representative Members* 
Mr G S Anderson and Mr M G Gibbons 

 
Parent Governor Representative Member* 

Mr I Sharland 
 

EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm: 

1 Leave the building immediately 
2 Follow the green signs 
3 Use the stairs not the lifts  
4 Do not re-enter the building until told to do so 

 
Alison Sanders, Director of Corporate Services 

Easthampstead House, Town Square, Bracknell, Berkshire, RG12 1AQ 
*with voting rights in respect of education matters only. 

 



 
THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 

05 June 2008 (7.30 pm) 
Kitty Dancy Room at Sandhurst Town Council. 

 
AGENDA 

 
 Page No 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS   

 To receive apologies for absence and to note the attendance of any 
substitute members.  
 

 

2. MINUTES AND MATTERS ARISING  1 - 6 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission held on 13 March 2008.  
 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND PARTY WHIP   

 Members are asked to declare any personal or prejudicial interest and 
the nature of that interest, including the existence and nature of the 
party whip, in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting.  
 

 

4. URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS   

 Any other items which, pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chairman decides are urgent.  
 

 

5. EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S ANNUAL AUDIT AND INSPECTION 
LETTER  

7 - 36 

 To consider the Annual Audit and Inspection Letter of March 2008 from 
the Audit Commission, presented by Dr Steven Shuttleworth, Audit 
Commission. 
  
 

 

6. INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL ASSURANCE REPORT 2007/08  37 - 56 

 To consider the Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2007/08.  
 

 

7. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT  57 - 120 

 To consider the Chief Executive’s Corporate Performance Overview 
Report for the third quarter (October to December) of 2007/08.  
 

 

8. PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORTS (PMR)  121 - 210 

 To consider the latest trends, priorities and pressures in terms of the 
fourth quarter (January to March) of 2007/08 as reported in the PMRs 
for: 
 

a. The Chief Executive’s Office and  
b. The Corporate Services Department 

 
Please bring the previously circulated Performance Monitoring 
Reports to the meeting. Copies are available on request and 

 



attached to this agenda if viewed online.  
 

9. UPDATE ON THE LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT WORKING GROUP   

 A verbal update from the Chairman.  
 

 

10. CPA CORPORATE ASSESSMENT FINAL AUDIT COMMISSION 
REPORT AND IMPROVEMENT PLAN  

211 - 260 

 To consider the Council’s Corporate Assessment Improvement Plan, 
produced following the Audit Commission’s publication of their final 
report on their Corporate assessment of the Council. 
 
Copies of the Corporate Assessment Report (Appendix A) are 
available on request from Priya Patel (Tel: 01344 352281) or are 
attached to this agenda if viewed online. Alternatively the report 
can be viewed at:  
www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/corporate-assessment-report-
february-2008.pdf 
   
 

 

11. ROAD TRAFFIC CASUALTIES - WORKING GROUP REPORT  261 - 278 

 To note the report on Road Traffic Casualties by a Working Group of 
the Environment, Culture and Communities Scrutiny Panel.   
 

 

12. UPDATES FROM PANEL CHAIRMEN   

 To receive verbal updates from Overview and Scrutiny Panel Chairmen 
and the Chairman of the Joint East Berkshire Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  
 

 

13. EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN  279 - 284 

 Forthcoming items on the Executive Forward Plan of a corporate nature 
are attached for consideration.   
 

 

14. WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2008/09 MUNICIPAL YEAR  285 - 290 

 To consider the indicative work programme for Overview and Scrutiny 
for 2008/09.  
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
13 MARCH 2008 
(7.30  - 9.50 pm) 

 
Present: Councillors Edger (Chairman), Baily, Browne, Brunel-Walker, Finnie, 

McLean, Ms  Whitbread, Worrall and  
 
Councillor Beadsley (Substitute for Mrs Beadsley) 
  
Mr I Sharland (Parent Governor Representative) 

 
Apologies for absence were received from:  

 Councillors Thompson, Mrs Beadsley, Mrs Birch and Leake 
Mr G S Anderson (Church Representative) 

 
Also Present: Alison Sanders, Director of Corporate Services 

Jo Alderson, Head of Procurement 
Richard Beaumont, Head of Performance & Scrutiny 
Sally Hendrick, Head of Audit & Risk Management 
Alan Nash, Head of Finance 
Priya Patel, Democratic Services Officer 
 

59. Minutes and Matters Arising  
 
Minute 58 – Executive Forward Plan 
Second paragraph, first sentence, remove Councillor Worrall, subject to this 
amendment, it was 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission 
held on 17 January 2008 be approved as a correct record, and signed by the 
Chairman. 
 
 
Matters Arising 
 
Minutes 52 – Corporate Performance Overview Report (CPOR) 
The Director of Corporate Services reported that in relation to CC01 (percentage of 
people who feel that people get on well in their local area) the Borough had reported 
this to be 54% in 2006, however the Audit Commission had used an alternative 
denominator and had reported that it was 81%. This put the Borough into the second 
to top quartile. Members asked that in future they receive both the Audit 
Commissions figures as well as the fuller figures from the Residents’ survey. 
 
Minute 54 – The Council’s Budget Consultation 
The Head of Performance and Scrutiny agreed to check whether Councillor Worrall 
had received a response to his query on tree works.  
 
 

60. Declarations of Interest and Party Whip  
 
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting or indications that 
Members would be participating whilst under the party whip. 
 
 

61. Internal Audit Plan 2008/09  

Agenda Item 2

1



 

 
The Head of Audit and Risk Management presented a report that sought the 
Commission’s approval for the proposed Internal Audit Plan 2008/09. She stated that 
a detailed plan had been drafted to satisfy the legal requirements of a Local Authority 
Internal Audit Service, including maintaining an ‘adequate and effective’ audit of the 
Council’s accounting records and providing an annual opinion on the adequacy of the 
Council’s control environment. 
 
Members asked if the Plan recognised the new directorates. Officers reported that 
whilst discussions had been based on the existing structure, the Plan would be 
applied to the new structure. 
 
In response to Members’ queries around the computer audit, officers stated that 
internal audit would focus on IT systems, process and control, access and security as 
well as software and how it was used by the Council in practice. 
 
In addition, officers stated that the number of days spent on each element of the audit 
was associated with the level of risk involved. Members noted that the total number of 
days reflected the reduction of internal audit work consequent on the housing 
transfer, also that External Audit had increased their planned audit days for 2008/09. 
 
The Commission approved the proposed Internal Audit Plan 2008/09. 
 
 

62. Performance Monitoring Reports (PMR)  
 
The Commission was asked to consider the latest trends, priorities and pressures in 
terms of the third quarter October to December 2007/08 as reported in the 
Performance Monitoring reports for the Chief Executive’s Office and the Corporate 
Services Department. 
 
The Director of Corporate Services highlighted a number of areas of the 
Department’s work over the third quarter as well as detailing some of the work the 
Department would be working towards in the final quarter. 
 
In terms of progress made against the Service Plan, the Director of Corporate 
services reported that Outcome 11.4 (Joint Arrangements) had not been met. 
Pressure of work within the Legal Services section had dictated that the review was 
unlikely to be completed in this Municipal year, although most of the major joint 
arrangements had been reviewed and revised agreements had been put in place for 
some of the arrangements where necessary. 
 
The Commission queried the percentage of staff appraisals being undertaken in other 
departments. The Director of Corporate Services reported that it was generally very 
high in all departments and that none of the departments had less than a 70% return. 
In addition the Corporate Services Department and the Education, Children’s 
Services and Libraries departments had achieved Investors in People status. 
 
In response to Members queries, the Director of Corporate Services reported that the 
Civic Hub’s technical requirements aimed to achieve a ‘BREAM rating’ of excellent. 
This would be monitored by consultants to ensure it was achieved. In terms of 
furniture, some new furniture would be procured whilst existing good quality furniture 
would also be utilised.  
 
 

2



 

The Head of Performance and Scrutiny outlined some of the notable achievements of 
the Chief Executive’s Office over the third quarter. He stated that a great deal of time 
and effort had gone into the CPA inspection from the Chief Executive’s Office. The 
CPA Inspection report was due to be considered by the Executive in the following 
week. 
 
In terms of progress against the Service Plan he reported that there were three 
actions that were causing concern: 
 

i) Internal regeneration strategy for town centre, 
ii) Economic development – a list of all existing economic activity was due to 

be compiled with a view to assessing whether to launch an Economic 
Partnership. 

iii) Older Persons Strategy – the Strategy would be an extensive piece of 
work and it was unlikely that it would be complete by April 2008.  

 
The Commission raised a query in reference to page 8, paragraph 1.1.5 of the 
Performance Monitoring Report that stated ‘ensure Members and Scrutiny Function 
are involved in the development of the Town Centre.’ The Head of Performance and 
Scrutiny stated that Overview and Scrutiny were kept regularly informed of progress 
on the town centre regeneration and that Members had decided not to include a 
review in the work plan for the Commission. Members could consider adding this to 
their work plan, however it needed to be recognised that the work plan was already 
crowded. 
 
The Chairman stated that it was important to complete the work on the Older 
People’s Strategy. 
 
The Commission raised the following queries, which the Head of Performance and 
Scrutiny agreed to follow up after the meeting: 
 

i) Section 4, CAB and New Hope relocations are detailed, was there any 
reason why the Look In was not mentioned? (Councillor Beadsley to be 
provided with a response) 

ii) Why would the CPO Secretary of State decision be as late as the 
summer? (Councillor McLean to be provided with a response) 

iii) The target for BV127a (violent crime) officers to verify that this is correctly 
shown as green. (Ian Sharland to be provided with a response) 

iv) Members queried whether the reduction in crime was genuine and 
requested that future reports showed both British Crime Survey figures 
and CADIS figures.  

 
 

63. Procurement Update Report  
 
The Head of Procurement presented a report that asked the Commission to note the 
continued progress being made by the procurement function. She reported that the 
Council spent in excess of £90m p.a. on the procurement of external goods and 
services. The recently approved revenue budget proposals contained annual savings 
of £370,000 (£200,000 in 2008/9 and a further £170,000 in 2009/10) which needed to 
be generated through procurement. 
 
The Head of Procurement reported that the recent Corporate Performance 
Assessment had reflected positively on the Council’s procurement function stating 
that ‘the Council had a firm basis for effective procurement’. 
 

3



 

The Commission raised concerns about maverick spending in a few areas and felt 
strongly that it should be closely monitored. The Director of Corporate Services 
reassured the Commission that maverick spending was not a large scale problem 
and that it was tackled when it arose. The Council operated a devolved purchasing 
model, which meant that instances of maverick spending could occasionally arise. 
The Commission asked that officers brought back a report to them detailing levels of 
maverick spending across the year, whether there was a case to centralise 
procurement and a description of the system used for internal approval of 
procurement actions. 
 
 

64. Corporate Community Cohesion Strategy 2006/07 - Annual Report  
 
The Commission considered a report that gave them a detailed progress report on 
the implementation of the Council’s Corporate Community Cohesion Strategy during 
2006/07. The Director of Corporate Services reported that the new Strategy would be 
approved by the Executive in April. 
 
She reported that all of the 72 Key Tasks in the Strategy had been completed within 
their respective timescales, with the majority ahead of schedule. In addition, of the 25 
performance indicators where information was available, the Council’s performance 
has seen 12 improve; 8 remain stable and only 5 decline. In light of this progress, the 
Council was well placed to build on its achievements and to move the Community 
Cohesion agenda further forward via the current development of its new strategy for 
2008-2011. 
 
The major performance indicator by which the Council was measuring its progress in 
Community Cohesion was the “percentage of people who feel that people from 
different backgrounds get on well together”. This had been measured by survey in 
2003 and 2006. The results showed that there had been a dramatic improvement, 
with those that agree with this statement increasing from 66% in 2003 to 81% in 
2006, which brings the Council into the top 2nd quartile when compared nationally. 
This was clearly a major achievement for the Council. 
 
One of the major pieces of work undertaken to support the Community Cohesion 
Strategy had been the completion of the Black and Minority Ethnic communities’ 
audit. The community profile of the Borough had changed vastly since the Census 
published its figures of 5% of the population being from a black or minority ethnic 
background in 2001. It was now around 12%, it was important to monitor this 
information so that service provision could be informed. 
 
In response to Members’ queries, the Director of Corporate Services stated that 
consideration could be given to incorporating Shopmobility into the work plan in the 
new strategy.  
 
With reference to page 51, paragraph 4.5, the Director of Corporate Services agreed 
to provide an update to Councillor Baily on the Accessible Hackney Carriage policy.   
 
 

65. Overview and Scrutiny Quarterly Progress Report  
 
The Commission received a quarterly progress report on Overview and Scrutiny. 
Members highlighted that with reference to page 83 of the report – Care Homes, a 
scoping document would be worked up in the following week.  
 

4



 

Members reported that a meeting had now been scheduled for the Annual Health 
Check Working Group.  
 
 

66. Working Group on the Local Area Agreement  
 
The Commission received a verbal progress update on the working group carrying 
out a review of the Local Area Agreement (LAA).  
 
The Chairman reported that the working group had come up with 35 suggested 
priorities, in addition to 12 mandatory priorities. The draft LAA was due to be 
approved by Council by April 2008. Following this, targets needed to be agreed with 
the Government Office for the South East by June 2008. The working group would 
now be considering a scoping study and considering how this work would be taken 
forward.  
 
 

67. Updates from Panel Chairmen  
 
Adult Social Care and Housing Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
A scoping document was being worked up for a meeting scheduled in the following 
week. 
 
Environment and Leisure Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
Members of the Waste working group reported that a meeting with SITA around 
strategic waste had been very informative and had generated some good discussion. 
The Working Group hoped to be meeting with Waitrose soon. Also, another working 
group hoped to have completed a draft report on the Road Accident Plan soon. 
 
Lifelong Learning and Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
Members of a working Group had visited two secondary schools – Garth Hill and 
Brakenhale. The working group was hoping to meet teachers soon that were involved 
in work around English as an Additional Language (EAL). 
 
Health Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
A focus group was due to meet shortly. 
 
In terms of the Joint East Berkshire Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, Members 
reported that this Committee would be serviced by officers from either the Royal 
Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead or Slough Borough Council, from the end of 
March 2008 onwards. 
 
 

68. Draft Annual Report to Council on Overview and Scrutiny  
 
The Commission were invited to: consider the draft 2007/08 Annual Report on 
Overview and Scrutiny; note that comments on the draft report would be invited from 
the Corporate Management Team and the Executive; and to delegate to the 
Chairman of the Commission the finalisation of the report. 
 
The Commission thanked the Head of Performance and Scrutiny for an excellent 
report and agreed the recommendations. 
 
 

69. Executive Forward Plan  
 

5



 

The Commission considered forthcoming items on the Executive Forward Plan that 
were of a corporate nature. 
 
Councillor Finnie expressed concern that he had not been consulted on item 
1010010 (Grants Decision), as the Voluntary Sector Champion. Officers agreed to 
investigate and report back. Members also asked for a note to explain the process 
behind grant decisions. 
 
The Chairman of the Health and Safety Panel reported that for the sixth year running 
the Borough had received a gold medal for Health and Safety, but that it was not 
being displayed anywhere in the Borough. Officers agreed to look into this and 
consider possible locations of where it could be displayed and report back to 
Councillor Baily. The Commission congratulated staff on the achievement of this 
award for the sixth year running.  
 
The Chairman informed Members that the next meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission on 5 June 2008 would be held at Sandhurst Town Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

6



 

 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 

5 June 2008 
 

 
EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S ANNUAL AUDIT AND INSPECTION LETTER  

 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 This report invites the Commission to consider the Annual Audit and Inspection 
Letter of March 2008 from the Audit Commission, presented by Dr Steven 
Shuttleworth. 

 
 
2 SUGGESTED ACTION 
 

2.1 That the Annual Audit and Inspection Letter be noted. 
 
 
3 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 At its meeting on 18 March, the Council’s Executive considered the Annual Audit and 
Inspection Letter and noted that the letter would subsequently be considered by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission at its meeting on 5 June 2008. The Executive 
resolved that: the Chief Executive be authorised to respond to the Relationship 
Manager on behalf of the Council having regard to any issues raised during the 
course of the discussion; and that Directors have regard to the areas for improvement 
when preparing their service plans for 2008/09 to ensure that appropriate action is 
taken to improve services where a need has been identified. 

 
 
Contact for further information 
 
Richard Beaumont – 01344 352283 
e-mail: Richard.beaumont@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
 

Agenda Item 5

7



8

This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter 

March 2008 

Annual Audit and 
Inspection Letter 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

9



© Audit Commission 2008 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 020 7828 1212 Fax: 020 7976 6187 Textphone (minicom): 020 7630 0421 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk

External audit is an essential element in the process of accountability for public money and 
makes an important contribution to the stewardship of public resources and the corporate 
governance of public services. 

Audit in the public sector is underpinned by three fundamental principles. 

 Auditors are appointed independently from the bodies being audited. 

 The scope of auditors' work is extended to cover not only the audit of financial 
statements but also value for money and the conduct of public business. 

 Auditors may report aspects of their work widely to the public and other key 
stakeholders. 

The duties and powers of auditors appointed by the Audit Commission are set out in the 
Audit Commission Act 1998, the Local Government Act 1999 and the Commission's 
statutory Code of Audit Practice. Under the Code of Audit Practice, appointed auditors are 
also required to comply with the current professional standards issued by the independent 
Auditing Practices Board.  

Appointed auditors act quite separately from the Commission and in meeting their statutory 
responsibilities are required to exercise their professional judgement independently of both 
the Commission and the audited body. 

Status of our reports 

This report provides an overall summary of the Audit Commission’s assessment of the 
Council, drawing on audit, inspection and performance assessment work and is prepared by 
your Relationship Manager.

In this report, the Commission summarises findings and conclusions from the statutory 
audit, which have previously been reported to you by your appointed auditor. Appointed 
auditors act separately from the Commission and, in meeting their statutory responsibilities, 
are required to exercise their professional judgement independently of the Commission (and 
the audited body). The findings and conclusions therefore remain those of the appointed 
auditor and should be considered within the context of the Statement of Responsibilities of 
Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit Commission. 

Reports prepared by appointed auditors are: 

 prepared in the context of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited 
Bodies issued by the Audit Commission; and 

 addressed to members or officers and prepared for the sole use of the audited body; no 
responsibility is taken by auditors to any member or officer in their individual capacity, or 
to any third party. 

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille, on tape, or in a 
language other than English, please call 0844 798 7070. 

10



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter Contents  3

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Contents

Key messages 4

Action needed by the Council 4

Purpose, responsibilities and scope 6

How is Bracknell Forest Borough Council performing? 7

Our overall assessment - the CPA scorecard 7

The improvement since last year - our Direction of Travel report 8

Service inspections 19

The audit of the accounts and value for money 21

2006/07 audit reporting 21

2007/08 audit work in relation to housing stock transfer 23

Performance audit work 23

Additional services 24

Looking ahead 26

Closing remarks 27

Availability of this letter 28

11



4 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  Key messages 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Key messages 
1 This report provides an overall summary of the Audit Commission's assessment 

of the Council. This 'Direction of Travel assessment' draws on the findings and 
conclusions from the audit of the Council, and from inspections and other work 
that have been undertaken in the last year by the Commission and other 
inspectorates including a corporate assessment. It also draws on a wider analysis 
of the Council's performance and improvement over the last year, as measured 
through the Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) framework. 

2 The report is addressed to the Council, and in particular has been written for 
councillors; but is available as a public document for stakeholders, including 
members of the community served by the Council. 

3 The main messages for the Council included in this report are as follows. 

 The Council has improved to be a 4 star council, and is now assessed as 
improving strongly. Its corporate ability to improve is good. 

 It has significantly improved services in 2007. Many services are improving 
well and much faster than other councils. It has made good progress in 
addressing last year's areas of concern - adults’ social care, housing 
management, supporting people services and community safety - and made 
good community improvements. Overall customer satisfaction and value for 
money are good. 

 The Council has challenging ambitions and priorities that reflect the 
community’s needs. It has clear and robust plans to deliver them with 
partners, and allocates resources accordingly. It has the capacity to deliver its 
plans, and uses performance management well to drive improvement. 

 The Council needs to further improve some aspects of its corporate 
approach, as identified by the Corporate Assessment. There also are some 
areas for further service improvement to build on this year's success, 
including addressing data quality weaknesses identified by the auditor. 

Action needed by the Council 

4 The recent Corporate Assessment report confirms that the Council and its 
partners have developed clear and challenging ambitions that reflect community 
needs, and are informed by good knowledge of what is important to local people. 
It has clear priorities supported by robust plans and resources allocated 
accordingly, that provide a sound basis for delivering future improvements. The 
Council can show significant achievement in all its priority areas, and has a 
history of achievement in most services and in improving its weaker service 
areas. In this positive context, councillors need to maintain continued focus 
to build on these improvements, including acting on the recommendations 
of the Corporate Assessment.

12



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter Key messages  5

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

5 The Corporate Assessment identifies three areas for corporate 
improvement. The first is to progress further its current diversity and equalities 
work and ensure this informs all future service planning and delivery, to improve 
the outcomes for minority communities and to ensure services meet the needs of 
all sections of the community. Second, the Council should develop a medium and 
longer-term workforce plan, and coordinate this plan with partners, to ensure that 
its workforce meets future service needs and capacity challenges. Third, the 
Council needs to build on work to understand and reduce the sustainability 
impacts of its own activity, to help it to meet its obligations under the Nottingham 
Declaration and provide clearer community leadership on this issue.

6 The Council should implement the auditor's recommendations on data 
quality arrangements, to ensure the continued effectiveness of its 
performance management. Areas that need strengthening are completing a 
data quality strategy and policy, putting in place a training programme for staff, 
and resolving some inconsistencies of approach in data management.

7 The main area for further service improvement is to develop more specific 
actions and targets to address the fear of crime. The local Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Partnership and the Council need to ensure that their actions and 
initiatives to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour also lead to changed 
perceptions that properly reflect the area's relatively low overall crime levels.

8 The Council needs to further develop some areas in adults' social care. Key
issues are to ensure better use of pooled budgets and health act flexibilities; 
respond to the diverse needs of minority ethnic groups that require more 
individually tailored services; and further reduce the high costs of intensive social 
care. In addition the Council should also further improve the level of tele-care 
equipment provision, in partnership with other agencies; reduce delayed transfers 
of care; and increase the number of carers receiving short breaks.

9 The Council also needs to improve some aspects of children's and young 
people's services. Key issues are to improve further the standards in boys’ 
attainment, especially in writing and English in Key Stages 2 and 3; develop a 
strategy to improve education and related provision for 14 to 19 year-olds, and 
implement it speedily, including improving the joint provision of Level 2 and Level 
3 courses across schools and colleges; and with partners, reduce the overall 
numbers of young people not in education, employment and training.

10 Looking ahead, the Council and its partners need to work closely together 
over the next year to ensure that, together, they are ready to jointly meet 
the expectations of the new Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA) 
performance assessment framework. The CAA will focus on the future 
prospects for local areas and the quality of life for people living there, and will 
emphasise the experience of citizens, people who use services and local 
taxpayers. It will therefore assess the effectiveness of local partnership working. 
This contrasts to the current CPA framework, which is based on assessing the 
performance of councils only. In this context, the Council and its partners need to 
jointly agree areas for medium term improvement that reflect key Sustainable 
Communities Strategy objectives as part of the new Local Area Agreements – 
and all will need to accept joint responsibility for delivering them.

13



6 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  Purpose, responsibilities and scope 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Purpose, responsibilities and scope 
11 This report provides an overall summary of the Audit Commission's assessment 

of the Council. It draws on the most recent Comprehensive Performance 
Assessment (CPA) including our Direction of Travel assessment; the findings and 
conclusions from the audit of the Council for 2006/07; the results of any 
inspections carried out by the Audit Commission under section 10 of the Local 
Government Act 1999 since the last Annual Audit and Inspection Letter, including 
the recent Corporate Assessment; and assessments provided by other 
inspectorates and regulators during 2007. It summarises the key issues arising 
from the CPA and any such inspections and assessments. 

12 We have addressed this letter to councillors, as it is the responsibility of the 
Council to ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the conduct of its 
business and that it safeguards and properly accounts for public money. We have 
made recommendations to assist the Council in meeting its responsibilities. 

13 This letter also communicates the significant issues to key external stakeholders, 
including members of the public. We will publish this letter on the Audit 
Commission website at www.audit-commission.gov.uk. 

14 Your appointed auditor is responsible for planning and carrying out an audit that 
meets the requirements of the Audit Commission’s Code of Audit Practice (the 
Code). Under the Code, the auditor reviews and reports on: 

 the Council’s accounts;  

 whether the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources (value for money 
conclusion); and  

 whether the Council's best value performance plan has been prepared and 
published in line with legislation and statutory guidance. 

15 The appointed auditor until March 2007, responsible for all work related to the 
2006/07 and previous audits, was KPMG LLP. The auditor from April 2007, 
responsible for the 2007/08 audit, is the Audit Commission. The audit work 
reported in this letter primarily relates to 2006/07 and is therefore mainly based 
on information provided by the out-going auditor. 

16 We have listed the reports issued to the Council relating to the 2006/07 audit and 
2007 inspection work at the end of this letter. 

14



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter How is Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
performing?  7

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

How is Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council performing?

Our overall assessment - the CPA scorecard 

17 The Audit Commission’s overall assessment is that Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council is improving strongly, and we have classified the Council as four star in 
its current level of performance under the Comprehensive Performance 
Assessment.

18 These assessments have been completed in all single tier and county councils 
with the results shown in Figure 1. 

Figure 1 CPA Results for Single Tier and County Councils, 
2007

Source: Audit Commission 

19 The Council has significantly improved services in 2007, with many improving 
well and much faster than other councils. Adults’ social care, housing 
management and benefits provision have all improved well. Education and 
children’s services generally and environment services, especially recycling rates, 
continue to perform well and improve. The Council provides good community 
leadership, and works well with its partners. It has made good community 
improvements such as health, street scene and access to services, and is 
improving community safety. Overall customer satisfaction and value for money 
are good.

20 The Council has challenging ambitions and priorities that reflect the community’s 
needs. Clear and robust plans exist to deliver them with partners, and resources 
are allocated accordingly. The Council is progressing work to further understand 
the impact of recent demographic changes, to inform the continuous update of its 
plans. It has made very good progress in the past year with its plans to 
regenerate Bracknell town centre, and to improve waste recycling and housing 
standards. It has the capacity to deliver its plans, and uses performance 
management well to drive improvement. 

15



8 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  How is Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
performing?

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

21 Table 1 shows the Council’s detailed scores against the CPA framework. 

Table 1 Our overall assessment - the CPA scorecard 

Element Assessment 

2005 2006 2007 

Direction of Travel judgement Improving 
well 

Improving
adequately 

Improving
strongly 

Overall 3 star 3 star 4 star 

Previous 2004 corporate 
assessment/capacity to improve, 
as included in overall CPA 
judgement in 2007 

Note: 2007 assessment scored 
'3'; but 2004 score used (ie until 
all councils' assessments are 
concluded in 2008) 

4 out of 4 4 out of 4 4 out of 4 

Current performance out of 4 out of 4 out of 4 

Children and young people * 3 3 3 

Social care (adults) * 2 2 3 

Use of resources * 3 3 3 

Housing 1 2 4 

Environment 2 3 3 

Culture 3 2 2 

Benefits 4 3 4 

 (Note: * these aspects have a greater influence on the overall CPA score) 
(1 = lowest, 4 = highest) 

The improvement since last year - our Direction of 
Travel report 

The Council's new priorities 

22 As reported in last year's letter, the Council recognised that a key task following 
the May 2007 elections was to update its priorities and re-align as necessary the 
resources to deliver them. The Council adopted its new priorities in October 2007. 
To improve the focus for its work it agreed a smaller number of corporate themes 
and fewer priorities than in its previous plan, although these remain closely linked 
to its wider ambitions for the area and its previous priorities.  

16



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter How is Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
performing?  9

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

23 The Council's five over-arching priorities, set out in its Medium Term Objectives 
2008-11, are: 

 a town centre fit for the 21st century;  

 protecting and enhancing our environment;

 promoting health and achievement;  

 creating a borough where people are safe and feel safe; and

 value for money. 

24 This Direction of Travel assessment assesses the progress made by the Council 
by reference to the new priorities. 

What evidence is there of the Council improving outcomes?  

Overview 

25 The Council is improving strongly, since over the past year it has improved its 
priority services and made good progress to address previous concerns, and its 
rate of improvement is much faster than comparable councils. It has a good 
corporate ability to improve, recognised by its score in the 'harder test' Corporate 
Assessment report published in February 2008. The improvements in the past 
year have resulted in increased scores for Adults' Social Care, Benefits, and 
Housing in the Council’s CPA service scores published in February 2008, and the 
overall score improving from '3' to '4' stars.

26 The Corporate Assessment concludes that the Council can show significant 
achievement in all its priority areas, and has a history of achievement in most 
services and in improving its weaker service areas. As a result, 72 per cent of 
local people believe that the Council is making the local area a better place to 
live. As reported last year, customer satisfaction with Council services remains 
above average when compared to other councils.  

27 Achievement, as demonstrated by the latest national performance indicators for 
2006/07, is good. The Council generally provides better services than 
comparable councils. It has 40 per cent of top-performing performance indicators, 
compared to the single tier council average of 29 per cent, and a further
19 per cent are above average. Only 12 per cent are worst-performing. Overall, 
the Council’s rate of improvement is fast compared to similar councils. Some
72 per cent of all indicators improved in 2006/07 since the previous year, well 
above the average range for single tier councils (61 to 63 per cent). The Council 
ranks 23rd out of 388 councils for the percentage of indicators that have 
improved. This improves the very positive three year trend.  The Council's 
unaudited data for 2007/08 shows that services have continued to improve over 
the past nine months. 

28 This data indicates that the Council can be pleased with the overall quality of its 
services, and the progress it has made in improving the level that are
top-performing. However, there remain some indicators that are
under-performing, where it needs to speed up the rate of improvement.

17



10 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  How is Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council performing? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

A town centre fit for the 21st century, and enhancing the environment  

(i) Overview 

29 The Corporate Assessment considers that the Council has a strong focus on and 
is achieving good outcomes in terms of promoting sustainable communities. The 
Council performs well in several areas, including waste management, planning, 
many areas of housing, and management of public spaces. The redevelopment 
of Bracknell town centre will deliver of a range of improved sustainability 
outcomes. The Council is developing plans to improve its own sustainability. 
Overall, the Council’s services continue to contribute well to the priorities of 'a 
town centre fit for the 21st century' and 'protecting and enhancing the 
environment'. However, it needs to build on work to understand and reduce the 
sustainability impacts of its own activity, to help it to meet its obligations under the 
Nottingham Declaration and provide clearer community leadership on this issue. 

(ii) Regenerating Bracknell town centre 

30 The Council - with the Bracknell Regeneration Partnership - has made major 
progress in 2007 on the £750 million town centre project, which is central to 
delivering its wider ambitions for the community. Confidence in delivering the 
project is now high. In the past year, the Council and partners have concluded a 
development agreement. Work is planned to commence in early 2009.The 
scheme aims not only to improve facilities for local people but also to attract wider 
regional employment and economic benefits. The plans for the council offices are 
ambitious in addressing sustainability, with combined heat and power systems 
and energy savings measures to reduce carbon emissions by 30 per cent.

(iii) Sustainable communities and transport  

31 The Council performs well in sustainable communities and transport. It is 
improving quicker than comparable councils, ranking 119th out of 388 with
69 per cent of 2006/07 indicators improved since last year - above the single tier 
council average (58 to 64 per cent).  This maintains the three year trend, when
82 per cent had improved (also above the average range of 69 to 75 per cent). 
Some 47 per cent of indicators are top-performing, compared to the average of 
37 per cent.

32 Sustainable transport outcomes continue to be good, though significant planned 
changes depend upon the town centre redevelopment. For example, the Council 
has built 4 km of combined footpath/cycleway in 2006/07; is on target to increase 
the number of cycling trips by 20 per cent by 2011; and is further improving public 
transport with the quality bus partnership and green travel planning. However, 
highway maintenance remains a key challenge. 

18



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter How is Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
performing?  11

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

33 The Council signed the Nottingham Declaration on climate change during 2007, 
and has started to address its own sustainability. It has waste recycling schemes 
in council offices. It purchases 'green energy' and upgraded heating systems and 
insulation to improve efficiency and reduce overall energy use. It has promoted 
green travel plans in schools. About half of schools participate in the ENCAMS 
eco-schools programme. However, the Council's own green travel plan is out of 
date, and it has not developed a full plan to reduce its overall carbon footprint.

(iv) Local environment

34 Local environment performance is good, and the Council's rate of improvement is 
fast. It ranks 75th out of 388 councils with 73 per cent of indicators improved 
since last year, well above the average range for all single tier councils
(54 to 60 per cent). This greatly improves the three year trend, when only
38 per cent of indicators improved (average range of 47 to 53 per cent), and the 
Council ranked 310th. Some 38 per cent of indicators are top-performing, 
compared to the average of 27 per cent. However, these improvements have not 
been sufficient to result in an improved CPA Environment score, which remains 
’3’ in 2007. 

35 Progress in waste management is good, and the Council continues to manage its 
public spaces well. As reported last year, it concluded a joint £611 million Private 
Finance Initiative partnership with Reading and Wokingham BCs. The immediate 
impact of this scheme, and the move to alternate weekly and improved green 
waste collection in October 2006, have led to all waste minimisation and recycling 
indicators improving in 2006/07 and since. The Council was among the  
top-performing councils nationally for recycling in 2006/07 (35.5 per cent, 
compared to the best quartile breakpoint of 31 per cent). Its latest (unaudited) 
data shows that recycling rates are now consistently just over 40 per cent. Waste 
minimisation remains a challenge, but the Council has an active education 
programme and waste levels are falling.

(v) Planning and housing 

36 The Council continues to deliver good outcomes for local people from the 
planning system. It has made good progress in its Local Development Framework 
(LDF) and supporting policies, well ahead of most councils. It dealt effectively 
with the development constraints arising from the Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area, to protect the area while allowing some development. It is now 
starting to bring forward good quality housing and development in accordance 
with regional guidance, with good use of planning powers to meet local needs. 
However, the Council has yet to implement some sustainability policies, for 
example for low energy developments and sustainable drainage schemes.  

19



12 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  How is Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council performing? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

37 Housing performance has improved strongly in the past year. Although the 
number of top-performing indicators is relatively poor - only 14 per cent, 
compared to the average of 30 per cent - the Council has improved 75 per cent of 
indicators. This is well above the average range of 59 to 65 per cent. As a result, 
the Council's CPA Housing score improved to '4' in 2007, compared to '2' in 2006 
(and '1' in 2005). The Corporate Assessment's conclusion that the Council is 
addressing local housing needs effectively, including good support to prevent 
homelessness, reflects this improvement. In this positive context, however, some 
indicators for both community housing and housing management remain weak. 
The transfer of housing management to a locally based housing association, 
Bracknell Forest Homes, in February 2008 should help to tackle some of these.

38 A key challenge for the Council in the next year will be to build on the work to 
transfer the stock, by putting in place robust arrangements to further support its 
strategic housing functions. 

(vi) Cultural services 

39 The Council generally performs well in culture and its performance is improving. It 
has 40 per cent of top-performing indicators, well above the single tier council 
average of 30 per cent. Performance on sport and recreation is top-performing or 
above average. Satisfaction indicators for museums, libraries and culture are 
below average or worse, but only the libraries indicator is directly related to the 
Council's service provision. As a result, the Council's CPA Culture score remains 
‘2’ in 2007, the same as in 2006.

Promoting health and achievement 

 (i) Understanding community needs 

40 The Corporate Assessment considers that the Council understands its 
communities, uses good analysis of needs, and communicates well to residents 
and other stakeholders. It provides good access to its services and develops 
improvements for local people based on its broad knowledge of local need. The 
Council has made good progress on two aspects of this in 2007. First, it has 
focused effort on further understanding the impact of recent demographic 
changes, to ensure that its priorities address minority needs and to inform the 
continuous update of its plans. Second, the Council has developed an ambitious 
scheme to grow and develop the local workforce, including opportunities for 
people in its most deprived wards, to maximise employment benefits from the 
town centre scheme and ensure a better labour supply for local employers. 

(ii) Children and young people 

41 The picture reported last year by the Office for Standards in Education (Ofsted) 
remains true in 2007: the Council performs well in providing services for children 
and young people, and is improving. Service management remains good. The 
CPA Children and Young People score remains ‘3’ in 2007, the same as 2006. 
The Corporate Assessment reflects this positive assessment, noting that 
outcomes for children and young people in Bracknell Forest are good. 

20



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter How is Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
performing?  13

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

42 The Council consistently delivers children and young people services which make 
an increasingly good contribution to improving achievement and well-being. 
Outcomes in being healthy are outstanding. In the other four assessment areas – 
staying safe, enjoying and achieving, making a positive contribution, and 
achieving economic well-being – outcomes are good overall. Ofsted notes that 
the service's performance management is highly regarded and is being adopted 
by all Bracknell Forest partnerships as best practice. 

43 The 2006/07 national data shows that the Council's rate of improvement last year 
was good compared to other councils, in the context that a very high proportion of 
indicators are top-performing. Some 77 per cent of indicators improved, above 
the single tier council average (67 to 71 per cent), and the Council ranked 31st 
out of 150 for the percentage of improved indicators. It now has 69 per cent of 
top-performing indicators (average 32 per cent). Most indicators for both 
education and child protection are top-performing or above average. The latest 
data shows that educational attainment improved further overall in 2007.

44 In this very positive context, Ofsted have identified some areas for improvement. 
The Council needs to improve the number of looked after children who participate 
in their reviews and their long-term placement stability, and increase the number 
of foster care placements for adolescents and children with complex needs. It 
also needs to improve further the standards in boys’ attainment, especially in 
writing and English in Key Stages 2 and 3; and increase the joint provision of both 
Level 2 and Level 3 courses across schools and colleges. The Council, with its 
partners, also needs to reduce the overall numbers of young people not in 
education, employment and training (NEET) to the level of similar areas. 

 (iii) Healthier communities 

45 The Corporate Assessment assesses the Council's approach to promoting 
healthier communities as good, and that promoting health and well-being is a 
mainstream activity and priority. The Council has a range of initiatives and good 
capacity to promote healthier communities, with departmental service plans 
setting out the actions being taken. It focuses on wide-ranging measures to 
enable residents to pursue healthy lifestyles and maintain good levels of health. It 
promotes access to a range of physical recreation opportunities and is making 
good progress on its LAA targets on exercise and healthy schools. This 
preventative approach is effective, valued and seen as complementary by health 
partners. Life expectancy and mortality rates in the borough are improving.

21



14 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  How is Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council performing? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

46 In this context, the Council and its partners are developing a strategic approach 
through the Health and Well-Being Strategy agreed in October 2007. The 
strategy sets out clear measurable targets and actions to address locally 
identified issues, and will be further developed with the Berkshire East Primary 
Care Trust after a joint strategic needs assessment. The Council has a targeted 
approach to reducing health inequalities. It has identified the most deprived wards 
in terms of health needs, to focus work including promoting healthy eating, 
exercise and smoking cessation. This approach enables the Council and partners 
to target activities systematically, based on needs. However, partnership 
performance management and data quality could be improved further to assist 
effective strategic delivery, and this is an area that partners need to work on. 

47 The Council has used cultural services well to support its healthier community 
objective. It has increased access to physical recreation opportunities for adults 
with learning disabilities, and take-up is high. It promotes health issues with 
young people who are not in education, employment or training. The town centre 
'NRG' scheme helped over 200 young people during 2006/07, including support 
on health-related issues. These measures enable the Council to engage 
successfully on health matters with harder to reach teenagers and young adults. 

Safety and feeling safe 

(i) Community safety 

48 Community safety was an area for concern in last year's letter. Although overall 
crime rates are generally low, crime had increased over the previous two years, 
and it was unclear whether the position was improving. The Crime Reduction and 
Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP) was also not fully effective.

49 Last year we reported that the Council had taken firm steps to solve a problem of 
leadership and performance management that also affected adults' social care 
and supporting people services. As a result, at the beginning of 2007 the Chief 
Executive took over as chair of the CDRP, and moved the CDRP Team into his 
department. As a direct result the team and the partnership became much more 
performance focused. This change has resulted in significant reductions over the 
past year in the level of crime. Acquisitive crime has fallen sharply, by over  
20 per cent in the year to January 2008. There has also been a 16 per cent 
reduction in a wider range of offences, with particular successes in reducing 
vehicle crime, criminal damage, wounding and cycle theft. The Council believes 
that if this strong recent improvement can be maintained, it may be sufficient to 
enable the CDRP to achieve its target of a 12.6 per cent overall reduction in 
crime over the four-year period to March 2008.

50 The Corporate Assessment concludes that the Council and its partners are now 
performing well in building safer and stronger communities. However, it considers 
that they need to ensure their actions to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour 
also lead to changed perceptions among local people that properly reflect the 
area's relatively low overall crime levels. 

22



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter How is Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
performing?  15

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

(ii) Adults' social care 

51 Progress in adults' social care in 2007 has been strong, following the steps taken 
by the Council to solve the problem of leadership that had resulted in continuing 
under-performance. In late 2006 the Commission for Social Care Inspectorate 
(CSCI) assessed adult social care services as serving some people well with 
promising capacity for improvement. In 2007, the Council has improved this 
position, so that CSCI now assess the service as 'good' with promising capacity 
for improvement. As a result, the CPA Adults’ Social Care score has improved to 
‘3’, compared to '2' as 2006. The Corporate Assessment reflects this positive 
assessment, considering that the Council is performing well in promoting and 
supporting the independence and well-being of older people. 

52 The Council has addressed important areas of concern that were identified last 
year. Good strategic leadership has resulted in a clear performance management 
culture becoming established across the department. It now has a consistent 
approach to engaging a more diverse range of older people and carers, based on 
a clear Commissioning Strategy for Older People which it approved in March 
2007 following extensive consultation with a wide range of older people and hard 
to reach groups. The strategy, supported by a purchasing plan approved in 
October 2007 and by extra money from the Department of Health recovery 
support unit, has been used to accelerate the pace of modernisation. 

53 These changes have resulted in important improvements. They include major 
progress to improve the quality of life for people using social care services, with 
most of the relevant performance indicators showing improvement. Changes 
include a major shift in the in-house provision of tele-care equipment; improved 
access to services for harder to reach groups such as the black and minority 
ethnic (BME) community, with equality impact assessments completed; and a 
newly-formed adult protection forum and specialist adult protection co-ordinator. 

54 The 2006/07 performance data reflects the scale of change. It shows that 
services for older people and healthier communities have improved fast 
compared to other single tier councils. The Council is ranked 4th out of 150 
councils for the percentage of indicators that have improved since the previous 
year – 88 per cent (the average range is 52.5 to 59.5 per cent). It has 50 per cent 
of top-performing indicators, compared to the average of 37 per cent.

55 As a result of these improvements, CSCI now assess the Council as ‘excellent’ at 
improving older people's health and emotional well–being, and enabling 
increased choice and control.  They assess it as ‘good’ in terms of contribution to 
improving people’s quality of life, enabling people to make a positive contribution, 
freedom from discrimination or harassment, promoting economic well-being, and 
maintaining personal dignity and respect.

56 In this very positive context, CSCI have identified four areas for improvement. 
These are further improving the level of tele-care equipment provision, in 
partnership with other agencies; maintaining performance on delayed transfers of 
care (numbers increased in 2007); more funding for advocacy for learning 
disabled people; and increasing the number of carers receiving short breaks. 

23



16 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  How is Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council performing? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

(iii) Housing-related services for vulnerable people 

57 Supporting people services were also a key area for concern in last year's letter. 
In April 2007 management of the service was moved to the Council's Housing 
Division and a new interim manager, with a track record of achieving change in 
other authorities, subsequently took up post. The Council worked with the 
Commission to develop a new action plan to implement the recommendations of 
the June 2005 inspection, to more fully align the service with the needs of the 
community and other key strategies such as the housing strategy, and to make 
clear the intended outcomes for service users. In parallel, the Council has 
developed clear arrangements for performance management. 

58 A recent review by the Commission concludes that the improvement plan clearly 
identifies the issues to be addressed and the action necessary. It considers that 
suitable systems are in place to ensure progress continues or corrective action is 
taken; and that the interim manager has added capacity and expertise. As a 
result, the Council's improvement has been good, and augurs well for the future. 

59 The housing benefits service has also improved well. The Benefit Fraud 
Inspectorate (BFI) rates the service as ‘excellent’ – a CPA score of ‘4’, which 
compares to '3' in 2006. In 2006/07 the Council maintained excellent performance 
in claims administration and security (including completing interventions and 
resolving data matches), while addressing failings in handling reconsiderations, 
revisions and appeals. Maintaining an effective benefits service is important 
because the service is critical in meeting the needs of vulnerable people. 

Value for Money  

60 The Council’s auditor, KPMG, considers that the Council's use of resources and 
value for money is good, and that it is generally improving value for money.

61 Where spending is relatively high this is in line with the Council’s priorities or 
external factors, and generally delivers improved and comparatively high quality 
services. The Council's capital programme is well-managed, and it takes account 
of costs in all policy and operational decisions, using whole-life costing when 
making major investment decisions. The Council uses procurement processes to 
secure improved value for money. It continues to plan and deliver significant 
budget savings far in excess of those required by government targets. It has 
embedded the need for value for money. 

62 The Corporate Assessment notes that financial capacity remains a key challenge 
but that financial reporting and management are effective, and the Council is 
responding appropriately to this challenge.

24



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter How is Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
performing?  17

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

How much progress is being made to implement improvement 
plans to sustain future improvement? 

Robustness of the Council’s plans for improvement, and effectiveness of 
improvement planning 

63 The Council has made strong progress on its plans to sustain improvement. It 
understands the challenges it faces in delivering its ambitions for the area. 
Priorities are robust, and consistent with its overall vision. National 2006/07 
performance data shows that the Council's corporate health indicators are good 
although its rate of improvement in this area is average.

64 The Corporate Assessment scores the Council's Ambition as '4' (' well above 
minimum requirements - performing strongly'), and Prioritisation as '3' 
('consistently above minimum requirements - performing well'). It considers that 
the Council, with its partners, has developed clear and challenging ambitions that 
reflect its community's needs, and that it has an excellent understanding of the 
challenges it faces. Political leadership and managerial leadership are good and 
well-regarded. The Council is successful in delivering its priorities, in taking 
difficult decisions and in moving resources to priority areas. 

65 The Council has taken a leading role in shaping ambitions and fostering strong 
partnership working through the Bracknell Forest Partnership, and in developing 
the existing Local Area Agreement (LAA) and the new Sustainable Community 
Strategy. Its priorities to deliver these ambitions are appropriately focused on 
local and national issues, and reflect the views and needs of local communities. 
Clear and robust plans exist to deliver them with partners. For example, the LDF 
sets a clear long-term vision to 2026, with plans for over 11,000 houses and 
major urban extensions to Bracknell town. The Government Office for the South 
East has recognised the Council's progress on the LDF and its supporting 
documents as best practice.

66 The Council's budget and performance management are effective. It manages 
and prioritises its budget effectively through its medium term financial strategy 
(MTFS), with corporate, financial and service plans all linked well. It has taken 
steps to bring its budget into balance by 2010/11 in line with its high level 
priorities. There is a strong commitment across the Council to using performance 
management to drive improvement. The Corporate Assessment scores the 
Council's Performance Management as '3'.  

67 Delivery of improvement plans and projects is good. The Council's work to start 
the town centre redevelopment project is well-advanced, with development 
agreement, land acquisition and other arrangements proceeding to timetable. The 
housing stock transfer successfully met a demanding deadline. The Council is 
proceeding with the £33 million redevelopment to rebuild Garth Hill College. The 
Council opened the first two of six new children's centres as planned in
October 2007 and January 2008, with the others on target for completion in the 
next year. 

25



18 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  How is Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council performing? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

68 The Council has responded well in 2007 to the concerns raised last year about 
weaknesses in adult's social care, supporting people services, housing 
management and community safety. As discussed above, progress in these 
areas indicates that no significant weaknesses remain. It has made good 
progress to address the seven recommendations made by the Commission in 
March 2007 in relation to customer and user focus: four were completed and 
good progress had been made on two by November 2007, and all are on course 
to be completed by the target date of March 2008. It has also responded promptly 
to recommendations made by the Commission in May 2007 in relation to project 
management.

69 However, the Council has made limited progress towards improving data quality, 
as recommended by KPMG in their 2006 review. It does not have a full data 
quality strategy in place, although it is now preparing one. It has therefore not yet 
agreed a formal data quality policy or been able to put in place a training 
programme to ensure staff understand their roles and responsibilities in respect 
of data quality. There are also inconsistencies of approach in collecting, 
recording, and analysing data for some performance indicators and in the 
reporting of data across the Council. An inconsistent approach to data quality 
weakens the effectiveness of the Council's performance management. 
Addressing these issues should be an area of focus for the coming year. 

Capacity to deliver improvement plans 

70 The Council's capacity to deliver further improvement is good. The Corporate 
Assessment found that it meets effectively the capacity challenges that it faces as 
a small unitary council, scoring Capacity as '3'. The Council has knowledgeable 
and effective councillors, robust decision-making frameworks, and supportive and 
well-trained staff. It increases its capacity through good partnership working and 
service management. Success is demonstrated by good performance against 
national performance indicators in many areas and by good overall residents' 
satisfaction with the Council. This assessment is also confirmed by the Ofsted 
and CSCI annual letters, which report capacity to improve children's services and 
adults' social care services as ‘good’ and 'promising' respectively. 

71 The Council is currently reorganising its departmental structure. This will further 
improve its senior and middle management capacity, and contribute to its plans to 
bring its budget into balance in the medium term. 

26



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter How is Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
performing?  19

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

72 During 2007 the Council has taken major steps to build capacity to improve the 
condition of local housing, including sound plans to meet its LAA target for more 
affordable homes. The transfer of housing management to Bracknell Forest 
Homes will release £61 million of investment, which will enable the Council to 
meet the Decent Homes Standard for the housing it previously managed by 2012. 
Also, the Council's commitment to use a large proportion of the net sales receipts 
to directly fund affordable housing should result in an extra 200 to 250 homes 
being provided in the five-year period to 2013. In addition, the Council is part of 
the successful Thames Valley Partnership £16 million bid for government's 
Regional Housing Board funding for private sector renewal. It therefore has a 
clear plan for 2008-11 to improve private sector housing during the next three 
years, especially energy efficiency, and a good deal of money to focus on it. 

73 The Council has further strengthened its capacity by starting to implement 
improvements as part of the waste PFI project, which will provide a new 
household waste recycling centre, materials recovery facility and transfer station, 
and redevelop some existing facilities. The Council expects these facilities will 
both further improve its recycling rates and reduce its costs relative to other 
councils as disposal costs generally continue to rise. The first project - to 
completely refurbish the Longshot Lane amenity site - is due to start in April 2008. 

74 In this positive context there are some areas where the Council could further 
improve capacity to deliver its plans. The Corporate Assessment identified the 
need for it to strengthen cross-departmental learning as part of its business and 
service planning processes, to more effectively drive improvement within and 
across services. It also identified the need for the Council to develop a medium 
and longer term workforce plan for the whole organisation, to help ensure that its 
workforce meets future service needs and capacity challenges. Ofsted consider 
the 14-19 partnership needs to develop rapidly its strategy to improve education 
and related provision for this age group, and implement it speedily. CSCI 
consider that the Council needs to ensure better use of pooled budgets and 
health act flexibilities, responding to the diverse needs of a high proportion of 
BME people that require more individually tailored services, and to further reduce 
the high costs of intensive social care. 

Service inspections 

75 The Commission has undertaken one inspection at the Council during 2007:  

 Corporate Assessment – ‘3' (performing well – consistently above minimum 
requirements) (published February 2008). 

27



20 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  How is Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council performing? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

76 An important aspect of the role of the Relationship Manager is to work with other 
inspectorates and regulators who also review and report on the council’s 
performance. Relationship Managers share information and seek to provide 
‘joined up’ regulation to the Council. During the last year the Council has received 
the following assessments from other inspectorates: 

 Ofsted:  

- 2007 Annual Performance Assessment of services for children and young 
people (November 2007): 

- overall effectiveness of children’s services – ‘3’ (good); 

- capacity to improve, including management of services – ‘3’ (good); 

- Joint Area Review – ‘good' (February 2008); and 

- Youth Service - 'good' (February 2008). 

 CSCI: 2007 Annual Performance Assessment of social care services for 
adults (November 2007) and Annual Performance (Star) Rating for Social 
Services (November 2007): 

- service score for adults social care – ‘3’ (good);  

- capacity to improve – ‘3’ (promising); and 

- overall star rating of ‘2 stars’. 

 BFI: Comprehensive Performance Assessment Improvement Reporting 
(November 2007) – ‘4’ (excellent). 

77 The main conclusions and findings from these inspections and assessments have 
been included in the Direction of Travel assessment above. 

28



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter The audit of the accounts and value for 
money  21

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

The audit of the accounts and value for 
money

2006/07 audit reporting 

78 Your appointed auditor KPMG has reported separately to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission on the issues arising from the 2006/07 audit and has 
issued:

 an unqualified opinion on the Council's 2006/07 accounts;

 a conclusion that the Council made proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources in 2006/07; and

 a report on the 2007 Best Value Performance Plan confirming that it had been 
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements. 

Use of Resources 

79 The findings of the auditor are an important component of the CPA framework 
described above. In particular the Use of Resources score is derived from the 
assessments made by the auditor in the following areas: 

 financial reporting (including the preparation of the accounts of the Council 
and the way these are presented to the public); 

 financial management (including how the financial management is integrated 
with strategy to support council priorities); 

 financial standing (including the strength of the Council's financial position); 

 internal control (including how effectively the Council maintains proper 
stewardship and control of its finances); and 

 value for money (including an assessment of how well the Council balances 
the costs and quality of its services).

29



22 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  The audit of the accounts and value for 
money

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

80 For the purposes of the CPA your auditor has assessed the Council’s 
arrangements for use of resources in these five areas as follows. 

Table 2  

Element Assessment 

Financial reporting 

Financial management 

Financial standing 

Internal control 

Value for money 

4 out of 4

3 out of 4

3 out of 4

3 out of 4

3 out of 4

Overall assessment of the Audit Commission 3 out of 4

(Note: 1 = lowest, 4 = highest) 

The key issues arising from the audit 

81 The key issues arising from the audit, as reflected in the above judgements 
where appropriate, are as follows. 

 The Council improved its score in respect of financial reporting from the 
previous year. This was a result of the continued exceptional standards of the 
working papers provided to support the accounts, to which no adjustments 
were identified. Furthermore, the Council made its annual report available in a 
wide variety of formats this year. 

 Areas of improvement still remain in the Council’s risk management 
arrangements. However, with the appointment of a new Risk and Audit 
Manager, KPMG anticipate that the Council can now make significant 
progress in this area.

 The Council provided comprehensive and complete evidence to support its 
Use of Resources self-assessment. KPMG provided a full report in respect of 
their findings in this area to the Council in February 2008. 

 Overall, the Council has continued to maintain robust systems of internal 
financial control, evidenced by the limited recommendations raised by KPMG 
and the Council’s internal auditors in KPMG's review of the financial systems. 
KPMG issued a separate interim report to the Council in June 2007, 

 The Council has made limited progress to implement the recommendations 
that KPMG made in their 2006 review of the Council’s data quality 
arrangements, although the Council maintained its score of adequate. This 
should be an area of focus for the coming year. KPMG provided a report on 
their findings to the Council in January 2008. 

 KPMG identified no significant issues in the grant claims audit. 

30



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter The audit of the accounts and value for 
money  23

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

2007/08 audit work in relation to housing stock 
transfer

82 As noted in the Direction of Travel assessment, a key project for the Council this 
year has been to negotiate and successfully transfer its housing stock in February 
2008 to the newly set up housing association, Bracknell Forest Homes. As a 
matter of course, the incoming auditor will discuss with officers shortly any audit 
implications resulting from the transfer. 

Performance audit work 

83 As part of its 2007/08 audit work with Berkshire East Primary Care Trust (the 
PCT) and the three councils in the PCT area (Bracknell Forest and Slough BCs 
and the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead), the Commission working with 
KPMG has undertaken a high level review to:

 assess the effectiveness of partnership arrangements for reducing health 
inequalities across the PCT's area; and 

 assess how well health inequalities work is embedded in the work of the four 
individual partners. 

84 Across the Berkshire East area as a whole, the review found that good progress 
has been made to develop the first stage of a health inequalities strategy. There 
are three council-based partnership public health working groups; local 
communities and user groups have been involved in identifying health needs; and 
there is engagement and challenge from the all the Councils' Health and 
Overview Scrutiny Committees. However, accountability for reducing health 
inequalities in the wider East Berkshire area is not clear. In this respect there is 
no strategic coordination of joint strategic needs assessments, Local Area 
Agreements (LAAs) or health commissioning plans. Performance management of 
health inequality targets across the four partners is not joined up to support 
delivery of common outcomes.  

85 In Bracknell Forest, the Council has been committed to improving health for some 
time and undertaken a number of initiatives to improve the local position. It is 
developing a strategic approach to address this issue with its partners through 
the Health and Well-Being Strategy, which sets out clear measurable targets and 
actions to address locally identified issues. However, this strategy has only been 
in place since June 2007, so it is not yet possible to ascertain the impact that it 
has achieved. The Council takes a targeted approach to reducing health 
inequalities. It has identified the most deprived wards in terms of health needs, 
and these are now the focus for work including promoting healthy eating, exercise 
and smoking cessation. These arrangements enable the Council and its partners 
to target activities more systematically, based on identified needs.  Partnership 
performance management and data quality could be improved further to assist 
effective strategic delivery, and this is an area that partners need to work on. 

86 The main conclusions and findings from this work have been included in the 
Direction of Travel assessment above. 

31



24 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  The audit of the accounts and value for 
money

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Additional services

87 The Commission has carried out two additional voluntary projects in 2007 on 
customer and user focus, and project management. The main conclusions and 
findings from this work, including action taken by the Council, have been included 
in the Direction of Travel assessment above. 

Customer and user focus 

88 The overall objective of the customer and user focus project was to provide an 
independent health check of the Council’s approach, with particular emphasis on 
access to services and the arrangements for minorities such as people with 
disabilities and BME communities.  

89 The study concluded that the Council has worked well to improve the way that it 
engages with the community, and the Community Cohesion Working Group has 
been a positive influence in this area. The Council uses a wide variety of methods 
to help it understand the needs of the community. These have been particularly 
successful in consultation about specific issues, notably the future management 
of the housing stock and preparation of the older person’s strategy.

90 The Community Cohesion Strategy and Customer Contact Strategy have been 
instrumental in driving recent change, and have delivered significant 
improvement. The Council has a good understanding of areas yet to be 
successfully tackled to improve its user focus, specifically the need to develop 
further its use of customer relationship management techniques and to improve 
its approach to diversity. The project found that the Council's future planning 
would benefit from a more systematic and detailed assessment of what 
improvements are required and how they are to be achieved, and also from a 
corporate register listing strategies and when they are due for review. These are 
now in place.  

91  The Council offers a variety of ways in which customers can access its services. 
These include telephone, e-mails or the website as well as more specialised 
service provision such as youth clubs and tele-care services for vulnerable 
residents. Overall these access channels are effective and valued by residents. 
They are operated by staff who are polite and helpful. The biggest obstacle to 
physically accessing council services is the availability and cost of public 
transport, particularly for young and older people and people with disabilities. 

Project management 

92 The overall objective of this work was to confirm that the Council had addressed 
the problems it had experienced in implementing previous IT projects and applied 
its learning to produce a robust project management methodology. The work 
involved offering advice on where the Council's current methodology could be 
improved - particularly the processes it applied in relation to business engineering 
and change management techniques.

32



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter The audit of the accounts and value for 
money  25

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

93 The study concluded that the Council has made significant progress towards 
improving the range and quality of its computer systems, including successfully 
launching a user-friendly website offering good information and facilities for 
customers to access services electronically. However, the effectiveness of project 
management practices was variable. Each of the projects examined had 
elements of accepted project management techniques, but their effectiveness 
had been undermined by a lack of clarity about roles and responsibilities, 
inexperienced staff tackling complex situations, and insufficient capacity.

94 Despite recent progress, the study identified several areas for improvement 
including the need for: 

 a corporate approach or methodology for business process re-engineering; 

 improved skills and experience, and especially better understanding by 
project staff of operational needs, so that computer systems are integrated 
with service delivery processes rather than 'bolted on'; 

 a systematic and consistently applied project management methodology in 
which project boards, teams and individuals understand their roles and 
responsibilities, and have clear accountability and escalation processes; and 

 a more realistic assessment of risks - including complexity, the capacity 
needed to implement the projects, and timescales - and stronger quality 
assurance processes.

33



26 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  Looking ahead 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Looking ahead 
95 The public service inspectorates are currently developing a new performance 

assessment framework, the Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA). CAA will 
provide the first holistic independent assessment of the prospects for local areas 
and the quality of life for people living there. It will put the experience of citizens, 
people who use services and local tax payers at the centre of the new local 
assessment framework, with a particular focus on the needs of those whose 
circumstances make them vulnerable. It will recognise the importance of effective 
local partnership working, the enhanced role of Sustainable Communities 
Strategies and Local Area Agreements, and the importance of councils in leading 
and shaping the communities they serve. 

96 CAA will result in reduced levels of inspection and better coordination of 
inspection activity. The key components of CAA will be a joint inspectorate annual 
area risk assessment and reporting performance on the new national indicator 
set, together with a joint inspectorate annual Direction of Travel assessment and 
an annual Use of Resources assessment. The auditors’ use of resources 
judgements will therefore continue, but their scope will be widened to cover 
issues such as commissioning and the sustainable use of resources. 

97 The first results of our work on CAA will be published in the autumn of 2009. This 
will include the performance data from 2008/09, the first year of the new Local 
Area Agreements. 

34



Annual Audit and Inspection Letter Closing remarks  27

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Closing remarks 
98 This letter has been discussed and agreed with the Chief Executive. A copy of 

the letter was presented at the Executive meeting on 18 March 2008. Copies 
need to be provided to all Council members. 

99 Further detailed findings, conclusions and recommendations on the areas 
covered by the Commission's and KPMG's audit and inspection work are 
included in the reports issued to the Council during the year.

Table 3 Reports issued 

Report Date of issue 

Customer and user focus report March 2007 

IT project management report May 2007 

Interim review of financial systems report June 2007 

Audit and Inspection Plan September 2007 

Opinion on financial statements September 2007 

Value for money conclusion September 2007 

Final accounts memorandum  September 2007 

Data quality report January 2007 

Use of Resources report February 2008 

Corporate Assessment inspection report February 2008 

Annual Audit and Inspection Letter March 2008 

100 The Council has taken a positive and constructive approach to audit and 
inspection work, and I wish to thank the Council's staff for their support and 
cooperation during the audit. 

35



28 Annual Audit and Inspection Letter  Closing remarks 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Availability of this letter 

101 This letter will be published on the Audit Commission’s website at  
www.audit-commission.gov.uk, and also on the Council’s website. 

Steven Shuttleworth
Relationship Manager

19 March 2008 

36



   

 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 

5 JUNE 2008 
 

 
INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL ASSURANCE REPORT 2007/08 

(Borough Treasurer) 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Under the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government, the 

Head of Audit is required to provide an annual assurance report timed to support 
the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) which accompanies the Council’s 
annual accounts. 

 
2. HEAD OF AUDIT’S OPINION 2007/08 
 
2.1 Based on the work of Internal Audit during the year and other sources of 

assurance outlined, I can provide the following opinion: 
 

• There are robust systems of internal control in place in accordance with 
proper practices except for those specific areas summarised in 9.1 and 
9.2; 

• Key systems of control are operating satisfactorily except for the 
specific areas highlighted in 9.1 and 9.2 ; and 

• There are adequate arrangements in place for risk management and 
corporate governance. 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 

rather than to eliminate risk of failure altogether.  No system of control can 
provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, nor can 
Internal Audit give that assurance.  This statement and opinion can, therefore, 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance.  Internal control is based 
upon an on going process designed to identify and prioritise risks and to evaluate 
the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they arise. 

 
 
4. WORK OF OTHER AGENCIES AND INSPECTORATES 

 
4.1 The work of both Internal and External Audit is key to generating assurance on 

the internal control environment and the effectiveness of internal audit.   This 
annual report takes assurance from these sources and also from a number of 
independent review agencies as detailed below. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

37



   

 

 
 
 

Annual Audit and Inspection Letter 2006/07 

 
4.2 The Annual Audit and Inspection Letter 2007/08 will be published following 

completion of the audit and is expected to be published in March 2009.   The 
2006/07 Letter was discussed by the Executive at their meeting on 18 March 
2008, when Steven Shuttleworth, Audit Commission Relationship Manager, 
attended to present the document and respond to Executive Member’s questions.  
This item was then included in the Executive’s report to the Council at their 
meeting on 23 April 2008 and is on the draft agenda for the June 2008 meeting of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Commission for detailed discussion. 

 
4.3 The External Auditor gave an unqualified opinion on the Council’s accounts for 

2006/07, no material adjustments were required and no recommendations were 
made concerning the final accounts process.  The Letter also confirmed that the 
Council maintained robust systems of internal financial control and no 
recommendations were raised further to those already identified in the work 
carried out by Internal Audit. It concluded that the Council had maintained 
standards of control and process to ensure a level ‘3’ rating (out of 4) in the Use 
of Resources part of the Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA).   

 
4.4 The Letter identified several areas from the Corporate Assessment on which the 

Council needs to focus improvement efforts, these were in brief: - 
 

• Corporate Improvement – progressing equality and diversity work, 
developing medium and long term workforce planning and building on work 
to understand and reduce the sustainability impacts of our activity to help 
meet obligations under the Nottingham declaration; 

  

• Data quality – developing a data quality strategy and policy, putting in place 
a training programme and resolving inconsistencies in the approach to data 
management; 

  

• Crime and Disorder – developing more specific actions and targets to 
address the fear of crime; 

 

• Adult Social Care – ensuring better use of pooled budgets, responding to the 
diverse needs of ethnic minority groups and reducing the high cost of 
intensive social care; 

 

• Children and Young People’s Services – improving further the attainment 
standards for boys, developing a strategy for improving education provision 
for 14-19 year olds and reducing with partners the overall numbers of young 
people not in education; and 

 

• Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA) – working closely with partners to 
ensure that we jointly meet the expectations of the new CAA performance 
assessment framework. 

38



   

 

 
Plans are in place to address these weaknesses.  
 
External Audit’s Report to those charged with governance 
 

4.5 The Code of Audit Practice requires the Council’s External Auditors to report on 
the work they carried out to discharge their statutory responsibilities to those 
charged with governance prior to the publication of the financial statements.  This 
report was presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission by Greg 
McIntosh, Director of KPMG LLB (UK) at their meeting on 17 January 2008. 
 
Based on the work undertaken, KPMG issued the authority with an unqualified 
value for money conclusion concluding that there were proper arrangements in 
place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in use of resources for the 
year ended 31 March 2007. 
 
Their work on the Accounts resulted in them issuing an unqualified audit opinion 
for the year ended 31 March 2007. The Statement on Internal Control was 
considered to be in compliance with CIPFA’s guidance and was not considered 
misleading or inconsistent with other information that they were aware of from the 
audit of the financial statements.  
 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) 

 
4.6 The Council has improved from a 3 to a 4 star council and improving strongly.  

The Use of Resources evaluation was graded as 3 and it was reported that the 
Council has performed well in all the five criteria below, scoring 4 out of 4 for 
Financial Reporting and 3 in each of the remaining 4 criteria. 

 

• Financial Reporting 

• Financial Management 

• Financial Standing 

• Internal financial Control 

• Value for Money 
 

The score for Financial Reporting increased from 3 to 4 reflecting the continued 
exceptional standard of working papers to support the accounts and the fact that 
no adjustments to the accounts were identified by the External Auditor. The 
scores for the remaining criteria were maintained at the same level as 2005/06. 
The External Auditor acknowledged that risk management remained an area for 
improvement at the Council but anticipated that significant progress would be 
made following the appointment of the new Head of Audit and Risk Management.  
Considerable improvements have been made since the audit took place and 
these are detailed in paragraph 6. 
 
 

  

39



   

 

2007 Annual Performance Assessment of Services for Children and Young 
People 

 
4.7 This annual inspection carried out by OFSTED judged the Council to be a grade 

3, which means that the service consistently delivers above minimum 
requirements for users.  Outcomes in all areas were assessed as good except in 
the area of “being healthy”, where the contribution of the authority was 
considered outstanding. This was consistent with the 2006 Assessment. 

  
Some key areas for improvement were also identified, which included reducing 
fixed term exclusions in the secondary sector and reducing further the number of 
warnings , reprimands and convictions of looked after children and young people.  
These two areas had already been recognised and work to address them is 
underway through a change in exclusions policy at one particular secondary 
school and the Early Interventions Project to provide a preventative service to 
young people who are at risk of offending. 

 
 
 2008 Joint Area Review: Review of Services for Children and Young People 
 
4.8 This Joint Area Review assessed the contribution of local services in ensuring 

that children and young people at risk or requiring safeguarding are effectively 
cared for. It also considered whether the best possible outcomes were achieved 
for both children and young people who are looked after and also for those with 
learning difficulties or disabilities. The review assessed Bracknell Forest’s 
performance as good in all areas.  Two recommendations for immediate action 
were identified which were to find an appropriate way to disseminate the findings 
of the report to children and young people in the area and to ensure consistent 
management oversight and analysis of social care cases. 

 
 

2007 Annual Performance Assessment for Adult Services 
 

4.9 The annual assessment carried out by the Commission for Social Care and 
Inspection (CSCI) judged the Authority as delivering good outcomes with 
promising capacity for improvement and rated the authority as 2 star.  This is an 
improvement on the previous year when the authority was rated as only one star.   
Several areas for improvement were highlighted. These included Telecare where 
the lack of provision in partnership with other agencies was identified together 
with the fact that expenditure on Telecare is lower than at other similar councils.  

 
 
2008 Joint Inspection of Bracknell Forest Youth Offending Service 
 

4.10  This was undertaken as part of the Youth Offending Team inspection 
programme. The inspection assessed the Youth Offending Service against 8 
criteria. Judgements were made on a grading of 1 to 4. The inspection judged 
that Bracknell Forest had for one criteria achieved a grade 4, meaning excellent, 
a grade 3 meaning good for 4 criteria and was adequate for the remaining 
criteria. Nine recommendations were made to address areas for improvement 
including that vulnerability action plans and risk management plans are 

40



   

 

completed in all necessary cases and that the Youth Offending Service has 
sufficient resources  to meet the mental health and substance misuse needs of 
children and young people coming to the attention of the Youth Offending 
Service.  
 
 
2008 OFSTED Inspection of Bracknell Forest Youth Service 
 

4.11 This inspection of Bracknell Forest Youth Service was carried out under section 
136 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 which provides that the Chief 
Inspector may inspect particular local authority functions. The inspection 
assessed standards of young people’s achievement, quality of youth work 
practice, quality of curriculum and resources and leadership and management. 
Bracknell Forest Youth Service was assessed as good in all areas except 
leadership and management which was assessed as adequate/satisfactory. The 
inspection identified 4 areas for development including clarifying the aspirations 
and priorities for youth work and developing data requirements to monitor 
progress in achieving priorities. 

 
 
 Benefits Fraud Inspectorate Assessment 2007 
 
4.12 The Benefit Fraud Inspectorate assessment is undertaken as part of the CPA 

programme. In 2007, the assessment concluded that the Council had achieved a 
rating of excellent against 8 of the 13 performance measures and improved its 
overall score from 3 in 2006 to 4 in 2007 which is defined as excellent. The 
assessment recognised that Council had addressed its weaknesses in handling 
reconsiderations, revisions and appeals and maintained its excellent 
performance in completing interventions and resolving data interventions and  
data matches. 

 
Benefits is considered to be a high risk area because of the volume of 
transactions and the significant income and expenditure involved, together with 
the risk of fraudulent activity.  As a result, Council Tax and Housing Benefit 
features in the Internal Audit Plan every year and is also reviewed independently 
by External Audit for the purposes of certifying claims for government grant. The 
2007/08 internal audit reviews on Council Tax and Housing Benefit did not 
identify any significant issues and satisfactory assurance was concluded on both 
audits.   

 
 
 Audit Commission School Survey 2007 
 
4.13 This major national survey is conducted each year during the summer term. The 

survey investigates schools' perceptions of their local authority and the services 
provided to schools. 84% of Bracknell Forest schools responded to the annual 
survey, which is a slight decrease from the 89% response in 2006. For 56 of the 
82 criteria in the survey, BFBC is in the top quartile of authorities participating in 
the survey. The Authority was above average for 78 criteria and below average 
for 4 criteria. 

  

41



   

 

 The areas where the authority was perceived as being below average were the 
effectiveness of the Council’s support for combating discrimination and racism, 
training advice and support on child protection, promoting pupil attendance and 
supporting young carers to achieve positive outcomes.      

 
OFSTED School Inspections 

 
4.14 Eight OFSTED inspections were made during 2007/08 - six primary schools and 

two secondary schools.  The tables below summarise the overall conclusions in 
key areas: - 

 

School 
Achievement & 
Standards 

Leadership & 
Management 

Overall 
Effectiveness 

Meadow Vale 
Primary School  

Good Good Good 

New Scotland Hill 
Primary School  

Good Good Good 

Owlsmoor Primary 
School 

Good Good Good 

Sandy Lane Primary 
School 

Good Outstanding Good 

Ascot Heath Infant 
School  

Good Good Good 

Whitegrove Primary 
School 

Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding 

Easthampstead Park 
School 

Satisfactory Satisfactory Satisfactory 

Garth Hill College  Satisfactory Satisfactory Satisfactory 

 
 
 
5. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 
5.1 During 2007, previous guidance on governance was replaced by the 

CIPFA/SOLACE publication “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: 
Framework”. The Framework defines the six core principles that should underpin 
the governance of each local authority. 

 
5.2 The Framework recommends that authorities review their existing governance 

arrangements against the six core principles, produce an Annual Governance 

42



   

 

Statement  to replace the statement on internal control and update their Local 
Code of Governance to reflect the new best practice guidance. 

 
5.3 In March 2008, CMT established a Governance Working Group to oversee 

governance arrangements. The Borough Solicitor chairs the Governance 
Working Group and membership includes the Borough Treasurer and Head of 
Audit and Risk Management as well as representatives from the service 
directorates. The Group is drafting the Annual Governance Statement and has 
responsibility for assessing the assurances obtained to support the Statement. 
The Annual Governance Statement is to be reported to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission in September. An Action Plan to address weaknesses 
identified during the review of governance is being drawn up and progress on 
implementing this will be monitored by the Group on a regular basis.  

 
6. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
6.1 The 2006/07 CPA assessment identified that risk management remained an area 

for improvement. During 2007/08, steps have been taken to improve risk 
management arrangements at the Authority.  

 
6.2 The Strategic Risk Register was updated in December. This was facilitated by an 

external consultant based on discussions with members of the Corporate 
Management Team (CMT) followed by a workshop to agree and evaluate risks 
and assign risk owners. The Strategic Risk Register was approved by CMT on 5 
March 2008 and it was agreed that the register will now be reported quarterly to 
CMT in addition to the Strategic Risk Management Group.   

 
6.3 The Head of Finance provided training to the senior management team in 

February 2008 on the identification of strategic risks in the 2008/09 Service 
Plans. In addition, the Head of Audit and Risk Management who joined the 
Council in January 2008 reviewed the draft 2008/09 Service Plans and provided 
support and guidance to Directors and Departmental Management Teams in 
identifying risks and developing action plans to address gaps in assurances and 
controls to mitigate risk.    

 
6.4 Progress has also been made on partnership risks. A risk register covering 

operational risks for the Local Area Agreement was developed and considered by 
the Bracknell Forest Partnership Board on 20 September 2007. The register 
identified risk owners and actions to be taken forward. Arrangements are now 
being put in place to develop a strategic risk register for the new Local Area 
Agreement which comes into effect in the summer of 2008.   

 
6.5 An Internal Audit review of risk management was carried out in March 2008. 

Whilst the conclusion in the draft report is that there is satisfactory assurance, a 
number of recommendations have been made which the Head of Audit and Risk 
Management will take forward during 2008/09. These include reviewing the Risk 
Management Strategy and Guidance which has not been updated since 2006, 
clarifying the roles of the Lead Member and Officer for risk management and 
reporting the Strategic Risk Register to a Member group.  In February, the Head 
of Audit and Risk Management presented a workshop for Members on risk 

43



   

 

management. Further training for officers will be undertaken later in 2008/09 
following the updating of the Risk Management Strategy and Guidance.  

 
 
 
7. INTERNAL CONTROL 
 

Internal Audit Performance 
 
7.1 The work of internal audit is carried out using a risk based approach and a 

strategic plan.  At the start of 2007/08 a new three year strategic plan came into 
effect.  The proposed second year of the three year plan has been reviewed and 
updated where necessary in developing the Internal Audit Plan for 2008/09 which 
was considered and approved by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission on 13 
March 2008. 

 
7.2 The agreed audit plan for 2007/08 will be delivered in full, although reports for 2 

audits were still being drafted at the time of writing this report. This is a significant 
improvement on 2006/07 when 27 audits were still work in progress in June 
2007.  Some alterations were made to the original plan during the year in 
response to information gained during the year combined with known changes in 
risk.   

 
Results of 2007/08 Audits 

 
7.3  
 

ASSURANCE 2007/08 2006/07 

Full 3 4 

Satisfactory 90 80 

Limited 5 7 

None 0 1 

No opinion given 2 2 

Work in progress - 27 

Report being drafted 2 - 

Total 102 121 

 
 

44



   

 

Assurance Opinion Classifications 
 
7.4 

 
OPINION LEVEL 

 
DEFINITION 

 
Full Assurance 
 
 
 
Satisfactory 
Assurance 
 
 
 
 
Limited Assurance 
 
 
 
 
 
No Assurance 

 
There is a sound system of internal control 
designed to meet the system objectives and the 
controls are being consistently applied. 
 
There is basically a sound system of internal 
controls although there are some minor 
weaknesses and/or there is evidence that the 
level of non-compliance may put some minor 
systems objectives at risk. 
 
There are some weaknesses in the adequacy of 
the internal control system which put the systems 
objectives at risk and/or the level of compliance or 
non compliance puts some of the systems 
objectives at risk. 
 
Control is weak leaving the system open to 
significant error or abuse and/or there is 
significant non-compliance with basic controls. 
 

 
“Double Limited Assurances” 

 
7.5 The E+ Card system received a ‘limited’ level of assurance both for the 2007/08 

audit (see 9.1) and the previous year.  This arose because the supplier had not 
implemented a Priority 1 recommendation. However, since the audit was 
completed, a new supplier has been appointed. A review of the new 
arrangements is planned for early 2008/09. 

 
A “limited” assurance was also concluded for the Library System for 2007/08 (see 
9.1) and the previous year. The Library Support Services Manager has advised 
that with the current Library system, the Priority 1 recommendation to ensure 
unique user identities were used had been implemented for professional librarian 
staff and those dealing with enquiries but not for Counter staff as it was argued 
that this would require frequent logging on and off the system. Similarly, the 
Priority 1 recommendation on logical access controls would incur additional fees 
from the supplier. Given this, it is intended that these issues will be addressed in 
the new software specification. 
 
Feedback from Quality Questionnaires 

 
7.6 Quality questionnaires are sent to auditees with each draft audit report. 89 quality 

questionnaires have been issued to date. This includes one questionnaire to 

45



   

 

cover all 4 Library audits. Questionnaires have yet to be sent out for the reports 
in draft awaiting despatch and for those currently being drafted.   76 were 
returned to 27 May 2008 of 89 issued (85%).  As some reports were still in draft 
stage at the time of writing, it is expected that the remaining questionnaires will 
be returned with the response to the draft reports.  The overall response is 
positive and the results are summarised as follows: 

 

DEPARTMENT SATISFIED 
NOT 

SATISFIED 
TOTAL 

Corporate Themes 6 0 6 

Chief Executive - - - 

Corporate Services  27 1 28 

Education, Children & 
Libraries 

16 3 19 

Environment & 
Leisure 

10 0 10 

Social Services & 
Housing 

13 0 13 

Total for 2007/08 72 4 76 

Total for 2006/07 62 9 71 

 
 
7.7  All unsatisfactory responses are followed up and any necessary actions taken, 

which can include auditors being removed from the BFBC contract.  In three 
cases, the reason for evaluating the audit as unsatisfactory was the lack of 
experience and knowledge of the trainee auditor undertaking the review. This 
was raised and the auditors concerned have not been used on further BFBC 
audits. The remaining unsatisfactory response was from a school and arose due 
to dissatisfaction with the arrangements for agreeing dates for the review and 
lack of clarity about the areas to be covered within the audit programme.   

 
Review of the Effectiveness of the System of Internal Audit 
 

7.8 During 2007/08, the Audit Commission, as our new External Auditors, have 
undertaken a detailed review to assess the BFBC internal audit function against 
the Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the United 
Kingdom 2006.  A draft report summarising the results of this exercise has now 
been issued. This has concluded that the Authority is fully compliant in one 
standard and partially compliant in the remaining ten areas. The improvements 
required are not fundamental and would not impact on the Council’s overall 
control systems.    
 
In conclusion, the Audit Commission considered that internal audit has been 
effective for the year under review. 

 

46



   

 

8. OTHER INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITIES 
 
National Fraud Initiative  
 

8.1 During 2007/08 work was completed by Internal Audit on the latest bi-annual data 
matching exercise, which is co-ordinated by the Audit Commission.   This was 
the first year that the Audit Commission had used the Web Application for this 
exercise and it was intended that site visits would be made. However, given the 
progress that the Council had made on the NFI output, the Audit Commission  
concluded that it was not necessary to make a site visit to us. 

 
The final work resulted in the identification of one Housing and Council Tax 
Benefit Fraud.  The claimant pleaded guilty to dishonestly receiving benefits of 
approximately £7300 and was sentenced to a two year conditional discharge and 
ordered to pay £75 costs. 

 
In addition one duplicate creditors’ payment of £82.25 was identified and this has 
been recovered.  New software has recently been acquired which will further 
reduce the risk of any future duplicate payments. 

 
 
 Best Value Performance Indicators ( BVPI’s) 
 
8.2 This year our external auditors carried out all of the work relating to the BVPI out-

turn figures.  In preparation for this work Internal Audit made pre-audit visits to 
areas, which were considered high risk, to ensure that auditees were adequately 
prepared should KPMG include them in the sample tested.   

 

Fraud and Irregularity 

8.3 Seven potential frauds and irregularities were identified during the year. Two 
minor cases of missing cash were reported to audit during the year and 
appropriate advice was given.  There was one incident of an altered cheque that 
was referred to Thames Valley Police and Lloyds Bank. In this case monies were 
refunded by the bank.  

A further case covered by the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy related to an 
alleged conflict of interest in the procuring of a contract for services. This was 
notified to the Borough Solicitor who asked Internal Audit to investigate these 
allegations. Following investigation, it was concluded that the allegations made 
were unfounded. 

The remaining cases related to invoice scams for on-line job advertising. In 
response to this, payments to the organisation concerned were immediately 
blocked and a Fraud Alert notice was issued by the Head of Audit and Risk 
Management to warn officers of further potential attempts to defraud the Council. 
The matter was referred to the Authority’s Legal Department and Trading 
Standards who are in the process of determining what future actions may be 
taken against this company. 

  
 

47



   

 

 Financial Management Standards in Schools (FMiSS) 
 
8.4 In 2006/07, the DfES introduced a requirement for schools to meet clear and 

consistent standards for financial management, which is known as FMiSS.  All 
secondary schools were required to assess themselves against these standards 
at 31 March 2007 and primary and special schools will have to do the same over 
the next three years. 
 
The Section 151 officer is required to sign a declaration annually on the Section 
52 Out-turn Statement stating how many schools have reached the standard and 
how many have not.  Internal audit were involved along with Education Finance 
in agreeing an approach on how this new requirement would be managed placing 
reliance on the schools’ self assessments along with a review from the BFBC 
Contract Manager (Audit) and the Group Accountant for Education, Children’s 
and Libraries. 
 
All 6 of the authority’s secondary schools completed and submitted their 31 
March 2007 self assessments on time and were reviewed by the BFBC Contract 
Manager (Audit) and the Group Accountant for Education, Children’s and 
Libraries as agreed. The review established that 4 out of 6 schools met the 
standard by 31 March 2007. The two secondary schools that failed to meet the 
standard were Easthampstead Park and Brakenhale. Brakenhale had only 
narrowly missed the standard. For those schools that did not achieve the 
standard, actions needed and target dates for completion were identified and 
reported to the school. The two schools that failed to meet the standard have 
been required to produce a further self-assessment by 31 March 2008.    
 
At the time of writing, the self-assessments for 31 March 2008 were in the 
process of being reviewed. Sixteen schools were due to provide self-
assessments this year including the two schools which had not achieved the 
standard last year. Two schools had not submitted their self-assessment by the 
due date.  An update of the outcome of the self-assessments will be provided in 
the next six monthly Internal Audit report.  

 
 
 Deloitte & Touche Quarterly Assurance Reports 
 
8.5 Each quarter during the year D&T are required by the terms of the contract to 

produce a quarterly internal audit assurance report, which includes an assurance 
opinion.  All quarterly reports for 2007/08 were produced in a timely manner, in 
the required format and gave a satisfactory assurance opinion over the system of 
internal controls within the authority.   
 
 

9. SIGNIFICANT CONTROL WEAKNESSES 
 
9.1 In forming its opinion, Internal Audit is required to comment on the quality of the 

internal control environment, which includes consideration of any significant risk 
or governance issues and control failures which arise.  During the financial year 
2007/08, key weaknesses were identified in the following areas and resulted in 
limited assurance opinions: - 

48



   

 

 

Directorate Audit 

Corporate 
Services & 
Resources 

E+ card System Follow –Up (IT Audit) 
An audit was carried out in October 2006. The conclusion 
reached was limited assurance given that two Priority 1 
recommendations were raised. One of these 
recommendations was not specific to the E+ Card System 
but was a general recommendation that all new ICT systems 
should be fully tested and accepted by system users before 
being implemented into a live environment. As this was 
considered to be an ongoing corporate matter, it will be 
followed up separately.  The audit followed-up the remaining 
Priority 1 recommendation that the Council requests that the 
e+ card project be reviewed by the supplier and a schedule 
of outstanding work should be developed and agreed with all 
relevant parties. The review established that the supplier 
had not implemented this recommendation.    
 
Members Services 
The audit raised a Priority 1 recommendation in respect of 
the publication of the annual Members Payment Notice as 
required by the Local Authorities (Members allowances) 
(England) regulations 2003. The recommendation was to 
ensure that disclosure included costs borne by the Council 
but not strictly paid direct to Members. This includes mobile 
phone usage, broadband supply and expenses paid using 
the corporate credit card. 
 

Education, 
Children’s 
Service & 
Libraries 

Harmans Water Primary School 
A Priority 1 recommendation was raised to ensure that pre-
employment checks are carried out for all staff employed on 
a full, part time or temporary basis. The audit had identified 
that pre-employment checks had not been carried out for 2 
supply teachers.  
 
Kennel Lane School  
A Priority 1 recommendation was raised to ensure that pre-
employment checks are carried out for all staff employed on 
a full, part time or temporary basis. The audit established 
that pre-employment checks had not been performed for 
one supply teacher. 
 
Library System Follow –Up 
The Library system was audited in February 2007when a 
limited assurance conclusion was reached with two Priority 1 
recommendations. A follow-up review was carried out during 
2007/08 and again the conclusion reached was limited 
assurance. The Priority 1 recommendation to ensure 
appropriate access controls were in place had not been 
implemented. The remaining Priority 1 recommendation to 

49



   

 

ensure users have unique user identities had been only 
partially implemented. 
  

 
 

All the above audits resulting in limited assurance will be followed up during 
2008/09. 
 
 

9.2 Internal Audit work is currently ongoing in relation to the purchase of goods and 
services. This has identified a number of potential breaches in compliance with 
both the internal Contract Regulations and the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 
implementing EU procurement Directives. The investigations are being carried 
out in conjunction with Legal Services. The investigations are not complete 
however this matter is being brought to Members attention as an early warning. 

50



   

 

APPENDIX A 
TABLE OF ASSURANCES 

 
 

April 2007 – March 2008 
 
 

CLIENT REPORT ASSURANCE LEVEL 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

QUESTIONNAIRE      CATEGORY 
 

AGREED 

RESPONSE  Full Satisfactory 
 

Limited None 1 2 3  

 Corporate Themes         
Satisfactory Service Planning  X    2 1 3 

Satisfactory Staff Expenses  X    4 5 9 

n/a Performance Management (BVPI’s)  n/a      n/a 

 CRB checks  X    7 3 10 

Satisfactory Environmental Strategy  X    2 1 3 

Satisfactory Corporate & Ethical Governance  X    7 1 Reply o/s 

Report being drafted Voluntary Sector Grants        Report being drafted 

Report being drafted Contracting & Procurement        Report being drafted 

Satisfactory Waste Management  X    3 2 5 

Satisfactory Risk Management  X    11 1 12 
 Corporate Services          

Satisfactory Industrial & Commercial Properties  X    1 1 2 

Satisfactory Customer Relations Management IT  X    6  6 

Satisfactory Member Services (Allowances/Expenses)   X  1 5 4 10 
Unsatisfactory Registration of Electors/Elections  X    3 1 4 

Satisfactory Pericles IT (CTax/NNDR/Benefits)  X    3  3 

Satisfactory Windows Operating Systems (F/up) 06/07 Ltd.)   X   0 0 0 n/a 

Satisfactory AXIS & E-payments (Interim F/up)  X    3 1 4 

Satisfactory e+ IT (Interim F/up)   X  1 4  5 

Satisfactory Budget/Budgetary Control X    0 0 0 n/a 

Satisfactory Cashiers  X    2 4 6 

5
1



   

 

CLIENT REPORT ASSURANCE LEVEL 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

QUESTIONNAIRE      CATEGORY 
 

AGREED 

RESPONSE  Full Satisfactory 
 

Limited None 1 2 3  

Satisfactory Bank & Reconciliations  X    1  1 
Satisfactory Treasury Management  X     2 2 

Satisfactory Creditors  X    4 3 7 

Satisfactory Debtors  X     1 1 

Satisfactory Main Accounting X    0 0 0 n/a 

Satisfactory Capital Accounting & Fixed Assets  X    4  4 

Satisfactory Payroll  X    4  4 

Satisfactory Council Tax  X    5 1 6 

Satisfactory NNDR  X    3 2 5* 

Reply o/s ICT Security Policy  X    7  Reply  to draft o/s 

Satisfactory Payroll & personnel IT System  X    7 2 9 

Satisfactory Disaster Recovery IT & General  X    5 1 6 
Satisfactory Business Continuity  X     5 5 

Satisfactory IT Backups  X    1  1 

Satisfactory Physical & Environmental Controls IT  X    1 1 2 

In draft not yet sent Home to School Transport  X    3 5 In draft 

Satisfactory VAT  X    3 2 Reply to draft o/s 

Satisfactory Staff Recruitment & Retention  X     4 4 

Satisfactory AGRESSO IT System  X    4 1 5 

Satisfactory AXIS & E-payments IT System  X    2 1 3 

 Education, Children & Libraries         

Satisfactory Schools Related Expenditure  X    4  4 

 Standards Fund  X     2 2 

Satisfactory School Census  X    1  1 
Unsatisfactory Other School Grants  X    1  1 

Satisfactory Broadmoor Primary  X    7 2 9 

Satisfactory Crowthorne CE Primary  X    3 4 7 

Satisfactory Foxhill Primary  X    6 2 8 

Satisfactory Great Hollands Primary  X    4 6 10 

5
2



   

 

CLIENT REPORT ASSURANCE LEVEL 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

QUESTIONNAIRE      CATEGORY 
 

AGREED 

RESPONSE  Full Satisfactory 
 

Limited None 1 2 3  

Satisfactory Harmanswater Primary   X  1 4  5 
Satisfactory Kennel Lane School   X  1 3 2 6 

Satisfactory New Scotland Hill Primary  X    2 3 5 
Unsatisfactory St. Margaret Clitherow RC Primary  X    1 0 1 

Satisfactory Winkfield St. Mary’s CE Primary  X    7 1 8 

Satisfactory Larchwood Family Centre  X    2 2 4 

Satisfactory Education Management System IT  X    6 1 7 
Unsatisfactory Libraries (inc stock control)  X    1 2 3 

Above covers Birch Hill Library  X    1 1 2 
these four Great Hollands Library  X    1 1 2 

audits Harmanswater Library  X    1 1 2 

Satisfactory Ascot Heath Junior School  X    1 4 5 

 Direct Payments (F/up)  X    4  4 

Reply o/s Property - Planning & policy (large capital spend)  X    9 3 Reply to draft o/s 

Satisfactory School catering  X    2 3 5 

Reply o/s SEN  Provision & Support Services  X    3 1 Reply to draft o/s 

Satisfactory Easthampstead Park Secondary School  X    10 7 17 

In draft not yet sent Youth Service inc. NRG  X    3 5 In draft 

In draft not yet sent Early Years  X    2 2 In draft 

Reply o/s Children Looked After  X    8 2 Reply to draft o/s 

Satisfactory Horizon – Library IT System   X  2 7  9 
n/a St. Michael’s E’hamp School (interim. f/up Ltd)  n/a      n/a 

In draft not yet sent Brakenhale School  X    1 4 In draft 

          

 Environment & Leisure         

Satisfactory Environmental Health  X    5 1 6 

Satisfactory Edgebarrow & Sandhurst Sports Centres  X    4 3 7 

Satisfactory Bracknell Sports & Leisure Centre  X    3 2 5 

5
3



   

 

CLIENT REPORT ASSURANCE LEVEL 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

QUESTIONNAIRE      CATEGORY 
 

AGREED 

RESPONSE  Full Satisfactory 
 

Limited None 1 2 3  

Satisfactory Leisure Catering  X    2  2 
Satisfactory Planning Policy (inc. S106) X    0 0 0 n/a 

Satisfactory Gazeteer IT  X    5 1 6 

Satisfactory GIS Application (F/up)  X    6 1 7 

n/a Cash Spot Checks  X    n/a  n/a 

Satisfactory Landscape IT System  X    1 3 4 

 Building Control  X    4 2 6 

Satisfactory Local Land Charges  X     2 2 

Reply o/s New Licensing IT System  X    4  Reply to draft o/s 

Satisfactory On/off Street Parking  X    4  Reply to draft o/s 
 Social Services & Housing         

Satisfactory Joint Arrangements (F/up)  X    3 2 5 
Satisfactory Homecare (in-house provision)  X    1 5 6 

 Forestcare  X    8  8 

Satisfactory Drug & Alcohol Team  X    2  2 

Satisfactory PD & Older People – Other Services  X     4 4 

Satisfactory Direct Payments (F/up)  X    4  4 

Satisfactory Heathlands   X    2 3 5 

 Ladybank  X    3 1 4 

Satisfactory SWIFT IT (int. with Agresso F/up)  X    1 2 3 

Satisfactory Anite IT Hsg & Rents (App.0nly)  X    5  5 

Satisfactory Housing & Council Tax Benefits  X     3 3 

No longer BFBC   Housing Rents  X    3 1 4 

Satisfactory BFS Housing Repairs (f/up No Assurance)  X    3  3 
Satisfactory BFS Housing Repairs – (f/up ltd add. Work)  X    1  1 

Satisfactory Housing Caretaker’s Overtime (f/up Ltd.)  X    1  1 

 Learning Disabilities  X     4 4 

In draft not sent yet Housing Management  X    4  In draft 

Satisfactory Carestore IT System (Social Care Record)  X    2 1 Reply to draft o/s 

5
4



   

 

 
 
 
* There was one priority 3 recommendation disagreed on this report.  It was concerning additional record keeping, which was not 
considered necessary by the auditee, as alternative means of obtaining the specific records mentioned are available.  This is not 
considered an issue of concern. 
 
 
 

 

5
5



56

This page is intentionally left blank



 
      

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 R
e
p
o
rt
   

3
rd
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r:
 O
c
to
b
e
r-
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
/0
8
  

T
im
o
th
y
 W

h
e
a
d
o
n
 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

Agenda Item 7

57



O
v
e
rv

ie
w

 o
f 

C
o

u
n

c
il
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

 
     1
 

In
tr

o
d

u
c
ti

o
n

: 
 1
.1
 

T
h
is
 r
e
p
o
rt
 s
e
ts
 o
u
t 
a
n
 o
v
e
rv
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
–
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
. 
It
 c
o
m
p
le
m
e
n
ts
 t
h
e
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 R
e
p
o
rt
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
, 
p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 b
y
 e
a
c
h
 D
ir
e
c
to
r,
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
re
 c
ir
c
u
la
te
d
 t
o
 M
e
m
b
e
rs
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
. 
T
h
e
 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
is
 o
v
e
rv
ie
w
 i
s
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 w
it
h
 a
 h
ig
h
 l
e
v
e
l 
s
u
m
m
a
ry
 o
f 
k
e
y
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
o
 h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
a
re
a
s
 w
h
e
re
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 n
o
t 
m
a
tc
h
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 o
r 
e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
lo
n
g
 w
it
h
 a
n
y
 r
e
m
e
d
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
is
. 
 

  2
 

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

 o
f 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
: 

 2
.1
 

T
h
e
 d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ta
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
7
/8
 c
o
n
ta
in
 3
7
2
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 o
f 
1
2
 i
n
te
ri
m
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 T
h
e
m
e
s
 

w
h
a
t 
w
e
re
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 i
n
 M

a
rc
h
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r.
 D
a
ta
 f
ro
m
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 R
e
p
o
rt
s
 i
s
 s
h
o
w
n
 a
t 
A
n
n
e
x
 A
; 
in
 s
h
o
rt
, 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 i
s
 t
h
a
t:
  
 

  
 
9
3
%
 (
3
4
6
 n
o
) 
o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 
to
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 b
y
 y
e
a
r-
e
n
d
 

  
 
7
%
 (
2
6
 n
o
) 
a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c
a
u
s
in
g
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
. 
 

  2
.2
 

A
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w
o
rk
 r
e
la
te
s
 t
o
 d
a
y
-t
o
-d
a
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 n
o
t 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 c
o
v
e
re
d
 b
y
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
la
n
s
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
d
a
y
 t
o
 d
a
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 i
s
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 a
t 
A
n
n
e
x
e
 B
. 
 

 
O
f 
th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 w
h
e
re
 d
a
ta
 i
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
, 
6
6
 a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 o
n
, 
o
r 
h
a
v
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 a
n
d
 3
1
 a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t.
 T
h
is
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ts
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 i
s
 l
a
rg
e
ly
 d
u
e
 t
o
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 i
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 s
o
m
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
. 
W
o
rk
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 r
e
m
e
d
y
 t
h
o
s
e
 

is
s
u
e
s
. 

58



 2
.4
 

T
h
e
 3

rd
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
s
a
w
 t
h
e
 t
w
o
-w
e
e
k
 f
ie
ld
w
o
rk
 v
is
it
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 t
e
a
m
. 
 M
e
m
b
e
rs
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
w
a
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 
th
e
 
h
ig
h
e
s
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 
C
P
A
 
ra
ti
n
g
 
o
f 
“f
o
u
r 
s
ta
rs
”,
 
im
p
ro
v
in
g
 
s
tr
o
n
g
ly
.”
 
 
T
h
is
 
p
u
ts
 
th
e
 
C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 
in
 
th
e
 
to
p
 
1
3
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
tr
y
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 o
n
ly
 u
n
it
a
ry
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 w
it
h
 t
h
is
 r
a
ti
n
g
. 

   3
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 

K
e

y
 O

b
je

c
ti

v
e
s
: 

 3
.1
 

O
v
e
ra
ll 
th
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
s
a
w
 s
te
a
d
y
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
  
T
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
s
 h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
s
o
m
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

o
f 
n
o
te
. 

   
P
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 
F
o
re
s
t:
 

 3
.2
 

W
o
rk
 i
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 d
e
s
ig
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
iv
ic
 H
u
b
, 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 R
IB
A
 S
ta
g
e
 D
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
rt
e
r.
  
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 S
ta
g
e
 D
 

h
a
s
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
b
e
e
n
 f
o
rm
a
lly
 s
ig
n
e
d
 o
ff
; 
w
o
rk
 i
s
 o
n
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
. 
 W

o
rk
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 i
n
 h
a
n
d
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
u
ls
o
ry
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 a
n
d
 r
o
a
d
 c
lo
s
u
re
 

o
rd
e
rs
 f
o
r 
th
e
 t
o
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 r
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
(t
h
e
 C
P
O
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 o
p
e
n
e
d
 o
n
 1
4
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
.)
  
T
h
e
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 
re
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

to
w
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
 w
a
s
 d
e
la
y
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
ig
n
 o
ff
 o
f 
S
ta
g
e
 C
 o
f 
th
e
 C
iv
ic
 H
u
b
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 w
a
s
 

p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 i
n
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
a
d
y
 f
o
r 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
b
y
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
. 

 
T
h
e
 S
e
c
re
ta
ry
 o
f 
S
ta
te
 c
o
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 L
D
F
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 “
s
o
u
n
d
”,
 e
n
a
b
lin
g
 t
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
to
 b
e
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 (
w
h
ic
h
 t
o
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
.)
  
A
t 
th
e
 t
im
e
, 
th
is
 w
a
s
 o
n
e
 o
f 
o
n
ly
 6
 L
D
F
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 S
o
u
th
 E
a
s
t 
to
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
is
 m
ile
s
to
n
e
. 

   
P
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 a
n
d
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 p
o
lic
ie
s
: 

 3
.3
 

T
h
e
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
s
a
w
 a
 m
a
s
s
iv
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
to
c
k
 t
o
 B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 
F
o
re
s
t 
H
o
m
e
s
 o
n
  

1
1
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
. 
 I
n
 t
h
e
 e
v
e
n
t 
th
e
 w
o
rk
 w
a
s
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
lly
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
to
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 t
im
e
. 
 B
y
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
is
 d
e
a
d
lin
e
, 
it
 

w
ill
 b
e
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 c
lo
s
e
 t
h
e
 H
R
A
 i
n
 2
0
0
6
/0
7
 a
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d
, 
le
a
v
in
g
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 G
e
n
e
ra
l 
F
u
n
d
 (
w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 b
e
e
n
 b
u
ilt
 

in
to
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
p
la
n
s
).
  
O
f 
c
o
u
rs
e
, 
te
n
a
n
ts
 a
ls
o
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
fr
o
m
 a
 g
re
a
te
r 
in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
to
c
k
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
th
e
 

tr
a
n
s
fe
r.
 

 

59



   
H
e
lp
 c
re
a
te
 a
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 s
o
c
ia
lly
 c
o
h
e
s
iv
e
: 

 3
.4
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 
w
a
s
 
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 
o
n
 
th
e
 
n
e
w
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
C
o
h
e
s
io
n
 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 
w
h
ic
h
 
is
 
d
u
e
 
to
 
b
e
 
a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 
b
y
 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 
in
 
M
a
rc
h
 
0
8
. 

M
e
a
n
w
h
ile
, 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 f
ir
s
t 
G
e
n
d
e
r 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 w
a
s
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 i
n
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r,
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 R
a
c
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
-2
0
1
1
 i
s
 

b
e
in
g
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l.
 

  3
.5
 

A
ll 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
a
fe
ty
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
e
ll,
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 p
h
a
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 ‘
F
e
a
r 
o
f 
C
ri
m
e
’ 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 b
e
in
g
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
; 
th
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 

a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
d
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 l
a
te
r 
in
 t
h
e
 s
p
ri
n
g
. 
A
u
to
-c
ri
m
e
 i
s
 o
n
 c
o
u
rs
e
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 3
-y
e
a
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
a
fe
ty
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 
b
u
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 f
a
ll 
s
h
o
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
e
tc
h
in
g
 L
P
S
A
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 (
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
ft
 f
ro
m
 m
o
to
r 
c
a
rs
 i
s
 o
n
 c
o
u
rs
e
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 L
P
S
A
2
 

ta
rg
e
ts
).
  
T
h
e
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
 f
ro
m
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 C
ri
m
e
 a
n
d
 D
is
o
rd
e
r 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 P
la
n
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
h
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r.
 

   
In
c
re
a
s
e
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
jo
y
m
e
n
t 
o
f,
 a
rt
, 
c
u
lt
u
re
, 
s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
: 

 3
.6
 

A
ll 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
is
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 h
a
v
e
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
e
d
 w
e
ll.
 A
 d
ra
ft
 C
u
lt
u
ra
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
a
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
a
n
d
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 o
u
t 
to
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 
It
 i
s
 h
o
p
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
is
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
x
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
r.
 A
 m

a
jo
r 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 ‘
B
a
la
n
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 B
u
d
g
e
t’
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
, 

‘P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
L
e
is
u
re
 O
u
ts
o
u
rc
in
g
’ 
is
 m
o
v
in
g
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 i
ts
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 s
ta
g
e
. 
E
x
te
rn
a
l 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 w
e
re
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 a
 f
o
rm
a
l 
‘O
p
ti
o
n
s
 

A
p
p
ra
is
a
l,
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 p
ro
c
e
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
e
x
t 
s
ta
g
e
. 
 T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
 i
s
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
. 

   
P
ro
te
c
t 
a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 p
u
b
lic
 h
e
a
lt
h
 i
n
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
: 

 3
.7
 

W
o
rk
 o
n
 t
h
e
s
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 a
re
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
e
ll.
  
In
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r,
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
d
o
p
te
d
 B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 
F
o
re
s
t’
s
 f
ir
s
t 
“H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
ll-
b
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

in
 O
c
to
b
e
r.
  
Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 h
a
n
d
e
d
 o
v
e
r 
to
 t
h
e
 P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
, 
a
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
ro
u
p
 c
o
m
p
ri
s
in
g
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 f
ro
m
 a
ll 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
. 

    

60



 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
: 

 3
.8
 

T
h
e
 t
h
ir
d
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
b
e
g
a
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
n
-s
it
e
 s
ta
g
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 &
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
, 
th
e
 Y
o
u
th
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 J
o
in
t 
A
re
a
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 (
J
A
R
).
 T
h
e
 J
A
R
 e
x
p
lo
re
d
 i
n
 d
e
p
th
 h
o
w
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 D
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 &
 

D
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
, 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 L
o
o
k
e
d
 A
ft
e
r,
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 i
t 
e
n
s
u
re
s
 t
h
e
 S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 o
f 
a
ll 
c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
. 
T
h
e
 J
A
R
 

a
ls
o
 i
n
s
p
e
c
te
d
 t
w
o
 o
th
e
r 
a
re
a
s
 –
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 i
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 C
h
ild
 a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 m

e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 (
C
A
M
H
S
) 
a
n
d
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
n
 p
o
s
t 
1
6
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
e
s
e
 a
re
a
s
 w
e
re
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
’s
 P
la
n
 a
s
 n
e
e
d
in
g
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t.
  

 3
.9
 

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 &
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 Y
o
u
th
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 t
h
e
 J
A
R
 w
a
s
 

p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
o
f 
a
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 &
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
. 
 T
h
e
 J
A
R
 

ra
te
d
 B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 
F
o
re
s
t 
a
s
 g
ra
d
e
 t
h
re
e
 (
o
u
t 
o
f 
fo
u
r)
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 ‘
g
o
o
d
’.
 T
h
is
 m
e
a
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 d
e
liv
e
r 
c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 

m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
 

   
In
c
re
a
s
e
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 a
d
u
lt
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
: 

 3
.1
0
 

W
o
rk
 i
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
e
ll 
in
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
. 
 T
h
e
 A
d
u
lt
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 P
la
n
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 o
ff
e
r 
th
e
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
le
a
rn
in
g
, 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 

lim
it
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 S
k
ill
s
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 g
ra
n
t 
fu
n
d
in
g
. 

   
Im
p
ro
v
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 a
d
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
: 

 3
.1
1
 

W
o
rk
 i
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
e
ll,
 t
h
e
 o
n
ly
 a
re
a
 t
h
a
t 
is
 b
e
h
in
d
 i
s
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
P
u
rc
h
a
s
in
g
 P
la
n
s
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 c
lie
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
, 
w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 d
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 M
a
rc
h
 0
8
, 
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
0
7
. 

  
In
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
re
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
n
 i
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to
rs
 (
C
S
C
I.
  
T
h
e
y
 g
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
 t
w
o
 s
ta
r 
ra
ti
n
g
 (
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 o
n
e
 s
ta
r)
, 
w
it
h
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t.
 

    
C
re
a
te
 a
n
d
 m
a
in
ta
in
 a
 q
u
a
lit
y
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t:
 

 3
.1
2
 

A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
is
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 a
re
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
e
ll.
  
R
e
c
y
c
lin
g
 r
a
te
s
 h
a
v
e
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 4
0
.4
%
 a
s
 a
t 
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
. 
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 L
e
is
u
re
 s
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 h
a
s
 b
e
g
u
n
 o
n
 d
ra
ft
in
g
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
lim

a
te
 C
h
a
n
g
e
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

  

61



 
Im
p
ro
v
e
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 m
o
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 a
n
d
 a
ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
: 

 3
.1
3
 

T
h
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
h
a
s
 s
e
e
n
 m
u
c
h
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
. 
C
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 o
n
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
im
p
o
rt
a
n
t 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
 s
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 b
e
tt
e
r 
s
p
e
e
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 a
 n
e
w
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
u
b
lic
it
y
 a
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 

ro
lle
d
 o
u
t,
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 
im
p
ro
v
in
g
 r
o
a
d
 s
a
fe
ty
. 

 3
.1
4
 

A
 t
ra
v
e
l 
p
la
n
 i
s
 n
o
w
 r
e
a
d
y
 t
o
 b
e
 l
a
u
n
c
h
e
d
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
n
e
w
e
d
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 r
e
lia
n
c
e
 o
n
 c
a
rs
 f
o
r 
tr
a
v
e
lli
n
g
 t
o
 

s
c
h
o
o
l.
 

 3
.1
5
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
a
ti
o
n
 w
o
rk
 i
s
 f
o
c
u
s
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 r
a
ilw
a
y
 s
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 r
e
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 b
u
s
 s
ta
ti
o
n
, 
a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 

v
a
ri
o
u
s
 n
e
w
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 o
rd
e
rs
. 
T
h
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
e
a
m
s
 a
re
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
m
p
u
ls
o
ry
 P
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 O
rd
e
r 
P
u
b
lic
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 

s
ta
ri
n
g
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 r
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
k
e
y
 s
it
e
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 e
d
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 T
o
w
n
 C
e
n
tr
e
. 

 3
.1
6
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 w
ill
 r
e
c
a
ll 
th
a
t 
a
 w
o
rk
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
 o
f 
th
e
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 L
e
is
u
re
 O

v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 P
a
n
e
l 
w
a
s
 s
e
t 
u
p
 t
o
 l
o
o
k
 a
t 
th
e
 

a
b
n
o
rm
a
lly
 h
ig
h
 t
ra
ff
ic
 a
c
c
id
e
n
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
. 
T
h
e
 g
ro
u
p
’s
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l 
c
o
n
c
lu
s
io
n
s
 a
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 g
iv
e
 a
 

le
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
v
e
 p
ic
tu
re
 o
f 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
; 
ta
rg
e
t-
s
e
tt
in
g
 l
o
c
a
lly
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
o
u
g
h
; 
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 “
s
u
rg
e
” 
in
 t
ra
ff
ic
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
 

h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 m
ir
ro
re
d
 t
o
 v
a
ry
in
g
 d
e
g
re
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 T
h
a
m
e
s
 V
a
lle
y
. 
T
h
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
 w
ill
 r
e
p
o
rt
 f
o
rm
a
lly
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
. 

  
Im
p
ro
v
e
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
: 

 3
.1
7
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 w
e
re
 a
g
re
e
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
e
 l
a
te
s
t 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
e
p
o
rt
 w
a
s
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 C
M
T
 i
n
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 p
ro
je
c
te
d
 a
n
 o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
 o
f 
£
6
5
k
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
. 
T
h
is
 i
s
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
is
 t
im
e
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r 

a
n
d
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
m
a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
6
/0
7
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 l
a
rg
e
ly
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 e
it
h
e
r 
th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
b
u
ild
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
r 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
 I
t 
is
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
, 
th
e
re
fo
re
, 
th
a
t 
b
y
 y
e
a
r 
e
n
d
 s
p
e
n
d
in
g
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
m
fo
rt
a
b
ly
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
s
e
t 
in
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
7
. 

 3
.1
8
 

T
h
e
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
o
n
-l
in
e
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 a
u
to
m
a
te
d
 s
p
e
e
c
h
 r
e
c
o
g
n
it
io
n
 t
e
le
p
h
o
n
e
 p
a
y
m
e
n
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 w
e
n
t 
liv
e
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
7
. 
In
 t
h
e
 n
in
e
 m

o
n
th
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
is
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 r
u
n
n
in
g
 t
h
e
re
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 1
,7
4
0
 

p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 w
it
h
 a
 t
o
ta
l 
v
a
lu
e
 o
f 
£
2
5
5
k
. 

    

62



  
Im
p
ro
v
e
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 G
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 W
o
rk
in
g
 

 3
.1
9
 

T
h
e
 m
a
jo
r 
p
ie
c
e
s
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
la
te
d
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
2
0
0
8
. 
T
h
e
 e
x
te
n
s
iv
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 b
a
s
e
 f
o
r 
b
o
th
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w
e
b
. 
A
 m
a
jo
r 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
c
o
n
fe
re
n
c
e
 w
a
s
 h
e
ld
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
 a
n
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 S
C
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
 .
  
A
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 o
f 
th
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
ra
ft
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 i
n
c
lu
s
io
n
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 L
A
A
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
 l
o
n
g
 l
is
t 
o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
th
e
m
e
s
 d
ra
ft
e
d
. 

B
o
th
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 o
n
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 w
it
h
 a
 w
id
e
 r
a
n
g
in
g
 l
is
t 
o
f 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
. 
G
O
S
E
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
m
p
lim

e
n
te
d
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir
 c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 a
n
d
 r
o
b
u
s
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 t
h
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 L
A
A
. 

   4
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
, 

b
u

d
g

e
ts

 a
n

d
 B

ra
c
k
n

e
ll
 F

o
re

s
t 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
: 

 4
.1
 

O
v
e
ra
ll 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 t
h
ir
d
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
w
a
s
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
to
ry
. 
 D
e
ta
ile
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 a
re
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
a
t 
A
n
n
e
x
 

B
. 
B
u
d
g
e
t 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
a
t 
A
n
n
e
x
e
 C
. 
W
o
rk
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 
F
o
re
s
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 i
s
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
A
n
n
e
x
e
 D
. 

 
   5
 

C
o

n
c
lu

s
io

n
: 

 4
.1
 

O
v
e
ra
ll,
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 t
h
ir
d
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
w
a
s
 v
e
ry
 g
o
o
d
. 
A
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
k
e
y
 m
ile
s
to
n
e
s
 w
e
re
 m
e
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 
a
re
 
b
e
in
g
 
re
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 
a
s
 
b
e
in
g
 
o
f 
a
 
h
ig
h
 
q
u
a
lit
y
 
a
n
d
 
th
is
 
h
a
s
 
b
e
e
n
 
u
n
d
e
rl
in
e
d
 
b
y
 
th
e
 
o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 
C
P
A
 
ra
ti
n
g
 

p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
. 

  
T
im
o
th
y
 W
h
e
a
d
o
n
 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
  
2
0
0
8
 

 

63



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 8 
 

ANNEX A 
 

Corporate Theme 1: Promote the sustainable development of 
Bracknell Forest 
Key Action/ Outcome:  
1.1 Lead the regeneration of Bracknell Forest Town Centre 
1.2 Deliver the annual programme set out in the Local Development Scheme. 
1.3 Publish and commence a five year programme to develop master-plans for 
neighbourhood centres in the former New Town areas of Bracknell Forest Borough Council. 
1.4 Work with partners to ensure that all new developments contain a mix of housing in 
accordance with the Council’s policies that supports long term sustainability. 
1.5 Deliver the Council’s LAA agreement commitment to support economic development and 
enterprise. 

Draft and consult on internal 
regeneration strategy, based on Town 
Centre workstreams   

Draft framework produced for 
November Executive Briefing. 
Consultation due February 08. Draft 
Strategy for approval end of March 
2008. 

Approve and agree detailed design for 
Civic Hub  

 

 

Support relocation of town centre users 
displaced by regeneration plans  

 

 

Support development of third party 
sites  

 

 

Ensure Members and Scrutiny 
Function are involved in the 
development of the Town Centre  

 

 

Co-ordinate and implement 
communication strategies for the town 
centre regeneration, including the 
vitality of the town before regeneration, 
internal communications and the 
council’s element of the project e.g. 
Civic Hub 

 

 

Draft Town Centre management 
strategy, including Keeping Bracknell 
Town Centre alive during the 
redevelopment , ready for consultation 

 

 

Develop with BFP a clear statement for 
carbon reduction in the town centre  

 

 

Complete Library Workstream 

 

 

Adopt a Core Strategy which sets the 
spatial vision and policies for the 
Borough outlining potential uses for all 
sites within the settlement area. 

 

 

Prepare issues and options for the 
Amen Corner – Area Action Plan DPD. 
 

 

 

Prepare issues and options for 
development management policies 

 

 

64



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 9 
 

covering housing and commercial uses 
and sites. 

Compile list of economic development 
activity already occurring, and 
subsequently consider launching an 
Economic Partnership  

 

Some information held but 
incomplete. The Economic 
Partnership has started to be 
formed and is making good 
progress. This target is superseded 
as a consequence. Considerable 
work is ongoing to respond to the 
sub-national review of economic 
development. 

Finalise plans for cultural facilities in the 
new Civic Hub. 

 

 

Commence the statutory processes to 
implement the outline planning 
permission and other consents. 

 

 

Complete the Sustainable Resource 
Management Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

 

 

Apply new policies in relation to car 
parking. 

 

 

Apply new policies in relation to limiting 
the impact of development. 

 

 

Apply new policies in relation to the 
Thames Basin Health Special 
Protection Area. 

 

 

Publish a five year programme of 
master-plans for neighbourhood 
centres in the former New Town areas 
of Bracknell Forest Borough Council. 
 

 

 

Commence work outlined in the five 
year master-plans for neighbourhood 
centres in the former New Town areas 
of Bracknell Forest Borough Council. 
 

 

 

Work with partners to ensure that all 
new developments contain a mix of 
housing in accordance with the 
Council’s policies that supports long 
term sustainability. 

 

 

Contribute to the delivery of  the 
Council’s LAA agreement commitment 
to support economic development and 
enterprise. 

 

 

Co-ordinate and implement 
communication strategies for the town 
centre regeneration, including the 
vitality of the town before regeneration, 
internal communications and the 
council’s element of the project e.g. 
Civic Hub 

 

 

65



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 10 
 

Assess the opportunities for capital 
investment in youth facilities 

 

 

Contribute to the development of 
enhanced community initiatives 

 

 

Work with Strategic Housing 
Partnership to develop prioritised 
affordable housing projects based on 
Housing Market Assessment and 
revised Housing Strategy.   

 

 

In consultation with Housing Strategic 
Partnership and Bracknell Forest 
Homes develop a 5 year programme to 
deliver affordable housing through use 
of 75% of housing transfer capital 
receipt 

 

 

Progress designs for Civic Hub to 
Stage E DCS/ACE 

 

 

Develop and implement a Procurement 
Strategy for the Civic Hub 
project HoF 

 

 

Work with colleagues to complete 
workstreams and meet project 
deadlines for provision of new Civic 
Hub and provide all necessary 
support, advice and guidance HOS 

 

 

Finalise plans for the new democratic 
offer/suite in the Civic Hub 
following consultation with Members 
HDRS 

 

 

To complete delegated workstream 
reports and offer advice and 
guidance on customer service delivery 
in the new civic offices HCS 

 

 

Develop plans for the necessary 
adaptions to Time Square HCP 

 

 

Secure a confirmed Compulsory 
Purchase acquisition (CPO) 
BSol 

 

 

Facilities Management to lead on 
development of plan to move to 
new Civic Hub in 2009 in liaison with 
other departments and Bracknell 
Regeneration Partnership (BRP). HCP 

 

 

Ensure accurate headcount figures are 
in place to facilitate effective 
space planning. BHRM 

 

 

Review policies around Flexible 
Working to ensure they support the 
technological requirements BHRM 

 

 

Construct business plans to support 
Cultural Change workstream 
activities BHRM 

 

 

66



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 11 
 

 

Corporate Theme 2: Promote sustainable communities through 
innovative housing strategies and effective maintenance policies 
Key Action/ Outcome:  
2.1 Implement the outcome of the housing stock options ballot of Council tenants 
2.2 Develop choice-based lettings for social housing in partnership with partner housing 
associations 
2.3 Increase the number of Council homes that meet the Decent Homes Standard 
2.4 Increase the number of affordable homes built in the borough in accordance with the 
Local Area Agreement. 
2.5 Update the Council’s Housing Strategy and submit it to the Government Office for the 
South East 
2.6 Implement the Housing Act 2004 in relation to all houses let in multiple occupation. 
2.7 Implement a programme to ensure 70% of private sector housing occupied by vulnerable 
people meets the Decent Homes Standard by 2010. 
 

Develop and implement internal and 
external communications plan. Develop 
and implement internal and external 
communications plan for housing stock 
transfer. 

 

 

If a yes vote, identify implications for the 
Landscape Team and prepare the team 
for transfer to the new organisation.  
 

 

 

If a yes vote, identify the implications for 
highway Adoption and Management. 

 

 

By implementing the Council’s planning 
policy seek to increase the number of 
affordable homes built in the borough in 
accordance with the Local Area 
Agreement. 

 

 

Establish a register of all houses let in 
multiple occupation in accordance with 
the Housing Act 2004. 

 

 

Licence all housing in multiple 
occupation in accordance with the 
Housing Act 2004.  

Progress slow due to continued 
resource pressures caused by 
vacancies and low level of compliance 
on a voluntary basis. Rescheduling of 
priorities for last quarter. 

To implement a programme of 
inspection to ensure 70% of private 
sector housing occupied by vulnerable 
households meets the Decent Homes 
Standard by 2010. 

 

Good progress being made in 
identifying vulnerable households.  The 
standard is to be dropped as a national 
indicator in 2008. 

Bracknell Forest Homes (BFH) to be 
established and transfer of housing 
stock to be completed by 31

st
 March 

2008. 

 

 

Disaggregate the HRA budgets from 
the general fund budgets. 

 

 

67



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 12 
 

Support managers to identify and plan 
any TUPE transfer of staff to the 
new housing association. 

 

 

Support the AD Sustainable 
Communities to prepare the IT 
systems for transfer to the new 
Housing Association. 

 

 

Separate the staff and resources in the 
Resources Division ready for 
transfer to the new Housing 
Association. 

 

 

Develop a CBL scheme for consultation 
with BFH and other partners by 
March 2008. 

 

 

Implement the approved housing capital 
programme to increase the percentage 
of Council Homes that meet the 
standard during 2007/08.  

 

 

Work with Strategic Housing 
Partnership to develop prioritised 
affordable housing projects based on 
Housing Market Assessment and 
revised Housing Strategy.   

 

 

In consultation with Housing Strategic 
Partnership and Bracknell Forest 
Homes develop a 5 year programme to 
deliver affordable housing through use 
of 75% of housing transfer capital 
receipt 

 

 

Council to adopt Housing Strategy draft 
for consultation.  

 

The timetable for the delivery of the 
draft Housing strategy has been 
changed to accommodate a major 
consultation event which took place in 
October. The new timetable for the 
housing strategy is therefore April 08. 

Council to adopt revised Housing 
Strategy following consultation 
process. 

 

 

Agree stock valuation with Bracknell 
Forest Homes DCS/HOS 

 

 

Prepare all required plans for transfer 
and instruct Environmental 
Surveyors if required HCP 

 

 

Prepare transfer contract DCS/HOS 

 

 

Submit to DCLG for consent to transfer 
DCS/HOS 

 

 

Complete stock transfer DCS/HOS 

 

 

Enter into Transfer Agreement and 
complete conveyancing BSol 

 

 

68



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 13 
 

Disaggregate housing functions from 
the rest of the Council 

 

 

Provide financial support to the LSVT 
post ballot project HoF 

 

 

Complete staffing transfer and 
disaggregation of policy 
procedures and all staffing matters 

BHRM 

 

 

Advise on the impact of the transfer on 
residual staff and 
structures in the strategic Housing 

function BHRM 

 

 

Consider the future requirements for 
payment processing and the 
role of the Cash Office HCS 

 

 

Consider the future requirements for 
payment processing and the 
role of the Cash Office HCS 

 

 

Produce a timetable for transferring 
customer enquiries relating to 
tenants’ repairs to the new Housing 

Association HCS 

 

 

 
Corporate Theme 3: Help create a safer, stronger community which 
is socially cohesive 
Key Action/ Outcome: 
3.1 Work with partners to reduce the incidence of British Crime Survey Crime within the borough 
3.2 Seek to reduce the fear of crime in the borough 
3.3 Work with the Bracknell Forest Partnership to update the Council’s Community Cohesion 

Strategy to cover the period 2007 – 2010 
3.4 Improve community cohesion through culture and sport in accordance with the targets set 

out in the Local Area Agreement (3 year target). 
3.5 Increase the level of community engagement and volunteering activities in the Borough in 

accordance with the targets set out in the Local Area Agreement 
3.6 Deliver the commitments in the CYPP for children and young people’s safety 
3.7 Implement the Youth Justice Plan 
3.8 Support partners in targeted speed reduction campaigns 
3.9 Implement the electronic proof age scheme through e+. 
3.10 Develop licensing and related policies which support cohesive communities 
3.11 Improve safety and the sense of security in Bracknell Town Centre 

Restructure the Safer Community Team  

 

 

Ensure that Community Safety issues 
are addressed in the town centre 
regeneration, through the production of 
a strategy  

 

 

Implement and review the Safer 
Communities Strategy (CPA)  

 

 

Support the development of 
Neighbourhood Policing arrangements 
including the use of Police Community 

 

 

69



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 14 
 

Support Officers for reassurance 
patrolling (Community Plan)  

Undertake at least three initiatives each 
year with Crimestoppers (Community 
Plan)  

 

 

Encourage crime deterrent schemes in 
public car parks such as car valeting 
and security guards to reduce car crime 
(Community Plan)  

 

 

Work with Bracknell Chamber of 
Commerce to protect business staff 
from violence (Community Plan)  

 

 

Use preventative and rehabilitative 
initiatives to reduce offending by Prolific 
and other Priority Offenders. 
(Community Plan)  

 

 

Work with partners to reduce vehicle 
crime and provide diversionary 
activities  

 

 

Implement the Domestic Violence 
Strategy to comply with BVPI 225  

 

 

Contribute to the development of the 
Corporate Community Cohesion 
Strategy 

 

 

Reduce the number of school governor 
vacancies to 9% of the total by end 
March 2008, by:  

• persuading and encouraging the 
promotion of governance by 
governing bodies;  

• presence at events and targeted 
locations (eg Libraries);  

• ensuring better use of free 
opportunities available to the 
Council;  

• more active participation with the 
School Governors One Stop Shop;  

• contact with voluntary and 
placement organisations;  

• enhanced information collection 
and better analytical use of service 
information already collected;  

• engaging directly with under-
represented social and ethnic 
groups;  

• more targeted advertising and 
enhanced promotional materials. 

 

 
 

 

The CYPP details the priorities 
identified to safeguard children and 
young people in Bracknell Forest. 

 

 

The Youth Justice Plan details the 
actions identified to reduce the 

 

 

70



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 15 
 

offending of children and young people 
in Bracknell Forest 

Produce plan to secure delivery of LAA 
target on volunteering and 
engagement, specifically: 

• Special Constables and school 
governors 

• Informal volunteering rates 
Helping residents to influence decisions 

 

 

In collaboration with the Youth Service 
and BRP, identify options for youth 
provision and inclusion in the town 
centre 

 

 

Provide opportunities to participate in a 
wide range of arts and leisure services 
to help reduce crime in the Borough 
through purposeful diversion. 

 

 

Provide comments on the draft 
Community Cohesion Strategy. 

 

 

Implement and maintain work that will 
improve community cohesion through 
culture and sport working towards the 
targets set out in the LPSA/Local Area 
Agreement which will be next measured 
in the 2009 resident’s survey. 
 

 

 

Support partners in targeted speed 
reduction campaigns by introducing 
signage and designing traffic calming 
measures in areas with speed issues. 

 

 

Implement an electronic proof of age 
scheme by using the e+ card. 

 

 

Adopt and implement the Council’s 
Gambling Policy. 

 

 

Review and redraft the Council’s 
Licensing Policy 

 

 

Introduce an upgraded digital CCTV 
system to Charles Square Car Park 

 

 

Join the Park Mark safer parking 
scheme 

 

 

Through Park Mark undertake a full 
security assessment  of the High Street 
Car Park 

 

 

Contribute to the development of the 
Council’s Community Cohesion 
Strategy particularly inputting the views 
of those whose voices are seldom 
heard 

 

 

We will aim to increase participation by 
those who are seldom heard by  

 

71



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 16 
 

developing an ‘Expert by Experience’ 
project with a target of involving 5 users 
in the first year 

Consult on the key areas of change to 
the Community 

Cohesion Strategy DCS/ACE 
 

 

Publish revised Community Cohesion 
Strategy DCS/ACE  

 

Evaluate Bracknell Forest’s progress 
against the revised 

Equality Standard DCS/ACE 
 

 

Support the ACE with the delivery of: 
 BF1500 residents panels 
 Neighbourhood Action Groups and 
Forums run in 
conjunction with Thames Valley Police 
ADC/ACE 

 

 

Increase engagement in and 
awareness of democratic 
processes amongst members of the 
public, including young 
people through Local Democracy Week 
activities and 
neighbourhood forums HDRS 

 

 

 

Corporate Theme 4: Increase participation in and enjoyment of art, 
culture, sport and recreation 
Key Action/ Outcome:  
4.1 Develop a new Cultural Strategy covering 2008-2010 
4.2 Develop a new Parks and Open Space Strategy 
4.3 Continue to implement the Council’s Heritage Strategy, focussing on historic landscapes and 

in particular to a) establish an enhanced management regime for Lily Hill Park and b) create 
a Lottery bid for South Hill Park. 

4.4 Improve access to Leisure facilities 
4.5 Increase the percentage of 5 – 16 year olds who spend at least 2 hours per week on high 

quality PE and School Sport to 85% by 2008 
4.6 Increase the percentage of adults participating in at least 30 minutes of moderate sport 

activity on 3 or more days a week (3 year target). 
4.7 Increase further user satisfaction with library and information services  
 

Develop detailed response to PAYP 
programme 

 

 

Plan building of the trampoline centre at 
Brakenhale School 

 

 

To increase participation in physical 
education through developing; school – 
club links, leadership and volunteering 
opportunities and competition. This is 
delivered through the School Sport 

 

 

72



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 17 
 

Partnership Programme. 

Make extensive use of opportunities to 
publicise the services available in 
Libraries. 

 

 

Modernise the Library service further by 
introduction of self service facility. 

 

Project delayed by agreement with the 
Executive Member. Awaiting possible 
move to new Library Management System 
and development of the new library in the 
Civic Hub. 

Build a new improved library in 
Bracknell 

 

 

Develop a cultural strategy through 
review and extension of the existing 
strategy. 

 

 

Commence work on a cultural services 
self improvement plan. 

 

 

Complete the regional commentary for 
cultural services. 

 

 

Establish and support a Public Arts 
Advisory Panel to ensure innovative 
and appropriate public art is delivered. 

 

 

Write a new Parks and Open Spaces 
strategy 

 

 

Establish an enhanced management 
regime for Lily Hill Park.  
 

 

 

Create and submit a Lottery bid for 
South Hill Park. 

 

 

Maintain and develop arrangements for 
vulnerable groups to access 
‘mainstream’ leisure facilities. 

 

 

Increase membership of the ‘leisure 
saver’ scheme. 

 

 

Maintain Charter Mark at 3 of the 
leisure facilities. 

 

 

Maintain and promote services that will 
contribute towards increasing the 
percentage of adults participating in at 
least 30 minutes of moderate physical 
recreation per week. 

 

 

Increase number of LD support workers 
working in the Leisure services to 4 to 
offer 7 day access within existing 
resources 

 

 

Develop new ways of organising 
support i.e. membership schemes for 
people to access leisure 

 

 

Increase use of Direct Payment to 
facilitate access to leisure facilities for  

 

73



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 18 
 

mental health service users 

Detailed Accessibility survey to be 
carried out of all 

Council Buildings HCP 
 

 

Detailed programme of access work to 
be agreed by 
Community Cohesion Working Group 
and commented 
on by the Access Advisory Panel prior 
to programme 

commencement. HCP 

 

 

 

Corporate Theme 5: Protect and improve public health in the 
Borough 
Key Action/ Outcome:  
 5.1 Develop an overarching ‘health strategy’ for the Borough involving all Council departments 

and other partners and in particular to review options with the Berkshire East Primary Care 
Trust to increase provision of health facilities in the borough 

5.2 Deliver the commitments in the CYPP relating to the health of children and young people 
5.3 Work with the PCT to improve access to health centres 
5.4 Implement and enforce new provisions in relation to smoking in work or public spaces 
5.5 Introduce new ‘Catering for Health’ and ‘Safe Food’ awards 
5.6 Produce a public health report for the Borough 
 

Consult partners and deliver a health and 
well-being strategy for the Borough 

 

 

Review options with the Berkshire East 
Primary Care Trust to increase provision 
of health facilities in the borough 

 

 

Contribute input from Overview and 
Scrutiny to the annual ‘Healthcheck’ 
declarations by the 4 NHS Trusts 

 

 

Support Overview and Scrutiny Working 
Groups on: Healthcare Funding; Patient 
Focus; Health Strategy; and Extended 
Schools/Childrens Centres 

 

 

Support health scrutiny members (both 
BFBC and Joint East Berkshire) in 
making an effective contribution to debate 
about and consultation on local health 
provision 

 

 

To ensure all schools are engaged in the 
healthy schools programme the key 
priorities will be; 
 
- continue link with local partners 
- continue to manage the healthy school 
programme   
- to work with schools and support 
teachers 

 

 

74



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 19 
 

Work with members of the Children and 
Young People’s Strategic Partnership to 
deliver the commitments in the CYPP 
relating to the health of children and 
young people (Actions BH1-6) 

 

 

Promote healthy eating through the 
school meal service 

 

 

Contribute to the overall priorities of the 
Public Health Working Group (E&L lead) 

 

 

Work with Education, Children’s Services 
& Libraries to encourage all schools to 
join in the Healthy Schools programme. 

 

 

Maintain the very high usage of leisure 
facilities. 

 

 

Maintain the delivery of GP referrals to 
sports and fitness facilities. 

 

 

In liaison with the PCT improve footpaths 
and  cycleways and increase the number 
and frequency of bus routes passing 
health centres. 

 

Bus routes to Wexham Park have been 
improved and cycleways improved 
through S106 agreements.  Awaiting 
outcome of PCT survey into travel 
modes of clients. 

Work with Corporate HR to develop a 
smoking policy in relation to BFBC 
workplaces. 

 

 

Write guidance for staff on enforcing 
smoking in public places and publicise 
changes in the law. 

 

 

By working with local business and the 
PCT implement the provisions of the 
smoking in public places legislation. 

 

 

By working with local business and the 
PCT design and introduce a “Catering for 
Health” food award. 

 

 

By working with local business and the 
PCT design and introduce a “Safe Food” 
award. 

 

 

Working with the PCT to publish a 
comprehensive annual report on the state 
of public health within Bracknell Forest. 

 

 

Contribute to work programme of 
Berkshire East Joint Strategic 
Commissioning Board and implement any 
joint commissioning proposals agreed by 
the Board. 

 

 

Revise terms of reference of Health and 
Social Care Partnership Board 

 

 

 
Corporate Theme 6: Improve outcomes for children and young 
people 
Key Action/ Outcome:  

75



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 20 
 

 6.1 Implement the actions included in the second year of the CYPP 

6.2 Improve the life chances of looked after children by a) reducing the number of days of 
missed schooling, b) improving Key stage 2 and 3 results and c) increase percentage of 
children in and out of school hours learning   

6.3 Improve attendance and reduce exclusion at schools 

6.4 Work with partners to develop, promote and implement a ‘Preventative Charter’ for all 
children and young people’s services   

6.5 Work with schools and other partners to ensure that 14 schools offer a full range of extended 
services and 6 children’s centres are established within the Borough 

6.6 Develop clear transition pathways for young people with physical or sensory disabilities as 
they reach adulthood 

6.7 Improve environmental management in schools  a) increase the percentage of pupils in LA 
schools, b) increase recycling in schools, c) improve energy management in schools   

6.8 Improve further the commissioning of children’s service and establish a children’s trust 

Deliver Actions EA 1-7, PC1-4, EW1-4, 
WT1 of the CYPP, 2006 - 2009 

 

 

Implement actions arising from 
Consultant’s Report on Exclusions 

 

 

Issue new guidance with regard to School 
Attendance Matters 

 

 

Implement the Preventative Charter and 
Self Assessment Toolkit for children and 
young people’s services, reporting to the 
Children & Young People’s Strategic 
Partnership 

 

 

Work with schools and other partners to 
ensure that 14 schools offer a full range 
of extended services and 6 children’s 
centres are established within the 
Borough 

 

 

Transition Policy developed and transition 
arrangements effective. 

 

 

Promote recycling in schools through 
training and workshop events 

 

 

Improve & promote energy management 
in schools through training and workshop 
events. 

 

 

Work with the Children & Young People’s 
Strategic Partnership to develop and 
establish a children’s trust model 

 

 

Continue to review and improve the 
processes involved in the effective 
recruitment and retention of staff, both on 
the frontline, including in schools, and 
across the Department 

 

 

Project manage the construction of the 
new school at Garth Hill 

 

 

76



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 21 
 

Lead the Department’s preparation for the 
APA/JAR assessment process. 

 

 

Implement ICS software 

 

 

Implement Contact Point 

 

 

Manage competition for development of a 
new school at Peacock Farm 

 

 

Completion of the Portman Close Project 

 

 

Maintain high number of attendances on 
junior teaching course offered through 
Leisure. 

 

 

Maintain high level of contacts through 
Young People in Sport scheme delivered 
by Leisure. 

 

 

Increase the percentage of pupils in LA 
schools covered by a school travel plan. 

 

 

Increase recycling in schools during 
2007/08. 

 

 

Improve energy management in schools. 

 

 

Ensure all relevant staff receive training in 
the transitions pathway  

 

Review the function of the Transition 
Panel in preparation for 2008/09  

 

Finalise Transition Policy and Protocols 
 

 

To provide a building service to the 
Department of Education, 
Children’s Services & Libraries to meet 
their programme to 

develop schools and children’s centres 
HCP 

 

 

Prepare and circulate School Energy and 
Environmental Plans 

and provide advice on these areas when 
required. HCP 

 

 

 

Corporate Theme 7: Increase participation in adult learning 
Key Action/ Outcome:  
7.1  Develop an adult learning plan 

7.2  Meet the targets set out in Local Area Agreement to meet the learning and training 
requirements for the town centre regeneration through the SEEDA funded ‘Grow Our 
Own’ project. 

77



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 22 
 

 

7.3  Increase the number of lowest skilled adults, non-employed and under-employed adults 
to access learning, training and employability skills 

Negotiate and produce a Development 
Plan for Adult Learning as a basis for 
grant funding from the Learning and Skills 
Council (Thames Valley) for the 
Academic Year 2007/8 

 

 

Prepare an Adult Learning Plan for 
Executive approval covering the 
Academic Year 2007/8 

 

 

Work through the Grow Our Own Project 
Team to establish pilot activity in BF to 
support Regeneration 

 

 

Plan and implement programmes of adult 
learning which target and support those 
with low skills seeking improved 
employment opportunities 

 

 

Complete the development of the 
Brakenhale Open Learning Centre 

 

 

 

Corporate Theme 8: Improve services for vulnerable adults and older 
people 
Key Action/ Outcome:  
8.1 Implement self-directed support for adults with learning difficulties 

8.3 Implement the commissioning strategy for older people in conjunction with the East 
Berkshire PCT 

8.4 Agree timescales for developing commissioning strategies for all client groups 

8.5 Modernise services for people with a learning disability 

8.6 Increase the number of people with physical disability being helped to live at home 

8.7 Improve Adult Protection procedures and awareness with all partners 

8.8 Implement the action plan for the Supporting People strategy in consultation with the Audit 
Commission 

8.9 Increase the take-up of direct payments for all client groups 

8.10 help older people with dementia to remain longer in the community rather than long term 
institutional type care 

8.11 Increase the number of older people being helped to live at home 

8.12 Deliver a single assessment framework for older people 

8.13 Agree the strategic framework for services for older people with mental health needs in 
partnership with PCT and Berkshire health care trust 

8.14  Provide cultural development opportunities for adults through a) Home library service b) 
the activities of reading groups in residential homes 

8.15 Work with partners across the South East to implement a National Intelligence Model in 
respect of trading standard enforcement. 

8.16 Finalise and begin implementation of a comprehensive council wide strategy for older 

78



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 23 
 

people 
 

To deliver a Home Library Service to 
37 residential (nursing and care) 
homes and day centres in the Borough 

 

 

To deliver Library materials to 
individuals confined to their own 
homes in the Borough 

 

 

To organise reading groups in at least 
2 residential homes in the Borough 

 

 

To organise reminiscence sessions for 
older people  in at least 4 libraries in 
the Borough 

 

 

Work with partners across the South 
East to implement a National 
Intelligence Model in respect of trading 
standards enforcement. 

 

 

Prepare draft Older People’s Strategy 

 

Timetable slipped due to competing 
pressures and loss of staff. Work now 
progressing well. Discussion paper 
approved by Executive in December 
2007. Stakeholder consultation ongoing. 
Draft strategy to Executive in April 2008. 

Complete the information/training 
programme for staff, service users and 
carers. 

 

 

Develop flexible ways of accessing 
Personal Budgets (e.g. e-cards, 
Individual Service Funds, Brokerage 
etc). 

 

 

Develop a Purchasing Plan to underpin 
the OP Commissioning Strategy.  

 

Develop needs analysis for all client 
groups to inform the commissioning 
strategies. 

 

 

Develop draft commissioning 
strategies for consultation for all client 
groups. 

 

 

Develop Purchasing Plans for all client 
groups.  

The strategies are in draft and they have 
to be consulted on until December and 
then be agreed by the Executive in 
February and March. The Purchasing 
Plans come after the strategies. Revised 
target is March 2008. 

Review the Health and Social Care 
Partnership Board Terms of Reference 
giving consideration to the emerging 
east Berkshire Partnership structure. 

 

 

79



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 24 
 

Appoint an assistant care manager – 
assistive technology.  

 

Reduce waiting times for OT 
Assessments for DFG.  

 

Raise the profile of adult protection via 
specific events including the Adult 
Protection Forum. 

 

 

Revise the training programme for 
adult protection to reflect safeguarding 
adult’s policy.   

 

 

Extend the options for e-cards. 

 

 

Ensure current Domiciliary Care 
Service users can use direct payments 
to retain current provider if possible. 

 

 

To develop new expanded Home Care 
Dementia Team within existing 
resources.  

 

 

To develop a care pathway for older 
people mental health including a single 
point of contact. 

 

A decision was taken that the care 
pathway needed to be developed with the 
joint Community Mental Health Team for 
old age (CMHTE) manager in post and 
when a definitive date for relocation of the 
CMHTE had been established. This has 
now been achieved and the care pathway 
is being led by the new manager who was 
only recently appointed. Therefore the 
objective completion date has been 
revised from October 2007 and was 
completed by November 2007. Relocation 
of CMHTE has now taken place. There is 
now a single point of access at the new 
base and therefore a new care pathway 
with a single point of contact. Referrals 
are all recorded on a single database. 

Develop an action plan following 
review of the Older Peoples’ Mental 
Health Strategy. 

 

 

Support corporate work in 
development of Strategy for 

Older People HOS 
 

 

Participate in the training needs 
analysis for staff and 
deliver the learning and development 
requirements 

BHRM 

 

 

80



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 25 
 

 
 
Corporate Theme 9: Create and maintain a quality environment 
Key Action/ Outcome:  
9.1 Further improve the standards of open spaces and the visual environment within the 

borough. 
9.2 Improve waste management and recycling in the Borough 
9.3 Incorporate plans for Combined Heat and Power in the designs for the new Civic Hub 
9.4 Develop a climate change action plan to meet the Council’s obligations under the 

‘Nottingham Declaration’ 
9.6 Review the management plan and future investment need for the London road ex-landfill site 
9.7 Work with external contractors, land owners and agencies to reduce the amount of fly-tipped 

rubbish in the borough. 
 

Revise RE3 Communications Strategy 
with Wokingham and Reading Councils 

 

 

Within resources available design and 
implement projects to improve the 
standards of open spaces and the 
visual environment in the Borough. 

 

 

Assess the designation merits in 
respect of a new conservation area 
around Church Road, Crowthorne and a 
new conservation area around Monks 
Alley, Binfield. 

 

 

 

Develop a joint waste strategy for RE3 
with Wokingham and Reading Councils.  

 

 

Increase recycling rates in the 
Borough to 40%.  

 

Ensure plans for Combined Heat and 
Power are included in the designs for 
the new Civic Hub. 

 

 

Undertake an energy efficiency audit of 
the Council’s buildings.  

 

 

Write and publish an energy strategy for 
the borough.  

 

 

Work with the Head of Property 
Services to generate and implement 
initiatives to reduce energy 
consumption and carbon emissions in 
Council buildings. 

 

 

Develop and implement a Bracknell 
Forest Climate Change Strategy by 
2009. 

 

 

Review the management plan and 
future investment need for the London 
road ex-landfill site and submit a capital 
bid for the work. 

 

 

81



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 26 
 

Work with external contractors, land 
owners and agencies to develop plans 
to reduce the amount of fly-tipped 
rubbish in the borough. 

 
 
 

 

Energy Manager to assist consultants 
by providing information 
to enable brief to be developed. Corp 
Property 

 

 

climate change action plan by providing 
information on energy 
consumption and suggested measures 
for reduction. Corp 
Property 

 

 

 
 

Corporate Theme 10: Improve transport and movement in and 
around the Borough 
Key Action/ Outcome:  
10.1 Implement and first phase of theLTP2 programme 
10.2 Implement the Green Travel Plan for the Borough Council 
10.3 Work with the Government Office for the South East and neighbouring authorities to press 
for improvement in major junctions in and around the borough. 
10.4  Continue to support the Airtrack Forum to deliver a direct rail link to Heathrow Airport via 
Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
10.5 Create the first phase of the Bracknell Forest traffic model 
10.6 Enter into a punctuality improvement partnership with First Bus 
10.7 Complete the first phase of the review of ‘A’ and ‘B’ class road speed limits 
10.8 Produce a highway asset management plan 
10.9 Produce a draft Highway Network Management Plan 
10.10 Introduce the national concessionary fares scheme for borough residents 
10.11 Increase the level of public transport uptake and satisfaction 
10.12 Reduce the percentage of journeys to school made by car 

Replace the Mill Lane Bridge.  

 

 

Complete the planned programme 
of highway maintenance  

 

Implement actions due in 2007/08 from 
the Green Travel Plan.  

 

 

Attend meetings with the Government 
Office for the South East and 
neighbouring authorities to press for 
improvement in major junctions in and 
around the borough.  

 

 

Attend meetings of the Airtrack Forum 
to lobby for a direct rail link to Heathrow 
Airport via Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council. 

 

 

Write the first phase of the Bracknell 
Forest traffic model. 
 

 

 

82



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 27 
 

Write and have signed punctuality 
improvement agreement with First Bus. 
 

 

 

Complete the first phase of the review 
of ‘A’ and ‘B’ class road speed limits. 
 

 

 

Write, consult on and have published a 
highway asset management plan. 

 
Write and put out for consultation a draft 
Highway Network Management Plan. 
  

Framework for the plan now created and 
being populated with data.  Cost analysis 
package for highways being purchased 
and due to be implemented.   

Implement and administer the national 
concessionary fares scheme for 
borough residents. 
 

 

 

Increase number and frequency of bus 
and train routes in the Borough. 
 

 

 

Reduce the percentage of journeys to 
school made by car by 10%. 
  

 

The baseline of 34% of car travel was 
measured last year following the January 
census. We will not know this years figure 
until the end of quarter 4 when the data is 
processed from the January 2008 census. 

 

Corporate Theme 11: Improve efficiency, effectiveness and access 
to services 
Key Action/ Outcome:  

11.1 Review the Council’s medium term financial strategy in the light of the housing 
stock transfer ballot 

11.2 Increase efficiency through delivery of further procurement savings 

11.3  Implement the Council’s Risk Management Strategy and Business Continuity Plan 

11.4 Complete a review of the joint arrangements established between Berkshire UAs 

11.5 Implement a programme for the disposal of any surplus assets 

11.6 Develop and implement infrastructure and support services to deliver mobile and flexible 
working initiatives 

11.7 Implement the next phase of the Customer Contact Strategy and stage 2 of the CRM 
frontline system development 11.8 Develop, consult on and implement five year ICT 
strategy 

11.8 Develop, consult on and implement five year ICT strategy 

11.9 Administer the Borough/Parish council elections in accordance with legislation including the 
Electoral Administration Act 

11.10  Implement the outcomes of the Council-wide efficiency review and the Support Services 
Review  

11.11 Improve access to the planning service. 

11.12  Establish systems to support integration of work across Children’s Services and the 
sharing of information between professionals  

11.13 Implement the workforce strategy to d) ensure all practitioners working with children and 

83



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 28 
 

young people are appropriately qualified, trained and are able to access professional 
development to support their role 

11.14 Implement HR and finance self-service provisions for staff and managers 

11.15 Implement the Council’s Equality schemes for Gender and Disability 

11.16 Review the Council’s Race Equality Scheme 

11.17 Address issues of community cohesion by working with partners to establish a BME 
forum and using forum to assess unmet needs 

 

Undertake Direction of travel self-
assessment (CPA) 

N/A Audit Commission have informed us 
that no DOT self-assessment will be 
required 

Manage annual CPA 

 

 

Undertake timely monitoring and 
assessment/comparison of performance 
information, highlighting changes in 
performance appropriately 

 

 

Prepare and publish an Annual Report 

 

 

Act as a resource to the Council and its 
services to undertake research – with 
emphasis on future developments, new 
legislation and guidance 

 

 

Investigate, specify and – subject to 
resources – implement a performance 
management system for the whole Council 

 

 

Provide support and assistance and co-
ordinate any Beacon Council applications 

 

 

Seek out and participate in relevant 
performance benchmarking groups 

 

 

Refresh approach to QOR and CPOR 
reports (as part of this develop plans for a 
transition from performance monitoring to 
more of a  performance management 
approach) 

 

 

Produce statement assessing the 
community cohesion and inclusion aspects 
of the town centre regeneration 

 

 

Produce and implement annual 
departmental communications and 
marketing forward plans 

 

 

Produce Town & Country every quarter 

 

 

Answer media enquiries according to the 
Council’s media protocols 

 

 

Produce forest views staff newsletter every 
month 

 

 

84



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 29 
 

Conduct staff attitude survey 2007 

 

 

Review internal communications strategy as 
a result of the staff survey 

 

 

Carry out internal and external 
communications campaigns according to 
the Council’s priorities 

 

 

Implement the Council’s Risk Management 
Strategy and Business Continuity Plan   

 

 

Implement the outcomes of the Council-
wide efficiency review and the Support 
Services Review 

 

 

Shared Processes Group to manage the 
integrated services agenda (including e-
CAF, Information Sharing and IT), in 
delivering the actions under priority WT4 in 
the CYPP 

 

 

Update recruitment practices in response to 
departmental requirements to attract 
appropriately skilled personnel to posts 
within the children’s workforce. 

 

 

Provide advice and support on professional 
development opportunities for school staff 
and workforce remodelling practices 

 

 

Implement the Council’s Equality schemes 
for Gender and Disability 

 

 

Contribute to the review of the Council’s 
Race Equality Scheme 

 

 

To ensure safe recruitment practice is 
maintained a system of recording the pre-
employment checks will be made 
operational across the children’s workforce. 

 

 

Continue to lead the Department in its 
search for financial efficiency without risking 
the quality of services provided, nor the 
effective promotion of school standards and 
the wider ECM agenda. 

 

 

Implement B2B system for Personnel 

 

 

Implement IT remote access to school 
admin network 

 

 

Improve accuracy of student address data 

 

 

Support performance management within 
the department including: responding to 
requests for performance information and 
analysis; supporting the development of an 
integrated performance management 
framework across the department. 

 

 

85



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 30 
 

Coordinate department performance and 
policy returns including service plans; 
corporate plans; and government returns 

 

 

Run a test of the Council’s Business 
Continuity Plan. 

 

 

Maintain the OHSAS 18001 quality 
management system for health and 
safety in 6 of the leisure sites. 

 

 

Provide e-enabled access to leisure 
services. 

 

 

Implement the on-line licensing package. 

 

 

Start to implement the e-enabled complaint 
on-line package for environmental health 
and trading standards. 

 

 

Draft a corporate GIS strategy for 2007-
2010.  

 

Carry out any actions arising from the PWC 
Council-wide efficiency review. 

 

 

Start to research and implement any action 
from the PWC Council-wide efficiency 
review. 

 

 

Make any structural changes required 
by the outcome of the Support 
Services review. 

 

 

Enabling and promoting planning 
applications to be made online through the 
National Planning Portal. 
  

 

Testing of system ongoing and it will 
be operational before March 31 2008 
deadline. 

Enabling comments on planning policy 
matters to be made on line via Public 
Access. 

 

 

Enabling planning enforcement concerns to 
be registered and monitored online. 

 

 

Capturing all the planning history of the 
borough into the Council’s 
planning database. 

 

 

Implement the actions in the Disability 
Equality Scheme Action Plan. 

 

 

Implement the actions in the Gender 
Equality Action Plan.  

 

Provide comments on the draft Race 
Equality Scheme. 

 

 

Support DMT to carry out any changes, for 
2007/08 and 2008/09 required by the 
Council-wide efficiency review. 

 

 

Support DMT to start to research and 
implement any changes in 2009/10 required 
by the Council-wide efficiency review. 

 

 

86



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 31 
 

Make any structural changes required by 
the outcome of the Support Services 
review. 

 

 

Produce Action Plan for the department’s 
deliverables in the Equality Schemes.  

Target date revised to September 
2007 and is now completed. 

Contribute to the review of the Council’s 
Race Equality Scheme.  

 

Monitor, update and deliver the medium 
term financial plan with 
particular emphasis on the delivery of the 
2007/08 budget and 

preparations for the 2008/09 budget BT 

 

 

Support transition to a new external 
auditor HoF  

 

Implement corporate contracts to achieve 
procurement savings 
eg Home to School transport, taxis, 
banking, insurance, 

building cleaning. HoF 

 

 

As lead authority, provide financial support 
to the Berkshire 
Improvement Partnership and the Berkshire 
Procurement and 

Shared Services Unit HoF 

 

 

Extend the remit of the Integrated Transport 
Unit to include 

Social Services transport HoF 
 

 

Develop and implement a risk management 
training 

programme for Members and officers 
HoF 

 

Implementation slower than 
anticipated following inability to recruit 
a suitable candidate for the post of 
Head of Audit and Risk Management. 
An appointment has now been made 
and good progress is anticipated in 
the forthcoming months. An initial 
briefing session for members has 
been organised for 18

th
 February. The 

Council’s  insurers have been 
assisting in the interim, although their 
initial focus will be to updated the 
corporate risk register. 

Refresh the Corporate Risk Register HoF 

 

As above. 

Joint Arrangements to be reviewed by 
BFBC in consultation 
with other Berkshire Unitary Authorities 
BSol/BT 

 

Pressure of work within the Legal 
Services Section has dictated that the 
review is unlikely to be completed in 
this municipal year, although most of 
the major joint arrangements have 
been reviewed and revised 
agreements are being put in place for 
some of the arrangements. 

87



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 32 
 

Amendments to Joint Arrangement 
Agreements BSol 

 

Amended agreements for some of the 
Joint Arrangements have been put in 
place. Pressure of work within the 
Legal Services Section has meant that 
not all Agreements will be amended 
this Municipal Year. 

Complete a review of the financial aspects 
of Berkshire joint 
arrangements/shared services HoF/BSol 

 

 

Work with Department of SS&H to develop 
property strategy to 
reduce revenue outgoings as well as raise 
capital for 
investment in improved service provision for 
adults with 
learning difficulties Corp Property 

 

 

Disposal programme to recommence when 
SPA mitigation 
measurers approved Corp Property 

 

 

Develop and implement infrastructure and 
support services to 
deliver mobile and flexible working 
initiatives. This will support 
work styles being developed to support the 
Civic Hub etc. 
CIO/BHRM 

 

 

Implement the CRM work programme for 
2007 HCS/CIO 

 

 

Produce a CRM programme for 2007 – 
2010 HCS/CIO 

 

 

Develop, consult on and implement five 
year ICT Strategy and 
in particular to increase the online 
transaction capability of the 
Council’s website including extension of the 
online payments 
facility CIO 

 

 

Increase use of the online payments facility 

 

 

Administer the Borough/Parish Council 
elections in accordance 
with legislation including the Electoral 
Administration Act 2006 

 

 

Prepare effectively for, and deliver 
successfully the 2007 
Borough/Parish Council elections; ensuring 
adequate levels of 
staff; managing the postal vote opening 
sessions and 
maintaining the integrity of the democratic 
process HDRS 

 

 

88



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 33 
 

Implement outcomes of Support Services 
Review in 
accordance with agreed action plan 
DCS/HOS 

 

 

Implement agreed programme of works for 
Corporate Services 
from Council-wide efficiency review 
DCS/HOS 

 

 

Support Departments of Council to 
implement agreed 
programmes of works from Council-wide 
efficiency review 
BT/HOS 

 

 

Implement the Pay and Workforce Strategy 
to a) develop 
improved basic skills for workers to 
enhance career prospects 
within the Council b) develop better 
leadership and 
management skills within the workforce to 
improve 
management competence c) develop clear, 
viable grow your 
own routes for a range of professional 
areas within the Council 

 

 

Submit version 3 of the Pay and Workforce 
Strategy to 
Employment Committee for endorsement 
which will include a 
revised Action Plan to meet the 
requirements of the Key 
Actions BHRM 

 

 

Ensure 100% staff appraisal return (except 
for long term 
sickness) All 

 

 

Consider the Council’s response to the 
Modernisation Agenda 
for the Registration Service HDRS 

 

 

Deliver the agreed Member Induction 
Programme and/or rolling 
4 year programme to ensure Member 
learning and 
development needs are met HDRS 

 

 

Implement HR and Finance ‘self-service’ 
provisions for staff 
and managers BHRM/HoF 

 

 

Improve and upgrade the functionality of 
Yourself Revise the 
staffing structure of Payroll/HR Systems 
Administration to 
create a team able to develop REBUS 
(Yourself) self-service 
model for staff and managers BHRM/HoF 

 

 

89



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 34 
 

Implement the Council’s Equality schemes 
for Gender and 
Disability 

 

 

Implement actions for Corporate Services in 
Disability Equality 
Scheme DCS/HOS 

 

 

Implement actions for Corporate Services in 
Gender Equality 
Scheme DCS/BHRM 

 

 

Review the Council’s Race Equality 
Scheme DCS/ACE/BHRM 

 

 

Work with Bracknell Forest Voluntary Action 
to establish BME 
Forum DCS/ACE 

 

 
 

Use Forum to assess unmet need 
DCS/ACE 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Corporate Theme 12: Improve Corporate Governance and 
Partnership Working 
Key Action/ Outcome:  
12.1 Undertake a review of the Councils practices against best practice of Corporate 
Governance and partnership arrangements and implement any consequent amendments 

12.2 Ensure effective implementation of the Local Government and Public Involvement 
in Health Act in particular by establishing a new Public Services Scrutiny Board 
12.3 Support Member development 
12.4 Lead and co-ordinate the refresh of the Local Area Agreement between the Government 
and Bracknell Forest Partnership 
12.5 Lead and co-ordinate the refresh of the sustainable community strategy 
12.6 Ensure that partners work together to improve outcomes for young people aged14 to 19, 
including those who have additional needs. 

Develop, re-shape and continue to 
support and facilitate the 
Neighbourhood Forums and Action 
Groups 

 

 

Support members to develop a work 
programme for Overview and Scrutiny 

 

 

Review and update BFP governance 
arrangements in light of changing 
Government agenda 

 

 

Develop the LAA performance 
framework, specifically roll out 
integrated performance management 
framework to all key BFP partnerships 
(CYPP, H&SC, LSP, Crime and 
disorder) and put plans in place for 
similar version for departments 

 

 

90



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 35 
 

Implement Action Plan to improve the 
BFP’s internal and external 
communications 

 

 

Produce Annual Report of Overview 
and Scrutiny 

 

 

Restructure O&S to accommodate 
requirements of the Police and Justice 
Act (and secure necessary changes to 
Council’s Constitution) 

 

 

Establish scrutiny arrangements for the 
Bracknell Forest Partnership 

 

 

Lead and co-ordinate the refresh of the 
Local Area Agreement between the 
Government and Bracknell Forest 
Partnership 

 

 

Produce six monthly progress review of 
LAA for Government Office for the 
South East (GOSE) 

 

 

Draft the refresh of the Sustainable 
Community Strategy 

 

 

Produce proposals on a set of voluntary 
(and benchmarked) quality of Life 
performance indicators 

 

 

Ensure schools have up-to-date 
information on accredited award 
schemes and support in developing 
programmes. 

 

 

Support schools following Diploma 
Gateway outcome (March 2007) in 
order to develop range of provision from 
September 2008. 

 

The 14-19 Partnership continues to work 
towards a robust 14-19 Education Plan for 
the period 2008-2013. 

Influence providers of learning 
programmes to match provision with the 
needs of the learner, including support 
for teachers in the analysis of data and 
strategies to promote access to the 
curriculum and effective interventions. 

 

 

Support providers in the development of 
coordinated delivery models (including 
timetables) in order to enhance the role 
of the consortium in broadening the 
range of available provision 

 

Meetings between 3 schools and the FE 
college have established the basis of an 
agreed common timetable for 2008/09. 
This work is to be finalised in January 
2008 and to be consulted upon as 
needed. 

Contribute to the Bracknell Forest 
NEET Strategy coordinated by the 
Pathways To Success Working Group.  

Action plan developed in support of the 
NEET strategy – to be included in the 14-
19 ~Education Plan 

Embed new arrangements for the 
delivery of the Connexions Service in 
Bracknell Forest 

 

 

Support senior leaders in schools to 
evaluate school, group and individual 
attainment and progress and secure 
continued improvement. 

 

 

91



  Shows Key actions that are anticipated to be achieved within timetable, or already have been 
achieved 

 Shows Key actions that have not been or are not likely to be achieved on time 
 

Corporate Performance Monitoring Report  Page 36 
 

Review the terms of reference and 
membership of the 14 – 19 Partnership. 

 

 

Children & Young People’s Strategic 
Partnership work effectively towards 
strengthening partnership working to 
address the additional needs of 14 to 
19 year olds. 

 

 

Implement ContactPoint 

 

 

Review to be conducted having regard 
to best practice 
guidance from CIPA, ACSeS, DCLG 
BSol/ACE/Hof 

 

 

Partnership Handbook to be amended 
BSol/ACE/Hof 

 

 

Review and develop robust partnership 
governance 
arrangements having regard to the 
Local Government & Public 
Involvement in Health Bill 
HDRS/BSol/Hof 

 

 

Report to CMT and Executive following 
enactment identifying 
implementation stages required and 
timetable BS 

 

 

Report on amendments to Code of 
Conduct to Council 
following consideration by the 
Standards Committee 
BSol/HDRS 

 

 

Advice to Parish Councils on revised 
Code BSol/HD 

 

 

Training sessions for all Borough and 
Parish Members 
BSol/HDRS 

 

 

Develop and implement a work 
programme to ensure the 
effective delivery of the Members’ 
Charter for Learning and 
Development HDRS 

 

 

 
 

92



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
3
7
 

 A
n

n
e
x

 B
 -

 D
e
ta

il
e
d

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 o
n

 K
e

y
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 I
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 

 
 Q

u
a
rt

il
e
 c

o
m

p
a
ra

ti
v
e

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 i
s
 i

n
c
lu

d
e
d

 w
h

e
re

 a
v
a
il
a
b

le
, 
w

h
ic

h
 r

e
la

te
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 2

0
0
6
/0

7
 f

in
a
n

c
ia

l 
y
e

a
r 

w
h

ic
h

 i
s
 

th
e
 l

a
te

s
t 

q
u

a
rt

il
e
 d

a
ta

 a
v
a
il
a

b
le

. 
T

h
e
 N

a
ti

o
n

a
l 
q

u
a
rt

il
e
 p

o
s
it

io
n

 r
e
la

te
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

fo
r 

0
7
/0

8
, 
n

o
t 

th
e
 p

ro
g

re
s

s
 

y
e
a

r 
to

 d
a
te

. 
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
h

e
m

e
 2

 :
 P

ro
m

o
te

 s
u

s
ta

in
a

b
le

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 i

n
n

o
v
a

ti
v
e
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 s

tr
a

te
g

ie
s

 a
n

d
 e

ff
e
c
ti

v
e
 

m
a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e
 p

o
li
c
ie

s
 

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl

y
 i

n
d

ic
a
to

rs
 

- 
B
V
 1
0
6
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
 b
u
ilt
 o
n
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 l
a
n
d
 

 (
E
L
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 
 

6
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
2
0
0
7
 f
ig
u
re
 i
s
 o
v
e
r 

9
0
%
 
- 
n
e
x
t 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 
in
 

s
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
8
. 

 

B
V
 6
3
 e
n
e
rg
y
 
E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 –
 t
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 S
A
P
 

ra
ti
n
g
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 o
w
n
e
d
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 

7
3
 

6
9
 

2
n
d
 

 

 

B
V
 1
8
4
 a
 T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
L
A
 h
o
m
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 

w
e
re
 n
o
n
-d
e
c
e
n
t 
a
t 
1
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
6
 

2
7
.3
5
 

2
7
.3
5
 

3
rd
 

 

- 
B
V
 1
8
4
b
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 

o
f 
n
o
n
-d
e
c
e
n
t 
L
A
 
h
o
m
e
s
 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 
1
 
A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
7
 a
n
d
 1
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

4
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

 

 

B
V
 
2
0
0
 
D
id
 
th
e
 
lo
c
a
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

s
u
b
m
it
 
th
e
 
L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 

(L
D
S
) 
b
y
 
2
8
 M
a
rc
h
 
2
0
0
5
 
a
n
d
 
th
e
re
a
ft
e
r 

m
a
in
ta
in
 a
 t
h
re
e
 y
e
a
r 
ro
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
?
 

(E
L
) 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

N
/A
 

L
D
S
 
s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 
A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 

is
 n
o
w
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 G
O
S
E
 

 

B
V
 2
0
0
 b
 H
a
s
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

m
e
t 
th
e
 
m
ile
s
to
n
e
s
 
w
h
ic
h
 
th
e
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 

y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

N
/A
 

A
ll 

m
ile
s
to
n
e
s
 

in
 

th
e
 

a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 
L
D
S
 
a
re
 
o
n
 

93



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
3
8
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 
(L
D
S
) 
s
e
ts
 

o
u
t 
(E
L
) 

ta
rg
e
t 
to
 b
e
 m
e
t.
 

 
B
V
 
2
1
2
 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 
ti
m
e
 
ta
k
e
n
 
to
 
re
-l
e
t 
L
A
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 (
S
S
H
) 

3
1
..
2
4
 

2
7
 

2
n
d
 

A
m
b
it
io
u
s
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 
2
7
 d
a
y
s
 

m
is
s
e
d
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
a
 l
a
rg
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
o
id
s
 n
e
e
d
in
g
 

e
x
te
n
s
iv
e
 w
o
rk
s
. 
 W

e
 a
re
, 

h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 s
ti
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 2

n
d
 q
u
a
rt
ile
. 
 

V
o
id
 t
im
e
s
 w
ill
 n
o
w
 b
e
 a
 m
a
tt
e
r 
 

fo
r 
 B
F
H
. 
 

 

B
V
 
6
6
a
 
R
e
n
t 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 
b
y
 
th
e
 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
s
 a
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
re
n
ts
 o
w
e
d
 o
n
 

H
R
A
 d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 (
S
S
H
) 

9
7
.3
 

9
7
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

 

 

B
v
 6
6
 b
 T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
L
A
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 w
it
h
 m
o
re
 

th
a
n
 
7
 
w
e
e
k
s
 
o
f 
(g
ro
s
s
) 
re
n
t 
a
rr
e
a
rs
 
a
s
 
a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
th
e
 
to
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

te
n
a
n
ts
 (
S
S
H
) 

5
.8
2
 

6
.5
 

M
e
d
 

 

 

B
V
 
6
6
 
c
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
L
A
 
te
n
a
n
ts
 
in
 

a
rr
e
a
rs
 
w
h
o
 
h
a
v
e
 
h
a
d
 
N
o
ti
c
e
s
 
S
e
e
k
in
g
 

P
o
s
s
e
s
s
io
n
 s
e
rv
e
d
. 
(S
S
H
) 

4
2
.8
6
 

3
4
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

T
h
is
 i
s
 a
 r
e
la
ti
v
e
ly
 n
e
w
 P
I 

a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 h
a
rd
 t
o
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 i
t 

in
 t
h
e
 s
h
o
rt
 t
e
rm
. 
 I
n
 o
rd
e
r 

to
 g
e
t 
re
n
t 
a
rr
e
a
rs
 d
o
w
n
 

b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 

w
e
 h
a
v
e
 g
iv
e
n
 a
 l
o
t 
o
f 

a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a
rr
e
a
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
e
rv
e
d
 a
 l
o
t 
o
f 
N
S
P
s
. 
 T
h
is
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 i
t 
is
 

g
o
o
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 n
o
t 
to
 

s
e
rv
e
 N
S
P
s
 a
n
d
 

p
re
s
u
m
a
b
ly
 a
d
o
p
t 
o
th
e
r 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 b
ri
n
g
 a
rr
e
a
rs
 

d
o
w
n
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 

d
e
b
t 
a
d
v
ic
e
. 

94



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
3
9
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

 

B
V
 6
6
d
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
A
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 e
v
ic
te
d
 a
s
 a
 

re
s
u
lt
 o
f 
re
n
t 
a
rr
e
a
rs
 (
S
S
H
) 

0
.3
8
 

0
.1
5
 

T
o
p
 

In
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
7
 t
h
e
 e
v
ic
ti
o
n
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 w
a
s
 s
tr
e
a
m
-l
in
e
d
 a
s
 

m
a
n
y
 c
a
s
e
s
 o
f 
h
ig
h
 a
rr
e
a
rs
 h
a
d
 

b
e
e
n
 h
e
ld
 u
p
 i
n
 c
o
m
p
le
x
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
. 
 C
le
a
ri
n
g
 t
h
is
 b
a
c
k
lo
g
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
a
rr
e
a
rs
 w
o
rk
 

h
a
s
 m
e
a
n
t 
th
a
t 
th
e
 %
 o
f 
e
v
ic
ti
o
n
s
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 n
o
w
 a
 B
F
H
 

is
s
u
e
. 

T
h
re
e
 y
e
a
rl
y
 

te
n
a
n
ts
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

B
V
 
7
4
 
a
 
S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 
o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 
b
y
 

th
e
ir
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
: 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 (
S
S
H
) 

7
5
 

 
n
/a
 

2
n
d
 

 

T
h
re
e
 y
e
a
rl
y
 

te
n
a
n
ts
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

B
V
 
7
4
 
b
 
S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 
o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 
b
y
 

th
e
ir
 
la
n
d
lo
rd
: 
i)
 
b
la
c
k
 
a
n
d
 
m
in
o
ri
ty
 
e
th
n
ic
 

te
n
a
n
ts
 (
S
S
H
) 

7
0
 

n
/a
 

2
n
d
 

 

T
h
re
e
 y
e
a
rl
y
 

te
n
a
n
ts
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

B
V
 
7
4
 
c
 
S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 
o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 
b
y
 

th
e
ir
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
: 
ii)
 n
o
n
-b
la
c
k
 a
n
d
 m
in
o
ri
ty
 e
th
n
ic
 

te
n
a
n
ts
 (
S
S
H
) 

7
5
 

n
/a
 

2
n
d
 

 

T
h
re
e
 y
e
a
rl
y
 

te
n
a
n
ts
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

B
V
 
7
5
a
 
S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 
o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 w
it
h
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 

to
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 B
F
S
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
ir
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 -
 a
ll 

te
n
a
n
ts
 (
S
S
H
) 

6
3
 

n
/a
 

2
n
d
 

 

 

B
V
 
7
5
 
b
 
S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 
o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 w
it
h
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 

to
 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
B
F
S
 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 
b
y
 
th
e
ir
 
la
n
d
lo
rd
 
- 

b
la
c
k
 a
n
d
 m
in
o
ri
ty
 e
th
n
ic
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 (
S
S
H
) 

6
7
 

n
/a
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
V
 
7
5
 
c
 
S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 
o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 w
it
h
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

6
3
 

n
/a
 

2
n
d
 

 

95



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
0
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 

to
 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
B
F
S
 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 
b
y
 
th
e
ir
 
la
n
d
lo
rd
 
- 

n
o
n
-b
la
c
k
 a
n
d
 m
in
o
ri
ty
 e
th
n
ic
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 (
S
S
H
) 

 

B
V
 1
8
3
 b
 T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 (
w
e
e
k
s
) 

in
 
(b
) 
h
o
s
te
l 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

w
h
ic
h
 
in
c
lu
d
e
 
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

c
h
ild
re
n
 
o
r 

a
 

p
re
g
n
a
n
t 

w
o
m
a
n
 

a
n
d
 

w
h
ic
h
 

a
re
 

u
n
in
te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 n
e
e
d
 

(S
S
H
) 

0
 

0
 

 T
o
p
 

 

 

B
v
 2
0
2
 T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
le
e
p
in
g
 r
o
u
g
h
 

o
n
 
a
 
s
in
g
le
 
n
ig
h
t 
w
it
h
in
 
th
e
 
a
re
a
 
o
f 
th
e
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 (
S
S
H
) 

0
 -
 1
0
 

0
.1
0
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
v
 
2
1
3
 

N
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

w
h
o
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 
th
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 
a
s
 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
, 
w
h
o
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
d
 
th
e
 
lo
c
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 
a
d
v
ic
e
 
s
e
rv
ic
e
(s
),
 
a
n
d
 
fo
r 
w
h
o
m
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 

a
d
v
ic
e
 

c
a
s
e
w
o
rk
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 

re
s
o
lv
e
d
 t
h
e
ir
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 (
S
S
H
) 

2
.5
7
 (
1
1
6
c
a
s
e
s
) 

3
.5
7
 

(1
6
1
 c
a
s
e
s
) 

2
n
d
 

 

 

B
V
 6
4
 T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
v
a
c
a
n
t 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 i
n
to
 o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 

d
e
m
o
lis
h
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
a
s
 a
 d
ir
e
c
t 
re
s
u
lt
 

o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 (
S
S
H
) 

5
2
 (
p
ro
je
c
te
d
 y
e
a
r 
e
n
d
 

fi
g
u
re
) 
  

7
6
 

2
n
d
 

W
e
 a
re
 n
o
rm
a
lly
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
p
 

q
u
a
rt
ile
 f
o
r 
th
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

b
u
t 
h
a
v
e
 s
lip
p
e
d
 t
o
 2

n
d
 

q
u
a
rt
ile
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r.
  
W
e
 a
re
 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
a
s
o
n
s
 

fo
r 
th
is
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 

re
p
o
rt
 n
e
x
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
r.
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
h

e
m

e
 3

: 
H

e
lp

 c
re

a
te

 a
 s

a
fe

r,
 s

tr
o

n
g

e
r 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 w

h
ic

h
 i

s
 s

o
c

ia
ll

y
 c

o
h

e
s
iv

e
 

- 
E
4
7
 
E
th
n
ic
it
y
 
o
f 

o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 
re
c
e
iv
in
g
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
(n
e
w
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
) 
(S
S
H
) 

-  

1
.2
0
 

N
/A
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
E
4
8
 
E
th
n
ic
it
y
 
o
f 

o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 
re
c
e
iv
in
g
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 
fo
llo
w
in
g
 
a
s
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

(n
e
w
 

-  
1
.0
0
 

N
/A
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

96



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
1
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
) 
(S
S
H
) 

 

B
V
 2
a
 T
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 t
o
 

w
h
ic
h
 
th
e
 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 
c
o
n
fo
rm
s
 
in
 
re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 

g
e
n
d
e
r,
 r
a
c
e
 a
n
d
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 (
C
E
x
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 

2
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

to
w
a
rd
s
 3
 

N
/A
 

 

 

B
V
 
2
b
 
Q
u
a
lit
y
 
o
f 
R
a
c
e
 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 

(R
E
S
) 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
s
u
lt
in
g
 f
ro
m
 i
ts
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 (
C
E
x
) 

8
4
%
 

9
5
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

C
C
0
1
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
th
e
ir
 

lo
c
a
l 
a
re
a
 
is
 
a
 
p
la
c
e
 
w
h
e
re
 
p
e
o
p
le
 
fr
o
m
 

d
if
fe
re
n
t 
b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
s
 c
a
n
 g
e
t 
o
n
 w
e
ll 
to
g
e
th
e
r 

(C
S
) 

8
1
%
 

n
/a
 

2
n
d
 

A
 d
if
fe
re
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 w
a
y
 t
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 c
a
lc
u
la
te
 t
h
is
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 n
o
w
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 a
 g
o
o
d
 

re
s
u
lt
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
 

 

B
V
1
1
a
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
to
p
 p
a
id
 5
%
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 
s
ta
ff
 
w
h
o
 
a
re
 
w
o
m
e
n
 
a
t 
3
1
 
M
a
rc
h
 

(C
S
) 

3
3
.3
8
%
 

3
7
%
 

2
n
d
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 
–
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
t 
th
is
 

le
v
e
l 
w
ill
 s
e
e
 B
F
B
C
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 2

n
d
 

q
u
a
rt
ile
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 b
y
 2
0
0
8
. 
 

T
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
re
la
te
s
 t
o
 v
e
ry
 

s
m
a
ll 
c
o
h
o
rt
s
; 
a
n
y
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 c
a
n
 

le
a
d
 t
o
 w
id
e
 v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
, 
th
e
 

lo
s
s
 o
f 
o
n
e
 p
e
rs
o
n
 h
a
s
 a
 

s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
. 

 

B
V
1
1
b
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
p
 p
a
id
 5
%
 o
f 

lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 
s
ta
ff
 
w
h
o
 
a
re
 
fr
o
m
 
a
n
 
e
th
n
ic
 

m
in
o
ri
ty
 a
t 
3
1
 M
a
rc
h
 (
C
S
) 

5
.4
4
%
 

7
%
 

T
o
p
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 
–
 T
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

re
la
te
s
 t
o
 v
e
ry
 s
m
a
ll 
c
o
h
o
rt
s
; 
a
n
y
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 c
a
n
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 w
id
e
 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
, 
th
e
 l
o
s
s
 o
f 
o
n
e
 p
e
rs
o
n
 

h
a
s
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
. 

 

B
V
 1
1
c
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
to
p
 p
a
id
 5
%
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 
s
ta
ff
 
w
h
o
 
h
a
v
e
 
a
 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 
a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 (
C
S
) 

1
.8
1
%
 

1
.1
6
%
 

3
rd
 

 

 

B
V
 
1
6
 
th
e
 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 
d
e
c
la
ri
n
g
 
th
a
t 
th
e
y
 
m
e
e
t 
th
e
 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 
D
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 
A
c
t 
1
9
9
5
 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

1
.8
1
%
 

1
.8
5
%
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

 

97



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
2
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 a
t 
3
1
 M
a
rc
h
 

 

B
V
 
1
7
 
a
 
T
h
e
 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 
fr
o
m
 
e
th
n
ic
 
m
in
o
ri
ty
 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

a
t 
3
1
 M
a
rc
h
 (
C
S
) 

2
.9
6
%
 

3
.2
5
%
 

2
n
d
 

T
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
la
s
t 
y
e
a
r 
w
a
s
 2
%
 a
n
d
 

th
e
re
fo
re
 e
v
e
n
 t
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r’
s
 

ta
rg
e
t 
h
a
s
 n
o
t 
q
u
it
e
 b
e
e
 m
e
t,
 

s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

m
a
d
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 

g
o
o
d
. 

 

B
V
 
4
9
 
P
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 
fo
r 
lo
o
k
e
d
 
a
ft
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 

(E
C
S
L
) 

1
9
%
 

1
3
%
 

N
/A
 

T
h
is
 i
s
 a
n
 a
re
a
 w
h
e
re
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 v
e
ry
 v
o
la
ti
le
. 

S
m
a
ll 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 c
o
h
o
rt
 (
w
h
ic
h
 

a
re
 f
re
q
u
e
n
t)
 h
a
v
e
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
a
l 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
. 
O
u
tt
u
rn
 f
ig
u
re
 f
o
r 

0
6
/0
7
 i
s
 h
ig
h
e
r 
(1
9
%
) 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 

p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
ig
u
re
 (
1
3
%
) 
d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

v
o
la
ti
lit
y
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
h
o
rt
. 

 

B
V
 9
9
a
 (
i)
 N
o
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 

in
ju
re
d
 
(K
S
I)
 
in
 
ro
a
d
 
tr
a
ff
ic
 
c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 
in
 

th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

  
4
1
 

3
1
 

T
o
p
 

 

B
V
 
9
9
 
a
 
(i
i)
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
in
 
th
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 
k
ill
e
d
 
o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 

in
ju
re
d
 
(K
S
I)
 
in
 
ro
a
d
 
tr
a
ff
ic
 
c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 
in
 

th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

 
-3
3
.9
%
 

-5
0
%
 

- 

 

B
V
 9
9
 A
 (
iii
) 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 

in
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 1
9
9
4
-9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 (
C
S
) 

  
-4
3
.1
%
 

-5
7
%
 

T
o
p
 

W
e
 a
re
 s
ti
ll 
re
p
o
rt
in
g
 r
o
a
d
 

c
a
s
u
a
lt
y
 f
ig
u
re
s
 w
h
ic
h
 e
x
c
e
e
d
 

th
e
 m
a
x
im
u
m
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

s
u
p
e
r-
s
tr
e
tc
h
e
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
7
, 

th
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 (
w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 f
o
r 

a
 r
o
lli
n
g
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
) 
a
re
 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
s
 t
h
e
 u
n
u
s
u
a
l 

s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
6
 w
o
rk
 t
h
e
ir
 w
a
y
 

o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
y
s
te
m
. 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 W

o
rk
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 i
s
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
s
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
. 

 

B
V
 
9
9
 
b
 
(i
) 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 
(a
g
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
1
6
) 
k
ill
e
d
 
o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 
in
ju
re
d
 
in
 

ro
a
d
 
tr
a
ff
ic
 
c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 
in
 
th
e
 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 

c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

 2
 

3
 

T
o
p
 

R
o
lli
n
g
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
 1
/1
1
/0
6
 

to
 3
1
/1
0
.0
7
 

98



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
3
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

 

B
V
 
9
9
 
b
 
(i
i)
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
in
 
th
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 (
a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
1
6
) 
k
ill
e
d
 

o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 
in
ju
re
d
 
(K
S
I)
 
in
 
ro
a
d
 
tr
a
ff
ic
 

c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 
in
 
th
e
 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 
c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 

(E
L
) 

 
-2
5
%
 

0
%
 

3
rd
 

R
o
lli
n
g
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
 1
/1
1
/0
6
 

to
 3
1
/1
0
.0
7
 

 

B
V
 
9
9
 
b
 
(i
ii)
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
in
 
th
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 
k
ill
e
d
 
o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 

in
ju
re
d
 
(K
S
I)
 
in
 
ro
a
d
 
tr
a
ff
ic
 
c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 
in
 

th
e
 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 
c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 
to
 

th
e
 1
9
9
4
-9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 (
E
L
) 

 
-6
6
.7
%
 

-6
6
.7
%
 

T
o
p
 

R
o
lli
n
g
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
 1
/1
1
/0
6
 

to
 3
1
/1
0
.0
7
 

 

B
V
 9
9
 c
 (
i)
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 i
n
ju
re
d
 

in
 
ro
a
d
 
tr
a
ff
ic
 
c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 
in
 
th
e
 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 

c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

 
3
4
0
 

3
0
9
 

T
o
p
 

 

B
V
 
9
9
 
c
 
(I
I)
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
in
 
th
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 i
n
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 
c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 
in
 
th
e
 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 
c
a
le
n
d
a
r 

y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

+
9
.7
%
 

-0
.6
%
 

3
rd
 

 

B
V
 
9
9
 
c
 
(i
ii)
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
in
 
th
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 i
n
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 
c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 
in
 
th
e
 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 
c
a
le
n
d
a
r 

y
e
a
r 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 
to
 
th
e
 
1
9
9
4
-9
8
 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

(E
L
) 

-1
7
.9
%
 

-1
6
.2
%
 

2
n
d
 

W
e
 a
re
 s
ti
ll 
re
p
o
rt
in
g
 r
o
a
d
 

c
a
s
u
a
lt
y
 f
ig
u
re
s
 w
h
ic
h
 e
x
c
e
e
d
 

th
e
 m
a
x
im
u
m
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

s
u
p
e
r-
s
tr
e
tc
h
e
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
7
, 

th
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 (
w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 f
o
r 

a
 r
o
lli
n
g
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
) 
a
re
 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
s
 t
h
e
 u
n
u
s
u
a
l 

s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
6
 w
o
rk
 t
h
e
ir
 w
a
y
 

o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
y
s
te
m
. 

 

B
V
 
1
6
2
 
R
e
v
ie
w
s
 
o
f 
c
h
ild
 
p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 
c
a
s
e
s
 

(E
C
S
L
) 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
V
 1
6
3
 A
d
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 

(E
C
S
L
) 

7
.2
%
 

5
%
 

3
rd
 

 

 

B
F
P
I 

N
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 

s
c
h
o
o
l 

g
o
v
e
rn
o
r 

v
a
c
a
n
c
ie
s
 
a
s
 
a
 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
th
e
 
to
ta
l 

5
%
 

9
%
 

N
/A
 

 

99



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
4
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

(E
C
S
L
) 

 

B
V
 
1
2
6
 
D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 
b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
 
p
e
r 

1
0
0
0
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 (
C
E
x
) 

7
.0
2
 

6
.8
7
 

2
n
d
 

E
v
e
n
 t
h
o
u
g
h
 t
a
rg
e
t 
is
 n
o
t 
b
e
in
g
 

m
e
t,
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
tr
e
n
d
 f
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
7
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
 a
re
 f
a
lli
n
g
, 
b
e
in
g
 

1
0
.5
%
 d
o
w
n
 s
in
c
e
 b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 o
f 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
/ 

 

B
V
 
1
2
7
a
 
V
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
 
p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

(C
E
x
) 

1
2
.9
3
 

1
5
.7
2
 

2
n
d
 

 

 

B
V
 
1
2
7
b
 
R
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s
 
p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

(C
E
x
) 

0
.3
7
 

0
.2
4
 

T
o
p
 

M
a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 a
re
 r
a
n
d
o
m
 w
it
h
 

n
o
 p
a
tt
e
rn
 a
n
d
 m
o
s
tl
y
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 

y
o
u
n
g
 v
ic
ti
m
s
 a
n
d
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
. 

W
o
rk
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 t
o
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
s
a
fe
ty
. 

 

B
V
 
1
2
8
 
V
e
h
ic
le
 
c
ri
m
e
 
p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

(C
E
x
) 

6
.5
4
 

1
0
.1
2
 

3
rd
 

 

- 
B
v
 
1
6
6
 
a
 
S
c
o
re
 
a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 
c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 

e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 

b
e
s
t 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

fo
r 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 (
E
L
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
D
e
lo
it
te
 &
 T
o
u
c
h
e
 

a
u
d
it
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
 a
t 
a
 

c
o
n
s
ta
n
t 
ra
te
 o
f 
9
5
%
. 
T
o
 w
o
rk
 

to
w
a
rd
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 

o
f 
th
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r.
 

- 
B
v
 1
6
6
 b
 S
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 

e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
 

T
ra
d
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 (
E
L
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

N
o
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 d
u
e
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
in
g
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

 

B
V
 1
7
4
 R
a
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 (
C
E
x
) 

9
 

3
0
 

N
/A
 

 

100



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
5
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

 

B
V
 
1
7
5
 
R
a
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 
re
s
u
lt
in
g
 
in
 
fu
rt
h
e
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
E
x
) 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
V
 2
1
5
 a
 A
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 

to
 r
e
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 f
a
u
lt
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 

c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 
F
o
re
s
t 
(E
L
) 

 
5
.8
2
 

5
%
 

3
rd
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 
 

 

B
V
 2
1
5
 b
 A
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 

to
 r
e
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 f
a
u
lt
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 

c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
a
 D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 O
p
e
ra
to
r 

(E
L
) 

1
9
.5
5
 

2
6
 d
a
y
s
 

3
rd
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

 

B
V
 
2
2
5
 
A
c
ti
o
n
s
 
a
g
a
in
s
t 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 
v
io
le
n
c
e
 

(C
E
x
) 

9
0
%
 

1
0
0
 

N
/A
 

 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
h

e
m

e
 4

: 
In

c
re

a
s

e
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 a
n

d
 e

n
jo

y
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
a

rt
, 

c
u

lt
u

re
, 

s
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 r

e
c
re

a
ti

o
n

 

 

B
V
 
2
1
9
 
(b
) 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 w
it
h
 a
n
 

u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
(E
L
) 

1
0
0
%
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
V
2
2
0
 

C
o
m
p
o
s
it
e
 

lib
ra
ry
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 

(E
C
S
L
) 

3
 

4
 

N
/A
 

 

 

B
V
 
1
5
6
 
T
h
e
 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

b
u
ild
in
g
s
 
o
p
e
n
 
to
 
th
e
 
p
u
b
lic
 i
n
 
w
h
ic
h
 
a
ll 

p
u
b
lic
 
a
re
a
s
 
a
re
 
s
u
it
a
b
le
 
fo
r 

a
n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 (
C
S
) 

3
5
.7
%
 

5
0
.6
%
 

N
/A
 

A
 c
o
n
s
tr
a
in
t 
o
n
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
a
le
 

o
f 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 

In
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 m
a
y
 e
x
c
e
e
d
 t
h
e
 

to
ta
l 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 

 

B
F
P
I 
T
o
 
m
in
im
is
e
 
n
e
t 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 
b
y
 

o
p
ti
m
is
in
g
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 l
e
v
e
ls
 i
n
 L
e
is
u
re
 (
E
L
) 

£
7
,0
2
2
,0
0
0
  

Q
2
 

£
8
,8
6
0
,0
0
0
 

N
/A
 

 

101



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
6
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

 

B
F
P
I 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
v
is
it
s
/c
o
n
ta
c
ts
 

to
 

le
is
u
re
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

a
n
d
 

s
p
o
rt
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
(e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 
E
P
 
C
o
n
fe
re
n
c
e
 

C
e
n
tr
e
 
b
u
t 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 
B
F
B
C
 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

o
p
e
ra
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
ir
d
 p
a
rt
ie
s
).
 (
E
L
) 

1
,7
5
6
,1
9
0
 

Q
2
 

2
,2
4
2
,0
0
0
 

N
/A
 

O
v
e
ra
ll 
u
s
a
g
e
 o
f 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

h
a
s
 r
e
c
o
v
e
re
d
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 

to
 s
h
o
w
 m
a
rg
in
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 

 

B
V
 2
0
5
 B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 
F
o
re
s
t’
s
 s
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 

“Q
u
a
lit
y
 
o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
” 
1
8
 
p
o
in
ts
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t,
 

e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
F
P
I 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

th
e
 n
e
w
 H
e
a
lt
h
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 A
w
a
rd
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

6
8
%
 

7
8
%
 

N
/A
 

2
6
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
w
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

th
e
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
y
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 a
n
d
 w
e
 a
re
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 

th
a
t 
w
e
 w
ill
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
fo
r 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
. 

 

B
V
 1
9
7
 T
e
e
n
a
g
e
 p
re
g
n
a
n
c
ie
s
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

-4
0
.7
%
 

-2
3
.9
%
 

T
o
p
 

     

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
h

e
m

e
 6

: 
Im

p
ro

v
e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f

o
r 

c
h

il
d

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g

 p
e
o

p
le
 

 

B
V
 3
8
 %
 o
f 
5
+
 A
-C
 G
C
S
E
s
 

 
5
9
.7
%
 

6
4
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

•
 

B
V
 3
9
 %
 o
f 
5
+
 A
-G
 

G
C
S
E
s
 

 
9
5
.2
%
 

9
3
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

- 
•
 

B
V
 4
3
 S
E
N
 

a
) 

e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

b
) 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

 - 
 

1
0
0
%
 

9
5
%
 

a
) 
to
p
 

b
) 
2
n
d
 

 

 

 

B
V
 4
5
 A
b
s
e
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 

 
8
%
 

(2
0
0
6
/0
7
 a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)
 

6
.8
 

T
o
p
 

T
a
rg
e
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 b
e
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 

th
o
s
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 w
h
e
re
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 h
a
s
 d
ro
p
p
e
d
. 

T
a
rg
e
t 
is
 u
n
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 m
e
t.
 

102



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
7
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

 

B
V
 4
6
 A
b
s
e
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 

 
4
.8
%
 

(2
0
0
6
/0
7
 a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)
 

4
.8
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
V
 
5
0
 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 
o
f 
lo
o
k
e
d
 

a
ft
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

8
3
.3
%
 

6
9
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
V
 4
0
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 o
n
 r
o
ll 
a
t 
e
n
d
 o
f 

K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 L
e
v
e
l 
4
 a
n
d
 

a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 m
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

7
7
%
 

8
5
%
 

T
o
p
 

E
v
e
n
 t
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

d
o
n
’t
 a
p
p
e
a
r 
to
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

m
e
t,
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 

a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

a
n
d
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 a
t 
2
n
d
 q
u
a
rt
ile
 

w
h
e
n
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
. 

 

B
V
 4
1
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 o
n
 r
o
ll 
a
t 
e
n
d
 o
f 

K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 L
e
v
e
l 
4
 a
n
d
 

a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 E
n
g
lis
h
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

8
3
%
 

8
7
%
 

T
o
p
 

E
v
e
n
 t
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

d
o
n
’t
 a
p
p
e
a
r 
to
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

m
e
t,
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 

a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

a
n
d
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 t
o
p
 

q
u
a
rt
ile
 w
h
e
n
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
. 

 

B
V
 
1
6
1
 
E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t,
 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 
e
tc
 
fo
r 
c
a
re
 

le
a
v
e
rs
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

0
.5
0
 

0
.6
7
 

N
/A
 

 

 

B
V
 1
8
1
 %
 o
f 
le
v
e
l 
5
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 

a
) 

E
n
g
lis
h
 

b
) 

M
a
th
s
 

c
) 

S
c
ie
n
c
e
 

d
) 

IC
T
 

 
7
7
%
 

8
0
%
 

8
1
%
 

7
2
%
 

 

 
8
4
%
 

8
3
%
 

8
2
%
 

7
9
%
 

a
) 
T
o
p
 

b
) 
T
o
p
 

c
) 
T
o
p
 

d
) 
2
n
d
 

E
v
e
n
 t
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 d
o
n
’t
 

a
p
p
e
a
r 
to
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 m
e
t,
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 a
b
o
v
e
 

th
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 a
n
d
 

s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 

a
t 
to
p
 q
u
a
rt
ile
 f
o
r 
a
, 
b
 a
n
d
 c
 

a
n
d
 2

n
d
 q
u
a
rt
ile
 f
o
r 
d
. 

103



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
8
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

 

B
V
 1
9
4
 %
 o
f 
le
v
e
l 
5
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 

a
) 

E
n
g
lis
h
 

b
) 

m
a
th
s
 

 
3
7
%
 

3
1
%
 

 
3
9
%
 

3
8
%
 

a
) 
to
p
 

b
) 
T
o
p
 

E
v
e
n
 t
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 d
o
n
’t
 

a
p
p
e
a
r 
to
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 m
e
t,
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 a
t 
to
p
 q
u
a
rt
ile
 

fo
r 
a
 a
n
d
 3

rd
 q
u
a
rt
ile
 f
o
r 
b
. 

 

 B
V
 2
2
1
 Y
o
u
th
 w
o
rk
 

 
6
9
%
 

(y
e
a
r 
to
 d
a
te
) 

8
0
%
 

to
p
 

 

- 
B
V
 2
2
2
 C
h
ild
c
a
re
 

a
) 

L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 

b
) 

G
ra
d
u
a
te
/ 
p
o
s
t 
g
ra
d
u
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

 
5
5
%
 

5
0
%
 

a
) 
T
o
p
 

b
) 
3
rd
 

 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
h

e
m

e
 7

: 
In

c
re

a
s

e
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 a
d

u
lt

 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

 

B
F
P
I 
R
e
p
o
rt
 l
e
a
rn
e
r 
n
u
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 e
n
ro
lm
e
n
ts
 

re
s
u
lt
in
g
 f
ro
m
 A
d
u
lt
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 P
la
n
 (
2
0
0
6
/0
7
) 

(E
C
S
L
) 

F
in
a
l 
d
a
ta
 f
o
r 
y
e
a
r 

in
d
ic
a
te
s
 1
9
6
9
 

le
a
rn
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 4
7
7
9
 

e
n
ro
lm
e
n
ts
 

2
2
4
0
 l
e
a
rn
e
rs
 

N
/A
 

C
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 
o
f 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
a
rg
e
t.
 

N
.B
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 L
A
A
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
5
0
0
 a
d
u
lt
s
 o
n
 

F
ir
s
t 
S
te
p
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 2
0
0
 a
d
u
lt
s
 

o
n
 F
a
m
ily
 L
it
e
ra
c
y
 a
n
d
 

N
u
m
e
ra
c
y
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 

- 
B
F
P
I 
R
e
p
o
rt
 d
a
ta
 f
ro
m
 G
ro
w
 O
u
r 
O
w
n
 P
ro
je
c
t 

to
 m
e
e
t 
L
L
A
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

0
 

1
0
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
a
lly
 

in
a
c
ti
v
e
 o
r 
u
n
d
e
r 

a
c
ti
v
e
 a
s
s
is
te
d
 

in
 a
n
o
th
e
r 
w
a
y
 

w
it
h
 s
k
ill
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

(L
A
A
) 

N
/A
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 
w
a
s
 
p
la
n
n
e
d
 
to
 

s
ta
rt
 d
u
ri
n
g
 4
Q
 0
7
 b
u
t 
lin
k
e
d
 

to
 r
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
. 

 

B
F
P
I 
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
L
S
C
 

C
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
fo
r 
A
d
u
lt
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

S
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 t
o
 

L
S
C
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 

N
/A
 

 

104



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
4
9
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
S
E
E
D
A
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
fo
r 

G
ro
w
 O
u
r 
O
w
n
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

N
/A
 

 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
h

e
m

e
 8

: 
Im

p
ro

v
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f

o
r 

v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 a
d

u
lt

s
 a

n
d

 o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl

y
 i

n
d

ic
a
to

rs
 

- 
B
V
 
5
3
 
B
1
1
 
In
te
n
s
iv
e
 
h
o
m
e
 
c
a
re
 
a
s
 
a
 

p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 
o
f 
in
te
n
s
iv
e
 
h
o
m
e
 
a
n
d
 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

c
a
re
 (
S
S
H
) 

-  
3
4
%
 

N
/A
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
B
1
2
 C
o
s
t 
o
f 
in
te
n
s
iv
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 f
o
r 
a
d
u
lt
s
 

a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
. 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
fi
g
u
re
 q
u
o
te
d
 i
s
 0
6
/0
7
 o
u
tt
u
rn
 

(S
S
H
) 

-  
7
0
0
 

T
o
p
 =
 5
7
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
B
1
7
 U
n
it
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
h
o
m
e
 c
a
re
 f
o
r 
a
d
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 

o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
  

A
n
n
u
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
fi
g
u
re
 q
u
o
te
d
 i
s
 0
6
/0
7
 o
u
tt
u
rn
 

(S
S
H
) 

-  
1
5
 

T
o
p
 =
 1
6
.7
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
C
7
2
 O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 o
r 
o
v
e
r 
a
d
m
it
te
d
 

o
n
 a
 p
e
rm
a
n
e
n
t 
b
a
s
is
 i
n
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
to
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

o
r 
n
u
rs
in
g
 c
a
re
 (
S
S
H
) 

-  
7
5
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

 
C
7
3
 A
d
u
lt
s
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
-6
4
 a
d
m
it
te
d
 o
n
 a
 

p
e
rm
a
n
e
n
t 
b
a
s
is
 i
n
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
to
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
o
r 

n
u
rs
in
g
 c
a
re
 (
S
S
H
) 

 
0
.4
 

T
o
p
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
C
2
9
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 

liv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
-6
4
 

(S
S
H
) 

-  
3
.6
 

2
n
d
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
C
3
0
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 

liv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
-6
4
 

(S
S
H
) 

-  
3
.0
 

2
n
d
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
C
3
1
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 

h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 1
8
-6
4
 (
S
S
H
) 

-  
5
.8
 

T
o
p
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

105



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
0
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

- 
C
3
2
 O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 

(B
V
P
I 
5
4
) 
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
+
 

(S
S
H
) 

-  
9
0
 

3
rd
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
B
V
 5
3
 C
2
8
 I
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 h
o
m
e
 c
a
re
 (
B
V
P
I 
5
3
) 

(K
T
) 

 

-  
1
3
 

2
n
d
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
h

e
m

e
 9

: 
C

re
a

te
 a

n
d

 m
a
in

ta
in

 a
 q

u
a
li

ty
 e

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t 

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl

y
 i

n
d

ic
a
to

rs
 

 

B
V
 
8
2
 
(a
) 
(i
) 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
n
t 
b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
re
c
y
c
lin
g
 (
E
L
) 

2
5
.6
1
%
 

2
6
%
 

to
p
 

 

 

B
V
 
8
2
 
(a
) 
(i
i)
 
T
o
ta
l 
to
n
n
a
g
e
 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 

a
ri
s
in
g
s
 s
e
n
t 
fo
r 
re
c
y
c
lin
g
 (
E
L
) 

1
0
9
9
9
 

1
4
7
5
0
 

2
n
d
 

K
e
rb
s
id
e
 
re
c
y
c
lin
g
 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 
to
 

e
x
c
e
e
d
 
th
a
t 
o
f 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 
y
e
a
rs
 

d
u
e
 t
o
 A
B
C
 

 

B
V
 
8
2
 
(b
) 
(i
) 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 
s
e
n
t 

b
y
 
B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 

F
o
re
s
t 

fo
r 

c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 
o
r 
tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
b
y
 
a
n
a
e
ro
b
ic
 

d
ig
e
s
ti
o
n
. 
(E
L
) 

1
4
.8
5
%
 

1
4
%
 

2
n
d
 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 e
x
c
e
e
d
in
g
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
 

 

B
V
 
8
2
 
(b
) 
(i
i)
 
T
o
ta
l 
to
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 s
e
n
t 
fo
r 
c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 o
r 
tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
b
y
 

a
n
a
e
ro
b
ic
 d
ig
e
s
ti
o
n
 (
E
L
) 

6
3
7
8
 

7
9
5
2
 

2
n
d
 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 e
x
c
e
e
d
in
g
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
 

 

B
V
 8
2
 (
c
) 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
to
n
n
a
g
e
 

o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 
w
a
s
te
 
a
ri
s
in
g
s
 
w
h
ic
h
 
h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 
u
s
e
d
 
to
 
re
c
o
v
e
r 
h
e
a
t,
 
p
o
w
e
r 
a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
e
n
e
rg
y
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
. 
(E
L
) 

0
.2
4
%
 

0
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

S
m
a
ll 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
s
e
n
t 
fo
r 
e
n
e
rg
y
 

fr
o
m
 w
a
s
te
 f
ro
m
 r
e
c
y
c
lin
g
. 

 

B
V
 
8
2
 
d
 
(i
) 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 l
a
n
d
fi
lle
d
. 
(E
L
) 

5
9
.3
%
 

6
0
%
 

2
n
d
 

O
v
e
r 
4
0
0
0
 t
o
n
n
e
s
 l
e
s
s
 l
a
n
d
fi
lle
d
 

th
a
n
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 
d
u
e
 t
o
 A
B
C
 

 

B
V
 
8
2
 
d
 
(i
i)
 
T
o
ta
l 
to
n
n
a
g
e
 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 l
a
n
d
 f
ill
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

2
5
4
6
8
 

3
4
,5
0
0
 

T
o
p
 

 

106



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
1
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

- 
B
V
 
8
4
 
a
 
N
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 

k
ilo
g
ra
m
s
 
o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 
w
a
s
te
 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 
p
e
r 
h
e
a
d
 
o
f 

th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
. 
(E
L
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

4
9
6
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

 

- 
B
V
 
8
4
 
b
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
fr
o
m
 
th
e
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
in
 
th
e
 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

k
ilo
g
ra
m
s
 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 
w
a
s
te
 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 

p
e
r 
h
e
a
d
 o
f 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 (
E
L
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

-0
.1
5
%
 

2
n
d
 

 

- 
B
V
 
8
6
 
C
o
s
t 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 
c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 
p
e
r 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 (
E
L
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

£
3
7
.4
5
 

T
o
p
 

 

- 
B
V
 
8
7
 
C
o
s
t 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 
d
is
p
o
s
a
l 
p
e
r 
to
n
n
e
 

m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
w
a
s
te
 (
E
L
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

£
6
8
.2
5
 

2
n
d
 

 

 

B
V
 
9
1
 
a
 
T
h
e
 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

re
s
id
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 a
re
a
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 

a
 k
e
rb
s
id
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
 (
E
L
) 

9
9
.7
%
 

9
9
.7
%
 

2
n
d
 

 

 

B
V
 
9
1
 
b
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

re
s
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 a
re
a
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 

k
e
rb
s
id
e
 
c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 
o
f 

a
t 

le
a
s
t 

tw
o
 

re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
 (
E
L
) 

9
9
.7
%
 

9
9
.7
%
 

2
n
d
 

 

- 
B
V
 1
9
9
 a
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 

a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 t
h
a
t 
is
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 h
a
v
in
g
 

c
o
m
b
in
e
d
 
d
e
p
o
s
it
s
 
o
f 
lit
te
r 
a
n
d
 
d
e
tr
it
u
s
 

th
a
t 
fa
ll 
b
e
lo
w
 a
n
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
l 
(E
L
) 

-  

1
0
%
 

2
n
d
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r.
 C
u
rr
e
n
t 
re
s
u
lt
 

6
%
 

- 
B
V
 1
9
9
 b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 

h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 

o
f 
g
ra
ff
it
i 
a
re
 v
is
ib
le
 (
E
L
) 

N
A
 

4
%
 

3
rd
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
B
V
 1
9
9
 c
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 

h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 

o
f 
fl
y
-p
o
s
ti
n
g
 a
re
 v
is
ib
le
 (
E
L
) 

N
A
 

4
%
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

107



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
2
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

- 
B
V
 1
9
9
 d
 Y
e
a
r 
o
n
 y
e
a
r 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
o
ta
l 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
o
ta
l 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 f
ly
-t
ip
p
in
g
 

 (
E
L
) 

N
A
 

2
 

2
n
d
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r.
 F
o
llo
w
in
g
 a
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
A
S
1
3
 P
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

G
ro
u
p
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
p
e
ri
o
d
 a
 2
 h
o
u
r 

d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ta
l 
w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

s
e
t 
u
p
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 i
n
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
d
a
ta
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 f
ly
 t
ip
p
in
g
 

 

B
v
 2
0
4
 T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
l 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
llo
w
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 

F
o
re
s
t'
s
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 t
o
 r
e
fu
s
e
 o
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
ls
 a
g
a
in
s
t 

re
fu
s
a
ls
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 (
E
L
) 

4
3
.2
4
%
 

 
3
0
%
 

2
n
d
 

In
 Q
1
 t
h
e
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 i
n
 d
e
fe
n
d
in
g
 

a
p
p
e
a
ls
 f
e
ll 
w
e
ll 
b
e
lo
w
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  

T
h
is
 i
s
 a
 r
e
p
e
a
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
a
tt
e
rn
 

la
s
t 
y
e
a
r 
b
u
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 c
lo
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

y
e
a
r 
w
e
 d
id
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  
A
s
 

w
it
h
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r,
 t
h
e
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 r
a
te
 i
n
 

d
e
fe
n
d
in
g
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 h
a
s
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
o
n
 q
u
a
rt
e
r,
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 l
a
s
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
r 
s
e
e
in
g
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
t 
3
3
%
 a
lm
o
s
t 

m
a
tc
h
in
g
 t
h
e
 3
0
%
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  

H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
h
ig
h
e
r 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 l
e
v
e
ls
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 

b
a
la
n
c
e
d
 o
u
t 
th
e
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 i
n
 Q
1
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 r
is
k
 w
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 

re
c
o
v
e
r 
to
 a
n
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 
3
0
%
 b
y
 

th
e
 y
e
a
r 
e
n
d
. 

 

B
V
 2
0
5
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 C
h
e
c
k
lis
t 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
v
 
2
1
6
 
a
 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
's
it
e
s
 
o
f 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
' 
(w
it
h
in
 
B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 
F
o
re
s
t)
 
w
it
h
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
to
 l
a
n
d
 c
o
n
ta
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 (
E
L
) 

2
3
0
8
 

2
3
0
8
 

N
/A
 

 

 

B
V
 
2
1
6
 
b
 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
it
e
s
 
fo
r 
w
h
ic
h
 

s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
d
e
ta
ile
d
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
  

to
 d
e
c
id
e
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
re
m
e
d
ia
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 l
a
n
d
 

is
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
, 
a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
ll 
's
it
e
s
 

o
f 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
' 

0
 

1
4
 

T
o
p
 

T
h
is
 i
s
 o
u
r 
fi
rs
t 
y
e
a
r 
w
h
e
n
 w
e
 

p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 i
n
s
p
e
c
t 
s
it
e
s
. 
S
ta
rt
in
g
 

c
a
u
ti
o
u
s
ly
 i
t 
w
a
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 t
h
e
 1
4
 s
it
e
s
 w
it
h
 a
 

h
ig
h
e
r 
ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
c
o
re
 t
h
is
 

y
e
a
r 
b
u
t 
2
 s
ta
ff
 v
a
c
a
n
c
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

108



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
3
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

m
a
te
rn
it
y
 l
e
a
v
e
 w
ill
 c
a
u
s
e
 a
 

s
h
o
rt
fa
ll 
in
 t
h
is
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  
T
h
is
 i
s
 

o
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
 a
re
a
s
 w
h
e
re
 

s
h
o
rt
a
g
e
s
 o
f 
p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
lly
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 s
ta
ff
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 

a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t.
  
A
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

s
ta
ff
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 h
a
s
 n
o
w
 

b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 h
o
p
e
d
 

th
a
t 
w
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
b
le
 t
o
 s
o
o
n
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
lly
 r
e
c
ru
it
 t
o
 o
u
r 
v
a
c
a
n
t 

p
o
s
ts
. 
 W
h
e
re
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 r
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 

g
re
a
te
s
t 
a
re
a
s
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
 a
n
d
 

in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

b
o
u
g
h
t 
in
, 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 b
a
c
k
fi
ll.
 

 

B
V
 
2
1
7
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
p
o
llu
ti
o
n
 
c
o
n
tr
o
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 
to
 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
in
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
s
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 
o
n
 
ti
m
e
 
d
u
ri
n
g
 
th
e
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

 

B
V
 
2
1
8
 
a
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
n
e
w
 
re
p
o
rt
s
 
o
f 

a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
 (
E
L
) 

9
2
%
 

8
6
%
 

3
rd
 

R
e
p
o
rt
s
 
o
f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 
v
e
h
ic
le
s
 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
4
 h
o
u
rs
 

 

B
V
 
2
1
8
 
b
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
n
e
w
 
re
p
o
rt
s
 
o
f 

a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 
v
e
h
ic
le
s
 
re
m
o
v
e
d
 
w
it
h
in
 
2
4
 

h
o
u
rs
 
o
f 
th
e
 
p
o
in
t 
a
t 
w
h
ic
h
 
B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 

F
o
re
s
t 
is
 
le
g
a
lly
 
e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 
to
 
re
m
o
v
e
 
th
e
 

v
e
h
ic
le
. 
(E
L
) 

4
1
%
 

8
7
%
 

3
rd
 

C
o
n
tr
a
c
to
rs
 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 
h
a
s
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
fr
o
m
 

3
6
%
 
to
 
4
6
%
 
o
f 
v
e
h
ic
le
s
 
b
e
in
g
 

re
m
o
v
e
d
 

w
it
h
in
 

2
4
 

h
o
u
rs
. 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 
o
f 
th
e
 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 
to
 
b
e
 
m
o
n
it
o
re
d
. 
3
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
p
ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
s
 
d
u
ri
n
g
 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 f
o
r 
fa
ilu
re
 t
o
 p
a
y
 f
ix
e
d
 

p
e
n
a
lt
y
. 

2
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

c
a
s
e
s
 

a
w
a
it
in
g
 
p
ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 
a
ft
e
r 
w
h
ic
h
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
 a
s
 t
o
 c
o
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

w
ill
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
. 

109



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
4
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
h

e
m

e
 1

0
: 

Im
p

ro
v
e

 t
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
  
m

o
v
e
m

e
n

t 
in

 a
n

d
 a

ro
u

n
d

 t
h

e
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl

y
 i

n
d

ic
a
to

rs
 

 
B
V
 
1
0
0
 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 
o
f 
te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 
c
o
n
tr
o
ls
 
o
r 
ro
a
d
 
c
lo
s
u
re
s
 
o
n
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 
s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 
s
tr
e
e
ts
 
d
u
e
 
to
 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 r
o
a
d
 w
o
rk
s
 p
e
r 
k
m
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 

s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 s
tr
e
e
ts
. 
(E
L
) 

0
.8
5
 d
a
y
s
/k
m
 

1
 d
a
y
/k
m
 

3
rd
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
B
V
 1
0
2
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
b
u
s
 p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 

jo
u
rn
e
y
s
 

o
ri
g
in
a
ti
n
g
 

in
 

B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 

F
o
re
s
t 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 
in
 
th
e
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r.
 (
E
L
) 

- 
1
,8
7
6
,0
0
0
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r.
 1
,8
3
0
,9
0
0
 t
o
 

e
n
d
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
7
 

 
B
V
 

1
0
9
a
 

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 

m
a
jo
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
d
 i
n
 1
3
 
w
e
e
k
s
. 

(E
L
) 

 
8
1
.5
8
%
 

6
5
%
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

 

 
B
V
 

1
0
9
b
 

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 

m
in
o
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
d
 

w
it
h
in
 

8
 

w
e
e
k
s
. 
(E
L
) 

 
9
0
.4
5
%
 

7
2
%
 

3
rd
 

 

 
B
V
 

1
0
9
c
 

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 

o
th
e
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
d
 

w
it
h
in
 

8
 

w
e
e
k
s
. 
(E
L
) 

 
9
5
.2
7
%
 

8
5
%
 

3
rd
 

 

 
B
V
 
1
6
5
 
T
h
e
 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 

c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 
w
it
h
 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 
fo
r 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 

p
e
o
p
le
 a
s
 a
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
a
ll 
c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 

in
 
B
ra
c
k
n
e
ll 

F
o
re
s
t 
in
 
th
e
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 

Q
2
 (
1
0
0
%
) 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

 

110



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
5
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r.
 (
E
L
) 

- 
B
V
 1
7
8
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
to
ta
l 
le
n
g
th
 

o
f 
fo
o
tp
a
th
s
 
a
n
d
 
o
th
e
r 
ri
g
h
ts
 
o
f 
w
a
y
 

w
h
ic
h
 w
e
re
 e
a
s
y
 t
o
 u
s
e
 b
y
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 

o
f 
th
e
 
p
u
b
lic
 
in
 
th
e
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 

y
e
a
r.
 (
E
L
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 

1
0
0
%
 

T
o
p
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
B
V
 
1
8
7
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
C
a
te
g
o
ry
 1
, 
1
a
 

a
n
d
 

2
 

fo
o
tw
a
y
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 

s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 
b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 
in
 
th
e
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 

y
e
a
r.
 (
E
L
) 

-  
2
5
%
 

3
rd
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
B
V
 2
2
3
 (
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 
B
V
 9
6
) 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

th
e
 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 
p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 

ro
a
d
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
 w
h
e
re
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 
b
e
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 
in
 
th
e
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

- 
1
2
%
 

3
rd
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 
 

- 
B
V
 2
2
4
 a
 (
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 B
V
 9
7
) 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

th
e
 

n
o
n
-p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 

c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 

ro
a
d
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
 
w
h
e
re
 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 
s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 

y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

- 
1
9
%
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
B
V
 
2
2
4
 
b
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
u
n
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 

ro
a
d
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 

s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 

- 
2
5
%
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

111



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
6
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
(E
L
) 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
h

e
m

e
 1

1
: 

Im
p

ro
v
e

 e
ff

ic
ie

n
c

y
, 

e
ff

e
c

ti
v
e
n

e
s
s
 a

n
d

 a
c
c

e
s
s
 t

o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

 

B
F
P
I 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
te
a
c
h
in
g
 
a
s
s
is
ta
n
ts
 
w
it
h
 

H
L
T
A
 i
n
 B
F
B
C
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 (
E
C
S
L
) 

A
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
1
3
 t
e
a
c
h
in
g
 

a
s
s
is
ta
n
ts
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

q
u
a
rt
e
r.
 A
 t
o
ta
l 
o
f 
3
1
 

te
a
c
h
in
g
 a
s
s
is
ta
n
ts
 h
a
v
e
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
h
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

s
o
 f
a
r.
 

In
c
re
a
s
e
d
 

n
u
m
b
e
rs
 

N
/A
 

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
u
p
o
n
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 T
A
’s
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 

u
p
 o
ff
e
r 
o
f 
tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 

C
5
1
 D
ir
e
c
t 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
  
(B
V
P
I 
2
0
1
) 
(K
T
) 
(S
S
H
) 

2
1
4
.8
 

1
5
0
 

T
o
p
 

 

- 
C
6
2
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
C
a
re
rs
 (
S
S
H
) 

- 
1
5
 

T
o
p
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

 

D
3
7
 A
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
s
in
g
le
 r
o
o
m
s
 (
S
S
H
) 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
 

T
o
p
 

 

- 
D
3
9
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 

p
e
o
p
le
 
re
c
e
iv
in
g
 
a
 

s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 

m
e
t 
(S
S
H
) 

-  

9
8
 

2
n
d
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
D
4
0
 C
lie
n
ts
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 (
S
S
H
) 

- 
7
7
 

T
o
p
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
D
4
1
 D
e
la
y
e
d
 t
ra
n
s
fe
rs
 o
f 
c
a
re
 (
S
S
H
) 

- 
2
0
 

T
o
p
 =
 3
7
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
D
5
4
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
it
e
m
s
 
o
f 
e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 
d
e
liv
e
re
d
 
w
it
h
in
 
7
 
w
o
rk
in
g
 
d
a
y
s
 

(B
V
P
I 
5
6
) 
(K
T
) 
(S
S
H
) 

-  

9
2
 

2
n
d
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
D
5
5
 

A
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 

w
a
it
in
g
 

ti
m
e
s
 

fo
r 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 (
B
V
P
I 
1
9
5
) 
(K
T
) 
(n
e
w
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
) 

(S
S
H
) 

-  

9
5
 

T
o
p
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

 

D
5
6
 
A
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 
w
a
it
in
g
 
ti
m
e
s
 
fo
r 

c
a
re
 

p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 (
B
V
P
I 
1
9
6
) 
(K
T
) 
(S
S
H
) 

9
5
.6
5
 

9
6
 

T
o
p
 

 

112



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
7
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

- 
E
8
2
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 (
n
e
w
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
) 

(S
S
H
) 

-  

6
9
 

B
o
tt
o
m
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

- 
D
7
5
 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 
le
a
rn
in
g
 
(a
d
u
lt
s
 
e
le
m
e
n
t)
 
(n
e
w
 

d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
) 
(S
S
H
) 

-  

2
3
 

N
/A
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

 

B
V
 8
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
in
v
o
ic
e
s
 p
a
id
 o
n
 t
im
e
 

(C
S
) 

9
2
.6
%
 

9
5
.5
%
 

2
n
d
 

 

 

B
V
9
 
T
h
e
 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 
d
u
e
 
fo
r 

th
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
w
h
ic
h
 w
e
re
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 (
C
S
) 

A
t 
3
1
 D
e
c
 0
7
, 
8
5
.3
7
%
 o
f 

th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
y
e
a
rs
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

ta
x
 h
a
d
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
. 

(9
7
.5
%
)  

 

9
7
.5
%
 

3
rd
 

R
e
s
u
lt
s
 f
ro
m
 c
re
d
it
o
rs
 

b
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
in
g
 c
lu
b
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
 

h
a
v
e
 j
o
in
e
d
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

u
n
it
a
ry
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 i
s
 9
0
%
. 

T
h
is
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
 a
re
 

d
o
in
g
 w
e
ll 
re
la
ti
v
e
ly
 

s
p
e
a
k
in
g
 w
h
e
n
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 

to
 o
u
r 
p
e
e
rs
. 
W
e
 m
a
y
 h
a
v
e
 

s
e
t 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
to
o
 h
ig
h
. 

 

B
V
 1
0
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
o
n
-d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 r
a
te
s
 

d
u
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
w
h
ic
h
 w
e
re
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 (
C
S
) 

A
t 
3
1
 D
e
c
 0
7
, 
9
0
.8
5
%
 o
f 

th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
y
e
a
rs
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
a
te
s
 h
a
d
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
. 

(9
9
.2
%
) 

9
9
.2
%
 

2
n
d
 

 

- 
B
V
 7
6
 b
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fr
a
u
d
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
/1
0
0
0
 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 (
S
S
H
) 

A
w
a
it
in
g
 d
a
ta
 

0
.1
8
 

N
/A
 

 

- 
B
V
 
7
6
c
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fr
a
u
d
 
in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
/1
0
0
0
 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
, 
w
h
e
re
 w
o
rk
 i
s
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
to
 g
a
th
e
r 

e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 

o
n
 

a
 

c
la
im
a
n
t,
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 

o
r 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 p
a
rt
y
 w
h
o
 i
s
 s
u
s
p
e
c
te
d
 o
f 
H
B
/C
T
B
 

fr
a
u
d
 (
S
S
H
) 

A
w
a
it
in
g
 d
a
ta
 

3
1
.8
 

N
/A
 

 

- 
B
V
 
7
6
 
d
 
N
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 

p
ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
s
 
a
n
d
 

s
a
n
c
ti
o
n
s
/1
0
0
0
 c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 (
S
S
H
) 

A
w
a
it
in
g
 d
a
ta
 

7
.7
 

N
/A
 

 

113



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
8
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

 

B
V
 7
8
a
 S
p
e
e
d
 o
f 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 :
 A
v
e
ra
g
e
 t
im
e
 

(d
a
y
s
) 
fo
r 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 n
e
w
 c
la
im
s
 (
S
S
H
) 

2
6
.1
8
 

2
8
 

2
n
d
 

 

 

B
v
 
7
8
b
 
S
p
e
e
d
 
o
f 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
: 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 
ti
m
e
 

(d
a
y
s
) 
fo
r 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

o
f 
c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 (
S
S
H
) 

7
.5
3
 

1
0
 

2
n
d
 

 

 

B
V
 
7
9
a
 
A
c
c
u
ra
c
y
 
o
f 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 
c
a
s
e
s
 
fo
r 
w
h
ic
h
 
th
e
 
c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
th
e
 

a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
d
u
e
 
w
a
s
 
c
o
rr
e
c
t 
o
n
 
th
e
 

b
a
s
is
 
o
f 
th
e
 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 
fo
r 
th
e
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
 f
o
r 
a
 s
a
m
p
le
 o
f 
c
a
s
e
s
 c
h
e
c
k
e
d
 p
o
s
t-

d
e
c
is
io
n
 (
S
S
H
) 

9
9
.2
 

9
9
 

2
n
d
 

 

 
B
V
 
7
9
 
b
 
(i
) 
T
h
e
 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 
B
e
n
e
fi
t 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 
(H
B
) 

re
c
o
v
e
re
d
 
d
u
ri
n
g
 
th
e
 

p
e
ri
o
d
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 o
n
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

H
B
 d
e
e
m
e
d
 r
e
c
o
v
e
ra
b
le
 o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

th
a
t 
p
e
ri
o
d
. 
(S
S
H
) 

4
9
.4
5
 

7
0
 

3
rd
 

A
s
 s
ta
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
 l
a
rg
e
 

o
v
e
r-
p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 d
ra
s
ti
c
a
lly
 d
a
m
a
g
e
d
 

o
u
r 
re
p
o
rt
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
. 
 I
n
 

g
e
n
e
ra
l 
o
u
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
v
e
r-

p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
fr
a
u
d
 i
s
 v
e
ry
 g
o
o
d
 a
n
d
 

th
is
 i
s
 j
u
s
t 
a
 b
lip
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
. 

 

B
V
 
7
9
b
 
(i
i)
 
H
B
 
o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 
re
c
o
v
e
re
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
t 
d
e
b
t 
o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 

a
t 
th
e
 s
ta
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 p
lu
s
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 
d
u
ri
n
g
 
th
e
 
p
e
ri
o
d
 

(S
S
H
) 

2
0
.2
9
  

3
3
 

2
n
d
 

A
s
 s
ta
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
 l
a
rg
e
 

o
v
e
r-
p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 d
ra
s
ti
c
a
lly
 d
a
m
a
g
e
d
 

o
u
r 
re
p
o
rt
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
. 
 I
n
 

g
e
n
e
ra
l 
o
u
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
v
e
r-

p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
fr
a
u
d
 i
s
 v
e
ry
 g
o
o
d
 a
n
d
 

th
is
 i
s
 j
u
s
t 
a
 b
lip
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
. 

 

B
V
 

7
9
 

b
 

(i
ii)
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 

(H
B
) 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 a
s
 

a
 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 
o
f 
th
e
 
to
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
t 
d
e
b
t 
o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 s
ta
rt
 o
f 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
, 
p
lu
s
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 (
S
S
H
) 

0
 

2
.5
 

N
/A
 

N
o
 d
e
b
ts
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
 a
s
 

a
ll 
c
a
s
e
s
 
a
re
 
b
e
in
g
 
re
c
e
iv
e
d
 
a
s
 

p
a
rt
 
o
f 
th
e
 
n
e
w
 
d
e
b
t 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
 

a
g
e
n
ts
. 

114



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
5
9
 

 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 
K
e
y
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 y
e
a
r 
to
 

d
a
te
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

Q
u
a
rt
il
e
 

p
o
s
it
io
n
 0
6
/0
7
 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

- 
B
V
 
2
2
6
 
S
p
e
n
d
 
o
n
 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 
p
ro
v
id
in
g
 

le
g
a
l 
a
d
v
ic
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

N
e
w
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
–
 n
o
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 y
e
t 

- 
N
/A
 

 

   C
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
h
is
 

q
u
a
rt
e
r 

In
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
/ 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
C
h
ild
re
n
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 

L
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 

T
o
ta
l 
=
  
7
 

S
ta
g
e
 1
 =
  
 5
  

S
ta
g
e
 2
 =
1
 

S
ta
g
e
 3
 =
 0
 

O
m
b
u
d
s
m
a
n
 

=
 1
 

     

S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
o
ta
l 
 =
 1
3
 

S
ta
g
e
 1
 =
  
 9
  

S
ta
g
e
 2
=
 2
 

S
ta
g
e
 3
  
=
  
 1
 

O
m
b
u
d
s
m
a
n
 

=
 1
 

 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 L
e
is
u
re
 

T
o
ta
l 
=
 1
0
 

S
ta
g
e
 1
 =
  
5
  
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 =
  
1
 

S
ta
g
e
 3
 =
 0
 

O
m
b
u
d
s
m
a
n
 

=
 4
 

 

 

115



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
6
0
 

 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
/ 
C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
 

T
o
ta
l 
  
  
  
 =
 1
4
 

S
ta
g
e
 1
  
  
=
 1
4
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
  
  
  
=
 0
 

S
ta
g
e
 3
  
  
  
=
 0
 

O
m
b
d
s
m
’n
  
=
 

0
 
 

 

116



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
6
1
 

   C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 H
e

a
lt

h
 

 
 

A
u

d
it

s
 w

it
h

 
li

m
it

e
d

 o
r 

n
o

 
a
s

s
u

ra
n

c
e

 
o

p
in

io
n

s
 

 
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
C
h
ild
re
n
s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 L
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 

2
 

T
w
o
 l
im
it
e
d
 a
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 a
u
d
it
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 w
e
re
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 t
h
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r,
 b
o
th
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
w
 s
ta
ff
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
h
e
c
k
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
ri
m
in
a
l 

R
e
c
o
rd
s
 B
u
re
a
u
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
ir
 d
u
ti
e
s
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
. 
A
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 s
te
p
s
 

th
a
t 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 s
h
o
u
ld
 t
a
k
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 s
a
fe
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
h
a
v
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 b
e
e
n
 d
is
tr
ib
u
te
d
 t
o
 a
ll 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
. 

S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

N
o
n
e
 

 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 L
e
is
u
re
 

N
o
n
e
 

 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

1
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
e
x
p
e
n
s
e
s
 –
 l
im
it
e
d
 a
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 

S
o
m
e
 e
x
p
e
n
s
e
s
 n
o
t 
fu
lly
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 n
o
t 
a
lw
a
y
s
 p
a
id
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 t
o
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 b
u
t 
p
a
id
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
r 
e
.g
. 
h
o
te
l/
p
h
o
n
e
 b
ill
s
. 
W
o
rk
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
M
e
m
b
e
r 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 N
o
ti
c
e
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 g
iv
e
 e
ff
e
c
t 
to
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 O
ff
ic
e
 

N
o
n
e
 

 

 S
ta

ff
in

g
 i

n
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 
 

T
h
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 

T
a
rg
e
t 
0
7
/0
8
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

B
V
 1
2
 S
ic
k
n
e
s
s
 

a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

6
.0
8
 

T
o
p
 

B
V
 1
4
 E
a
rl
y
 r
e
ti
re
m
e
n
ts
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

0
.2
5
%
 

2
n
d
 

B
V
 1
5
 I
ll 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

re
ti
re
m
e
n
ts
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

0
.1
8
%
 

2
n
d
 

117



  
S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 o
r 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

 S
h
o
w
s
 K
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 o
r 
a
re
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
/ 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
6
2
 

  S
ta

ff
 t

u
rn

o
v
e

r 
 

B
F
B
C
 0
6
/0
7
 1
3
.3
9
%

 
T
h
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 

P
ro
je
c
te
d
 y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
C
h
ild
re
n
s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 L
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 

1
.9
1
%
 

1
2
.2
1
%
 

 

S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

4
.2
4
%
 

1
6
.1
1
%
 

 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 L
e
is
u
re
 

3
.3
4
%
 

1
6
.7
3
%
 

 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

1
.7
1
%
 

5
.6
3
%
 

 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 O
ff
ic
e
 

1
.0
0
%
 

1
.3
4
%
 

 

S
ta

ff
in

g
 i

n
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 
S

ta
ff

 s
ic

k
n

e
s

s
 

B
F
B
C
 0
6
/0
7
 7
.0
4
 d
a
y
s
 

T
h
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 

P
ro
je
c
te
d
 y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
C
h
ild
re
n
s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 L
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 

2
.5
3
 

9
.6
9
 

 

S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

7
.9
2
 

1
6
.2
8
 

 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 L
e
is
u
re
 

2
.3
8
 

8
.7
8
 

 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

1
.2
3
 

7
.9
2
 

 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 O
ff
ic
e
 

3
.8
5
 

1
9
.2
3
 

 

  

118



63 

ANNEX C 
 
 
Revenue Budget Monitoring – Quarter 3 2007/08 
 
At the end of the third quarter the monthly budgetary control reports for the General 
Fund reported a forecast underspend of £1.343m.  Details of individual variances are 
outlined in each department’s Performance Management Report (PMR). 
 
The number of potential risks to the budget, identified by departments through 
emerging issues, have diminished during the quarter.  The most significant item 
remains Children Looked After.  When setting the 2007/08 budget the strategy was to 
provide for the known and certain costs of existing children.  The emerging issue, 
therefore, represents an increase in both numbers and needs and amounts to 
£0.210m. 
 
The Council has approved the use of the Structural Changes Reserve of £0.414m for 
organisational restructuring in the current year.  It is Council policy to charge these 
costs against any underspend in the budget before using the Reserve.  Therefore, 
the net underspend is likely to be £0.929m.  This means that the Structural Changes 
Reserve will remain at £0.896m in April 2008. 
 
A significant element of the underspend arises from expenditure which although not 
spent in the current year will be required to meet liabilities in the future. 
 

• Standards Fund – changes in the grant rules means that an underspending will 
be realised in the current year as grant can no longer be carried forward and will 
be used to fund expenditure ordinarily funded through the Council’s base budget.  
The underspend of £0.240m will be used to create an earmarked reserve 
enabling the Council to meet the salary costs of fixed term contract staff up to the 
end of the academic year. 

 

• Carry forwards – initial consideration has been given to potential budget carry 
forwards into 2008/09, which amount to £0.308m.  These represent planned 
expenditure which, for various reasons, cannot be spent in the current year. 

 
When setting the 2007/08 budget the Council recognised a range of risks to the 
budget and set aside contingency funds to reduce the potential impact, particularly 
from demand led services such as Learning Disabilities clients.  At the end of the 
third quarter £0.426m remained within these contingencies and this has been 
incorporated within the forecast underspend of £1.343m. 
 
This overall position represents a significant improvement on previous years and 
means that the Council can be reasonably confident of spending within budget for the 
tenth consecutive year.  This also suggests that many of the overspends in previous 
years have been largely addressed either through the budget build process or 
changes to service provision and positions the Council well for 2008/09 and 
subsequent financial years. 
 

119



64 

ANNEX D 
 

Update on the work of the Bracknell Forest Partnership during the 
quarter 
 
 
Place Shaping 
Work is well underway to develop new versions of the Sustainable Community 
Strategy (SCS) and the Local Area Agreement (LAA). The draft evidence base is 
finalised and draws together local priorities, performance statistics and headlines of 
public opinion. Two stakeholder events were held (September and November) to 
gather additional views to supplement the desk based information gathering. 
 
With all the evidence base complete, work has begun to convert the information into 
draft frameworks for the SCS and the LAA. These are both being consulted on during 
January and February 
 
In addition, the Partnership Board has  

• collated and analysed the second quarter performance report against the 
current Local Area Agreement 

• investigated procurement for the Community TV initiative 
 
The Partnership has been actively involved in several consultations which include: 
 
Local Development Framework – the framework is made up of a number of 
documents that will eventually replace the policies and proposals contained in the 
Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan. A subsidiary document currently being 
developed is the Development Management Housing and Commercial Policies and 
Sites Development Plan Document. This focuses on housing, retail and business 
planning and will detail sites that have been identified as potential development 
areas. This is due to be consulted on during February/ March 2008. 
 
Life is for Living: A new Cultural Strategy for Bracknell Forest – this new strategy 
needs to understand and reflect changes within Bracknell Forest over the past five 
years. The new draft strategy has three overarching themes – enhance town centre, 
villages and neighbourhoods; improve sense of belonging and community spirit for 
all; continue to support and improve the range of high quality facilities and services 
 
For the next quarter, the focus of the Board will be on: 

• performance managing the current LAA 

• understanding published guidance on the new format of Local Area 
Agreements 

• developing and consulting on the draft frameworks of the new Sustainable 
Community Strategy and Local Area Agreement 

• procurement for the Community TV pilot. 
 

120



Performance
Monitoring Report

Chief Executive’s Office 

4th quarter January – March 2007/08

Portfolio holder: Paul Bettison, Leader of the Council
Assistant Chief Executive: Victor Nicholls

Agenda Item 8

121



Section One: Executive Summary 

Key activities this quarter included:

• No call in by the Secretary of Stage of the revised town centre application. No
High Court challenge by third parties to the grant of permission.

• Town Centre Compulsory Purchase Order inquiry held.

• Negotiation with occupiers and landowners to overcome objections to the
compulsory purchase order.

• Civic Hub detailed design (RIBA Stage D) complete and sign-off complete,
subject to resolution of outstanding issue.

• Completion of the CPA Scorecard process, with publication in February of our “4
star, improving strongly” rating.

• Formulating proposals to restructure Overview and Scrutiny.

• Production of the Annual Report of Overview and Scrutiny.

• Rolling out arrangements for the new National Indicator Set for performance
measures.

• Restructuring the Assistant Chief Executive’s Office.

• Preparation of the CPA Improvement Plan.

• Progressing with Members the work of 15 Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) Working
Groups, in addition to ongoing work in the O&S Commission and Panels.

• Commencement of Community TV procurement work.

• BCS crime reduced by 20.4% in 2007-08, and showed a 3-year reduction of
12.5%.

• Highest level of crime reduction in Thames Valley during 2007-08.

• A new plan with six key priorities is being delivered, to be published in June 2008.

• Fear of Crime Survey completed – results to be released June 2008.

• ASB data to be released to the public via Borough website.

• Agreement of draft Local Area Agreement (LAA) and submission to GOSE.

• Agreement of draft Sustainable Community Strategy and publication for
consultation. Major community event held in November to identify priorities for the
revised Strategy.

Chief Executive’s Office Performance Monitoring Report Page 2

122



Section Two: Progress against Service Plan 

The Chief Executive’s Office Service Plan contains 76 detailed actions to be
completed in support of the 12 Corporate Themes for 2007/08. Annex A provides
information on progress against each of these detailed actions. Overall 72 actions
are anticipated to be achieved or already have met targets ( ), while only two are
causing some concern ( ). There are also two actions where the responsibility has
moved to another department or is no longer required.

The two actions that are causing concern ( ) relate to:

• Action 3.1.10 (BVPI 225): Ten of the 11 indicators of the BVPI have been
complied with. The strict wording required in the tenancy agreement for Bracknell
Forest Homes does not meet exactly with the requirements of paragraph 9 of the
BVPI, which was added after the new tenancy agreement wording was finalised.

• Action 8.16.1 (Older Persons Strategy): The original timetable will not be met due
to competing pressures and loss of staff. Work has progressed, but the
production of a draft Strategy has been delayed due to staff shortages. Good
progress is now being made.

Chief Executive’s Office Performance Monitoring Report Page 3

123



Section Three: Resources 

Staffing
See Annex B for more detailed information.

Budget
The Chief Executive’s Office financial information is included in the Performance
Monitoring Report for the Corporate Services Department.

Revenue
See commentary in Corporate Services Department Performance Monitoring report.

Capital
See commentary in Corporate Services Department Performance Monitoring report.

Complaints

Stage Number of complaints
in the quarter

Specific commentary on complaints

1 0 N/A
2 0 N/A
3 0 N/A

Ombudsman 0 N/A

Internal audit assurances
(Where internal audit carried out with limited or no assurance)

Service area Issues with limited or no assurance and remedial action to
be taken
No Internal Audit Reports affecting the Chief Executive’s
Office were issued in Quarter 4.

Chief Executive’s Office Performance Monitoring Report Page 4

124



Section Four: Forward Look 

Key activities during the next quarter:

• Producing the Council’s Annual Report for 2007/08.

• Council approval being sought for the Annual Report of Overview and Scrutiny,
and for the restructuring of Overview and Scrutiny.

• Consultations on the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme for 2008/09.

• Recruitment of the Head of Performance and Partnerships as part of the
restructure of the Chief Executive’s Office.

• Continuing to support the Overview and Scrutiny process, including 15 Working
Groups.

• Co-ordinating preparation of all 4th quarter quarterly Performance Monitoring
Reports, and preparing the 4th quarter Corporate Performance Overview Report.

• Preparing the 4th quarter Local Area Agreement performance monitoring report.

• Proposals for new IT system for performance management for the Council.

• Finalising and publishing the Local Area Agreement refresh.

• Finalising and publishing the Sustainable Community Strategy.

• Finalising the procurement of Community TV and setting up the contract.

• Commencing strategic risk assessment against the Sustainable Community
Strategy.

• CADIS in Internet via BFBC website.

• New community survey in summer 2008 for NAGs.

• New sub-group structure to be developed following new CDRP Partnership Plan.

• Establishing new Economic and Skills Development Partnership

• Working with the other Berkshire Unitary Authorities to establish the new
Berkshire Economic Strategy Board

Communications and Marketing

• Town & Country - the next edition is due to be published in June.

• RE3 – continue to lead the implementation of the Communications plan for the
Longshot Lane civic amenity site redevelopment.

• Garth Hill College – implement communications plan through the consultation,
planning and constructions phases.

• Update key publications: Street map, town centre maps and councillor’s guide.

• Welcome Pack – produce a new borough-wide pack with partners for all residents
new to the area.

• Bracknell Forest Partnership Communications – carry out joint forward plan
including the launch of the new Sustainable Community Plan and Community TV.

• Bracknell town centre regeneration – implement joint communications strategy
with BRP. Implement Civic hub communications plan including Council-wide “Tidy
Up” event in June/July.

• Implement new Corporate Identity Standards from June 1.

• Forest views – produced monthly as per schedule.

• Corporate messages – produced monthly.

Chief Executive’s Office Performance Monitoring Report Page 5

125



A
n

n
e
x

A
:

P
ro

g
re

s
s

a
g

a
in

s
t

d
e
ta

il
e
d

a
c
ti

o
n

s
fr

o
m

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
1
:

P
ro

m
o
te

th
e

s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t
o
f
B

ra
c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:

1
.1

L
e
a
d

th
e

re
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
o

f
B

ra
c
k
n

e
ll

F
o

re
s
t

T
o

w
n

C
e
n

tr
e

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.1

.1
:
D

ra
ft

a
n
d

c
o
n
s
u
lt

o
n

in
te

rn
a
l
re

g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

s
tr

a
te

g
y
,

b
a
s
e
d

o
n

T
o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
w

o
rk

s
tr

e
a
m

s
D

ra
ft

R
e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

S
tr

a
te

g
y

a
n
d

w
o
rk

s
tr

e
a
m

s
to

b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

fo
r

S
D

G
m

e
e
ti
n
g

1
6
/0

4
/0

8
.

R
e
g

e
n

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
1
9
.0

5
.0

8

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.1

.2
:
A

p
p
ro

v
e

a
n
d

a
g

re
e

d
e
ta

ile
d

d
e
s
ig

n
fo

r
C

iv
ic

H
u
b

H
e
a
ti
n
g

a
n
d

C
o
o
lin

g
is

s
u
e
s

u
n
re

s
o
lv

e
d

b
u
t
lo

o
k
in

g
fo

r
s
ig

n
o
ff

s
h
o
rt

ly
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.1

.3
:
S

u
p
p
o
rt

re
lo

c
a
ti
o
n

o
f
to

w
n

c
e
n
tr

e
u
s
e
rs

d
is

p
la

c
e
d

b
y

re
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

p
la

n
s

R
e
p
o
rt

to
b
e

c
o
m

p
ile

d
a
n
d

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
e
n
d

M
a
y
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.1

.4
:
S

u
p
p
o
rt

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f

th
ir
d

p
a
rt

y
s
it
e
s

O
n
g

o
in

g
.

S
c
h
e
m

e
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
in

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
w

it
h

B
R

P

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.1

.5
:
E

n
s
u
re

M
e
m

b
e
rs

a
n
d

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n

a
re

in
v
o

lv
e
d

in
th

e
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f
th

e
T

o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
O

n
g

o
in

g
.
O

&
S

m
e
m

b
e
rs

d
e
c
id

e
d

n
o
t
to

in
c
lu

d
e

th
is

in
th

e
ir

2
0
0
7
/0

8
w

o
rk

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.

M
e
m

b
e
rs

u
p
d
a
te

d
re

g
u
la

rl
y

th
ro

u
g

h
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

R
e
p
o
rt

s
fr

o
m

C
E

x
O

ff
ic

e
a
n
d

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.1

.6
:
C

o
-o

rd
in

a
te

a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
t
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
fo

r
th

e
to

w
n

c
e
n
tr

e
re

g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
,
in

c
lu

d
in

g
th

e
v
it
a
lit

y
o
f

th
e

to
w

n
b
e
fo

re
re

g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
,
in

te
rn

a
l
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

a
n
d

th
e

c
o
u
n
c
il’

s
e
le

m
e
n
t

o
f
th

e
p
ro

je
c
t
e
.g

.
C

iv
ic

H
u
b

O
n
g

o
in

g
im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

o
f

o
v
e
r-

a
rc

h
in

g
s
tr

a
te

g
y

a
n
d

s
p
e
c
if
ic

p
ro

je
c
ts

e
g

.
c
iv

ic
h
u
b

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

p
la

n
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.1

.8
:
D

ra
ft

T
o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t
s
tr

a
te

g
y
,

in
c
lu

d
in

g
K

e
e
p
in

g
B

ra
c
k
n
e
ll

T
o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
a
liv

e
d
u
ri
n
g

th
e

re
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t,

re
a
d
y

fo
r

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

T
o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
M

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
th

ro
u
g

h
in

d
iv

id
u
a
l

a
c
ti
o
n

g
ro

u
p
s

m
e
e
ti
n
g

s
a
n
d

m
a
in

s
te

e
ri
n
g

g
ro

u
p
.
N

e
x
t

m
e
e
ti
n
g

s
e
t
fo

r
1
0

th
J
u
ly

2
0
0
8
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
6

126



A
c
ti
o
n

1
.1

.9
:
D

e
v
e
lo

p
w

it
h

B
F

P
a

c
le

a
r

s
ta

te
m

e
n
t
fo

r
c
a
rb

o
n

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
th

e
to

w
n

c
e
n
tr

e
T

h
e
m

e
b
e
in

g
w

o
rk

e
d

th
ro

u
g

h
a
n
d

P
I’
s

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:

1
.5

D
e
li
v
e
r

th
e

C
o

u
n

c
il
’s

L
A

A
a
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
c
o

m
m

it
m

e
n

ts
to

s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
c
o

n
o

m
ic

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
a
n

d
e
n

te
rp

ri
s
e

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.5

.1
:
T

h
ro

u
g

h
th

e
B

F
P

,
fa

c
ili

ta
te

th
e

L
A

A
c
o
m

m
it
m

e
n
ts

to
s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
c
o
n
o
m

ic
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

a
n
d

e
n
te

rp
ri
s
e

L
A

A
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
re

g
u
la

rl
y

th
ro

u
g

h
th

e
B

F
P

B
o
a
rd

.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.5

.2
:
U

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

re
s
e
a
rc

h
in

to
th

e
e
c
o
n
o
m

ic
p
ro

fi
le

o
f

th
e

b
o
ro

u
g

h
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

a
n
d

p
re

s
e
n
te

d
to

th
e

B
F

P
B

o
a
rd

.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
.5

.3
:
C

o
m

p
ile

lis
t
o
f

e
c
o
n
o
m

ic
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

a
c
ti
v
it
y

a
lr
e
a
d
y

o
c
c
u
rr

in
g

,
a
n
d

s
u
b
s
e
q

u
e
n
tl
y

c
o
n
s
id

e
r

la
u
n
c
h
in

g
a
n

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t
a
n
d

e
n
te

rp
ri
s
e

g
ro

u
p

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d

a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

a
n
d

w
it
h

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

.
T

e
rm

s
o
f
re

fe
re

n
c
e

fo
r

n
e
w

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
a
n
d

S
k
ill

s
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

to
b
e

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
in

M
a
y

2
0
0
8
.
T

h
is

ta
rg

e
t
s
u
p
e
rs

e
d
e
d

a
s

a
c
o
n
s
e
q

u
e
n
c
e
.
C

o
n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

w
o
rk

o
n
g

o
in

g
to

re
s
p
o
n
d

to
th

e
S

u
b

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
R

e
v
ie

w
o
f
E

c
o
n
o
m

ic
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

U
p
d
a
te

o
n

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d

fr
o
m

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

[i
n
d
ic

a
te

w
h
e
th

e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
o
r

n
e
w

]
U

p
d

a
te

D
e
la

y
in

C
P

O
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
N

o
c
h
a
n
g

e
to

ri
s
k

p
ro

fi
le

.
R

e
lia

n
c
e

o
n

th
ir
d

p
a
rt

y
d
e
c
is

io
n
s

a
n
d

p
re

v
a
ili

n
g

m
a
rk

e
t
c
o
n
d
it
io

n
s

N
o

c
h
a
n
g

e
to

ri
s
k

p
ro

fi
le

.
In

te
rn

a
l
c
a
p
a
b
ili

ty
N

o
c
h
a
n
g

e
to

ri
s
k

p
ro

fi
le

.
M

e
m

b
e
r

c
a
p
a
c
it
y

N
o

c
h
a
n
g

e
to

ri
s
k

p
ro

fi
le

.
C

h
a
n
g

in
g

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

a
n
d

g
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t
p
o
lic

y
S

u
b

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
R

e
v
ie

w
o
f
E

c
o
n
o
m

ic
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t
h
a
s

re
q

u
ir
e
d

jo
in

t
w

o
rk

in
g

w
it
h

o
th

e
r

B
e
rk

s
h
ir
e

C
o
u
n
c
ils

a
n
d

S
E

E
D

A
,

w
h
ic

h
w

a
s

n
o
t

p
la

n
n
e
d

fo
r

w
h
e
n

th
e

c
u
rr

e
n
t
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
w

a
s

d
ra

ft
e
d
.

C
a
p
a
c
it
y

p
re

s
s
u
re

.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
7

127



C
o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
2
:

P
ro

m
o
te

s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
th

ro
u
g
h

in
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e

h
o
u
s
in

g
s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
a
n
d

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

p
o
lic

ie
s

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:

2
.1

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t
th

e
o

u
tc

o
m

e
o

f
th

e
h

o
u

s
in

g
s
to

c
k

o
p

ti
o

n
s

b
a
ll

o
t

o
f

C
o

u
n

c
il

te
n

a
n

ts

A
c
ti
o
n

2
.1

.1
D

e
v
e
lo

p
a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
t

in
te

rn
a
l
a
n
d

e
x
te

rn
a
l

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

p
la

n
fo

r
h
o
u
s
in

g
s
to

c
k

tr
a
n
s
fe

r.
C

o
m

p
le

te
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
8

128



C
o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
3
:

H
e
lp

c
re

a
te

a
s
a
fe

r,
s
tr

o
n
g
e
r

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

w
h
ic

h
is

s
o
c
ia

lly
c
o
h
e
s
iv

e

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:

3
.1

W
o

rk
w

it
h

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

to
re

d
u

c
e

th
e

in
c
id

e
n

c
e

o
f

B
ri

ti
s
h

C
ri

m
e

S
u

rv
e

y
C

ri
m

e
w

it
h

in
th

e
b

o
ro

u
g

h

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.1
:
R

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
th

e
S

a
fe

r
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

T
e
a
m

S
a
fe

r
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
T

e
a
m

n
o
w

tr
a
n
s
fe

rr
e
d

to
th

e
C

h
/E

x
e
c
s

o
ff

ic
e

a
n
d

re
-n

a
m

e
d

th
e

C
ri
m

e
&

D
is

o
rd

e
r

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

T
e
a
m

.
C

u
rr

e
n
tl
y

w
o
rk

in
g

u
p

th
e

n
e
w

3
y
e
a
r

C
D

R
P

C
ri
m

e
R

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
la

n
A

c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.2
:
E

n
s
u
re

th
a
t
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

S
a
fe

ty
is

s
u
e
s

a
re

a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d

in
th

e
to

w
n

c
e
n
tr

e
re

g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
,
th

ro
u
g
h

th
e

p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n

o
f
a

s
tr

a
te

g
y

2
0
0
8

–
1
1

C
D

R
P

P
la

n
to

c
o
n
ta

in
p
ri
o
ri
ty

o
n

th
e

re
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

a
n
d

re
-d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll,

in
p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r
th

e
to

w
n

c
e
n
tr

e
.

S
u
b

g
ro

u
p

to
a
d
d
re

s
s

o
p
ti
o
n
s

fo
r

th
e

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f

C
C

T
V

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d

a
s

p
a
rt

o
f
th

e
n
e
w

p
la

n
A

c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.3
:
Im

p
le

m
e
n
t
a
n
d

re
v
ie

w
th

e
S

a
fe

r
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
S

tr
a
te

g
y

(C
P

A
)

C
D

R
P

S
a
fe

r
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
S

tr
a
te

g
y

fu
lly

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
w

it
h

a
1
2
.5

%
re

d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
re

c
o
rd

e
d

B
C

S
c
ri
m

e
.

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.4
S

u
p
p
o
rt

th
e

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f

N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d

P
o
lic

in
g

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

in
c
lu

d
in

g
th

e
u
s
e

o
f

P
o
lic

e
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

S
u
p
p
o
rt

O
ff

ic
e
rs

fo
r

re
a
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e

p
a
tr

o
lli

n
g

(C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

P
la

n
)

N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d

A
c
ti
o
n

G
ro

u
p
s

a
n
d

N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d

F
o
ru

m
s

fu
lly

d
e
v
e

lo
p
e
d

a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

B
o
ro

u
g

h
.
N

A
G

c
h
a
ir
s

g
ro

u
p

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d

w
it
h

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

S
a
fe

ty
M

a
n
a
g

e
r

in
th

e
c
h
a
ir
.
N

e
s

m
e
th

o
d
s

o
f

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

e
m

p
lo

y
e
d

a
n
d

fu
rt

h
e
r

p
la

n
s

to
in

c
re

a
s
e

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

in
v
o

lv
e
m

e
n
t

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.5
;
U

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

a
t

le
a
s
t
th

re
e

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
s

e
a
c
h

y
e
a
r

w
it
h

C
ri
m

e
s
to

p
p
e
rs

(C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

P
la

n
)

M
o
n
e

y
fr

o
m

S
a
fe

r
S

tr
o
n
g

e
r

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
g

ra
n
t

a
llo

c
a
te

d
to

s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g

a
ra

n
g

e
o
f

c
ri
m

e
s
to

p
p
e
rs

o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

th
o
ro

u
g

h
o
u
t

th
e

y
e
a
r

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.6
E

n
c
o
u
ra

g
e

c
ri
m

e
d
e
te

rr
e
n
t

s
c
h
e
m

e
s

in
p
u
b
lic

c
a
r

p
a
rk

s
s
u
c
h

a
s

c
a
r

v
a
le

ti
n
g

a
n
d

s
e
c
u
ri
ty

g
u
a
rd

s
to

re
d
u
c
e

c
a
r

c
ri
m

e
(C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

P
la

n
)

A
ra

n
g

e
o
f
ta

c
ti
c
s

e
m

p
lo

y
e
d

b
y

th
e

C
D

R
P

to
re

d
u
c
e

v
e
h
ic

le
c
ri
m

e
w

h
ic

h
h
a
s

e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d

th
e

L
P

S
A

2
ta

rg
e
t

a
n
d

s
h
o
w

s
a

3
3
.9

%
re

d
u
c
ti
o
n

fr
o
m

2
0
0
6

–
0
7

to
2
0
0
7

–
0
8
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
9

129



A
c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.7
:
W

o
rk

w
it
h

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

C
h
a
m

b
e
r

o
f

C
o
m

m
e
rc

e
to

p
ro

te
c
t

b
u
s
in

e
s
s

s
ta

ff
fr

o
m

v
io

le
n
c
e

(C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

P
la

n
)

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

C
h
a
m

b
e
r

o
f

C
o
m

m
e
rc

e
n
o
w

re
g

u
la

r
m

e
m

b
e
rs

o
f

th
e

C
D

R
P

.
W

o
rk

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

in
lo

c
a
l
C

h
-C

o
m

.
p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

to
ra

is
e

th
e

p
ro

fi
le

o
f

D
A

.
F

u
rt

h
e
r

w
o
rk

u
n
d
e
rw

a
y

to
d
e
v
e
lo

p
b
u
s
in

e
s
s

D
A

p
o
lic

ie
s
.

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.8
:
U

s
e

p
re

v
e
n
ta

ti
v
e

a
n
d

re
h
a
b
ili

ta
ti
v
e

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
s

to
re

d
u
c
e

o
ff

e
n
d
in

g
b
y

P
ro

lif
ic

a
n
d

o
th

e
r

P
ri
o
ri
ty

O
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

.
(C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

P
la

n
)

1
4

P
P

O
s

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d

in
2
0
0
4

w
it
h

th
e

in
c
e
p
ti
o
n

o
f

th
e

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l

P
P

O
s
c
h
e
m

e
.
T

h
e
ir

le
v
e
l
o
f

o
ff

e
n
d
in

g
in

th
e

fi
rs

t
y
e
a
r

w
a
s

8
7

o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
.
In

2
0
0
7

–
0
8

th
is

c
o
h
o
rt

c
o
m

m
it
te

d
3
1

o
ff

e
n
c
e
s

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.9
:
W

o
rk

w
it
h

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

to
re

d
u
c
e

v
e
h
ic

le
c
ri
m

e
a
n
d

p
ro

v
id

e
d
iv

e
rs

io
n
a
ry

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
In

te
n
s
iv

e
w

o
rk

w
it
h

c
a
r

p
a
rk

o
p
e
ra

to
rs

,
(B

ra
c
k
n
e
ll

to
w

n
c
e
n
tr

e
)

S
u
p
e
rm

a
rk

e
ts

,
(M

e
a
d
o

w
s

S
a
n
d
h
u
rs

t)
a
n
d

H
o
te

ls
(H

ilt
o
n
,

C
o
p
p
id

B
e
a
c
h

H
o
te

l
e
tc

)
.
W

o
rk

w
it
h

y
o
u
n
g

p
e
o
p
le

th
ro

u
g

h
th

e
Y

O
S

,
h
a
s

a
ll

h
a
d

a
p
o
s
it
iv

e
im

p
a
c
t

o
n

th
e

m
a
rk

e
d

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
th

e
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

v
e
h
ic

le
c
ri
m

e
s
.

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.1

.1
0
:
Im

p
le

m
e
n
t
th

e
D

o
m

e
s
ti
c

V
io

le
n
c
e

S
tr

a
te

g
y

to
c
o
m

p
ly

w
it
h

B
V

P
I

2
2
5

1
0

o
f

th
e

1
1

in
d
ic

to
rs

o
f
th

e
B

V
P

I
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

c
o
m

p
lie

d
w

it
h
.

T
h
e

s
tr

ic
t
w

o
rd

in
g

re
q

u
ir
e
d

in
th

e
te

n
a
n
c
y

a
g
re

e
m

e
n
t
fo

r
B

ra
c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t

H
o
m

e
s

d
o
e
s

n
o
t
m

e
e
t
e
x
a
c
tl
y

w
it
h

th
e

re
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
t

in
m

e
a
s
u
re

9
o
f

th
e

B
V

P
I.

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:

3
.2

S
e
e
k

to
re

d
u

c
e

th
e

fe
a
r

o
f

c
ri

m
e

in
th

e
B

o
ro

u
g

h

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.2

.1
:
U

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

U
n
iv

e
rs

it
y

b
a
s
e
d

re
s
e
a
rc

h
in

to
fe

a
r

o
f

c
ri
m

e
F

o
C

s
tu

d
y

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
.
E

a
rl
y

in
d
ic

ti
o
n
s

a
re

th
a
t
th

e
re

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a
ri
s
e

in
lo

w
w

o
rr

ie
s

o
f

th
e

fe
a
r

o
f

c
ri
m

e
.
T

h
e

fu
ll

re
p
o
rt

is
d
u
e

to
b
e

re
le

a
s
e
d

o
n

1
7

th
J
u
n
e

2
0
0
8

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.2

.2
:
H

o
s
t
a

c
o
n
fe

re
n
c
e

o
n

n
e
g

a
ti
v
e

p
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s

o
f

c
ri
m

e
a
n
d

a
lc

o
h
o
l
m

is
u
s
e

C
o
n
fe

re
n
c
e

h
e
ld

a
t
th

e
G

ra
n
g

e
H

o
te

l,
1
7
/5

/0
7

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.3

.1
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
o
h
e
s
io

n
–

a
s

p
e
r

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

D
e
p
t

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
–

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s

O
ff

ic
e

to
a
d
v
is

e
a
n
d

a
s
s
is

t

N
e
w

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
o
h
e
s
io

n
s
tr

a
te

g
y

p
re

p
a
re

d
a
n
d

b
e
in

g
re

c
e
iv

e
d

b
y

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

in
A

p
ri
l
0
8
.

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.3

.2
E

n
s
u
re

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

c
o
h
e
s
io

n
q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
s

a
re

in
c
lu

d
e
d

in
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s

a
n
d

u
s
e
d

a
s

p
a
rt

o
f

a
n

e
v
id

e
n
c
e

b
a
s
e

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

O
c
to

b
e
r

0
7

a
s

p
a
rt

o
f
c
ro

s
s
-b

o
ro

u
g

h
N

A
G

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
0

130



fo
r

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
in

g
in

te
rv

e
n
ti
o
n
s

to
p
ro

m
o
te

c
o
m

m
u
n
ity

c
o
h
e
s
io

n
.

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.3

.3
P

re
p
a
re

a
n
n
u
a
l
re

p
o
rt

fo
r

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

c
o
h
e
s
io

n
s
tr

a
te

g
y

C
o
m

p
le

te
.
R

e
p
o
rt

re
c
e
iv

e
d

b
y

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

a
n
d

O
&

S
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
.

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.5

.1
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

E
n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t
–

a
s

p
e
r

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
–

C
E

X
o
ff

ic
e

to
a
d
v
is

e
a
n
d

a
s
s
is

t

W
o
rk

is
o
n
g

o
in

g
in

th
is

a
re

a
.

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.5

.2
:
M

o
n
it
o
r

V
o
lu

n
ta

ry
S

e
c
to

r
g
ra

n
ts

o
n

a
q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y

b
a
s
is

O
n
g

o
in

g
.

A
c
ti
o
n

3
.5

.3
:
P

ro
d
u
c
e

p
la

n
to

s
e
c
u
re

d
e
liv

e
ry

o
f
L
A

A
ta

rg
e
t

o
n

v
o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n
g

a
n
d

e
n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t,

s
p
e
c
if
ic

a
lly

:

•
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l
C

o
n
s
ta

b
le

s
a
n
d

s
c
h
o
o
l
g

o
v
e
rn

o
rs

•
 

In
fo

rm
a
l
v
o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n
g

ra
te

s
H

e
lp

in
g

re
s
id

e
n
ts

to
in

fl
u
e
n
c
e

d
e
c
is

io
n
s

S
p
e
c
ia

l
C

o
n
s
ta

b
le

a
n
d

S
c
h
o
o
l
G

o
v
e
rn

o
r

n
u
m

b
e
rs

e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d

fi
n
a
l
ta

rg
e
t

a
t
M

a
rc

h
0
8
.
In

fo
rm

a
l
v
o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n
g

ra
te

s
a
n
d

in
fl
u
e
n
c
in

g
d
e
c
is

io
n
s

w
ill

b
e

m
e
a
s
u
re

d
in

P
la

c
e

S
u
rv

e
y

A
u
tu

m
n

0
8
.
H

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

S
u
rv

e
y

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

a
n
d

fu
ll

p
a
g

e
re

s
p
o
n
s
e

to
to

p
th

re
e

is
s
u
e
s

ra
is

e
d

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

in
T

o
w

n
a
n
d

C
o
u
n
tr

y
.
T

a
k
e

P
ri
d
e

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s

w
it
h

re
g

u
la

r
lit

te
r

p
ic

k
s

a
n
d

th
re

e
S

p
e
e
d
w

a
tc

h
te

a
m

s
o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
1

131



R
e
fe

re
n

c
e

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

In
d

ic
a
to

r
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

to
d

a
te

T
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0
0
7
/0

8
N

a
t’

l
q

u
a
rt

il
e

c
o

m
p

a
ri

s
o

n
C

o
m

m
e
n

ts

(a
g

a
in

s
t

2
0
0
6
/0

7
d
a
ta

)
T

B
C

B
V

2
b

Q
u
a
lit

y
o
f

th
e

R
a
c
e

E
q

u
a
lit

y
T

B
C

9
5
%

T
a
rg

e
t:

T
o
p

T
h
e

fi
n
a
l
o
u
tt
u
rn

fo
r

th
is

B
V

P
I

S
c
h
e
m

e
a
n
d

th
e

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

re
s
u
lt
in

g
fr

o
m

it
s

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n

A
c
tu

a
l:

is
s
ti
ll

b
e
in

g
c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

fo
llo

w
in

g
p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n

o
f
th

e
re

v
is

e
d

R
E

S
.

L
a
s
t
q

u
a
rt

e
r’
s

o
u
tt

u
rn

w
a
s

8
4
%

,
w

h
ic

h
is

in
th

e
to

p
q

u
a
rt

ile
n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly

.
B

V
1
2
6

D
o
m

e
s
ti
c

b
u
rg

la
ri
e
s

p
e
r

1
0
0
0

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
9
.9

6
.9

T
a
rg

e
t:

2
n
d

A
c
tu

a
l:

3
rd

B
V

1
2
7
a

V
io

le
n
t

c
ri
m

e
p
e
r

1
0
0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

1
6
.5

1
5
.7

T
a
rg

e
t:

2
n
d

A
c
tu

a
l:

2
n
d

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
2

132



B
V

1
2
7
b

R
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s

p
e
r

1
0
0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

0
.5

1
.1

T
a
rg

e
t:

3
rd

A
c
tu

a
l:

2
n
d

R
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

re
d
u
c
e
d

b
y

5
6
.1

%
,
d
u
e

in
p
a
rt

to
ta

rg
e
ti
n
g

k
n
o
w

n
o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

a
n
d

w
o
rk

to
p
ro

te
c
t

y
o
u
n
g

p
e
o
p
le

.
N

o
ta

rg
e
t

w
a
s

fo
rm

a
lly

s
e
t
fo

r
th

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
o
w

in
g

to
a

s
lig

h
t

m
is

a
lig

n
m

e
n
t

b
e
tw

e
e
n

th
e

B
V

P
I

a
n
d

a
s
im

ila
r

p
o
lic

e
ta

rg
e
t.

T
h
e

ta
rg

e
t

o
f

1
.1

,
w

h
ic

h
re

p
re

s
e
n
ts

a
3
%

c
u
t

o
n

T
V

P
’s

p
re

v
io

u
s

y
e
a
r’
s

o
u
tt

u
rn

,
w

a
s

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

in
th

e
B

F
B

C
2
0
0
6
-

0
7

A
n
n
u
a
l
R

e
p
o
rt

.
B

V
1
2
8

V
e
h
ic

le
c
ri
m

e
p
e
r

1
0
0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

8
.6

1
0
.2

T
a
rg

e
t:

3
rd

T
h
e
re

w
a
s

a
la

rg
e

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
A

c
tu

a
l:

2
n
d

th
e
ft

s
fr

o
m

v
e
h
ic

le
s

d
u
e

in
p
a
rt

to
ta

rg
e
ti
n
g

k
n
o
w

n
o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

a
n
d

s
e
c
u
ri
n
g

c
a
r

p
a
rk

s
a
n
d

o
th

e
r

v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

a
re

a
s
.

N
/A

B
V

1
7
4

R
a
c
ia

l
in

c
id

e
n
ts

re
c
o
rd

e
d

9
.0

0
3
0
.0

0
N

/A
T

h
e
re

is
n
o

p
o
la

ri
ty

fo
r

th
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r,
w

h
ic

h
m

e
re

ly
s
e
ts

th
e

c
o
n
te

x
t
fo

r
B

V
1
7
5

(b
e
lo

w
).

B
V

1
7
5

R
a
c
ia

l
in

c
id

e
n
ts

re
s
u
lt
in

g
in

fu
rt

h
e
r

a
c
ti
o
n

1
0
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

T
a
rg

e
t:

T
o
p

A
c
tu

a
l:

T
o
p

B
V

2
2
5

A
c
ti
o
n
s

a
g

a
in

s
t
d
o
m

e
s
ti
c

v
io

le
n
c
e

9
0
.9

%
1
0
0
.0

%
T

a
rg

e
t:

T
o
p

O
n
e

it
e
m

(a
n
ti
-D

V
c
la

u
s
e

in
A

c
tu

a
l:

T
o
p

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

te
n
a
n
c
y

a
g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

)
fr

o
m

a
n

1
1
-p

o
in

t
c
h
e
c
k
lis

t
c
a
n
n
o
t

b
e

ti
c
k
e
d
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
3

133



C
o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
4
:
In

c
re

a
s
e

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

a
n
d

e
n
jo

y
m

e
n
t
o
f

a
rt

,
c
u
lt
u
re

,
s
p
o
rt

a
n
d

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e

A
c
ti
o
n

4
.1

.1
:
In

c
o
lla

b
o
ra

ti
o
n

w
it
h

th
e

Y
o
u
th

S
e
rv

ic
e

a
n
d

B
R

P
,

id
e
n
ti
fy

o
p
ti
o
n
s

fo
r

y
o
u
th

p
ro

v
is

io
n

a
n
d

in
c
lu

s
io

n
in

th
e

to
w

n
c
e
n
tr

e

A
w

a
it
in

g
fe

e
d
b
a
c
k

a
n
d

b
u
s
in

e
s
s

p
la

n
fr

o
m

Y
o
u
th

F
o
ru

m
in

re
la

ti
o
n

to
to

w
n

c
e
n
tr

e
p
la

n
s
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
4

134



C
o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
5
:

P
ro

te
c
t

a
n
d

im
p
ro

v
e

p
u
b
lic

h
e
a
lt
h

in
th

e
B

o
ro

u
g
h

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
5
.1

:
D

e
v
e
lo

p
a
n

o
v
e
ra

rc
h

in
g

‘h
e
a
lt

h
s
tr

a
te

g
y
’

fo
r

th
e

B
o

ro
u

g
h

in
v
o

lv
in

g
a
ll

C
o

u
n

c
il

d
e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

ts
a
n

d
o

th
e
r

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

a
n

d
in

p
a
rt

ic
u

la
r

to
re

v
ie

w
o

p
ti

o
n

s
w

it
h

th
e

B
e
rk

s
h

ir
e

E
a
s
t

P
ri

m
a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t

to
in

c
re

a
s
e

p
ro

v
is

io
n

o
f

h
e
a
lt

h
fa

c
il
it

ie
s

in
th

e
B

o
ro

u
g

h

A
c
ti
o
n

5
.1

.1
:
C

o
n
s
u
lt

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

a
n
d

d
e
liv

e
r

a
h
e
a
lth

a
n
d

w
e
ll-

b
e
in

g
s
tr

a
te

g
y

fo
r

th
e

B
o
ro

u
g

h
S

tr
a
te

g
y

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d
.

A
c
ti
o
n

5
.1

.2
:
R

e
v
ie

w
o
p
ti
o
n
s

w
it
h

th
e

B
e
rk

s
h
ir
e

E
a
s
t

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
to

in
c
re

a
s
e

p
ro

v
is

io
n

o
f

h
e
a
lt
h

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s

in
th

e
b
o
ro

u
g

h

N
e
g

o
ti
a
ti
o
n
s

o
n
g

o
in

g
,
a
w

a
it

o
u
tc

o
m

e
o
f
p
u
b
lic

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

A
c
ti
o
n

5
.1

.3
:
C

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

in
p
u
t
fr

o
m

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

a
n
d

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

to
th

e
a
n
n
u
a
l
‘H

e
a
lt
h
c
h
e
c
k
’
d
e
c
la

ra
ti
o
n
s

b
y

th
e

4
N

H
S

T
ru

s
ts

C
o
m

p
le

te
–

in
p
u
t

a
g
re

e
d

w
it
h

p
a
rt

n
e
r

H
e
a
lt
h

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

m
e
m

b
e
rs

a
n
d

s
e
n
t

b
e
fo

re
d
e
a
d
lin

e
.

A
c
ti
o
n

5
.1

.4
:
S

u
p
p
o
rt

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

a
n
d

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

W
o
rk

in
g

G
ro

u
p
s

o
n
:

H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re

F
u
n
d
in

g
;
P

a
ti
e
n
t

F
o
c
u
s
;
H

e
a
lt
h

S
tr

a
te

g
y
;

a
n
d

E
x
te

n
d
e
d

S
c
h
o
o
ls

/C
h
ild

re
n
s

C
e
n
tr

e
s

A
ll

w
o
rk

in
g

g
ro

u
p
s

b
e
in

g
s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
,
in

c
lu

d
in

g
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l

g
ro

u
p
s

to
th

o
s
e

c
it
e
d
.

A
c
ti
o
n

5
.1

.5
:

S
u
p
p
o
rt

h
e
a
lt
h

s
c
ru

ti
n
y

m
e
m

b
e
rs

(b
o
th

B
F

B
C

a
n
d

J
o
in

t
E

a
s
t
B

e
rk

s
h
ir
e
)

in
m

a
k
in

g
a
n

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

to
d
e
b
a
te

a
b
o
u
t

a
n
d

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

o
n

lo
c
a
l
h
e
a
lt
h

p
ro

v
is

io
n

O
n
g

o
in

g
.
T

ra
n
s
fe

r
o
f

J
E

B
re

s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ti
e
s

b
e
in

g
o
rg

a
n
is

e
d

fo
r

n
e
x
t

M
u
n
ic

ip
a
l
Y

e
a
r.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
5

135



C
o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
8
:
Im

p
ro

v
e

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

fo
r

v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

a
d
u
lt
s

a
n
d

o
ld

e
r

p
e
o
p
le

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
8
.1

6
:

F
in

a
li

s
e

a
n

d
b

e
g

in
im

p
le

m
e
n

ta
ti

o
n

o
f

a
c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
c
o

u
n

c
il

w
id

e
s
tr

a
te

g
y

fo
r

o
ld

e
r

p
e
o

p
le

A
c
ti
o
n

8
.1

6
.1

:
P

re
p
a
re

d
ra

ft
O

ld
e
r

P
e
o
p
le

’s
S

tr
a
te

g
y

O
ri
g

in
a
l
ti
m

e
ta

b
le

w
ill

n
o
t

b
e

m
e
t
d
u
e

to
c
o
m

p
e
ti
n
g

p
re

s
s
u
re

s
a
n
d

lo
s
s

o
f

s
ta

ff
.
W

o
rk

h
a
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s
e
d
,

b
u
t
th

e
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n

o
f

a
d
ra

ft
S

tr
a
te

g
y

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

d
e
la

y
e
d

d
u
e

to
s
ta

ff
s
h
o
rt

a
g

e
s
.

S
u
b
je

c
t
to

re
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t,

d
ra

ft
s
tr

a
te

g
y

to
b
e

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

in
th

e
A

u
tu

m
n
.

D
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
p
a
p
e
r

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

in
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r

2
0
0
7

a
n
d

s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
r

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

c
o
m

p
le

te
.

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
9
:

C
re

a
te

a
n
d

m
a
in

ta
in

a
q
u
a
lit

y
e
n
v
ir
o

n
m

e
n
t

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
9
.2

:
Im

p
ro

v
e

w
a
s
te

m
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
a
n

d
re

c
y
c
li

n
g

in
th

e
B

o
ro

u
g

h

A
c
ti
o
n

9
.2

.1
:
R

e
v
is

e
R

E
3

C
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

S
tr

a
te

g
y

w
it
h

W
o
k
in

g
h
a
m

a
n
d

R
e
a
d
in

g
C

o
u
n
c
ils

C
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

p
la

n
b
e
in

g
im

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
fo

r
L
o
n
g

s
h
o
t

L
a
n
e

b
y

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t
a
s

a
g

re
e
d

b
y

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t,

R
e
a
d
in

g
a
n
d

W
o
k
in

g
h
a
m

.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
6

136



C
o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
1
1
:
Im

p
ro

v
e

e
ff
ic

ie
n
c
y
,

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s

a
n
d

a
c
c
e
s
s

to
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
1
.0

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.1
:
S

u
p
p
o
rt

a
n
d

fa
c
ili

ta
te

th
e

w
o
rk

o
f

th
e

B
e
rk

s
h
ir
e

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

S
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d

v
ia

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
B

e
rk

s
h
ir
e

H
e
a
d
s

o
f

P
o
lic

y
G

ro
u
p
,

b
u
t
fa

c
ili

ta
ti
o
n

ro
le

c
a
rr

ie
d

o
u
t
b
y

S
lo

u
g

h
B

C
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.2
:
U

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

v
a
lu

e
fo

r
m

o
n
e
y

s
e
lf
-a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t
fo

r
C

o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t
(C

P
A

)
n
/a

C
o
m

p
le

te
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.3
:
U

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n

o
f
tr

a
v
e
l
s
e
lf
-a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

(C
P

A
)

n
/a

N
o

s
e
lf
-a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t
re

q
u
ir
e
d
.

D
O

T
s
ta

te
m

e
n
t

n
o
w

fi
n
a
lis

e
d

a
s

“I
m

p
ro

v
in

g
S

tr
o
n
g

ly
”.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.4
:
M

a
n
a
g

e
a
n
n
u
a
l
C

P
A

C
o
m

p
le

te
–

4
-s

ta
r

ra
ti
n
g

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

in
J
a
n
u
a
ry

.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.5
:
U

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

ti
m

e
ly

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

a
n
d

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t/
c
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n

o
f

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
,

h
ig

h
lig

h
ti
n
g

c
h
a
n
g

e
s

in
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly

O
n
g

o
in

g
.

S
u
m

m
a
ry

a
n
a
ly

s
is

o
f

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

n
o
w

p
ro

v
id

e
d

in
th

e
C

P
O

R
a
n
d

c
o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
s

w
it
h

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
q

u
a
rt

ile
s

g
iv

e
n
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.6
:
P

re
p
a
re

a
n
d

p
u
b
lis

h
a
n

A
n
n
u
a
l
R

e
p
o
rt

C
o
m

p
le

te
–

2
0
0
6
/0

7
A

n
n
u
a
l
R

e
p
o
rt

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

a
n
d

C
o
u
n
c
il,

a
n
d

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

b
y

3
0

J
u
n
e
,
fo

llo
w

e
d

b
y

d
e
s
ig

n
e
d

v
e
rs

io
n
.

P
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n

o
f

2
0
0
7
/0

8
A

n
n
u
a
l
R

e
p
o
rt

is
o
n

tr
a
c
k
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.7
:
A

c
t
a
s

a
re

s
o
u
rc

e
to

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

a
n
d

it
s

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

to
u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

re
s
e
a
rc

h
–

w
it
h

e
m

p
h
a
s
is

o
n

fu
tu

re
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

,
n
e
w

le
g

is
la

ti
o
n

a
n
d

g
u
id

a
n
c
e

O
n
g

o
in

g
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.8
:
In

v
e
s
ti
g

a
te

,
s
p
e
c
if
y

a
n
d

–
s
u
b
je

c
t
to

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s

–
im

p
le

m
e
n
t
a

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t
s
y
s
te

m
fo

r
th

e
w

h
o
le

C
o
u
n
c
il

P
h
a
s
e

2
o
f

R
B

F
R

S
s
y
s
te

m
h
a
s

c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d

fo
r

L
A

A
ta

rg
e
t

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
.

P
o
te

n
ti
a
l
IT

s
y
s
te

m
s

b
e
in

g
in

v
e
s
ti
g

a
te

d
fo

r
u
s
e

w
it
h
in

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
7

137



A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.9
:
P

ro
v
id

e
s
u
p
p
o
rt

a
n
d

a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e

a
n
d

c
o
-o

rd
in

a
te

a
n
y

B
e
a
c
o
n

C
o
u
n
c
il

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

A
d
v
ic

e
b
e
in

g
p
ro

v
id

e
d

a
s

a
n
d

w
h
e
n

re
q

u
ir
e
d

w
it
h
in

th
e

a
n
n
u
a
l

B
e
a
c
o
n

A
w

a
rd

c
y
c
le

.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.0

.1
0
:
S

e
e
k

o
u
t
a
n
d

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

in
re

le
v
a
n
t

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

b
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g

g
ro

u
p
s

O
n
g

o
in

g
.

B
F

B
C

a
re

m
e
m

b
e
rs

o
f

th
e

P
W

C
U

n
it
a
ry

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

b
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g

c
lu

b
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

0
.1

:
A

d
v
is

e
n
e
w

C
o
u
n
c
il

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

o
n

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
in

g
c
u
rr

e
n
t

a
n
d

fu
tu

re
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
s

a
n
d

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s

C
o
m

p
le

te
–

n
e
w

M
T

O
s

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

a
t

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

C
o
u
n
c
il

m
e
e
ti
n
g

.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

0
.2

:
R

e
fr

e
s
h

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h

to
Q

O
R

a
n
d

C
P

O
R

re
p
o
rt

s
(a

s
p
a
rt

o
f

th
is

d
e
v
e
lo

p
p
la

n
s

fo
r

a
tr

a
n
s
it
io

n
fr

o
m

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

to
m

o
re

o
f

a
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
)

C
o
m

p
le

te
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
1
.1

5

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

5
.1

E
q

u
a
lit

ie
s

S
c
h
e
m

e
s

–
a
s

p
e
r

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
–

C
X

O
to

a
d
v
is

e
a
n
d

a
s
s
is

t
D

E
S

:
F

ir
s
t
a
n
n
u
a
l
re

p
o
rt

c
o
m

p
le

te
a
n
d

a
w

a
it
in

g
a
p
p
ro

v
a
l.

G
E

S
:

H
a
s

b
e
e
n

th
ro

u
g

h
a
p
p
ro

v
a
l
p
ro

c
e
s
s

a
n
d

is
n
o
w

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
1
.1

6

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

6
.1

R
a
c
e

E
q

u
a
lit

y
-

a
s

p
e
r

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
–

C
X

O
to

a
d
v
is

e
a
n
d

a
s
s
is

t
R

E
S

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

th
ro

u
g

h
a
p
p
ro

v
a
l
p
ro

c
e
s
s

a
n
d

is
n
o
w

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
1
.1

7

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

7
.1

A
s

p
e
r

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
,

C
X

O
to

 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

c
o
h
e
s
io

n
w

o
rk

o
n
g

o
in

g
.
B

M
E

F
o
ru

m
n
o
w

 
a
d
v
is

e
a
n
d

a
s
s
is

t
w

it
h

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
o
h
e
s
io

n
in

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r
re

n
a
m

e
d

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t

M
in

o
ri
ty

A
lli

a
n
c
e
.

s
e
tt

in
g

u
p

a
B

M
E

fo
ru

m
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

7
.2

:
P

ro
d
u
c
e

s
ta

te
m

e
n
t
a
s
s
e
s
s
in

g
th

e
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

O
n
g

o
in

g
–

lin
k
e
d

to
re

g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

s
tr

a
te

g
y
.

c
o
h
e
s
io

n
a
n
d

in
c
lu

s
io

n
a
s
p
e
c
ts

o
f

th
e

to
w

n
c
e
n
tr

e
re

g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
8

138



K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
1
.1

8

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

8
.1

;
P

ro
d
u
c
e

a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
t

a
n
n
u
a
l
d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ta

l
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

a
n
d

m
a
rk

e
ti
n
g

fo
rw

a
rd

p
la

n
s

N
e
w

fo
rw

a
rd

p
la

n
s

to
re

fl
e
c
t

n
e
w

s
e
rv

ic
e

p
la

n
s

to
b
e

a
g

re
e
d

b
y

C
M

T
o
n

A
p
ri
l
2
3
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

8
.2

:
P

ro
d
u
c
e

T
o
w

n
&

C
o
u
n
tr

y
e
v
e
ry

q
u
a
rt

e
r

P
ro

d
u
c
e
d

a
s

p
e
r

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

.
N

e
x
t

e
d
it
io

n
is

J
u
n
e

2
0
0
8
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

8
.3

:
A

n
s
w

e
r

m
e
d
ia

e
n
q

u
ir
ie

s
a
c
c
o
rd

in
g

to
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
m

e
d
ia

p
ro

to
c
o
ls

O
n
g

o
in

g

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

8
.4

:
P

ro
d
u
c
e

fo
re

s
t

v
ie

w
s

s
ta

ff
n
e
w

s
le

tt
e
r

e
v
e
ry

m
o
n
th

P
ro

d
u
c
e
d

a
s

p
e
r

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

8
.5

:
C

o
n
d
u
c
t
s
ta

ff
a
tt

it
u
d
e

s
u
rv

e
y

2
0
0
7

S
ta

ff
s
u
rv

e
y

c
a
rr

ie
d

o
u
t
in

M
a

y
2
0
0
7
.

R
e
s
u
lt
s

a
n
d

a
c
ti
o
n
s

p
la

n
s

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

o
n

B
O

R
IS

.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

8
.6

:
R

e
v
ie

w
in

te
rn

a
l
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

s
tr

a
te

g
y

a
s

a
re

s
u
lt

o
f
th

e
s
ta

ff
s
u
rv

e
y

In
te

rn
a
l
C

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

S
tr

a
te

g
y

a
g

re
e
d

b
y

C
M

T
a
n
d

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

o
n

B
O

R
IS

.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
1
.1

8
.7

:
C

a
rr

y
o
u
t
in

te
rn

a
l
a
n
d

e
x
te

rn
a
l
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

c
a
m

p
a
ig

n
s

a
c
c
o
rd

in
g

to
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

O
n
g

o
in

g
,

in
c
lu

d
in

g
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

o
n

C
o
u
n
c
il

o
b
je

c
ti
v
e
s

2
0
0
8
-

2
0
1
1
;

C
o
u
n
c
il

re
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
;
T

a
k
e

P
ri
d
e
/I
n
fl
u
e
n
c
in

g
d
e
c
is

io
n
s
;

la
u
n
c
h

o
f

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t

H
o
m

e
s
;
R

e
3

L
o
n
g

s
h
o
t
L
a
n
e
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
9

139



C
o
rp

o
ra

te
T

h
e
m

e
1
2
:
Im

p
ro

v
e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
G

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

a
n
d

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

W
o
rk

in
g

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
2
.0

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.0

.1
:
D

e
v
e
lo

p
,

re
-s

h
a
p
e

a
n
d

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e

to
s
u
p
p
o
rt

a
n
d

fa
c
ili

ta
te

th
e

N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d

F
o
ru

m
s

a
n
d

A
c
ti
o
n

G
ro

u
p
s

S
u
p
p
o
rt

a
n
d

fa
c
ili

ta
ti
o
n

o
f
th

e
s
e

g
ro

u
p
s

c
a
rr

ie
s

o
n
,

a
n
d

th
e
ir

s
h
a
p
e

a
n
d

p
u
rp

o
s
e

a
re

b
e
in

g
re

v
ie

w
e
d

a
s

p
a
rt

o
f
a

c
ro

s
s
-d

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ta

l
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

e
n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t
m

a
p
p
in

g
p
ro

c
e
s
s
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.0

.2
P

ro
v
id

e
tr

a
in

in
g

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
fo

r
O

v
e
rv

ie
w

a
n
d

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

M
e
m

b
e
rs

to
e
n
h
a
n
c
e

th
e
ir

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s

T
ra

in
in

g
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

o
ff

e
re

d
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.0

.3
:
S

u
p
p
o
rt

m
e
m

b
e
rs

to
d
e
v
e
lo

p
a

w
o
rk

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r
O

v
e
rv

ie
w

a
n
d

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

C
o
m

p
le

te
–

w
o
rk

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
,

c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d

o
n

a
n
d

fi
n
a
lis

e
d
.
N

o
w

b
e
in

g
d
e
liv

e
re

d
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
2
.1

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.1

.1
:
R

e
v
ie

w
a
n
d

u
p
d
a
te

B
F

P
g

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

in
lig

h
t

o
f
c
h
a
n
g

in
g

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t
a
g

e
n
d
a

N
e
w

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t

L
A

A
a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

d
o

n
o
t
re

q
u
ir
e

A
re

a
B

a
s
e
d

G
ra

n
t
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
d
e
c
is

io
n
s

to
b
e

m
a
d
e

b
y

B
F

P
.
T

h
e
re

fo
re

n
o

c
h
a
n
g

e
o
f
g

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

re
q

u
ir
e
d

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.1

.2
:
D

e
v
e
lo

p
th

e
L
A

A
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

,
s
p
e
c
if
ic

a
lly

ro
ll

o
u
t

in
te

g
ra

te
d

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

to
a
ll

k
e
y

B
F

P
p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
(C

Y
P

P
,

H
&

S
C

,
L
S

P
,

C
ri
m

e
a
n
d

D
is

o
rd

e
r)

a
n
d

p
u
t
p
la

n
s

in
p
la

c
e

fo
r

s
im

ila
r

v
e
rs

io
n

IP
M

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

in
p
la

c
e

fo
r

C
Y

P
S

P
a
n
d

C
D

R
P

,
o
th

e
r

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
w

ill
fo

llo
w

u
s
in

g
n
e
w

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
in

0
8
/0

9
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
0

140



fo
r

d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.1

.3
:
Im

p
le

m
e
n
t
A

c
ti
o
n

P
la

n
to

im
p
ro

v
e

th
e

B
F

P
’s

in
te

rn
a
l
a
n
d

e
x
te

rn
a
l
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

B
F

P
H

a
n
d
b
o
o
k

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

to
s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
te

rn
a
l
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
.

A
n
n
u
a
l
c
o
n
fe

re
n
c
e

h
e
ld

N
o
v

0
7
.

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

o
f
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

T
V

u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
.

N
e
w

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

fo
rw

a
rd

p
la

n
a
g

re
e
d

b
y

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

fo
r

J
a
n

0
8

to
J
a
n

0
9
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.1

.4
:
P

ro
d
u
c
e

A
n
n
u
a
l
R

e
p
o
rt

o
f

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

a
n
d

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

2
0
0
6
/0

7
A

n
n
u
a
l
re

p
o
rt

p
ro

d
u
c
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e
,

a
n
d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
A

n
n
u
a
l

R
e
p
o
rt

b
e
in

g
s
u
b
m

it
te

d
to

F
u
ll

C
o
u
n
c
il

in
A

p
ri
l
2
0
0
8
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
2
.2

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.2

.1
:
E

n
s
u
re

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e

im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

o
f
th

e
L
o
c
a
l

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t

a
n
d

P
u
b
lic

In
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t

in
H

e
a
lt
h

A
c
t,

in
p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r
b
y

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
in

g
a

n
e
w

P
u
b
lic

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

B
o
a
rd

S
e
e

1
2
.2

.2
.

P
o
s
it
io

n
u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

p
e
n
d
in

g
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t
g

u
id

a
n
c
e
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.2

.2
:
R

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
O

&
S

to
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

re
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

o
f

th
e

P
o
lic

e
a
n
d

J
u
s
ti
c
e

A
c
t
(a

n
d

s
e
c
u
re

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

c
h
a
n
g

e
s

to
C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
C

o
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
)

n
/a

T
h
e

O
&

S
p
ro

v
is

io
n
s

o
f

th
e

P
o
lic

y
a
n
d

J
u
s
ti
c
e

A
c
t
w

e
re

n
o
t

‘C
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
’,

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

re
p
e
a
le

d
,
a
n
d

a
re

b
e
in

g
re

v
ie

w
e
d

b
y

th
e

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t.

R
e
s
tr

u
c
tu

ri
n
g

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

c
o
n
s
e
q

u
e
n
t

o
n

th
e

n
e
w

C
o
u
n
c
il

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

fo
rm

u
la

te
d
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.2

.3
:
E

s
ta

b
lis

h
s
c
ru

ti
n
y

a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

fo
r

th
e

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

O
&

S
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
a
n
d

B
F

P
B

o
a
rd

b
ri
e
fe

d
.

D
e
ta

ile
d

a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

a
w

a
it

is
s
u
e

o
f
g

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t
g

u
id

a
n
c
e
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
2
.4

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.4

.1
:
L
e
a
d

a
n
d

c
o
-o

rd
in

a
te

th
e

re
fr

e
s
h

o
f
th

e
L
o
c
a
l

S
h
o
rt

lis
t
o
f

3
5

d
e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
ta

rg
e
ts

a
g

re
e
d

b
y

B
F

P
B

o
a
rd

a
n
d

A
re

a
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t
b
e
tw

e
e

n
th

e
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t
a
n
d

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

G
O

S
E

a
n
d

d
ra

ft
L
A

A
s
u
b
m

it
te

d
to

G
O

S
E

3
1

M
a
rc

h
2
0
0
8
.

F
o
re

s
t
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

T
a
rg

e
t
s
e
tt
in

g
w

ill
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e

th
ro

u
g

h
A

p
r/

M
a
y

0
8
.

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.4

.2
:
P

ro
d
u
c
e

s
ix

m
o
n
th

ly
p
ro

g
re

s
s

re
v
ie

w
o
f

L
A

A
fo

r
S

ix
m

o
n
th

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

re
p
o
rt

e
d

to
B

F
P

,
C

M
T

a
n
d

G
O

S
E

in
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t
O

ff
ic

e
fo

r
th

e
S

o
u
th

E
a
s
t
(G

O
S

E
)

N
o
v

0
7
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
1

141



K
e

y
A

c
ti

o
n

/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
2
.5

A
c
ti
o
n

1
2
.5

.1
:
D

ra
ft

th
e

re
fr

e
s
h

o
f

th
e

S
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

S
tr

a
te

g
y

N
e
w

d
ra

ft
S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

S
tr

a
te

g
y

a
g
re

e
d

b
y

B
F

P
a
n
d

C
M

T
a
n
d

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

in
M

a
rc

h
0
8

fo
r

p
u
b
lic

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
.

F
in

a
l
v
e
rs

io
n

w
ill

b
e

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

in
J
u
n
e

2
0
0
8
,
in

lin
e

w
it
h

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l
L
A

A
ti
m

e
ta

b
le

.
A

c
ti
o
n

1
2
.5

.2
:
P

ro
d
u
c
e

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

o
n

a
s
e
t

o
f

v
o
lu

n
ta

ry
(a

n
d

b
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

e
d
)

q
u
a
lit

y
o
f

L
if
e

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
T

h
is

w
o
rk

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

s
u
p
e
rs

e
d
e
d

b
y

th
e

in
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n

o
f

th
e

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
In

d
ic

a
to

r
S

e
t,

w
h
ic

h
in

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
s

re
le

v
a
n
t
Q

u
a
lit

y
o
f

L
if
e

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a

t
a
re

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
w

it
h
in

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

,
o
r

a
lr
e

a
d

y
h

a
v
e

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

S
h
o

w
s

K
e

y
a
c
ti
o

n
s

th
a
t

h
a

v
e

n
o
t

b
e
e

n
o
r

a
re

n
o
t

lik
e
ly

to
b
e

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

o
n

ti
m

e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
2

142



Annex B: Staffing information

Staffing Levels

Establishment
Posts

Staffing
Full

Time

Staffing
Part Time

Total
Posts
FTE

Vacant
Posts

Vacancy
Rate

Chief
Executive

2 1 1 1.81 0 0

Chief
Executive’s
Office

33 24 9 29.46 0 0

Department
Totals

35 25 10 31.27 0 0%

Increase in staff level this quarter as a result of the Print Room transferring into
Communications.

Staff Turnover

For the quarter ending 31 March 2008 3.85%
For the year ending 31 March 2008 15.38%

2006/7 total turnover for the Council: 13.39% excluding schools
2005/6 turnover for local authorities in the South East: 17.3% excluding schools
Source: LG Pay and Workforce Strategy survey 2006

Sickness Absence

All employees, average days
sickness absence per FTE

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 06/07 7.04 days

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 06/07, all employees, average days sickness
absence per employee: 5.3 days

All sectors employers in South East 05/06, average days sickness absence per
employee: 7.3 days

Source: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development – figure supplied by South East Employers

Section Total
staff
FTE

Number of
days

sickness

Average per
employee

(FTE)

Projected
annual average
per employee

(FTE)

Chief Executive 1.81 0 0.00 3.31
Chief Executive’s Office 29.46 55 1.86 2.69
Department Totals 31.27 85.5 2.73 2.73

The sickness figures are inflated this quarter resulting from one member of staff
being signed off for 15 days owing to the bereavement of their spouse and another
was signed off for 15 days.

Chief Executive’s Office Performance Monitoring Report Page 23

143



144

This page is intentionally left blank



Performance 
Monitoring Report 

for

Corporate Services 
Department 

4th quarter 2007/08
January - March 2008

Portfolio holder: Cllr Iain McCracken
Director: Alison Sanders

145



Section One: Executive Summary

I would like to draw attention to the following highlights from the fourth quarter:

1. Corporate Performance Assessment

• The Council received the highest possible CPA rating in February. Corporate
Services teams contributed significantly to the Assessment and the successful
outcome.

2. Civic Hub & Town Centre

• Civic Centre stage D has been virtually completed and Stage E is underway.

• Continuing support for the Town Centre regeneration project, particularly in
respect of Legal and Property Management. Section 106 for Town Centre
completed.

• Support for the town centre Compulsory Purchase Order Inquiry was given
and a successful outcome achieved from the Inquiry.

3. Transfer of Housing Stock

• Successfully completed housing transfer on target date. Significant work was
required across the Department to achieve this.

4. Community Cohesion & Equalities

• Community Cohesion Strategy 'All of Us' finalised ready for approval by the
Executive in April 2008.

• Voluntary Sector Compact finalised and awaiting approval.

• Cross-departmental Ethnic community profile completed.

• Race Equality Scheme finalised, approved and published internally.

• Gender Equality Scheme approved and published internally.

• Equality Standard Action Plan completed in order to progress to Level 3 of the
Equality Standard by March 2009.

• Work has begun implementing the Equality Standard Action Plan.

5. Customer Services

• At 31 March 08, 97.5% of the current years council tax had been collected,
which met the target. Over 80% of the income was collected by direct debit
payments.

• At 31 March 08, 99.5% of the current years business rates had been
collected, which exceeded the target.

• Upon the transfer of homes to Bracknell Forest Homes on 11 February 08, the
staff at the then Social Services & Housing reception at Time Square
transferred to Customer Services. Customer Services now manage and staff
all receptions at the town centre office buildings - Time Square,
Easthampstead House and Seymour House.

• Customer Contact Strategy publicised within the Council.

• Improvements made to online payments software.

• Automated speech recognition telephone payment service for Council Tax
available.

Page 2 of 65146



6. Democratic & Registration Services

• The Bullbrook Town Council by-election was successfully delivered.

• Admission and exclusion appeal arrangements were reviewed following the
introduction of new Statutory Codes.

• We contributed to the National Appeals Review by the Office of the Schools
Adjudicator.

• The January round of Neighbourhood Action Groups (NAG) were supported
and clerked, and six-weekly meetings for NAG Chairmen were established.

• The governance arrangements of the Schools Forum were reviewed.

• The Independent Remuneration Panel's report was presented to Council and
all of the recommendations were accepted.

• We appointed to the Majority Group Secretary post.

• The Mayor's Civic Service was successfully delivered.

7. Finance

• Completion of the 2008/09 budget process.

• Detailed work on the financial arrangements for the transfer of housing.

• Award of a new banking contract to Lloyds TSB, the Council's current bank.

• Award of new insurance contracts to Risk Management Partners/AIG.

• The implementation of a new payroll service for Bracknell Forest Homes in
accordance with the Service Level Agreement.

• Budget Monitoring report submitted and projected an underspend.

• Audit Commission announced the “Use of Resources” scores as part of the
overall CPA; Financial Reporting scored 4 out of 4.

8. Human Resources

• New pension arrangements ready to be launched.

• Finalised the HR work around housing stock transfer.

• Preparation for the transfer of Corporate Health & Safety function to HR.

• Review and revise Occupational Health contract arrangements.

• Re-organisation arrangements including recruitment exercises for Chief
Officer posts.

• Travel Plan advice, input and planning.

• Recruitment to post of Director of Social Care and Learning.

9. Corporate Property

• Continuing work to improve public access to Council buildings.

• Inviting offers for surplus land suitable for residential development at
Brakenhale School.

• Work undertaken to conclude surrender of lease of Enid Wood House.

• Negotiations with existing landowners to relocate business as part of the Town
Centre regeneration.

10. ICT Services

• Support for Bracknell Forest Homes - office moves of staff to Asmec House
and 1st floor Time Square, setting up a server environment for BF Homes

• Completion of desktop and server refresh early and under budget

• Website improved from 60th to 18th best in the country and achieving a top 20
spot in Socitm Better Connected national review of public sector web site.

Page 3 of 65147



• Refresh of Member’s equipment now completed.

11. Transport

• Pilot project with Social Services transport.

• Finalisation of new software programme project to replace existing home to
school package.

12. Legal Services

• Completion of conveyancing and other legal support for Voluntary Stock
Transfer.

• Anthony Igbiniyesu acquiring Solicitors Higher Rights of Audience .

Page 4 of 65148



Section Two: Progress against Service Plan

The Corporate Services Department Service Plan contains 96 detailed actions to be
completed in support of the 12 Corporate Themes for 2007/08. Annex A provides
information on progress against each of these detailed actions; overall 93 actions are
anticipated to be achieved or already have been achieved , whilst only 3 are
causing some concern .

The 3 actions that are causing concern relate to developing the Older People’s
Strategy and reviewing joint arrangements between Berkshire Unitary Authorities.

Key Action/ Outcome: 8.16a)
Support corporate work in development of Strategy for Older People
Delay in production of strategy due to loss of staff in Chief Executive’s Office. Draft
strategy to be published in Autumn 2008. Support has been provided as required
from Corporate Services.

Key Action/ Outcome: 11.4
Complete a review of the joint arrangements established between Berkshire
Unitary Authorities established on Local Government Reorganisation
A schedule of Joint Agreements and financial provisions have been prepared and
discussed at the Berkshire Finance Officers Group. No changes to the existing
financial arrangements have been agreed at this stage. However, pressure of work
within the Legal Services Section has dictated that the review is unlikely to be
completed in this Municipal Year, although most of the major joint arrangements
have been reviewed and revised agreements are being put in place for some of the
arrangements (2 actions affected).

Page 5 of 65149



Transport

The bulk of the work within the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) has centred around
two major projects: the implementation of a new software programme and
preparation of the transport trial for Social Services. These two projects will both
become ‘live’ in April. The new software will replace an existing home to school
package within the ITU but will also have the capability to route and schedule
transport journeys therefore making them more efficient. The transport trial, if
successful, will lead to the integration of further social services transport within the
ITU.

Other activities for the ITU during the quarter include:

• Preparations for the closure of the existing workshop facility in November.
One vehicle fitter has now retired and due to the successful set up of
Bracknell Forest Homes, 74 vehicles have transferred across. Tender
documentation has now been prepared and will be sent out to interested
parties in April. Adverts have been run in the local newspapers to generate
interest. It is anticipated that this will contribute towards the savings included
in the ‘Balancing the Budget’ programme.

• The in-house service transporting pupils from a number of schools to the John
Nike centre has now been running successfully for six months. A second
service transporting pupils to Cable and Wireless for ICT training is also
running well. Both services have resulted in savings in taxi fares paid by the
department and produced a modest income stream for the Integrated
Transport Unit (ITU). In addition further one off journeys have been completed
for other Departments.

• The ITU has also been involved in the Berkshire Procurement Shared
Services Unit (BPSSU) work on transport services by providing data as
requested and through direct participation in the project.

• A programme of driver training has been organised taken place funded by
Safed (a Government organisation) with contributions from Corporate Training
and Environment and Leisure. This is as part of the commitment to reduce
fuel consumption and emissions linked to the Nottingham Agreement.

Page 6 of 65150



Section Three: Resources 

Staffing
See Annex B for more detailed information

Budget
See Annex C for more detailed information

Revenue

The original cash budget was £15.949M but a net increase in budgets of £0.705M
brought the approved cash budget to £16.654M in the last Quarterly Report. The
current approved cash budget is £16.709M, an increase of £0.055M which is due to
the following virements:

• £0.027M The HAY Group grading review for senior managers and the
development of a behavioural competency framework funded from the
Structural Changes Reserve.

• £0.028M Capitalised Pension costs relating to the redundancy of two
members of staff funded from the Structural Changes Reserve.

A net overspend of £0.033M is currently being reported. This includes a total of
£0.224M additional costs due to External Audit fees. CMT has approved treating this
as a corporate issue and that the variance can be funded by additional investment
income arising from higher cash balances and higher interest rates within the Non-
Departmental area.
The departmental overspend has reduced by £0.161M from the last Quarterly
Report. The most significant variances by value are summarised as follows:

• -£0.081M Corporate Services Devolved Staffing Budget (DSB) – The
management of departmental vacancies has achieved savings due mostly to a
number of relatively senior posts held vacant for a significant period of time.

• -£0.055M Corporate Property/Industrial and Commercial Properties – A
£0.044M shortfall of income was identified due to the actual timing of rent
reviews and rental income chargeable compared to the budget. This was
offset by £0.099M less expenditure than budgeted, from lower reactive
maintenance, savings on joint arrangement costs from the disposals of some
former Berkshire County Council properties and lower levels of debtor write-
offs required.

• £0.052M Corporate Property/Surveyors - Capital fee income is forecast to be
£0.072M lower than budgeted due mostly to a £0.030M over estimation of
fees for a school capital project and £0.035M fees estimated but already
claimed. Generally consultancy support has also been used to proceed with
some schemes due to the vacant Surveyors posts, which has resulted in the
Surveyor's charges to the capital schemes reducing. There have also been a
number of schemes that have been delayed by the client departments and
resulted in lower fees achievable in the year.

Page 7 of 65151



One-off underspends totalling £0.020M have been achieved from the
Surveyor's mostly staff related (non DSB) revenue budgets due to the staff
vacancies maintained during the financial year.

• £0.049M Finance/External Audit Fees - The council has incurred an additional
£0.004M external audit fees in relation to the public enquires to the 2006/07
final accounts with regard to Cressex Lodge.

The Council has also been informed by the Audit Commission (the new
external auditor) that we are required to pay for Grant claims audit work during
2007/08 that will be conducted by them in 2008/09. Grant claims audit work
for 2006/07 has already been paid out of this year’s budget so there will be
two payments in 2007/08 which will result in a budget pressure of £0.045M.

The remaining £0.126M underspend reported during this period has arisen across
the department’s services and consists of relatively small variances mostly identified
along with a budget carry forward request.

Corporate Services has requested a total of £0.223M carry forwards for approval by
Corporate Management Team, which will be subsequently reported to the Executive
and Council in the first cycle following the end of the financial year. The carry
forwards identified to date are summarised as follows:

• £0.010M Legal Services - A deeds index system.

• £0.015M Finance - Consultancy support for a 'lean' study on Accounts
Receivable.

• £0.040M Corporate Property - Part funding £0.080M of essential roofing works
to be started during 2008/09.

• £0.004M Democratic & Registration Services - A Computerised Records
Register is needed by the Births Deaths and Marriages Team.

• £0.012M Chief Executives Office - This £0.012M has been earmarked to fund
a performance management system to be implemented during 2008/09.

• £0.003M Human Resources - Consultancy work for workforce planning has
been commissioned and is anticipated to be completed in June 2008. Half the
budget allocated for this will need to be carried forward.

• £0.004M Customer Services – A Payment Portal will be used in conjunction
with online payments and will provide a direct link from any application form
that a customer fills in to the online payments process.

• £0.060M Chief Executives / Grants to Voluntary Organisations - The annual
grant to BFVA was reduced in the short term in the light if its reserves and this
now needs to be replaced in 2008/09.

• £0.009M Chief Executives / Communications Team - Three projects were
identified during 2007/08 but will not be commissioned until 2008/09:

1) Internal Printing Room work associated with the Borough Welcome
Packs funded from the printing budget £0.004M.

2) Developing good quality translation of contact information into the
main community languages, which can be used in major council
publications - £0.002M.

3) Developing online capacity of Town & Country - £0.003M.

• £0.016M Human Resources/Occupational Health - Analysis of service usage
suggests a backlog of appointments has been accruing through a combination
of increased sickness absence management referrals and periods where the

Page 8 of 65152



contractor could not schedule appointments due to turnover of their staff. The
estimated cost of the backlog in referrals is £0.016M and it is anticipated that
they will be cleared during 2008/09.

• £0.020M Chief Executives Office/LPSA2 Community Engagement - A number
of programmed work items will be completed during 2008/09, the most
significant being:

1) A contribution towards the implementation of Community TV
(£0.006M).

2) Developing content on Community TV (£0.002M).
3) Printing of leaflets and venue costs following up actions from the

previous neighbourhood questionnaire (£0.005M)

• £0.030M Director of Corporate Services - On the 26th March, CMT agreed
that £30,000 should be carried forward to cover the cost of external support to
undertake equality impact assessment work. The work will focus on the three
key areas identified for improvement within the Equality Standard Action Plan,
by the Equalities Sub Group;

1) Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) - reviewing progress to date,
establishing new priorities and completing outstanding EIAs

2) Refreshing guidance and redoing training for staff conducting EIAs.
3) Equality arrangements for procurement.

Emerging Issue – The Transfer of Housing

There is a potential one off “corporate wide” revenue saving that can be achieved
from charging officer time to the Housing Stock transfer project and to the expected
capital receipt. The impact of this will be to transfer costs of £0.301M from Corporate
Services’ revenue to capital. This saving, while achievable on the Departmental
DSB, will be in addition to the DSB variances reported to date and will go into
balances.

Capital

Details of the Corporate Services and Chief Executive’s Departmental capital
programme are reported in Appendix C. The 2007/08 programme for the year is
£3.623M. This is £0.191M more than last reported due to the addition of the Agresso
Re-financing invest to save scheme (£0.106M) and Community TV capital funding
from the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership (£0.085M).

The approved capital budget for 2007/08 was re-profiled in the last Quarterly Report
to more accurately reflect the timing of the likely cash spend. The 2007/08 approved
cash budget has been reduced by £0.072M through budget monitoring to £2.669M.
The cash budget for 2008/09 represents the anticipated carry forward and has been
revised up by £0.236M to £0.927M.

The overall expenditure to date represents 56% of 2007/08 cash budget with a
further 6% committed.

According to financial regulations, departments are required to manage their budgets
to ensure that the overall department’s capital programme is not exceeded. A
£0.027M underspend on the Payroll Systems Replacement Scheme has been
reported because following an extensive trial of the self service module it has been
agreed the system will not be developed further.

Page 9 of 65153



Invest to Save Bids

On 23 January Corporate Management Team agreed that funding of £106,000
should be released from the Invest to Save budget for the refinancing of the Council's
financial information and management system, Agresso. This involves moving from
our existing agreement to a new framework agreement negotiated between Agresso
and the Office of Government Commerce. To make the change the Council makes a
one off payment of £106,000 in return for which the annual maintenance and support
charges will reduce by £33,000. In addition to the financial changes the Council will
have an unlimited user site licence which will be of particular use when upgrading to
Agresso 5.5 with its extended functionality and will also eliminate any potential risks
arising from having insufficient individual licences.

Page 10 of 65154



Complaints

Stage Number of
complaints in the
quarter

Specific commentary on complaints

1 5 1) Council taxpayer received a reminder
notice when their payment crossed in
the post. Reminder correct at time of
issue – complaint not well-founded.

2) The automated telephone payment
system for council tax did not allow
enough time for the payment to be
authorised and the call was
automatically truncated even though
the payment went through. Corrective
action taken by asking the system
supplier to extend the time allowed for
payment authorisation.

3) 3 x Complaints regarding Customer
Care Charter and Service Standards.

2
3

Ombudsman

Internal audit assurances
(Where internal audit carried out with limited or no assurance)

There were no new internal audits carried out with limited or no assurance in
the 4th quarter.

Page 11 of 65155



1
2
3
4
5

Section Four: Forward Look 

The following summarises some of the key challenges facing the Department in the
first quarter of 2008/09.

Civic Hub & Town Centre
1) Continue to support the Town Centre Regeneration project, particularly with

regard to Legal and Property matters.
2) Support the Chief Executive’s Office in addressing the outcome of the CPO

inquiry Inspector’s report.
3) Progress the development of the Council’s plans for the design of the new

Civic Hub and operational requirements of the future Civic Centre.

Community Cohesion & Equalities
1) Gain approval for Community Cohesion Strategy and begin implementation.
2) Finalise branding for Community Cohesion and Equalities and externally

launch the Community Cohesion Strategy, Race Equality Scheme, Gender
Equality Scheme and Disability Equality Scheme Annual Report.

3) Launch new Community Cohesion & Diversity section on the public website.
4) Begin mapping of engagement work to inform the refresh of the Engagement

Strategy.

Customer Services
1) Appointment and induction of the replacement Customer Services Manager,

following the departure of the previous manager.
2) More services being handled by Customer Services - adult services transport

scheme, e+ card, parking fines.
3) Cross-training of Customer Services Advisors to allow cover for all receptions

and telephone enquiries.
4) Council Tax annual billing.

Democratic & Registration Services
) Achieve formal adoption of the Member Development Strategy.
) Complete Personal Development Plans for Members.
) Deliver the Mayor's Civic Reception.
) Induct the new Mayor and Deputy Mayor.
) Prepare for and deliver education appeals for both the primary and secondary

admissions round.
6) Clerk and support Neighbourhood Action Groups and Chairmen's meetings.
7) Review the governance arrangements of the School Admission Forum.
8) Hold a ballot for the election of a parent governor representative on Overview

and Scrutiny and for two parent governor representatives on the School
Admission Forum.

9) Implement the new structure and opening times for the Registration Service.
10) Commence preparations to move to new governance arrangements for the

Registration Service.
11) Subject to Ministry of Justice approval, commence data matching of all entries

on the electoral register in line with the Government's CORE initiative.
12) Respond effectively to Royal Mail changes to postal delivery times.

Finance
1) Finalise the 2007/08 accounts before the statutory deadline of 30 June.
2) Prepare the Annual Governance Statement for inclusion in the Council's

published accounts.

Page 12 of 65156



3) Manage the transition to the Council's new insurance provider.
4) Develop and begin to implement a programme of risk management training

for officers and members.
5) Implement new pension arrangements in accordance with the revised Local

Government Pension Scheme. 
6) Progress the closure of the Council's Housing Revenue Account. 
7) Implement a trial transport project for Social Services clients. 

Human Resources
1) Continue with issues arising from the Council’s re-organisation.
2) Complete recruitment of Director post.
3) Implement Management Development Strategy.
4) Green Travel Plan and staff consultation.
5) Implementation of Workforce Planning Management tool.
6) Flexible Working Framework.

Corporate Property Services
1) Induction of new Chief Building Surveyor.
2) Developing the disposal programme 2008/09.
3) Assisting with major Education led projects at Garth College & Brakenhale.

ICT Services
1) Affecting a swift and seamless transfer of Bracknell Forest Homes staff out of

Time Square to new premises.
2) Completion of Electronic Document management pilot for HR.
3) Successful implementation of underlying technology to support the Integrated

Children System project.

Legal
1) Preparation of Code of Corporate Governance.
2) Commence work on Information Management framework.
3) Provision of legal advice in connection with the Garth Hill and possible

Leisure outsourcing projects.
4) Substantial volume of Trading Standards prosecutions.
5) Review arrangements for the Standards Committee in light of regulations

issued under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act
2007. The regulations come into force on 8th May 2008.

Page 13 of 65157



A
n

n
e
x

A
:

P
ro

g
re

s
s

a
g

a
in

s
t

d
e
ta

il
e
d

a
c
ti

o
n

s
fr

o
m

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
h

e
m

e
1
:

P
ro

m
o
te

th
e

s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f
B

ra
c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t 

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
.1

b
)

C
o

m
p

le
te

a
ll

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

b
u

s
in

e
s
s

p
la

n
s

fo
r

C
iv

ic
H

u
b

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
in

c
lu

d
in

g
:

P
ro

g
re

s
s

d
e
s
ig

n
s

fo
r

C
iv

ic
H

u
b

to
S

ta
g

e
E

D
C

S
/A

C
E

D
e
v
e
lo

p
a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
t
a

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

S
tr

a
te

g
y

fo
r

th
e

C
iv

ic
H

u
b

p
ro

je
c
t

H
o
F

W
o
rk

w
it
h

c
o
lle

a
g

u
e
s

to
c
o
m

p
le

te
w

o
rk

s
tr

e
a
m

s
a
n
d

m
e
e
t

p
ro

je
c
t

d
e
a
d
lin

e
s

fo
r

p
ro

v
is

io
n

o
f

n
e
w

C
iv

ic
H

u
b

a
n
d

p
ro

v
id

e
a
ll

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

s
u
p
p
o
rt

,
a
d
v
ic

e
a
n
d

g
u
id

a
n
c
e

H
O

S

F
in

a
lis

e
p
la

n
s

fo
r

th
e

n
e
w

d
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c

o
ff

e
r/

s
u
it
e

in
th

e
C

iv
ic

H
u
b

fo
llo

w
in

g
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

w
it
h

M
e
m

b
e
rs

H
D

R
S

T
o

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
e
le

g
a
te

d
w

o
rk

s
tr

e
a
m

re
p
o
rt

s
a
n
d

o
ff

e
r

a
d
v
ic

e
a
n
d

g
u
id

a
n
c
e

o
n

c
u
s
to

m
e
r

s
e
rv

ic
e

d
e
liv

e
ry

in
th

e
n
e
w

c
iv

ic
o
ff

ic
e
s

H
C

S
D

e
v
e
lo

p
p

la
n
s

fo
r

th
e

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

a
d
a
p
ti
o
n
s

to
T

im
e

S
q

u
a
re

H
C

P

S
ta

g
e

D
re

p
o
rt

w
a
s

re
je

c
te

d
in

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r

2
0
0
7
.

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
in

M
a
rc

h
2
0
0
8
.

M
a
jo

ri
ty

o
f

is
s
u
e
s

re
s
o
lv

e
d

b
u
t

s
ti
ll

s
o
m

e
p
o
in

ts
to

fi
n
a
lis

e
w

it
h

B
R

P
.

T
h
e
re

fo
re

p
ro

g
re

s
s

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

m
a
d
e

to
w

a
rd

s
B

F
B

C
a
c
c
e
p
ti
n
g

S
ta

g
e

D
R

e
p
o
rt

–
o
n
ly

o
n
e

o
u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
a
re

a
.

T
h
is

is
u
n
lik

e
ly

to
im

p
a
c
t

o
n

d
e
liv

e
ry

o
f

th
e

b
u
ild

in
g

to
ti
m

e
ta

b
le

.
A

s
tr

a
te

g
y

a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
h
a
s

b
e
e
n

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d

a
n
d

a
re

v
ie

w
o
f

re
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

is
u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
.

T
h
e

P
ro

je
c
t
In

it
ia

ti
o
n

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
t
fo

r
fu

rn
it
u
re

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

d
ra

ft
e
d

a
n
d

is
s
u
e
d

fo
r

c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

.
M

o
s
t

w
o
rk

-s
tr

e
a
m

s
fo

r
S

ta
g

e
D

a
re

c
o
m

p
le

te
.
B

u
s
in

e
s
s

c
a
s
e
s

a
re

a
ll

c
o
m

p
le

te
.
W

o
rk

-s
tr

e
a
m

s
fo

r
S

ta
g

e
E

h
a
v
e

b
e
g

u
n
.

T
h
e

in
it
ia

l
d
e
s
ig

n
s

fo
r

th
e

la
y
o
u
t

o
f

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

C
h
a
m

b
e
r

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

d
is

c
u
s
s
e
d

a
n
d

a
p
re

fe
rr

e
d

o
p
ti
o
n

a
g

re
e
d
.

L
a
y
o
u
t
fo

r
th

e
d
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c

o
ff

ic
e

is
a
ls

o
n
o
w

c
o
m

p
le

te
.

A
ll

w
o
rk

-s
tr

e
a
m

s
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

o
n

ti
m

e
a
n
d

th
e

re
le

v
a
n
t

re
p
o
rt

s
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

e
n
d
o
rs

e
d

b
y

C
M

T
.

A
d
v
ic

e
o
n

g
u
id

a
n
c
e

fo
r

c
u
s
to

m
e
r

s
e
rv

ic
e

d
e
liv

e
ry

is
o
n
g

o
in

g
.

P
la

n
s

b
e
in

g
d
e
v
e

lo
p
e

d
jo

in
tl
y

w
it
h

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts

a
n
d

a
ll

d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

in
v
o
lv

e
d

in
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
4

158



K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

.1
d

)
•
 

S
e
c
u
re

a
c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
u
ls

o
ry

P
u
rc

h
a
s
e

a
c
q

u
is

it
io

n
(C

P
O

)
B

S
o
l

C
P

O
m

a
d
e

2
3

rd
J
u
ly

.
P

u
b
lic

in
q

u
ir
y

c
lo

s
e
d

2
9

th
F

e
b
ru

a
ry

2
0
0
8
.

S
e
c
re

ta
ry

o
f

S
ta

te
’s

d
e
c
is

io
n

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
J
u
ly

2
0
0
8
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

.1
e

)
P

re
p

a
re

re
lo

c
a
ti

o
n

p
la

n
fo

r
C

o
u

n
c
il

to
n

e
w

c
iv

ic
a
c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti

o
n

in
c
lu

d
in

g
:

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s

M
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t

to
le

a
d

o
n

d
e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t

o
f

p
la

n
to

m
o
v
e

to
n
e
w

C
iv

ic
H

u
b

in
2
0
0

9
in

lia
is

o
n

w
it
h

o
th

e
r

d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

a
n
d

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

R
e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(B
R

P
).

H
C

P

P
la

n
s

to
b
e

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d

d
u
ri
n
g

2
0
0
8
/0

9
.

E
n
s
u
re

a
c
c
u
ra

te
h
e
a
d
c
o
u
n
t

fi
g

u
re

s
a
re

in
p
la

c
e

to
fa

c
ili

ta
te

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

s
p
a
c
e

p
la

n
n
in

g
.

B
H

R
M

R
e
g

u
la

r
q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

h
e
a
d
c
o
u
n
t

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t
c
o
m

p
le

te
d
.

R
e
v
ie

w
p
o
lic

ie
s

a
ro

u
n
d

F
le

x
ib

le
W

o
rk

in
g

to
e
n
s
u
re

th
e
y

s
u
p
p
o
rt

th
e

te
c
h
n
o
lo

g
ic

a
l
re

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

B
H

R
M

F
le

x
ib

le
w

o
rk

in
g

is
s
u
b
je

c
t
to

a
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
w

id
e

s
tu

d
y

b
y

N
O

M
A

D
to

e
n
s
u
re

a
c
o
n
s
is

te
n
t
a
p
p
ro

a
c
h

g
o
in

g
fo

rw
a
rd

.
S

ta
g

e
1

o
f

p
ro

je
c
t
is

n
o
w

c
o
m

p
le

te
.

S
u
rv

e
y

o
f

a
ll

s
ta

ff
to

ta
k
e

p
la

c
e

in
M

a
y
.

C
o
n
s
tr

u
c
t

b
u
s
in

e
s
s

p
la

n
s

to
s
u
p
p
o
rt

C
u
lt
u
ra

l
C

h
a
n
g

e
w

o
rk

s
tr

e
a
m

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
B

H
R

M
B

u
s
in

e
s
s

p
la

n
a
g

re
e
d

fo
r

fu
rn

it
u
re

re
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

,
o
th

e
rs

to
b
e

c
o
n
s
tr

u
c
te

d
a
s

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
5

159



S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

fr
o

m
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

[i
n
d
ic

a
te

w
h
e
th

e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
o
r

n
e
w

]
U

p
d

a
te

D
e
la

y
in

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r
d
e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t
o
f

T
o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
P

la
n
n

e
d

o
c
c
u
p

a
ti
o
n

o
f

n
e

w
c
iv

ic
h
u
b

s
c
h
e
d
u

le
d

fo
r

la
te

2
0

0
9
/e

a
rl

y
2

0
1
0
.

D
e
la

y
in

C
o
m

p
u
ls

o
ry

P
u
rc

h
a
s
e

a
c
q
u

is
it
io

n
–

th
e

c
o
n
fi
rm

a
ti
o
n

o
f

a
C

P
O

re
s
ts

w
it
h

th
e

S
e
c
re

ta
ry

o
f

S
ta

te
fo

llo
w

in
g

a
p

u
b

lic
in

q
u

ir
y

to
c
o
n
s
id

e
r

a
n

y
o
b
je

c
ti
o

n
s

In
q
u

ir
y

c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
s

1
4

F
e
b

ru
a
ry

2
0
0
8

.L
ik

e
ly

In
s
p

e
c
to

r’
s

R
e
p
o
rt

in
S

u
m

m
e
r

2
0
0
8

.

In
a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

d
e
s
ig

n
s

b
e

in
g

p
ro

d
u
c
e
d

S
o

m
e

d
e

la
y

in
a
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
o

f
S

ta
g

e
D

d
e
s
ig

n
s
-

th
e

m
a
jo

ri
ty

o
f

is
s
u

e
s

a
re

n
o

w
re

s
o

lv
e
d

.
T

h
is

is
u

n
li
k
e
ly

to
im

p
a
c
t

o
n

d
e
li
v

e
ry

o
f

th
e

b
u

il
d

in
g

to
ti

m
e
ta

b
le

.

In
a
b

ili
ty

to
re

c
ru

it
in

te
ri

m
H

e
a
d

o
f

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

In
te

ri
m

H
e
a
d

o
f

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t
n
o

w
in

p
o
s
it
io

n
.

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t
te

a
m

in
v
o
lv

e
d

in
to

o
m

a
n

y
in

it
ia

ti
v
e
s

–
e
n

s
u
re

p
ri
o
ri

ti
e
s

a
re

c
le

a
rl

y
id

e
n
ti
fi
e

d
a
n

d
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
te

d
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
M

a
n
a

g
e
m

e
n
t
T

e
a
m

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
p
ri

o
ri
ti
e
s

a
n

d
re

s
o
u
rc

in
g

o
n

2
6

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r.

P
ri
o
ri

ti
e
s

h
a

v
e

b
e
e
n

c
la

ri
fi
e

d
a

n
d

a
d
d

it
io

n
a

l
re

s
o
u
rc

e
s

h
a

v
e

b
e

e
n

p
u
t

in
p

la
c
e
.

B
R

P
d
e
c
id

e
n
o
t
to

p
ro

c
e

e
d

N
o
t
c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
a
s

lik
e
ly

.

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
h

e
m

e
2
:

P
ro

m
o
te

s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
th

ro
u
g
h

in
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e

h
o
u
s
in

g
s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
a
n
d

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

p
o
lic

ie
s

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
1
.

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t
th

e
o

u
tc

o
m

e
o
f

th
e

h
o
u

s
in

g
s
to

c
k

o
p

ti
o
n

s
b

a
llo

t
o
f

C
o

u
n

c
il

T
e

n
a

n
ts

F
o

ll
o

w
in

g
th

e
re

s
u

lt
o

f
th

e
te

n
a
n

ts
’

b
a
ll

o
t:

a
)

A
g

re
e

s
to

c
k

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n

w
it
h

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t

H
o
m

e
s

D
C

S
/H

O
S

A
g

re
e
m

e
n
t

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

re
a
c
h
e
d
.

b
)

P
re

p
a
re

a
ll

re
q

u
ir
e
d

p
la

n
s

fo
r

tr
a
n
s
fe

r
a
n
d

in
s
tr

u
c
t

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l
S

u
rv

e
y
o
rs

if
re

q
u
ir
e
d

H
C

P
P

la
n
s

p
re

p
a
re

d
a
n
d

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l
s
u
rv

e
y

re
s
u
lt
s

a
n
a
ly

s
e
d
.

c
)

P
re

p
a
re

tr
a
n
s
fe

r
c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

D
C

S
/H

O
S

C
o
n
tr

a
c
t

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
6

160



d
)

S
u
b
m

it
to

D
C

L
G

fo
r

c
o
n
s
e
n
t
to

tr
a
n
s
fe

r
D

C
S

/H
O

S
C

L
G

c
o
n
s
e
n
t
re

c
e
iv

e
d
.

e
)

C
o
m

p
le

te
s
to

c
k

tr
a
n
s
fe

r
D

C
S

/H
O

S
T

ra
n
s
fe

r
1
1

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

2
0
0
8

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
.

f)
E

n
te

r
in

to
T

ra
n
s
fe

r
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t

a
n
d

c
o
m

p
le

te
c
o
n
v
e

y
a
n
c
in

g
B

S
o
l

T
ra

n
s
fe

r
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t

a
n
d

C
o
n
v
e

y
a
n
c
y

c
o
m

p
le

te
.

g
)

D
is

a
g
g

re
g

a
te

h
o
u
s
in

g
fu

n
c
ti
o
n
s

fr
o
m

th
e

re
s
t

o
f

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

D
C

S
/H

O
S

-
H

o
u
s
in

g
fu

n
c
ti
o
n
s

d
is

a
g
g

re
g

a
te

d
.

h
)

P
ro

v
id

e
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
s
u
p
p
o
rt

to
th

e
L
S

V
T

p
o
s
t

b
a
llo

t
p
ro

je
c
t

H
o
F

F
o
llo

w
in

g
tr

a
n
s
fe

r,
w

o
rk

is
n
o
w

u
n
d
e
rw

a
y

to
c
lo

s
e

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
H

o
u
s
in

g
R

e
v
e
n
u
e

A
c
c
o
u
n
t.

i)
C

o
m

p
le

te
s
ta

ff
in

g
tr

a
n
s
fe

r
a
n
d

d
is

a
g
g

re
g

a
ti
o
n

o
f

p
o
lic

y
p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

s
a
n
d

a
ll

s
ta

ff
in

g
m

a
tt

e
rs

B
H

R
M

C
o
m

p
le

te
.

j)
A

d
v
is

e
o
n

th
e

im
p
a
c
t

o
f

th
e

tr
a
n
s
fe

r
o
n

re
s
id

u
a
l

s
ta

ff
a
n
d

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
s

in
th

e
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

H
o
u
s
in

g
fu

n
c
ti
o
n

B
H

R
M

C
o
m

p
le

te
.

k
)

C
o
n
s
id

e
r

th
e

fu
tu

re
re

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

fo
r

p
a
y
m

e
n
t

p
ro

c
e
s
s
in

g
a
n
d

th
e

ro
le

o
f
th

e
C

a
s
h

O
ff

ic
e

H
C

S
C

o
m

p
le

te
.

l)
P

ro
d
u
c
e

a
ti
m

e
ta

b
le

fo
r

tr
a
n
s
fe

rr
in

g
c
u
s
to

m
e
r

e
n
q

u
ir
ie

s
re

la
ti
n
g

to
te

n
a
n
ts

’
re

p
a
ir
s

to
th

e
n
e
w

H
o
u
s
in

g
A

s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n

H
C

S

C
o
m

p
le

te
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
7

161



S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

fr
o

m
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

[i
n
d
ic

a
te

w
h
e
th

e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
o
r

n
e
w

]
U

p
d

a
te

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t
H

o
m

e
s

(B
F

H
)

e
x
p
e
ri
e

n
c
e
s

d
e

la
ys

in
s
e
tt
in

g
u
p

o
r

a
p
p
o

in
ti
n

g
k
e

y
s
ta

ff
P

ro
je

c
t
n
o

w
c
o
m

p
le

te
.

T
h
e
re

a
re

u
n
k
n
o

w
n

le
g

a
l,

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
o
r

fi
n
a

n
c
ia

l
is

s
u
e
s

S
to

c
k

T
ra

n
s
fe

r
d
o
e
s

n
o
t
p
ro

c
e
e
d

D
is

p
u
te

o
v
e
r

p
la

n
s

N
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o

n
s

o
n

tr
a
n
s
fe

r
v
a

lu
e

n
o
t
c
o
m

p
le

te
d

in
ti
m

e

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
h

e
m

e
3
:

H
e
lp

c
re

a
te

a
s
a
fe

r,
s
tr

o
n
g
e
r

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

w
h
ic

h
is

s
o
c
ia

lly
c
o
h
e
s
iv

e
K

e
y

A
c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
3
.3

:
W

o
rk

w
it

h
th

e
B

ra
c
k
n

e
ll

F
o

re
s
t

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

to
u

p
d

a
te

th
e

C
o

u
n

c
il

’s
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
C

o
h

e
s
io

n
S

tr
a
te

g
y

to
c
o

v
e
r

th
e

p
e
ri

o
d

2
0
0
7

-
2
0
1
0

•
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt

o
n

th
e

k
e
y

a
re

a
s

o
f

c
h
a
n
g

e
to

th
e

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
o
h
e
s
io

n
S

tr
a
te

g
y

D
C

S
/A

C
E

S
tr

a
te

g
y

n
o
w

c
o
m

p
le

te
.

•
 

P
u
b
lis

h
re

v
is

e
d

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
o
h
e
s
io

n
S

tr
a
te

g
y

D
C

S
/A

C
E

S
tr

a
te

g
y

n
o
w

c
o
m

p
le

te
a
n
d

re
a
d
y

to
b
e

a
g
re

e
d

b
y

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

in
A

p
ri
l
0
8
.

F
o
llo

w
in

g
a
p
p
ro

v
a
l
th

e
s
tr

a
te

g
y

w
ill

b
e

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d
.

•
 

E
v
a
lu

a
te

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t’
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s

a
g

a
in

s
t
th

e
re

v
is

e
d

E
q

u
a
lit

y
S

ta
n
d
a
rd

D
C

S
/A

C
E

P
ro

g
re

s
s

o
n

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
h
o
w

s
L
e
v
e

l
2
,

w
o
rk

in
g

to
w

a
rd

s
L
e
v
e
l
3
.

A
c
ti
o
n

P
la

n
a
g

re
e
d

b
y

C
M

T
fo

r
p
ro

g
re

s
s

to
L
e
v
e
l
3
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
8

162



K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
3

.5
In

c
re

a
s
e

th
e

le
v
e
l

o
f

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

e
n

g
a
g

e
m

e
n

t
a
n

d
v
o

lu
n

te
e
ri

n
g

a
c
ti

v
it

ie
s

in
th

e
B

o
ro

u
g

h
in

a
c
c
o

rd
a
n

c
e

w
it

h
th

e
ta

rg
e
ts

s
e
t

o
u

t
in

th
e

L
o

c
a
l

A
re

a
A

g
re

e
m

e
n

t

•
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

th
e

A
C

E
w

it
h

th
e

d
e
liv

e
ry

o
f:

�
2

B
F

1
5
0
0

re
s
id

e
n
ts

p
a
n
e
ls

�
N

e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d

A
c
ti
o
n

G
ro

u
p
s

a
n
d

F
o
ru

m
s

ru
n

in
c
o
n
ju

n
c
ti
o
n

w
it
h

T
h
a
m

e
s

V
a
lle

y
P

o
lic

e
A

D
C

/A
C

E

•
 

O
n
e

re
s
id

e
n
ts

'p
a
n
e
l
h
a
s

b
e
e
n

h
e
ld

to
a
s
c
e
rt

a
in

v
ie

w
s

o
n

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
o
h
e
s
io

n
S

tr
a
te

g
y
,

G
e
n
d
e
r

E
q

u
a
lit

y
S

c
h
e
m

e
a
n
d

C
u
lt
u
ra

l
S

tr
a
te

g
y
.
T

h
e

fo
llo

w
in

g
p
a
n
e
l
in

D
e
c

0
7

c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d

o
n

th
e

b
u
d
g

e
t
a
n
d

M
e
d
iu

m
T

e
rm

o
b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
.

•
 

T
h
e

re
fr

e
s
h
e
d

fo
rm

a
t
N

A
G

s
k
ic

k
e
d

o
ff

in
S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r

a
n
d

ra
n

u
n
ti
l
C

h
ri
s
tm

a
s
.

•
 

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t
p
ro

c
e
s
s

s
ta

rt
e
d

to
p
u
t
in

p
la

c
e

b
ro

a
d
e
r-

b
a
s
e
d

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t
fo

r
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il

a
n
d

th
e

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

•
 

In
c
re

a
s
e

e
n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t
in

a
n
d

a
w

a
re

n
e
s
s

o
f

d
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s

a
m

o
n
g
s
t
m

e
m

b
e
rs

o
f

th
e

p
u
b
lic

,
in

c
lu

d
in

g
y
o
u
n
g

p
e
o
p
le

th
ro

u
g

h
L
o
c
a
l
D

e
m

o
c
ra

c
y

W
e
e
k

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
a
n
d

n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d

fo
ru

m
s

H
D

R
S

L
o
c
a
l
D

e
m

o
c
ra

c
y

W
e
e
k

to
o
k

p
la

c
e

fr
o
m

1
5
-1

9
O

c
to

b
e
r.

T
h
e

M
a

y
o
r

s
p
o
k
e

to
th

e
Y

o
u
th

P
a
rl
ia

m
e
n
t
a
b
o
u
t
d
e
m

o
c
ra

c
y

a
n
d

g
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
.
W

o
rk

is
a
lr
e
a
d
y

u
n
d
e
rw

a
y

to
id

e
n
ti
fy

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
fo

r
L
o
c
a
l
D

e
m

o
c
ra

c
y

W
e
e
k

2
0
0
8
.

T
h
e

D
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

T
e
a
m

s
u
p
p
o
rt

s
th

e
N

e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d

A
c
ti
o
n

G
ro

u
p
s

o
n

a
n

o
n
-g

o
in

g
b
a
s
is

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
1
9

163



P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

In
d

ic
a
to

r
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

In
d

ic
a
to

r
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

to
d

a
te

T
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0
0
7
/0

8
N

a
ti

o
n

a
l

q
u

a
rt

il
e

c
o

m
p

a
ri

s
o

n

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts

C
C

0
1

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
e
o
p

le
w

h
o

fe
e
l
th

a
t

th
e
ir

lo
c
a

l
a
re

a
is

a
p
la

c
e

w
h
e
re

p
e
o
p

le
fr

o
m

d
if
fe

re
n
t
b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
s

c
a
n

g
e
t

o
n

w
e
ll

to
g
e
th

e
r

8
2
%

n
/a

2
n
d

T
h
re

e
y
e
a
r

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t
b

y
A

u
d

it
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n

C
C

0
2

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
e
o
p

le
w

h
o

d
is

a
g
re

e
th

a
t
th

e
ir

lo
c
a

l
a
re

a
is

a
p

la
c
e

w
h
e
re

p
e
o
p

le
fr

o
m

d
if
fe

re
n
t
b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
s

c
a
n

g
e
t

o
n

w
e
ll

to
g
e
th

e
r

1
2
%

n
/a

N
/A

T
h
re

e
y
e
a
r

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t
b

y
A

u
d

it
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n

U
p

d
a
te

o
n

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

fr
o

m
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

[i
n
d
ic

a
te

w
h
e
th

e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
o
r

n
e
w

]
U

p
d

a
te

L
o
s
s

o
f

k
e

y
s
ta

ff
N

e
w

L
e
a
d

o
ff

ic
e
r

fo
r

L
o
c
a
l
D

e
m

o
c
ra

c
y

W
e
e
k

is
in

p
o
s
t.

L
a
c
k

o
f

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

in
te

re
s
t

G
o
o
d

re
s
p
o

n
s
e

re
c
e

iv
e
d

to
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
.

B
re

a
k
d
o

w
n

in
re

la
ti
o
n
s
h

ip
w

it
h

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

G
o
o
d

w
o
rk

in
g

re
la

ti
o

n
s
h
ip

s
w

it
h

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

.

L
o
c
a
l
D

e
m

o
c
ra

c
y

W
e
e
k

•
 

N
o

c
u
rr

e
n
t

b
u
d

g
e
t
fo

r
p
ro

je
c
t
w

o
rk

•
 

L
a
c
k

o
f

in
te

re
s
t
fr

o
m

M
e
m

b
e
rs

,
o
ff

ic
e
rs

,
s
c
h
o
o
ls

o
r

m
e
m

b
e
rs

o
f

th
e

p
u

b
lic

O
u
r

a
b
ili

ty
to

s
p
e

n
d

a
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t

a
m

o
u
n
t
o
f

ti
m

e
o
n

th
is

p
ro

je
c
t

w
a
s

a
ff

e
c
te

d
b

y
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
fo

c
u
s

o
n

th
e

J
A

R
.

E
a
rl

y
p

la
n
n
in

g
s
h

o
u

ld
e

n
a
b

le
u
s

to
d

e
v
e
lo

p
a

b
e
tt

e
r

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r
th

e
2
0

0
8

e
v
e

n
t.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
0

164



C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
h

e
m

e
4
:

In
c
re

a
s
e

p
a

rt
ic

ip
a
ti
o

n
in

a
n

d
e

n
jo

y
m

e
n

t
o
f

a
rt

,
c
u

lt
u

re
,

s
p

o
rt

a
n

d
re

c
re

a
ti
o

n

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
4

.4
Im

p
ro

v
e

a
c
c
e
s
s

to
L

e
is

u
re

fa
c
il
it

ie
s

a
n

d
in

p
a
rt

ic
u

la
r

to
a
)

d
e
v
e
lo

p
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
fo

r
v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

g
ro

u
p

s
to

a
c
c
e
s
s

‘m
a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

’
fa

c
il
it

ie
s
.

a
)

D
e
ta

ile
d

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

s
u
rv

e
y

to
b
e

c
a
rr

ie
d

o
u
t
o
f

a
ll

C
o
u
n
c
il

B
u
ild

in
g

s
H

C
P

A
ll

s
u
rv

e
y
s

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
.

b
)

D
e
ta

ile
d

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
o
f

a
c
c
e
s
s

w
o
rk

to
b
e

a
g

re
e
d

b
y

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
o
h
e
s
io

n
W

o
rk

in
g

G
ro

u
p

a
n
d

c
o
m

m
e
n
te

d
o
n

b
y

th
e

A
c
c
e
s
s

A
d
v
is

o
ry

P
a
n
e
l
p
ri
o
r

to
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
m

e
n
t.

H
C

P

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
b
e
in

g
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d

a
n
d

p
ro

g
re

s
s
e
d
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
1

165



P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

In
d

ic
a
to

r
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

In
d

ic
a
to

r
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e

to
d

a
te

2
0
0
7
/0

8
q

u
a
rt

il
e

c
o

m
p

a
ri

s
o

n
B

V
1
5
6

(A
)

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

a
u
th

o
ri

ty
b
u
ild

in
g
s

o
p
e

n
to

th
e

p
u
b

lic
in

w
h
ic

h
5
1
.2

%
In

c
lu

d
in

g
w

o
rk

5
0
.6

%
A

c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

t
o
n

d
e
liv

e
ry

o
f

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t
is

th
e

s
c
a
le

o
f

a
ll

p
u

b
lic

a
re

a
s

a
re

s
u
it
a
b

le
fo

r
a
n
d

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

o
n

s
it
e
.

b
u
d
g

e
t
p
ro

v
is

io
n
.

In
d
iv

id
u

a
l

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
to

d
is

a
b

le
d

p
e

o
p
le

2
5
.0

4
.0

8
.

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

re
q
u
ir
e
d

m
a
y

e
x
c
e
e
d

th
e

to
ta

l
b
u

d
g
e
t

p
ro

v
is

io
n
.

U
p

d
a
te

o
n

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

fr
o

m
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

[i
n
d
ic

a
te

w
h
e
th

e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
o
r

n
e
w

]
U

p
d

a
te

CC
oo
nn
ss
tt rr

aa
ii nn

tt
oo

nn
bb

uu
dd
gg

ee
tt
pp
rr ee

vv
ee

nn
tt ii
nn

gg
tt hh

ee
pp
rr oo

gg
rr aa

mm
mm

ee
bb
ee
ii nn

gg
ii mm

pp
ll ee

mm
ee
nn
tt ee

dd
ii nn

ff uu
ll ll

B
u
d

g
e
t

p
ro

v
is

io
n

a
v
a

ila
b

le
fo

r
a

p
h

a
s
e
d

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.

L
o
s
s

o
f

k
e

y
s
ta

ff
C

h
ie

f
B

u
ild

in
g

S
u
rv

e
y
o
r

a
p

p
o
in

tm
e
n
t
c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

a
n
d

w
ill

jo
in

s
ta

ff
o
n

2
n
d

J
u

n
e

2
0
0
8

.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
2

166



C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
h

e
m

e
6
:

Im
p

ro
v
e

o
u

tc
o

m
e

s
fo

r
c
h

ild
re

n
a

n
d

y
o

u
n

g
p

e
o
p

le

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
6

.5
W

o
rk

w
it

h
s
c
h

o
o

ls
a
n

d
o

th
e
r

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

to
e
n

s
u

re
th

a
t

1
4

s
c
h

o
o

ls
o

ff
e
r

a
fu

ll
ra

n
g

e
o

f
e
x
te

n
d

e
d

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

a
n

d
6

c
h

il
d

re
n

’s
c
e
n

tr
e
s

a
re

e
s
ta

b
li
s
h

e
d

w
it

h
in

th
e

B
o

ro
u

g
h

T
o

p
ro

v
id

e
a

b
u
ild

in
g

s
e
rv

ic
e

to
th

e
D

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t

o
f

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
,

C
h
ild

re
n
’s

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

&
L
ib

ra
ri
e
s

to
m

e
e
t
th

e
ir

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
to

d
e
v
e
lo

p
s
c
h
o
o
ls

a
n
d

c
h
ild

re
n
’s

c
e
n
tr

e
s

H
C

P

W
o
rk

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
o
n

a
ll

s
c
h
e
m

e
s
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
6

.7
Im

p
ro

v
e

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

ta
l
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
in

s
c
h

o
o

ls
,
in

p
a
rt

ic
u

la
r

to
im

p
ro

v
e

e
n

e
rg

y
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
in

s
c
h

o
o

ls

P
re

p
a
re

a
n
d

c
ir
c
u
la

te
S

c
h
o
o
l
E

n
e
rg

y
a
n
d

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l
P

la
n
s

a
n
d

p
ro

v
id

e
a
d
v
ic

e
o
n

th
e
s
e

a
re

a
s

w
h
e
n

re
q

u
ir
e
d
.

H
C

P
C

o
m

p
le

te
d
.

U
p

d
a
te

o
n

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

fr
o

m
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

[i
n
d
ic

a
te

w
h
e
th

e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
o
r

n
e
w

]
U

p
d

a
te

L
o
s
s

o
f

k
e

y
s
ta

ff
C

h
ie

f
B

u
ild

in
g

S
u
rv

e
y
o
r

a
p

p
o
in

tm
e
n
t
c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

a
n
d

w
ill

jo
in

s
ta

ff
o
n

2
n
d

J
u

n
e

2
0
0
8

.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
3

167



C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
h

e
m

e
8
:

Im
p

ro
v
e

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

fo
r

v
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
a
d

u
lt
s

a
n
d

o
ld

e
r

p
e
o

p
le

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
8

.1
6

F
in

a
li
s
e

a
n

d
b

e
g

in
im

p
le

m
e
n

ta
ti

o
n

o
f

a
c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
C

o
u

n
c
il

-w
id

e
s
tr

a
te

g
y

fo
r

o
ld

e
r

p
e
o

p
le

a
)

S
u
p
p
o
rt

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
w

o
rk

in
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f

S
tr

a
te

g
y

fo
r

O
ld

e
r

P
e
o
p
le

H
O

S
D

e
la

y
in

p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n

o
f

s
tr

a
te

g
y

d
u
e

to
lo

s
s

o
f
s
ta

ff
in

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

’s
O

ff
ic

e
.

D
ra

ft
s
tr

a
te

g
y

to
b
e

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d

in
A

u
tu

m
n

2
0
0
8
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

p
ro

v
id

e
d

a
s

re
q

u
ir
e
d

fr
o
m

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
.

b
)

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

in
th

e
T

ra
in

in
g

N
e
e
d
s

A
n
a
ly

s
is

fo
r

s
ta

ff
a
n
d

d
e
liv

e
r

th
e

le
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

re
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

B
H

R
M

A
n
a
ly

s
is

b
e
in

g
u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

a
s

p
a
rt

o
f

th
e

g
e
n
e
ra

l
T

N
A

fo
r

S
o
c
ia

l
C

a
re

S
ta

ff
.

U
p

d
a
te

o
n

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

fr
o

m
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

(S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
]

U
p

d
a
te

E
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

e
n

g
a

g
e
m

e
n
t
w

it
h

s
ta

ff
a
n
d

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs

to
e
n
s
u

re
th

e
T

ra
in

in
g

N
e
e

d
s

A
n
a

ly
s
is

is
a
c
c
u
ra

te
,
re

le
v
a

n
t
a
n

d
a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

R
e
g
u

la
r

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n

w
it
h

a
ll

p
a
rt

ie
s
,
p
la

n
o
n

tr
a
c
k

fo
r

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
,

n
o

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t
ri
s
k
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
4

168



C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
h

e
m

e
9

:
C

re
a

te
a
n

d
m

a
in

ta
in

a
q
u

a
lit

y
e

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t
K

e
y

A
c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
9

.3
In

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
p
la

n
s

fo
r

c
o
m

b
in

e
d

h
e
a
t
a
n
d

p
o
w

e
r

in
th

e
d
e
s
ig

n
s

fo
r

th
e

n
e
w

C
iv

ic
H

u
b

H
C

P
C

o
m

p
le

te
.

E
n
e
rg

y
M

a
n
a
g

e
r

to
a
s
s
is

t
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts

b
y

p
ro

v
id

in
g

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

to
e
n
a
b
le

b
ri
e
f

to
b
e

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
.

H
C

P
C

o
m

p
le

te
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
9

.4
D

e
v
e
lo

p
a

c
li
m

a
te

c
h

a
n

g
e

a
c
ti

o
n

p
la

n
to

m
e
e
t

th
e

C
o

u
n

c
il

’s
o

b
li
g

a
ti

o
n

s
u

n
d

e
r

th
e

‘N
o

tt
in

g
h

a
m

D
e
c
la

ra
ti

o
n

’
a
n

d
in

p
a
rt

ic
u

la
r

to
a
)

u
n

d
e
rt

a
k
e

a
n

e
n

e
rg

y
e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

a
u

d
it

c
)

re
d

u
c
e

e
n

e
rg

y
c
o

n
s
u

m
p

ti
o

n
a
n

d
c
a
rb

o
n

e
m

is
s
io

n
s

in
C

o
u

n
c
il

b
u

il
d

in
g

s
W

o
rk

w
it
h

th
e

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t

o
f

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t

&
L
e
is

u
re

to
d
e
v
e
lo

p
c
lim

a
te

c
h
a
n
g

e
a
c
ti
o
n

p
la

n
b
y

p
ro

v
id

in
g

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

o
n

e
n
e
rg

y
c
o
n
s
u
m

p
ti
o
n

a
n
d

s
u
g
g

e
s
te

d
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
fo

r
re

d
u
c
ti
o
n
.

H
C

P

E
n
e
rg

y
M

a
n
a
g

e
r

to
tr

a
n
s
fe

r
to

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t
-

A
p
ri
l
2
0
0
8
.

O
th

e
r

s
u
p
p
o
rt

o
n

a
c
ti
o
n

p
la

n
h
a
s

b
e
e
n

p
ro

v
id

e
d
.

U
p

d
a
te

o
n

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

fr
o

m
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

[i
n
d
ic

a
te

w
h
e
th

e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
o
r

n
e
w

]
U

p
d

a
te

T
o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o

n
n
o
t

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
P

la
n
s

in
p

la
c
e

to
p
ro

g
re

s
s

re
g
e
n

e
ra

ti
o
n
.

C
iv

ic
C

e
n
tr

e
p

la
n
s

n
o
t

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
P

la
n
s

in
p

la
c
e

to
p
ro

g
re

s
s

C
iv

ic
C

e
n
tr

e
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
5

169



C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
h

e
m

e
1

1
:

Im
p

ro
v
e

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
,

e
ff
e

c
ti
v
e

n
e

s
s

a
n
d

a
c
c
e

s
s

to
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.1

R
e
v
ie

w
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il
’s

m
e
d

iu
m

te
rm

fi
n

a
n

c
ia

l
s
tr

a
te

g
y

in
th

e
li

g
h

t
o

f
th

e
h

o
u

s
in

g
s
to

c
k

tr
a
n

s
fe

r
b

a
ll
o

t
M

o
n

it
o
r,

u
p
d
a
te

a
n
d

d
e
liv

e
r

th
e

m
e
d
iu

m
te

rm
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
p
la

n
w

it
h

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r
e
m

p
h
a
s
is

o
n

th
e

d
e
liv

e
ry

o
f

th
e

2
0
0
7
/0

8
b
u
d
g

e
t
a
n
d

p
re

p
a
ra

ti
o
n
s

fo
r

th
e

2
0
0
8
/0

9
b
u
d
g

e
t

H
o
F

T
h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
b
u
d
g

e
t

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

fo
r

2
0
0
8
/0

9
h
a
v
e

n
o

w
b
e
e
n

a
g
re

e
d

b
y

fu
ll

C
o
u
n
c
il.

T
h
e

la
te

s
t

b
u
d
g

e
t

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

re
p
o
rt

p
ro

je
c
ts

a
n

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d

o
f

£
6
5
9
,0

0
0

in
2
0
0
7
/0

8
.

T
h
is

is
a

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

o
n

th
e

p
o
s
it
io

n
b
e
in

g
re

p
o
rt

e
d

a
t

th
is

ti
m

e
la

s
t

y
e
a
r

a
n
d

in
d
ic

a
te

s
th

a
t

m
a
n
y

o
f

th
e

o
v
e
rs

p
e
n
d
s

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d

in
2
0
0
6
/0

7
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

la
rg

e
ly

a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d

e
it
h
e
r

th
ro

u
g

h
th

e
b
u
d
g

e
t

b
u
ild

p
ro

c
e
s
s

2
0
0
7
/0

8
o
r

c
h
a
n
g

e
s

to
s
e
rv

ic
e

p
ro

v
is

io
n
.

It
s
h
o
u
ld

,
h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

b
e

n
o
te

d
th

a
t

m
u
c
h

o
f

th
e

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d

in
2
0
0
7
/0

8
a
ri
s
e
s

fr
o
m

o
n
e

o
ff

s
a
v
in

g
s

w
h
ic

h
m

a
y

n
o
t

b
e

re
p
e
a
te

d
in

fu
tu

re
y
e
a
rs

.
S

u
p
p
o
rt

tr
a
n
s
it
io

n
to

a
n
e
w

e
x
te

rn
a
l
a
u
d
it
o
r

H
o
F

W
o
rk

in
g

a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

h
a
v
e

n
o
w

b
e
e
n

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

lly
.

D
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
s

c
o
n
c
e
rn

in
g

th
e

a
u
d
it

p
la

n
,
re

p
o
rt

in
g

a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

a
n
d

th
e

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

a
u
d
it

fe
e

a
re

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
6

170



K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.2

In
c
re

a
s
e

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

th
ro

u
g

h
d

e
li
v
e
ry

o
f

fu
rt

h
e
r

p
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t
s
a
v
in

g
s

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

to
a
c
h
ie

v
e

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t
s
a
v
in

g
s

e
.g

.
H

o
m

e
to

S
c
h
o
o
l
tr

a
n
s
p
o
rt

,
ta

x
is

,
b
a
n
k
in

g
,
in

s
u
ra

n
c
e
,

b
u
ild

in
g

c
le

a
n
in

g
.

H
o
F

H
o
m

e
to

S
c
h
o
o
l
tr

a
n
s
p
o
rt

,
ta

x
i,

b
u
ild

in
g

c
le

a
n
in

g
,
b
a
n
k
in

g
a
n
d

in
s
u
ra

n
c
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
.

A
s

le
a
d

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

,
p
ro

v
id

e
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
s
u
p
p
o
rt

to
th

e
B

e
rk

s
h
ir
e

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

a
n
d

th
e

B
e
rk

s
h
ir
e

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

a
n
d

S
h
a
re

d
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

U
n
it

H
o
F

S
u
p
p
o
rt

o
n
g
o
in

g
,

in
c
lu

d
in

g
p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
th

e
n
e
w

ly
fo

rm
e
d

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

C
h
a
m

p
io

n
s

G
ro

u
p

to
o
v
e
rs

e
e

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
.

E
x
te

n
d

th
e

re
m

it
o
f
th

e
In

te
g

ra
te

d
T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

U
n
it

to
in

c
lu

d
e

S
o
c
ia

l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt

H
o
F

A
tr

ia
l
p
ro

je
c
t
w

it
h

S
o
c
ia

l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

w
ill

c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e

in
A

p
ri
l.

F
u
rt

h
e
r

in
te

g
ra

ti
o
n

d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t

u
p
o
n

th
e

o
u
tc

o
m

e
o
f

th
e

tr
ia

l
a
n
d

fu
tu

re
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

in
s
e
rv

ic
e

p
ro

v
is

io
n

w
it
h
in

S
o
c
ia

l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
7

171



K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.3

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il
’s

R
is

k
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
S

tr
a
te

g
y

a
n

d
B

u
s
in

e
s
s

C
o

n
ti

n
u

it
y

P
la

n
D

e
v
e
lo

p
a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
t
a

ri
s
k

m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t
tr

a
in

in
g

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r
M

e
m

b
e
rs

a
n
d

o
ff

ic
e
rs

H
o
F

Im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

s
lo

w
e
r

th
a
n

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
fo

llo
w

in
g

in
a
b
ili

ty
to

re
c
ru

it
a

s
u
it
a
b
le

c
a
n
d
id

a
te

fo
r

th
e

p
o
s
t
o
f

H
e
a
d

o
f
A

u
d
it

a
n
d

R
is

k
M

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t.

A
n

a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t
h
a
s

n
o
w

b
e
e
n

m
a
d
e

a
n
d

g
o
o
d

p
ro

g
re

s
s

is
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
in

th
e

fo
rt

h
c
o
m

in
g

m
o
n
th

s
.

A
n

in
it
ia

l
b
ri
e
fi
n
g

s
e
s
s
io

n
h
a
s

n
o
w

ta
k
e
n

p
la

c
e

fo
r

m
e
m

b
e
rs

a
n
d

s
e
n
io

r
o
ff

ic
e
rs

.
R

e
fr

e
s
h

th
e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
R

is
k

R
e
g

is
te

r
H

o
F

A
re

fr
e
s
h
e
d

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
R

is
k

R
e
g

is
te

r
is

n
o
w

in
p
la

c
e
.

T
h
is

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

w
it
h

a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e

fr
o
m

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
fo

rm
e
r

in
s
u
re

rs
,
Z

u
ri
c
h

M
u
n
ic

ip
a
l,

a
n
d

is
b
e
in

g
u
s
e
d

to
in

fo
rm

b
o
th

fu
tu

re
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
s
,
th

e
b
u
d
g

e
t
p
ro

c
e
s
s

a
n
d

o
th

e
r

k
e
y

d
e
c
is

io
n
s
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
8

172



K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.4

C
o

m
p

le
te

a
re

v
ie

w
o

f
th

e
jo

in
t

a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
e
s
ta

b
li
s
h

e
d

b
e
tw

e
e
n

B
e
rk

s
h

ir
e

U
n

it
a
ry

A
u

th
o

ri
ti

e
s

e
s
ta

b
li

s
h

e
d

o
n

L
o

c
a
l
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n

t
R

e
o

rg
a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

J
o
in

t
A

rr
a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

to
b
e

re
v
ie

w
e
d

b
y

B
F

B
C

in
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

w
it
h

o
th

e
r

B
e
rk

s
h
ir
e

U
n
it
a
ry

A
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s

B
S

o
l/
H

o
F

A
s
c
h
e
d
u
le

o
f

J
o
in

t
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

a
n
d

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
p
ro

v
is

io
n
s

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

p
re

p
a
re

d
a
n
d

d
is

c
u
s
s
e
d

a
t
th

e
B

e
rk

s
h
ir
e

F
in

a
n
c
e

O
ff

ic
e
rs

G
ro

u
p
.

N
o

c
h
a
n
g

e
s

to
th

e
e
x
is

ti
n
g

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

a
g

re
e
d

a
t
th

is
s
ta

g
e
.

H
o
f

P
re

s
s
u
re

o
f

w
o
rk

w
it
h
in

th
e

L
e
g

a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

S
e
c
ti
o
n

h
a
s

d
ic

ta
te

d
th

a
t
th

e
re

v
ie

w
is

u
n
lik

e
ly

to
b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

in
th

is
M

u
n

ic
ip

a
l
Y

e
a
r,

a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
m

o
s
t

o
f
th

e
m

a
jo

r
jo

in
t

a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

re
v
ie

w
e
d

a
n
d

re
v
is

e
d

a
g

re
e
m

e
n
ts

a
re

b
e
in

g
p
u
t

in
p
la

c
e

fo
r

s
o
m

e
o
f
th

e
a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

.
B

S
o
l

A
m

e
n
d
m

e
n
ts

to
J
o
in

t
A

rr
a
n
g

e
m

e
n
t
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

B
S

o
l

A
m

e
n
d
e
d

A
g

re
e
m

e
n
ts

fo
r

s
o
m

e
o
f
th

e
J
o
in

t
A

rr
a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

p
u
t

in
p
la

c
e
.

P
re

s
s
u
re

o
f

w
o
rk

w
it
h
in

th
e

L
e
g

a
l

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

S
e
c
ti
o
n

h
a
s

m
e
a
n
t
th

a
t
n
o
t
a
ll

A
g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

w
ill

b
e

a
m

e
n
d
e
d

th
is

M
u
n
ic

ip
a
l
Y

e
a
r.

C
o
m

p
le

te
a

re
v
ie

w
o
f

th
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
a
s
p
e
c
ts

o
f

B
e
rk

s
h
ir
e

jo
in

t
a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

/s
h
a
re

d
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

H
o
F

/B
S

o
l

A
s
c
h
e
d
u
le

o
f

J
o
in

t
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

a
n
d

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
p
ro

v
is

io
n
s

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

p
re

p
a
re

d
a
n
d

d
is

c
u
s
s
e
d

a
t
th

e
B

e
rk

s
h
ir
e

F
in

a
n
c
e

O
ff

ic
e
rs

G
ro

u
p
.

N
o

c
h
a
n
g

e
s

to
th

e
e
x
is

ti
n
g

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

a
g

re
e
d

a
t
th

is
s
ta

g
e
.

H
o
f

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.5

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t
a

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r
th

e
d

is
p

o
s
a
l
o

f
a
n

y
s
u

rp
lu

s
a
s
s
e
ts

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
2
9

173



W
o
rk

w
it
h

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
o
f

S
S

&
H

to
d
e
v
e
lo

p
p
ro

p
e
rt

y
s
tr

a
te

g
y

to
re

d
u
c
e

re
v
e
n
u
e

o
u
tg

o
in

g
s

a
s

w
e
ll

a
s

ra
is

e
c
a
p
it
a
l
fo

r
in

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t

in
im

p
ro

v
e
d

s
e
rv

ic
e

p
ro

v
is

io
n

fo
r

a
d
u
lt
s

w
it
h

le
a
rn

in
g

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
C

o
rp

P
ro

p
e
rt

y

P
ro

v
id

in
g

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
a
d
v
ic

e
w

h
e
n

re
q

u
ir
e
d

to
S

o
c
ia

l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

a
s

th
e
y

d
e
v
e
lo

p
o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l
p
la

n
s
.

D
is

p
o
s
a
l
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
to

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e

w
h
e
n

S
P

A
m

it
ig

a
ti
o
n

m
e
a
s
u
re

rs
a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

C
o
rp

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
W

o
rk

s
ta

rt
e
d

o
n

2
0
0
8
/0

9
d
is

p
o
s
a
ls

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.

K
e
y

A
c
ti
o
n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1
1
.6

D
e
v
e
lo

p
a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
t

in
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
a
n
d

s
u
p
p
o
rt

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

to
d
e
liv

e
r

m
o
b
ile

a
n
d

fl
e
x
ib

le
w

o
rk

in
g

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
.

T
h
is

w
ill

s
u
p
p
o
rt

w
o
rk

s
ty

le
s

b
e
in

g
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d

to
s
u
p
p
o
rt

th
e

C
iv

ic
H

u
b

e
tc

.
C

IO
/B

H
R

M

In
th

is
la

s
t
q

u
a
rt

e
r

o
f

th
e

y
e
a
r

a
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
s

h
a
v
e

b
e
g

u
n

to
s
e
t
th

e
s
c
e
n
e

fo
r

fu
tu

re
w

o
rk

.
A

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f
te

a
m

s
a
lr
e
a
d
y

e
n
g

a
g

e
d

in
m

o
b
ile

o
r

fl
e
x
ib

le
w

o
rk

in
g

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
s

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

w
o
rk

in
g

w
it
h

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts

fr
o
m

N
o
m

a
d
,
th

e
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l

m
o
b
ile

w
o
rk

in
g

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
,
to

d
e
v
e
lo

p
a

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e

th
a
t
w

ill
b
e

g
o
in

g
to

a
ll

o
ff

ic
e

b
a
s
e
d

s
ta

ff
in

M
a
y
.

A
s

p
a
rt

o
f

th
e

o
v
e
ra

ll
a
p
p
ro

a
c
h

to
e
n
s
u
re

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

h
a
s

a
n

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

h
ig

h
le

v
e
l

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

s
y
s
te

m
in

p
la

c
e
,
th

e
y

a
re

a
ls

o
d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
a

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

to
a
s
s
e
s
s

th
e

re
s
u
lt
s

a
n
d

d
e
v
e
lo

p
a

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
a
n
d

c
o
n
s
is

te
n
t
a
p
p
ro

a
c
h

to
m

o
b
ile

a
n
d

fl
e
x
ib

le
w

o
rk

in
g
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.7

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t
th

e
n

e
x
t

p
h

a
s
e

o
f

th
e

C
u

s
to

m
e
r

C
o

n
ta

c
t

S
tr

a
te

g
y

a
n

d
s
ta

g
e

2
o

f
th

e
C

u
s
to

m
e
r

R
e
la

ti
o

n
s
h

ip
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
(C

R
M

)
fr

o
n

tl
in

e
s
y
s
te

m
d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
c
o

v
e
ri

n
g

im
p

ro
v
e
d

te
le

p
h

o
n

y
,

c
u

s
to

m
e
r

s
e
lf

-s
e
rv

ic
e

a
n

d
ro

ll
o

u
t

to
o

th
e
r

re
c
e
p

ti
o

n
s

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t
th

e
C

R
M

w
o
rk

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r
2
0
0
7

H
C

S
W

o
rk

o
n

th
e

C
R

M
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
is

o
n
g

o
in

g
.

K
e
y

ta
s
k
s

in
c
lu

d
e
:
th

e
im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

o
f
tr

e
e
s

re
la

te
d

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s

in
m

id
-N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r

0
7
;
a
n
d

a
s
y
s
te

m
u
p
g

ra
d
e

w
a
s

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

in

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
0

174



D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r

0
7

–
th

e
fi
rs

t
s
in

c
e

g
o
in

g
liv

e
1
2

m
o
n
th

s
a
g

o
.

T
e
n
d
e
rs

fo
r

th
e

c
o
m

p
u
te

r
te

le
p
h
o
n
y

in
te

g
ra

ti
o
n

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

a
n
a
ly

s
e
d

a
g

a
in

s
t
th

e
s
p
e
c
if
ic

a
ti
o
n

o
f

re
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

a
n
d

a
s
u
it
a
b
le

s
y
s
te

m
c
o
u
ld

n
o
t

b
e

fo
u
n
d
.

A
re

v
ie

w
o
f

te
le

p
h
o
n
y

re
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

is
in

p
ro

g
re

s
s
.

T
h
e

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f
c
u
s
to

m
e
r

s
e
lf
-s

e
rv

ic
e

is
a
ls

o
w

o
rk

in
p
ro

g
re

s
s
.

P
ro

d
u
c
e

a
C

R
M

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r
2
0
0
7

–
2
0
1
0

H
C

S
T

h
e

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

o
f
th

e
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
C

R
M

s
y
s
te

m
is

lin
k
e
d

w
it
h

th
e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
C

u
s
to

m
e
r

C
o
n
ta

c
t
S

tr
a
te

g
y

w
h
ic

h
w

a
s

e
n
d
o
rs

e
d

a
t

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

o
n

2
0

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r

0
7
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.8

D
e
v
e
lo

p
,

c
o
n
s
u
lt

o
n

a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
t
fi
v
e

y
e
a
r

IC
T

S
tr

a
te

g
y

a
n
d

in
p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r
to

in
c
re

a
s
e

th
e

o
n
lin

e
tr

a
n
s
a
c
ti
o
n

c
a
p
a
b
ili

ty
o
f

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
w

e
b
s
it
e

in
c
lu

d
in

g
e
x
te

n
s
io

n
o
f

th
e

o
n
lin

e
p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

fa
c
ili

ty
C

IO

T
h
e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
IC

T
S

tr
a
te

g
y

w
a
s

a
g
re

e
d

b
y

th
e

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

in
J
u
ly

2
0
0
7
.

A
m

o
re

d
e
ta

ile
d

w
o
rk

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
h
a
s

b
e
e
n

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d

a
n
d

s
o
m

e
p
ro

je
c
ts

a
re

a
lr
e
a
d
y

in
h
a
n
d
,

s
p
e
c
if
ic

a
lly

th
o
s
e

re
la

ti
n
g

to
th

e
n
e
w

C
iv

ic
C

e
n
tr

e
.

A
n

a
n
n
u
a
l
re

v
ie

w
o
f

th
e

s
tr

a
te

g
y

w
ill

b
e

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

in
th

e
s
e
c
o
n
d

q
u
a
rt

e
r

o
f

n
e
x
t

y
e
a
r

a
n
d

th
e

o
u
tc

o
m

e
u
s
e
d

to
in

fo
rm

th
e

IC
T

c
a
p
it
a
l
b
id

d
in

g
p
ro

c
e
s
s

in
th

e
a
u
tu

m
n
.

In
c
re

a
s
e

u
s
e

o
f

th
e

o
n
lin

e
p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

fa
c
ili

ty
H

C
S

In
2
0
0
7
/8

,
th

e
re

w
e
re

3
0
,2

9
5

o
n
lin

e
p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

w
it
h

a
to

ta
l

v
a
lu

e
o
f

£
4
.3

m
(i
n

2
0
0
6
/7

th
e
re

w
e
re

2
6
,2

5
1

o
n
lin

e
p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

w
it
h

a
to

ta
l
v
a
lu

e
o
f

£
3
.6

m
).

T
h
e

n
e
w

a
u
to

m
a
te

d
s
p
e
e
c
h

re
c
o
g

n
it
io

n
te

le
p
h
o
n
e

p
a
y
m

e
n
t

s
e
rv

ic
e

fo
r

c
o
u
n
c
il

ta
x

p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

,
a
v
a
ila

b
le

a
ll

d
a

y
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
,

w
e
n
t

liv
e

o
n

2
8

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

0
7
.

In
2
0
0
7
/8

th
e
re

w
e
re

2
,2

2
2

p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

o
f

c
o
u
n
c
il

ta
x

w
it
h

a
to

ta
l
v
a
lu

e
o
f

£
3
3
5
k
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
1

175



K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.9

A
d
m

in
is

te
r

th
e

B
o
ro

u
g

h
/P

a
ri
s
h

C
o
u
n
c
il

e
le

c
ti
o
n
s

in
a
c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e

w
it
h

le
g

is
la

ti
o
n

in
c
lu

d
in

g
th

e
E

le
c
to

ra
l
A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

A
c
t
2
0
0
6

H
D

R
S

2
0
0
7

E
le

c
ti
o
n
s

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

lly
.

M
in

i
c
a
n
v
a
s
s

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

in
M

a
rc

h
re

s
u
lt
e
d

in
a

n
e
t
g

a
in

o
f

4
4
6

e
le

c
to

rs
a
n
d

a
s

a
re

s
u
lt

th
e
re

w
a
s

v
e
ry

lit
tl
e

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k

o
n

e
le

c
ti
o
n

d
a
y

o
r

in
th

e
ru

n
-u

p
,
o
n

d
is

c
re

p
a
n
c
ie

s
o
n

th
e

re
g

is
te

r.
T

u
rn

o
u
t
a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

B
o
ro

u
g

h
w

a
s

3
4
%

.

5
0

p
o
lli

n
g

s
ta

ti
o
n
s

a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

B
o
ro

u
g

h
w

e
re

e
q

u
ip

p
e
d

a
n
d

fu
lly

s
ta

ff
e
d
.

N
o
m

in
a
ti
o
n

p
a
p
e
rs

fo
r

2
5
0

c
a
n
d
id

a
te

s
(1

0
7

fo
r

th
e

B
o
ro

u
g

h
)

w
e
re

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
d

a
n
d

1
0
,4

4
9

p
o
s
ta

l
v
o
te

s
w

e
re

is
s
u
e
d

fo
r

a
ll

e
le

c
ti
o
n
s
.

P
o
s
ta

l
v
o
te

o
p
e
n
in

g
w

a
s

m
a
n
a
g

e
d

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

lly
o
v
e
r

5
d
a
y
s
,

in
a
c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e

w
it
h

th
e

n
e
w

le
g

is
la

ti
o
n

th
a
t
re

q
u
ir
e
d

th
e

c
a
p
tu

ri
n
g

a
n
d

s
c
a
n
n
in

g
o
f

p
e
rs

o
n
a
l
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
rs

.
A

s
a

re
s
u
lt

th
e

c
o
u
n
t
w

a
s

h
e
ld

o
n

th
e

F
ri
d
a
y

fo
r

th
e

fi
rs

t
ti
m

e
.

T
h
e

B
u
llb

ro
o
k

T
o
w

n
C

o
u
n
c
il

e
le

c
ti
o
n

w
a
s

c
o
u
n
te

rm
a
n
d
e
d

d
u
e

to
th

e
d
e
a
th

o
f

o
n
e

o
f
th

e
c
a
n
d
id

a
te

s
a
n
d

w
a
s

th
e
n

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

lly
d
e
liv

e
re

d
o
n

1
4

J
u
n
e
.

G
iv

e
n

p
ro

b
le

m
s

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d

w
it
h

p
ri
n
ti
n
g

o
f

b
a
llo

t
p
a
p
e
rs

a
n
d

p
o
s
ta

l
v
o
te

fo
rm

s
,
w

e
te

s
te

d
in

h
o
u
s
e

p
ri
n
ti
n
g

w
h
ic

h
w

a
s

v
e
ry

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l
a
lb

e
it

o
n

a
m

u
c
h

s
m

a
lle

r
s
c
a
le

.

F
o
llo

w
in

g
th

e
d
e
a
th

o
f

a
B

u
llb

ro
o
k

T
o
w

n
C

o
u
n
c
ill

o
r,

a
b
y
-

e
le

c
ti
o
n

w
a
s

h
e
ld

o
n

7
F

e
b
ru

a
ry

.
In

a
d
d
it
io

n
to

a
ll

p
o
s
ta

l
v
o
te

s
ta

ti
o
n
a
ry

,
p
o
ll

c
a
rd

s
w

e
re

a
ls

o
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

lly
p
ri
n
te

d
in

-h
o
u
s
e
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
2

176



P
re

p
a
re

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
ly

fo
r,

a
n
d

d
e
liv

e
r

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

lly
th

e
2
0
0
7

S
e
e

a
b
o
v
e
.

B
o
ro

u
g

h
/P

a
ri
s
h

C
o
u
n
c
il

e
le

c
ti
o
n
s
;

e
n
s
u
ri
n
g

a
d
e
q
u
a
te

le
v
e
ls

o
f

s
ta

ff
;
m

a
n
a
g

in
g

th
e

p
o
s
ta

l
v
o
te

o
p
e
n
in

g
s
e
s
s
io

n
s

a
n
d

m
a
in

ta
in

in
g

th
e

in
te

g
ri
ty

o
f

th
e

d
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c

p
ro

c
e
s
s

H
D

R
S

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
3

177



K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.1

0
Im

p
le

m
e
n

t
th

e
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s

o
f

th
e

C
o

u
n

c
il
-w

id
e

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

re
v
ie

w
a
n

d
th

e
S

u
p

p
o

rt
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

R
e
v
ie

w
Im

p
le

m
e
n
t
o
u
tc

o
m

e
s

o
f
S

u
p
p
o
rt

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

R
e
v
ie

w
in

a
c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e

w
it
h

a
g
re

e
d

a
c
ti
o
n

p
la

n
D

C
S

/H
O

S
O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
.

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t
a
g

re
e
d

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
o
f

w
o
rk

s
fo

r
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

fr
o
m

C
o
u
n
c
il-

w
id

e
e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

re
v
ie

w
D

C
S

/H
O

S
W

o
rk

is
u
n
d
e
rw

a
y

o
n

th
o
s
e

a
re

a
s

a
g

re
e
d

to
p
ro

g
re

s
s
.

O
th

e
r

w
o
rk

s
tr

e
a
m

s
a
w

a
it

a
g

re
e
m

e
n
t.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

o
f
C

o
u
n
c
il

to
im

p
le

m
e
n
t
a
g

re
e
d

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s

o
f

w
o
rk

s
fr

o
m

C
o
u
n
c
il-

w
id

e
e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

re
v
ie

w
B

T
/H

O
S

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
p
re

p
a
re

d
a
n
d

s
u
p
p
o
rt

b
e
in

g
p
ro

v
id

e
d

fo
r

s
o
m

e
o
f

th
e

in
it
ia

l
p
ro

je
c
ts

.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.1

3
Im

p
le

m
e
n
t
th

e
P

a
y

a
n
d

W
o
rk

fo
rc

e
S

tr
a
te

g
y

to
a
)

d
e
v
e
lo

p
im

p
ro

v
e
d

b
a
s
ic

s
k
ill

s
fo

r
w

o
rk

e
rs

to
e
n
h
a
n
c
e

c
a
re

e
r

p
ro

s
p
e
c
ts

w
it
h
in

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

b
)

d
e
v
e
lo

p
b
e
tt

e
r

le
a
d
e
rs

h
ip

a
n
d

m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t
s
k
ill

s
w

it
h
in

th
e

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
to

im
p
ro

v
e

m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t
c
o
m

p
e
te

n
c
e

c
)

d
e
v
e
lo

p
c
le

a
r,

v
ia

b
le

g
ro

w
y
o
u
r

o
w

n
ro

u
te

s
fo

r
a

ra
n
g

e
o
f
p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l
a
re

a
s

w
it
h
in

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

B
H

R
M

P
a
y

a
n
d

W
o
rk

fo
rc

e
S

tr
a
te

g
y

a
g

re
e
d

a
n
d

a
c
ti
o
n
s

p
o
in

ts
b
e
in

g
im

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
;

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r
e
m

p
h
a
s
is

o
n

W
o
rk

fo
rc

e
P

la
n
n
in

g
.

S
u
b
m

it
v
e
rs

io
n

3
o
f

th
e

P
a
y

a
n
d

W
o
rk

fo
rc

e
S

tr
a
te

g
y

to
E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
fo

r
e
n
d
o
rs

e
m

e
n
t
w

h
ic

h
w

ill
in

c
lu

d
e

a
re

v
is

e
d

A
c
ti
o
n

P
la

n
to

m
e
e
t
th

e
re

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

o
f

th
e

K
e
y

A
c
ti
o
n
s

B
H

R
M

V
e
rs

io
n

3
a
g
re

e
d

b
y

E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
J
u
n
e

2
0
0
4
.

E
n
s
u
re

1
0
0
%

s
ta

ff
a
p
p
ra

is
a
l
re

tu
rn

(e
x
c
e
p
t
fo

r
lo

n
g

te
rm

s
ic

k
n
e
s
s
)

A
ll

L
a
s
t

y
e
a
r

a
ll

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
IC

T
s
ta

ff
w

e
re

a
p
p
ra

is
e
d

a
n
d

re
v
ie

w
e
d

u
s
in

g
th

e
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
a
p
p
ra

is
a
l
s
c
h
e
m

e
.

In
th

e
c
o
m

in
g

y
e
a
r

a
s

o
u
tl
in

e
d

in
th

e
IC

T
S

tr
a
te

g
y

w
e

w
ill

b
e

lo
o
k
in

g
to

a
d
o
p
t

a
n

in
d
u
s
tr

y
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

c
o
m

p
e
te

n
c
y

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

,
S

F
IA

(S
k
ill

s

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
4

178



F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

F
o
r

th
e

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

A
g

e
)

a
n
d

a
s
s
e
s
s
in

g
C

P
D

(C
o
n
ti
n
u
a
l
P

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a
l
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t)

s
c
h
e
m

e
s
.

C
o
n
s
id

e
r

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
re

s
p
o
n
s
e

to
th

e
M

o
d
e
rn

is
a
ti
o
n

A
g

e
n
d
a

fo
r

th
e

R
e
g

is
tr

a
ti
o
n

S
e
rv

ic
e

H
D

R
S

P
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

fo
r

e
x
te

n
d
in

g
th

e
h
o
u
rs

o
f

th
e

s
e
rv

ic
e

a
re

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

s
u
b
je

c
t
to

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

w
it
h

s
ta

ff
.

D
e
liv

e
r

th
e

a
g
re

e
d

M
e
m

b
e
r

In
d
u
c
ti
o
n

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
a
n
d
/o

r
ro

lli
n
g

4
y
e
a
r

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
to

e
n
s
u
re

M
e
m

b
e
r

le
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

n
e
e
d
s

a
re

m
e
t

H
D

R
S

In
it
ia

l
M

e
m

b
e
r

in
d
u
c
ti
o
n

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
is

n
o
w

c
o
m

p
le

te
a
n
d

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

e
v
a
lu

a
te

d
.

T
h
e

M
e
m

b
e
r

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

C
h
a
rt

e
r

S
te

e
ri
n
g

g
ro

u
p

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
th

e
L
&

D
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r
th

e
n
e
x
t

3
y
e
a
rs

a
t

it
s

m
e
e
ti
n
g

in
N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.1

4
Im

p
le

m
e
n
t
H

R
a
n
d

F
in

a
n
c
e

‘s
e
lf
-s

e
rv

ic
e
’
p
ro

v
is

io
n

s
fo

r
s
ta

ff
a
n
d

m
a
n
a
g

e
rs

B
H

R
M

/H
o
F

D
e
c
is

io
n

ta
k
e
n

n
o
t
to

p
ro

c
e
e

d
w

it
h

th
e

‘s
e
lf

s
e
rv

ic
e
’
p
ro

v
is

io
n
s
.

T
h
e

c
o
s
t
o
f

im
p
le

m
e
n
ti
n
g

a
n
d

m
a
in

ta
in

in
g

th
e
s
e

o
u
tw

e
ig

h
e
d

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
tl
y

th
e

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

a
c
h
ie

v
a
b
le

.
Im

p
ro

v
e

a
n
d

u
p
g

ra
d
e

th
e

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
a
lit

y
o
f

Y
o
u
rs

e
lf
.

R
e
v
is

e
th

e
s
ta

ff
in

g
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
o
f

P
a
y
ro

ll/
H

R
S

y
s
te

m
s

A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n

to
c
re

a
te

a
te

a
m

a
b
le

to
d
e
v
e
lo

p
R

E
B

U
S

(Y
o
u
rs

e
lf
)

s
e
lf
-s

e
rv

ic
e

m
o
d
e
l
fo

r
s
ta

ff
a
n
d

m
a
n
a
g

e
rs

B
H

R
M

/H
o
F

T
e
a
m

c
re

a
te

d
.

R
e
v
is

e
d

s
ta

ff
in

g
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
im

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
.

S
te

e
ri
n
g

g
ro

u
p

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d

a
n
d

a
n

in
it
ia

l
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
o
f

w
o
rk

a
g
re

e
d
.
P

ro
je

c
ts

in
c
lu

d
e

th
e

s
e
tt

in
g

u
p

o
f

a
s
e
p
a
ra

te
p
a
y
ro

ll
fo

r
B

ra
c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t
H

o
m

e
s
.

T
h
e

c
e
n
tr

a
lis

a
ti
o
n

o
f

th
e

p
u
n
c
h
in

g
o
f

H
R

d
a
ta

h
a
s

n
o
w

b
e
e
n

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

fo
llo

w
in

g
th

e
re

c
ru

it
m

e
n
t
o
f

a
n

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
to

r.
A

s
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
d

a
b
o
v
e
,

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

to
th

e
fu

n
c
ti
o
n
a
lit

y
o
f

Y
o
u
rs

e
lf

w
ill

n
o
t

n
o
w

b
e

p
u
rs

u
e
d
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
5

179



K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.1

5
Im

p
le

m
e
n
t
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
E

q
u
a
lit

y
s
c
h
e
m

e
s

fo
r

G
e
n
d
e
r

a
n
d

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
D

is
a
b
ili

ty
E

q
u
a
lit

y
S

c
h
e
m

e
n
o
w

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
a
n
d

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

u
n
d
e
rg

o
in

g
a
n
n
u
a
l
re

v
ie

w
.

G
e
n
d
e
r

E
q

u
a
lit

y
S

c
h
e
m

e
A

c
ti
o
n

P
la

n
a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
.

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t
a
c
ti
o
n
s

fo
r

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

in
D

is
a
b
ili

ty
E

q
u
a
lit

y
S

c
h
e
m

e
D

C
S

/H
O

S
P

a
rt

y
e
a
r

re
v
ie

w
o
f

a
c
ti
o
n

p
la

n
u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

a
n
d

s
h
o
w

in
g

g
o
o
d

p
ro

g
re

s
s
.

A
n
n
u
a
l
re

v
ie

w
c
o
m

p
le

te
.

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t
a
c
ti
o
n
s

fo
r

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

in
G

e
n
d
e
r

E
q

u
a
lit

y
S

c
h
e
m

e
D

C
S

/B
H

R
M

A
c
ti
o
n
s

in
c
lu

d
e
d

in
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
s
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.1

6
R

e
v
ie

w
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
R

a
c
e

E
q

u
a
lit

y
S

c
h
e
m

e
D

C
S

/A
C

E
/B

H
R

M
R

E
S

a
g
re

e
d

a
n
d

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d
.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

1
.1

7
A

d
d

re
s
s

is
s
u

e
s

o
f

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

c
o

h
e
s
io

n
b

y
a
)

w
o

rk
in

g
w

it
h

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

to
e
s
ta

b
li

s
h

a
B

la
c
k

&
M

in
o

ri
ty

E
th

n
ic

F
o

ru
m

a
n

d
b

)
u

s
in

g
th

e
F

o
ru

m
to

a
s
s
e
s
s

u
n

m
e
t

n
e
e
d

W
o
rk

w
it
h

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t

V
o
lu

n
ta

ry
A

c
ti
o
n

to
e
s
ta

b
lis

h
B

M
E

F
o
ru

m
D

C
S

/A
C

E
B

M
E

fo
ru

m
in

p
la

c
e

w
it
h

ti
tl
e

o
f

B
ra

c
k
n
e
ll

F
o
re

s
t
M

in
o
ri
ty

A
lli

a
n
c
e
.

D
ia

lo
g

u
e

h
a
s

b
e
g

u
n

w
it
h

re
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e
s

a
n
d

s
e
n
io

r
c
o
u
n
c
il

o
ff

ic
e
rs

s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d

th
e

A
n
n
u
a
l
G

e
n
e
ra

l
M

e
e
ti
n
g
.

U
s
e

F
o
ru

m
to

a
s
s
e
s
s

u
n
m

e
t
n
e
e
d

D
C

S
/A

C
E

T
o

fo
llo

w
fr

o
m

a
b
o
v
e

in
u
s
in

g
th

e
F

o
ru

m
fo

r
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
6

180



P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

In
d

ic
a
to

r
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

In
d

ic
a
to

r
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

N
a
ti

o
n

a
l

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e

to
d

a
te

2
0
0
7
/0

8
q

u
a
rt

il
e

c
o

m
p

a
ri

s
o

n
B

2
(a

)
(A

)
E

q
u

a
lit

y
S

ta
n
d

a
rd

fo
r

L
o
c
a

l
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t

P
o
lic

y
O

ff
ic

e
r

-
E

q
u

a
lit

ie
s

2 (2
)

2
w

o
rk

in
g

to
w

a
rd

s
3

(a
v
e
ra

g
e
)

A
ti
m

e
lin

e
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

p
ro

d
u
c
e
d

fo
r

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
to

L
e

v
e

l
5

d
u
ri

n
g

2
0
1
4

.
A

n
E

q
u
a

lit
y

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

A
c
ti
o

n
P

la
n

h
a
s

b
e
e

n
p
ro

d
u
c
e
d

to
p
ro

g
re

s
s

to
L

e
v
e
l
3

in
M

a
rc

h
0
9
.

B
V

8
In

v
o
ic

e
s

p
a
id

o
n

ti
m

e
H

o
F

9
2
.6

%
9
5
.5

%
R

e
s
u
lt
s

fr
o
m

a
c
re

d
it
o
rs

b
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g

c
lu

b
th

a
t

w
e

h
a
v
e

jo
in

e
d

s
h
o

w
s

th
a
t
th

e
u

n
it
a
ry

a
v
e
ra

g
e

is
9
0
%

.
T

h
is

s
u
g
g

e
s
ts

th
a
t

w
e

a
re

d
o

in
g

w
e

ll,
re

la
ti
v
e
ly

s
p
e
a
k
in

g
,

w
h

e
n

c
o
m

p
a
re

d
w

it
h

o
u
r

p
e

e
rs

.
W

e
m

a
y

h
a

v
e

s
e
t
o
u
r

ta
rg

e
t
to

o
h
ig

h

B
V

9
(Q

)
T

h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

C
o
u

n
c
il

T
a
x

d
u
e

fo
r

th
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e

a
r

w
h

ic
h

w
e
re

re
c
e
iv

e
d

b
y

th
e

A
u
th

o
ri

ty
.

H
C

S

A
t
3

1
M

a
r

0
8
,

9
7
.5

%
o
f

th
e

c
u
rr

e
n
t

y
e

a
rs

c
o
u
n
c
il

ta
x

h
a
d

9
7
.5

%
9
7
.4

%
a
t
3

1
M

a
rc

h
0
7

b
e
e
n

c
o
lle

c
te

d
.

B
V

1
0

(Q
)

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

n
o

n
-d

o
m

e
s
ti
c

ra
te

s
d
u
e

fo
r

th
e

fi
n
a

n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r

w
h
ic

h
w

e
re

re
c
e

iv
e
d

b
y

th
e

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

H
C

S

A
t
3

1
M

a
r

0
8
,

9
9
.5

%
o
f

th
e

c
u
rr

e
n
t

y
e

a
rs

b
u
s
in

e
s
s

ra
te

s
h
a
d

b
e
e

n

9
9
.2

%
9
9
.7

%
a
t
3

1
M

a
rc

h
0
7

c
o
lle

c
te

d
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
7

181



B
V

1
1

(a
)

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

th
e

to
p

p
a
id

5
%

A
n
n

u
a

l
3
7
%

2
n
d

T
h
is

fi
g
u
re

is
c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

o
n

a
n

(A
)

o
f

lo
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

s
ta

ff
w

h
o

a
re

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

a
n
n
u

a
l
b
a
s
is

a
t
th

e
e
n

d
o
f

th
e

w
o
m

e
n

a
t
3
1

M
a
rc

h
.

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r.

B
R

H
M

B
V

1
1

(b
)

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

th
e

to
p

p
a
id

5
%

A
n
n

u
a

l
7
%

T
o
p

T
h
is

fi
g
u
re

is
c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

o
n

a
n

(A
m

e
n
d
e
d

lo
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri

ty
s
ta

ff
w

h
o

a
re

fr
o
m

a
n

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

a
n
n
u

a
l
b
a
s
is

a
t
th

e
e
n

d
o
f

th
e

0
5
/0

6
)

(A
)

e
th

n
ic

m
in

o
ri
ty

a
t
3

1
M

a
rc

h
B

R
H

M
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r.

B
V

1
1

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

to
p

p
a

id
5
%

o
f

A
n
n

u
a

l
1
.1

6
%

3
rd

T
h
is

fi
g
u
re

is
c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

o
n

a
n

(c
)

lo
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri

ty
s
ta

ff
w

h
o

h
a

v
e

a
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

a
n
n
u

a
l
b
a
s
is

a
t
th

e
e
n

d
o
f

th
e

(N
e
w

0
5
/0

6
)

d
is

a
b

ili
ty

a
t

3
1

M
a
rc

h
.

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r.

(A
)

B
R

H
M

B
V

1
6

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

lo
c
a

l
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

A
n
n

u
a

l
1
.8

5
%

B
o
tt

o
m

T
h
is

fi
g
u
re

is
c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

o
n

a
n

(A
)

e
m

p
lo

y
e
e
s

d
e
c
la

ri
n
g

th
a

t
th

e
y

m
e
e
t

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

a
n
n
u

a
l
b
a
s
is

a
t
th

e
e
n

d
o
f

th
e

th
e

D
is

a
b

ili
ty

D
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n

A
c
t

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r.

1
9
9
5

d
is

a
b
ili

ty
d
e
fi
n

it
io

n
a

t
3
1

M
a
rc

h
B

R
H

M

B
V

1
7
(a

)
T

h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

lo
c
a

l
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

A
n
n

u
a

l
3
.2

5
%

2
n
d

T
h
is

fi
g
u
re

is
c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

o
n

a
n

(A
m

e
n
d
e
d

e
m

p
lo

y
e
e
s

fr
o
m

e
th

n
ic

m
in

o
ri
ty

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

a
n
n
u

a
l
b
a
s
is

a
t
th

e
e
n

d
o
f

th
e

0
5
/0

6
)

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
a
t

3
1

M
a
rc

h
.

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r.

(A
)

B
R

H
M

B
V

1
5
6

T
h
e

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f

a
u
th

o
ri

ty
5
1
.2

%
5
0
%

N
/A

F
ig

u
re

in
c
lu

d
e
s

w
o
rk

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

o
n

(A
)

b
u
ild

in
g
s

o
p
e

n
to

th
e

p
u
b

lic
in

w
h
ic

h
s
it
e

a
ll

p
u

b
lic

a
re

a
s

a
re

s
u
it
a
b

le
fo

r
a
n
d

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
to

d
is

a
b

le
d

p
e

o
p
le

.
H

C
P

B
F

P
I

0
8
0

T
e
le

p
h
o

n
e

c
a

lls
a

n
s
w

e
re

d
w

it
h

in
5

8
3
.6

%
8
2
%

N
/A

F
ig

u
re

a
t
th

e
e

n
d

o
f

th
e

p
re

v
io

u
s

(Q
)

ri
n
g
s

fo
r

th
e

p
e
ri

o
d

q
u
a
rt

e
r

w
a
s

8
4
.3

%
fo

r
th

e
p
e
ri
o

d
H

C
S

A
p
ri

l
–

M
a
r

0
8

A
p
r

–
D

e
c

0
7
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
8

182



B
F

P
I

0
8
5

E
n
q

u
ir
ie

s
re

s
o
lv

e
d

a
t
fi
rs

t
p

o
in

t
o
f

9
0
%

+
8
2
%

N
/A

L
a
s
t
Q

u
a
rt

e
r’

s
fi
g
u
re

=
9

0
%

+
(Q

)
c
o
n
ta

c
t,

w
h
e
th

e
r

b
y

te
le

p
h
o

n
e
,

re
c
e
p
ti
o

n
o
r

e
m

a
il

H
C

S

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
3
9

183



U
p

d
a
te

o
n

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

fr
o

m
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

[i
n
d
ic

a
te

w
h
e
th

e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
o
r

n
e
w

]
U

p
d

a
te

C
a
p
a
c
it
y

o
f

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

to
re

-e
n
g

in
e

e
r

b
u
s
in

e
s
s

p
ro

c
e

s
s
e
s

P
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s

th
a
t

a
re

a
d
d

e
d

to
th

e
C

R
M

F
ro

n
tl
in

e
s
y
s
te

m
a
re

s
u
b
je

c
t

to
re

-
e
n
g

in
e

e
ri
n

g
p
ri

o
r

to
b

e
in

g
m

a
p
p
e
d

fo
r

C
R

M
.

T
h
is

p
ri

n
c
ip

le
is

e
n
d

o
rs

e
d

b
y

th
e

C
R

M
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
B

o
a
rd

.

L
o
s
s

o
f

k
e

y
s
ta

ff
R

e
g
u

la
r

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
m

o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

is
u
n
d

e
rt

a
k
e
n
.

S
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t
re

d
u
c
ti
o

n
in

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s

a
v
a
ila

b
le

to
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il

R
e
g
u

la
r

b
u
d
g

e
t
m

o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

is
u
n
d

e
rt

a
k
e
n

F
a
ilu

re
o
f

c
h
a
n

g
e

o
f

c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s

o
f

a
m

a
jo

r
c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r
o
r

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

R
e
g
u

la
r

c
o
n

tr
a
c
t
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n

g
is

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
.

L
o
s
s

o
f

s
ys

te
m

s
a
n
d

d
a
ta

B
u
s
in

e
s
s

c
o
n
ti
n
u

it
y

p
la

n
s

a
re

in
p
la

c
e
.

L
a
c
k

o
f

a
c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
/r

e
s
is

ta
n
c
e

to
s
ys

te
m

s
c
h
a
n
g
e

R
e
g
u

la
r

u
p
d
a

te
s

o
n

c
h
a
n

g
e

a
re

p
ro

v
id

e
d

to
s
ta

ff
.

Im
p
a
c
t
o
f

c
h
a
rg

e
s

a
ri
s
in

g
fr

o
m

th
e

re
g
u
la

to
ry

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

a
ff

e
c
ti
n
g

lo
c
a
l

g
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t

L
e
g

is
la

ti
v
e

c
h
a

n
g
e
s

a
re

ro
u

ti
n
e

ly
e

v
a

lu
a
te

d
.

O
th

e
r

B
e
rk

s
h
ir
e

a
u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s

w
ill

in
g
n

e
s
s

to
p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

in
a

re
v
ie

w
o
f

jo
in

t
a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

D
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
s

u
n

d
e
rw

a
y

w
it
h

o
th

e
r

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
.

F
in

a
n
c
e

/P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t
te

a
m

s
in

v
o
lv

e
d

in
to

o
m

a
n

y
in

it
ia

ti
v
e
s

–
e

n
s
u
re

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

a
re

c
le

a
rl

y
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
d

a
n
d

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
te

d
R

e
g
u

la
r

w
o
rk

lo
a
d

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n

g
is

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
.

S
P

A
M

it
ig

a
ti
o

n
M

e
a
s
u
re

s
n

o
t
a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

M
it
ig

a
ti
o

n
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

.

L
o
s
s

o
f

p
o
s
ta

l
v
o

te
d

a
ta

a
n

d
fa

ilu
re

o
f

IT
s
ys

te
m

s
R

e
c
o
v
e
ry

p
la

n
s

in
p
la

c
e
.

L
e
n
g

th
y

c
o
u
n

t
d
u

e
to

u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

ty
o
f

p
ro

c
e
s
s

fo
r

p
e
rs

o
n
a
l
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
rs

fo
r

p
o
s
ta

l
v
o
te

s
P

e
rs

o
n
a

l
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
rs

w
e
re

m
a
tc

h
e
d

o
n

th
e

c
lo

s
e

o
f

P
o
ll.

T
h
e

c
o
u
n
t

w
a
s

h
e

ld
o
n

th
e

d
a

y
a
ft

e
r

p
o

ll
in

re
s
p

o
n
s
e

to
th

is
ri
s
k
.

R
is

k
o
f

u
n
d
e
r

c
o
lle

c
ti
o

n
o
f

ta
x

A
fu

ll
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fo

r
th

e
re

c
o
v
e
ry

o
f

c
o
u
n
c
il

ta
x

a
n

d
b
u
s
in

e
s
s

ra
te

s
is

in
p
la

c
e
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
4
0

184



C
o

rp
o

ra
te

T
h

e
m

e
1

2
:

Im
p

ro
v
e

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

G
o
v
e

rn
a

n
c
e

a
n

d
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
K

e
y

A
c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

2
.1

U
n

d
e
rt

a
k
e

a
re

v
ie

w
o

f
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il
’s

p
ra

c
ti

c
e
s

a
g

a
in

s
t

b
e
s
t

p
ra

c
ti

c
e

o
f

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

G
o

v
e
rn

a
n

c
e

a
n

d
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
a
n

d
im

p
le

m
e
n

t
a
n

y
c
o

n
s
e
q

u
e
n

t
a
m

e
n

d
m

e
n

ts
R

e
v
ie

w
to

b
e

c
o
n
d
u
c
te

d
h
a
v
in

g
re

g
a
rd

to
b
e
s
t

p
ra

c
ti
c
e

g
u
id

a
n
c
e

fr
o
m

C
IP

A
,
A

C
S

e
S

,
D

C
L
G

B
S

o
l/
A

C
E

/H
o
f

In
it
ia

l
in

te
rn

a
l
a
u
d
it

re
v
ie

w
c
o
m

p
le

te
d

a
n
d

fi
n
a
l

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s

re
p
o
rt

e
d
.

W
o
rk

in
g

G
ro

u
p

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d

to
re

v
ie

w
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
e
x
is

ti
n
g

a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

in
d
e
ta

il
(f

o
r

th
e

p
u
rp

o
s
e
s

o
f
th

e
n
e
w

A
n
n
u
a
l
G

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

S
ta

te
m

e
n
t)

.
It

is
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
th

a
t
th

is
w

ill
re

s
u
lt

in
th

e
n
e
e
d

fo
r

fu
rt

h
e
r

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

to
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

a
n
d

th
e

p
re

p
a
ra

ti
o
n

o
f

a
n

a
c
ti
o
n

p
la

n
to

im
p
le

m
e
n
t
th

e
s
e
.

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

H
a
n
d
b
o
o
k

to
b
e

a
m

e
n
d
e
d

B
S

o
l/
A

C
E

/H
o
f

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

T
o
o
lk

it
h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T
.
R

e
v
ie

w
o
f

e
x
is

ti
n
g

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
a
g

a
in

s
t

th
e

T
o
o
lk

it
w

ill
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e

s
h
o
rt

ly
.

R
e
v
ie

w
a
n
d

d
e
v
e

lo
p

ro
b
u
s
t

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

g
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

h
a
v
in

g
re

g
a
rd

to
th

e
L
o
c
a
l
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t
&

P
u
b
lic

In
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t

in
H

e
a
lt
h

B
ill

H
D

R
S

/B
S

o
l/
H

o
f

T
h
e

B
ill

re
c
e
iv

e
d

R
o
y
a

l
A

s
s
e
n
t

o
n

3
0

th
O

c
to

b
e
r

2
0
0
7
.

A
re

p
o
rt

w
a
s

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
to

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

b
ri
e
fi
n
g

in
M

a
rc

h
,

a
n
d

s
u
b
s
e
q

u
e
n
tl
y

c
ir
c
u
la

te
d

to
a
ll

M
e
m

b
e
rs

.

K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

2
.2

E
n
s
u
re

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

o
f
th

e
L
o
c
a
l
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t

a
n
d

P
u
b
lic

In
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t

in
H

e
a
lt
h

A
c
t

B
S

o
l

T
h
e

B
ill

re
c
e
iv

e
d

R
o
y
a

l
A

s
s
e
n
t

o
n

3
0

th
O

c
to

b
e
r

2
0
0
7
.

A
re

p
o
rt

w
a
s

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
to

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

b
ri
e
fi
n
g

in
M

a
rc

h
a
n
d

c
ir
c
u
la

te
d

to
a
ll

M
e
m

b
e
rs

o
f
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il.

R
e
p
o
rt

to
C

M
T

a
n
d

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

fo
llo

w
in

g
e
n
a
c
tm

e
n
t

id
e
n
ti
fy

in
g

im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

s
ta

g
e
s

re
q

u
ir
e
d

a
n
d

ti
m

e
ta

b
le

B
S

o
l

S
e
e

a
b
o
v
e
.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
4
1

185



K
e

y
A

c
ti
o

n
/
O

u
tc

o
m

e
:
1

2
.3

S
u

p
p

o
rt

M
e
m

b
e
r

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
b

y
a
)

re
v
ie

w
in

g
th

e
C

o
d

e
o

f
C

o
n

d
u

c
t

fo
r

M
e
m

b
e
rs

fo
ll

o
w

in
g

th
e

is
s
u

e
b

y
th

e
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n

t
o

f
th

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

re
v
is

e
d

M
o

d
e
l
C

o
d

e
b

)
im

p
le

m
e
n

ti
n

g
th

e
M

e
m

b
e
rs

’
C

h
a
rt

e
r

fo
r

tr
a
in

in
g

a
n

d
d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
c
)

le
a
d

in
g

a
c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
M

e
m

b
e
r

in
d

u
c
ti

o
n

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

T
h
e

C
o
d
e

o
f

C
o
n
d
u
c
t

w
a
s

re
v
ie

w
e
d

a
n
d

a
d
o
p
te

d
o
n

1
1

J
u
ly

2
0
0
7
.

T
ra

in
in

g
w

a
s

p
ro

v
id

e
d

fo
r

a
ll

B
o
ro

u
g

h
a
n
d

P
a
ri
s
h

c
o
u
n
c
ill

o
rs

.
T

h
e

in
te

ri
m

in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n

fo
r

th
e

M
e
m

b
e
rs

’
c
h
a
rt

e
r

w
a
s

v
e
ry

p
o
s
it
iv

e
a
n
d

o
u
r

d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n

o
f

tr
a
v
e
l
h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
.

T
h
e

M
e
m

b
e
r

S
te

e
ri
n
g

G
ro

u
p

h
a
s

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
a

L
&

D
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
a
n
d

a
s
e
ri
e
s

o
f

d
a
te

s
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
d

fo
r

M
e
m

b
e
r

s
e
m

in
a
rs

/b
ri
e
fi
n
g

s
h
a
s

b
e
e
n

c
ir
c
u
la

te
d
.

R
e
p
o
rt

o
n

a
m

e
n
d
m

e
n
ts

to
C

o
d
e

o
f

C
o
n
d
u
c
t
to

C
o
u
n
c
il

fo
llo

w
in

g
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n

b
y

th
e

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
C

o
m

m
it
te

e
B

S
o
l/
H

D
R

S

R
e
v
is

e
d

C
o
d
e

o
f

C
o
n
d
u
c
t

a
d
o
p
te

d
1
1

J
u
ly

2
0
0
7
.

A
d
v
ic

e
to

P
a
ri
s
h

C
o
u
n
c
ils

o
n

re
v
is

e
d

C
o
d
e

B
S

o
l/
H

D
R

S
A

ll
P

a
ri
s
h

C
o
u
n
c
ils

a
d
v
is

e
d

o
f

n
e
w

C
o
d
e
.

T
ra

in
in

g
s
e
s
s
io

n
s

fo
r

a
ll

B
o
ro

u
g

h
a
n
d

P
a
ri
s
h

M
e
m

b
e
rs

B
S

o
l/
H

D
R

S
T

ra
in

in
g

s
e
s
s
io

n
fo

r
B

o
ro

u
g

h
M

e
m

b
e
rs

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

c
a
rr

ie
d

o
u
t

a
n
d

s
e
c
o
n
d

s
e
s
s
io

n
w

a
s

h
e
ld

fo
r

th
o
s
e

w
h
o

c
o
u
ld

n
o
t
a
tt
e
n
d

th
e

fi
rs

t
o
n
e
.

T
ra

in
in

g
fo

r
P

a
ri
s
h

C
o
u
n
c
ils

w
a
s

h
e
ld

o
n

3
1

O
c
to

b
e
r

2
0
0
7

b
u
t
tw

o
m

o
n
th

d
e
a
d
lin

e
w

a
s

e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d

d
u
e

to
v
e
ry

p
ro

m
p
t
a
d
o
p
ti
o
n

o
f
C

o
d
e

b
y

m
o
s
t
P

a
ri
s
h

a
n
d

T
o
w

n
C

o
u
n
c
ils

.
D

e
v
e
lo

p
a
n
d

im
p
le

m
e
n
t
a

w
o
rk

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
to

e
n
s
u
re

th
e

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

d
e
liv

e
ry

o
f

th
e

M
e
m

b
e
rs

’
C

h
a
rt

e
r

fo
r

L
e
a
rn

in
g

a
n
d

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

H
D

R
S

A
w

o
rk

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
w

a
s

a
g
re

e
d

b
y

th
e

M
e
m

b
e
r

S
te

e
ri
n
g

G
ro

u
p

a
t
it
s

m
e
e
ti
n
g

in
N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
4
2

186



U
p

d
a
te

o
n

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

ri
s
k
s

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

fr
o

m
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
 

R
is

k
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

[i
n
d
ic

a
te

w
h
e
th

e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e

P
la

n
o
r

n
e
w

]
U

p
d

a
te

L
o
s
s

o
f

k
e

y
s
ta

ff
S

ta
ff

w
o
rk

lo
a
d

a
n
d

d
e
p

lo
y
m

e
n
t
m

o
n
it
o
re

d
.

S
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t
re

d
u
c
ti
o

n
in

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

ro
u
ti
n
e

ly
m

o
n
it
o

re
d
.

L
a
c
k

o
f

M
e
m

b
e
r

in
te

re
s
t
a

n
d
/o

r
o
ff

ic
e
r

s
u
p
p
o
rt

R
e
g
u

la
r

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
s

h
e
ld

w
it
h

o
ff

ic
e
rs

a
n
d

M
e
m

b
e
rs

.

S
h

o
w

s
K

e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
ar

e
an

ti
ci

p
at

ed
to

b
e

ac
h

ie
v
ed

w
it

h
in

ti
m

et
ab

le
,

o
r

al
re

ad
y

h
av

e
b

ee
n

ac
h

ie
v
ed

S
h
o

w
s

K
e
y

ac
ti

o
n

s
th

at
h
a
v
e

n
o

t
b

ee
n

o
r

ar
e

n
o

t
li

k
el

y
to

b
e

ac
h
ie

v
ed

o
n

ti
m

e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
o
n
it
o
ri

n
g

R
e
p

o
rt

P
a
g

e
4
3

187



Annex B: Staffing information

Staff Turnover

For the quarter ending 31 March 2008 3.67
For the year ending 31 March 2008 8.98

2006/07 total turnover for the Council: 13.39% excluding schools
2005/6 turnover for local authorities in the South East 17.3% excluding schools
Source: LG Pay and Workforce Strategy survey 2006

Sickness Absence

All employees, average days sickness
absence per FTE

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 06/07 7.04 days

BVPI 12 Unitary average 9.6 days

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 06/07, all employees, average number of days
sickness absence per employee: 5.3 days

All sectors employers in South East 05/06: average number of days sickness
absence per employee, 7.3 days
Source: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development – figure supplied by
South East Employers

Staff Sickness (1 January 08 to 31 March 08)

Section Total staff

FTE

Number of
days sickness

Average per
employee

(FTE)

Projected annual
average per
employee

(FTE)

Directorate 2 3 1.5 1.5

Customer Services 42.77 69.5 1.62 5.61

Democratic Services 27.66 23.5 0.85 6.76

Finance 43.45 103 2.37 5.34

Human Resources 20.41 42 2.06 5.78

ICT 45.43 24.5 0.54 3.31

Legal 13.01 2.5 0.19 8.88

Property Services 30.02 89.5 2.98 8.18

Department Totals 224.75 357.5 1.59 5.75

Corporate Services Performance Monitoring Report Page 44

188



A
n

n
e
x

C
:

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l
in

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

&
C

h
ie

f
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

's
O

ff
ic

e
C

a
p

it
a
l

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

A
s

a
t

2
9

F
e

b
ru

a
ry

2
0

0
8

C
o

s
t

C
e

n
tr

e
D

e
s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
A

p
p

ro
v
e

d
C

a
s
h

E
x

p
e

n
d

i
tu

re
C

u
rr

e
n

t
E

s
ti

m
a

te
d

C
a
s
h

(U
n

d
e

r)
/

K
e

y
T

a
rg

e
t

fo
r

C
u

rr
e

n
t

s
ta

tu
s

o
f

th
e

p
ro

je
c
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

B
u

d
g

e
t

to
d

a
te

c
o

m
m

it
m

e
n

t
T

o
ta

l
B

u
d

g
e
t

O
v
e

r
3

1
M

a
rc

h
in

c
lu

d
in

g
c

h
a

n
g

e
s

to
C

a
s

h
P

ro
fi

le

fo
r

th
e

2
0
0
7

/
0
8

F
u

n
d

i
n

g
2
0
0
8

/
0
9

S
p

e
n

d

y
e

a
r

R
e

q
u

ir
e

d
a

g
a

in
s

t

fo
r

th
e

a
p

p
ro

v
e

d

y
e

a
r

b
u

d
g

e
t

(£
'0

0
0

)
(£

'0
0

0
)

(£
'0

0
0

)
(£

'0
0

0
)

(£
'0

0
0

)
(£

'0
0

0
)

(£
'0

0
0

)

C
S

S
c

h
e

m
e
s

c
o

m
m

e
n

c
e

d
p

ri
o

r
to

2
0
0

7
/0

8

F
IM

S
7

.3
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
7

.3
0

.0
L

in
k
e

d
w

it
h

fu
rt

h
e

r
d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e
n

ts
o
f

A
g

re
s
s
o

d
u

ri
n

g
2

0
0

8
/0

9
.

P
a

y
ro

ll
S

y
s
te

m
s

R
e

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t

2
7

.4
0

.2
0

.2
0

.0
0

.2
0

.0
-2

7
.2

S
c
h

e
m

e
b
e

in
g

re
v
ie

w
e

d
F

o
llo

w
in

g
a

n
e

x
te

n
s
iv

e
tr

ia
l
o

f
th

e
s
e

lf
s
e

rv
ic

e
m

o
d

u
le

it
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

a
g

re
e

d
th

e
s
y
s
te

m
w

ill
n
o

t
b
e

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

fu
rt

h
e

r.

C
u

s
to

m
e

r
C

o
n
ta

c
t

In
it
ia

ti
v
e

1
4

2
.7

1
1

5
.7

5
8

.5
1

1
.4

1
1

5
.7

2
7

.0
0

.0
A

p
ilo

t
p

ro
c
e
s
s

w
ill

h
a

v
e

b
e

e
n

d
e

v
e
lo

p
e
d

re
a

d
y

fo
r

te
s
ti
n

g
.

O
u

ts
ta

n
d

in
g

is
s
u
e

s
a

re
b
e

in
g

p
u

rs
u
e

d
w

it
h

th
e

s
u

p
p

lie
r

&
s
ta

g
e

d
p
a

y
m

e
n

ts
a

re
b

e
in

g
m

a
d

e
to

th
e

s
u

p
p
lie

r.
A

b
a

la
n
c
e

o
f

£
0

.0
2
7

M
is

c
u

rr
e
n

tl
y

u
n

a
llo

c
a

te
d

a
n

d
w

ill
n

o
t

b
e

s
p
e

n
t
d

u
ri
n

g
2
0

0
7

/0
8

.
T

h
e

re
fo

re
th

e
c
a
s
h

b
u

d
g

e
ts

h
a

v
e

b
e
e

n
a
m

e
n
d

e
d

to
s
h
o

w
a

c
h

a
n
g

e
in

p
ro

fi
le

.

M
o

b
ile

W
o
rk

in
g

6
8

.6
6

8
.6

6
1

.1
0

.0
6

8
.6

0
.0

0
.0

E
le

c
tr

o
n

ic
D

a
ta

R
e

c
o

rd
s

M
a

n
a
g

e
m

e
n

t
S

y
s
te

m
a
s

p
a

rt
o

f
C

iv
ic

H
u
b

w
o

rk
s
tr

e
a

m
.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
4
5

 

189



C
a

p
it

a
l

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
-

C
S

(p
ri

o
r

to
2

0
0
7

/0
8

)
2

4
6

.0
1

8
4

.5
1

1
9

.8
1

1
.4

1
8

4
.5

3
4

.3
-2

7
.2

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

s
6

5
%

6
%

7
5

%
1

4
%

-1
1

%

C
S

S
c

h
e

m
e
s

c
o

m
m

e
n

c
e

d
2
0
0

7
/0

8

C
o

m
p

le
ti
o
n

o
f

E
le

c
tr

ic
a
l
w

o
rk

a
t

D
e
p

o
t
n

o
t

u
n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
,
a

w
a

it
in

g
G

e
n

e
ra

l
B

u
ild

in
g

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

1
1

9
.2

8
2

.8
5

0
.9

1
.0

8
2

.8
3

6
.4

0
.0

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
re

s
u

lt
s

o
f

e
le

c
tr

ic
a

l
te

s
t.

6
0

%
c
o

m
p

le
te

d
.

0
6

/0
7

p
ro

je
c
ts

u
n

d
e

rw
a

y
-E

m
a

il
a

rc
h

iv
e

/
S

in
g

le
S

ig
n

-
O

ff
/I

d
e

n
ti
ty

m
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
p

ro
je

c
ts

d
e

la
y
e

d
d

u
e

to
H

o
u

s
in

g
m

o
v
e

s
,
to

b
e

c
a
rr

ie
d

fo
rw

a
rd

to
0

8
/0

9
.

C
a
s
h

p
ro

fi
le

a
m

e
n
d

e
d

to
re

fl
e

c
t

c
u

rr
e

n
t

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
.

£
0

.0
2
0

M
a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
s
p

e
n
d

a
lr
e

a
d

y
m

o
v
e
d

to
2
0

0
8

/0
9

re
C

iv
ic

H
u

b
T

e
c
h

n
o
lo

g
ie

s
.

W
o
rk

n
o

w
s
ta

rt
e
d

e
a

rl
y

o
n

id
e

n
ti
ty

m
a

n
a
g

e
m

e
n

t.
C

a
rr

y
o

v
e

r
to

2
0

0
8

/0
9

re
d
u

c
e
d

b
y

£
2
0

k

IT
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
ts

3
6

5
.7

2
7

5
.7

2
0

0
.8

1
.9

2
7

5
.7

9
0

.0
0

.0
a

s
m

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

c
o
n

tr
a
c
t

o
rd

e
re

d
e

a
rl
y

n
o

w
a

c
h

ie
v
in

g
d

is
c
o

u
n
t.

C
a

s
e

M
a

n
a

g
e
m

e
n

t
S

o
ft

w
a

re
3

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

3
0

.0
0

.0
C

o
n

tr
a

c
t

a
w

a
rd

e
d

w
it
h

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
P

re
s
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
s

fr
o
m

IT
s
o

ft
w

a
re

s
u

p
p

lie
rs

h
a

v
e

n
o

w
ta

k
e
n

p
la

c
e

w
it
h

a
v
ie

w
to

re
d
u

c
in

g
to

a
s
h

o
rt

lis
t

o
f

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
a

g
re

e
d

.
tw

o
.

C
a

s
h

B
u

d
g
e

t
p

ro
fi
le

a
m

e
n

d
e

d
to

re
fl
e

c
t

lik
e
ly

s
p

e
n
d

o
f
£

0
.0

3
0

M
in

to
2

0
0

8
/0

9
.

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

-
R

o
u

ti
n

g
&

S
c
h

e
d
u

lin
g

S
o

ft
w

a
re

5
0

.0
3

6
.0

0
.4

3
2

.0
3

6
.0

1
4

.0
0

.0
N

e
w

s
y
s
te

m
in

s
ta

lle
d

&
w

o
rk

in
g

S
y
s
te

m
in

s
ta

lle
d

.
In

v
o

ic
e

a
w

a
it
e

d
.

T
e

s
t
p

la
n

w
ri

tt
e

n
&

tr
a

in
in

g
s
c
h
e

d
u
le

d
fo

r
e
a

rl
y

A
p
ri

l.

C
R

M
/T

e
le

p
h

o
n

y
U

p
g

ra
d
e

1
4

0
.0

4
2

.0
1

.0
0

.0
4

2
.0

9
8

.0
0

.0
C

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n

e
n
d

o
f

y
e

a
r.

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

re
q
u

ir
e
m

e
n
ts

d
ra

ft
e
d
.

In
it
ia

l
c
o
n

ta
c
t

w
it
h

s
u

p
p
lie

rs
.

P
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t
p

ro
c
e
s
s

u
n

d
e

rw
a

y
.

IS
A

g
re

s
s
o

R
e
fi
n

a
n

c
in

g
1

0
6

.0
1

0
6

.0
1

0
6

.0
0

.0
1

0
6

.0
0

.0
0

.0
C

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n

e
n
d

o
f

y
e

a
r.

In
v
o

ic
e

p
a

id

E
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t
in

p
ro

c
e

s
s

o
f
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
,

fu
n

d
in

g
C

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n

e
n
d

o
f

a
lr

e
a

d
y

re
c
e
iv

e
d

fr
o
m

p
a

rt
n

e
r

a
u

th
o

ri
ti
e
s

a
n

d
fr

o
m

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

T
V

8
5

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
8

5
.0

0
.0

y
e

a
r.

c
a

p
it
a

l
g

ra
n

t
fu

n
d

in
g
.

M
a

n
a

g
e
d

v
ia

th
e

C
D

R
P

.

C
a

p
it

a
l

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
-

C
S

(c
u

rr
e

n
t

y
e

a
r

8
9

5
.9

5
4

2
.5

3
5

9
.1

3
4

.9
5

4
2

.5
3

5
3

.4
0

.0
s

c
h

e
m

e
s

)

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

s
6

6
%

6
%

6
1

%
3

9
%

0
%

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
4
6

190



C
a

p
it

a
l

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
-

C
S

[a
ll

s
c

h
e

m
e

s
]

1
,1

4
1

. 9
7

2
7

.0
4

7
8

.9
4

6
.3

7
2

7
.0

3
8

7
.7

-2
7

.2

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

s
6

6
%

6
%

6
4

%
3

4
%

-2
%

C
o

u
n

c
il

-w
id

e
S

c
h

e
m

e
s

-
p

ri
o

r
to

2
0

0
7

/0
8

IC
T

M
a

in
t

P
ro

g
-

N
e

tw
o

rk
R

e
fr

e
s
h

4
0

.0
9

.6
8

.8
0

.0
9

.6
3

0
.4

0
.0

B
u

d
g

e
t
c
o
m

m
it
te

d
to

IP
T

T
e

le
p

h
o

n
y
.

T
o

b
e

tr
a

n
s
fe

rr
e
d

to
Y

M
0

0
3

.
£

3
0

.4
K

c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a

rd
to

0
8

/0
9
.

W
e
b
s
it
e

D
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n

t
(I

n
tr

a
n

e
t

U
p

g
ra

d
e

)
2

.3
0

.5
0

.4
0

.0
0

.5
1

.8
0

.0
U

n
d

e
rs

p
e

n
d

in
2

0
0

7
/0

8
n

e
e

d
e
d

fo
r

fu
tu

re
tr

a
in

in
g

re
q

u
ir
e

m
e
n

ts
.

S
m

a
rt

c
o

n
n
e

c
t

-
In

v
e

s
t
to

S
a

v
e

2
8

.7
2

1
.2

0
.0

0
.0

2
1

.2
7

.5
0

.0
R

e
m

a
in

in
g

5
0

%
F

u
jit

s
u

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t

p
a

y
a

b
le

,
£

7
.5

k
c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y

u
n

a
llo

c
a

te
d

s
o

c
a

rr
y

fo
rw

a
rd

in
to

0
8

/0
9
.

C
a

p
it

a
l

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
-

C
o

u
n

c
il
-w

id
e

(p
ri

o
r

to
2

0
0

7
/0

8
)

7
1

.0
3

1
.3

9
.2

0
.0

3
1

.3
3

9
.7

0
.0

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

s
2

9
%

0
%

4
4

%
5

6
%

0
%

C
o

u
n

c
il

-w
id

e
S

c
h

e
m

e
s

-
C

o
m

m
e

n
c
e

d
2

0
0

7
/0

8

A
c
c
e
s
s

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e
n

t
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

2
0

5
.5

1
8

0
.0

9
3

.5
0

.0
1

8
0

.0
2

5
.5

0
.0

C
o

m
p

le
ti
o
n

o
f

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
O

rd
e

r
h

a
s

b
e
e

n
p
la

c
e

d
fo

r
th

e
re

m
a

in
d

e
r

o
f

th
is

y
e

a
r'
s

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.

T
h

e
w

o
rk

w
ill

e
x
te

n
d

in
to

th
e

s
u

m
m

e
r.

S
m

a
rt

C
a

rd
G

e
n

e
ra

l
(I

n
te

g
ra

te
d

T
ra

v
e

lc
a

rd
,

E
+

C
a

rd
)

3
1

9
.9

2
1

8
.4

1
1

9
.1

1
6

.2
2

1
8

.4
1

0
1

.5
0

.0

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
o

f
s
c
h
e

m
e
s

id
e

n
ti
fi
e

d
.

In
te

g
ra

te
d

T
ra

v
e

l
C

a
rd

m
a

y
n
o

t
p

ro
c
e
e

d
s
o

£
9

1
.5

k
s
h

o
w

n
a

s
c
a

rr
y

fo
rw

a
rd

a
n

d
£
1

0
k

L
M

S
C

h
ip

&
P

in
w

ill
b

e
c
o
m

p
le

te
d

in
2

0
0

8
/0

9
.

S
e

rv
e

r
R

e
fr

e
s
h

1
3

5
.7

9
5

.7
2

0
.8

2
.1

9
5

.7
4

0
.0

0
.0

S
e

rv
e

r
re

p
la

c
e
m

e
n

t
id

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
.

£
0

.0
2
5

M
s
a

v
in

g
tr

a
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
to

IP
T

P
ro

je
c
t.

R
e
p

la
c
e

m
e
n

t
d
e

la
y
e

d
-

£
0

.0
4
0

M
c
a

rr
y

fo
rw

a
rd

to
0

8
/0

9
.

C
iv

ic
H

u
b

-
P

ro
je

c
t

M
a

n
a

g
e
m

e
n

t
7

5
.0

2
2

.5
0

.0
0

.0
2

2
.5

5
2

.5
0

.0
M

o
n

it
o

re
d

th
ro

u
g

h
re

v
e

n
u

e
s
p
e

n
d

-
a
d

ju
s
te

d
a

t
y
e

a
r-

e
n

d

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
4
7

191



IC
T

M
a

in
t

P
ro

g
-

D
e
s
k
to

p
3

9
3

.2
3

1
3

.2
2

9
5

.8
0

.0
3

1
3

.2
8

0
.0

0
.0

2
0

0
P

C
's

p
u

rc
h

a
s
e

d
a

t
c
o
n

s
id

e
ra

b
le

s
a

v
in

g
s
.

R
e

fr
e
s
h

s
u

p
p
o

rt
e

d
b

y
c
o
n

tr
a
c
te

d
e

n
g
in

e
e

r,
(4

w
e

e
k
s
).

O
n

tr
a

c
k

fo
r

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
o
f

th
ir
d

q
u
a

rt
e

r
re

fr
e

s
h

.
£
0

.0
4
5

M
b

u
d

g
e
t

a
lr
e

a
d

y
tr

a
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
to

IP
T

P
ro

je
c
t.

W
ill

g
e

n
e

ra
te

£
0

.1
0
0

M
s
a

v
in

g
fr

o
m

b
u
lk

p
u

rc
h

a
s
in

g
w

it
h

D
E

L
L

d
u

ri
n

g
2

0
0

7
/0

8
a

n
d

th
is

w
ill

b
e

c
a

rr
ie

d
in

to
2

0
0

8
/0

9
.

N
e

x
t

y
e

a
rs

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
w

ill
b

e
re

d
u

c
e

d
b

y
£
0

.1
0
0

m
.

C
a

rr
y

fo
rw

a
rd

n
o

w
re

d
u

c
e

d
to

£
8

0
k

a
s

p
u

rc
h

a
s
e

o
f

e
q

u
ip

m
e
n

t
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

b
ro

u
g

h
t

fo
rw

a
rd

.

D
u

e
to

re
c
e
n

t
s
u

p
p
lie

r
p

ro
b
le

m
s

fi
v
e

c
o
p

ie
rs

re
m

a
in

A
ll

c
o

p
ie

rs
le

s
s

th
a

n
5

th
a

t
a

re
o

v
e

r
5

y
e

a
rs

o
ld

.
T

h
e

s
e

w
ill

b
e

re
p
la

c
e

d
a
s

IC
T

M
a

in
t

P
ro

g
-P

h
o
to

c
o

p
ie

rs
2

3
2

.6
6

2
.0

3
2

.7
2

.1
6

2
.0

1
7

0
.6

0
.0

y
e

a
rs

o
ld

p
a

rt
o

f
th

e
2

0
0
8

/0
9

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
.

C
a

p
it
a
lis

a
ti
o
n

o
f

R
e

v
e

n
u

e
(B

u
d

g
e

ts
O

n
ly

)
4

0
0

.0
4

0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
4

0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
M

o
n

it
o

re
d

th
ro

u
g

h
re

v
e

n
u

e
s
p
e

n
d

-
a
d

ju
s
te

d
a

t
y
e

a
r-

e
n

d

IS
B

(E
n

e
rg

y
)

1
2

6
.0

1
1

9
.0

8
4

.1
3

3
.6

1
1

9
.0

7
.0

0
.0

9
4

%
c
o

m
p

le
ti
o

n
O

n
ly

£
3

,8
0
0

o
f
o

rd
e

rs
y
e

t
to

b
e

c
o
m

m
it
te

d
,

a
w

a
it
in

g
c
o

n
tr

a
c
to

rs
to

c
o

m
p
le

te
w

o
rk

s
.

A
s
b

e
s
to

s
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
6

0
.0

4
4

.0
2

5
.1

1
1

.6
4

4
.0

1
6

.0
0

.0
C

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n

o
f

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
O

rd
e

rs
n
o

w
p

la
c
e

d
fo

r
a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
s
u

rv
e

y
s
.

O
rd

e
rs

n
o

w
p

la
c
e

d
fo

r
s
u

rv
e

y
s

o
f

a
ll

S
e
c
o

n
d
a

ry
&

P
ri

m
a

ry
s
c
h

o
o

ls
.
W

o
rk

w
ill

b
e

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e
n

d
u

ri
n

g
s
c
h
o

o
l
h

o
lid

a
y
s
.
2

0
0
7

/0
8

p
ro

je
c
te

d
e

x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
in

c
.

W
a
te

r
H

y
g

ie
n

e
6

0
.0

5
3

.9
1

1
.8

3
7

.7
5

3
.9

6
.1

0
.0

C
o

m
p

le
ti
o
n

o
f

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
fe

e
s

a
p

p
ro

x
.

£
5

3
.9

k
.

Q
u
o

ta
ti
o
n

a
w

a
it
e

d
fo

r
m

in
o

r
re

m
e

d
ia

l
w

o
rk

s
.

F
ir

e
S

a
fe

ty
5

0
.0

5
0

.0
2

.5
0

.0
5

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

C
o

m
p

le
ti
o
n

o
f

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
O

rd
e

rs
p
la

c
e

d
fo

r
o

u
ts

ta
n

d
in

g
re

m
e

d
ia

l
w

o
rk

s
&

s
u

rv
e

y
s

o
f
s
o
m

e
p

ri
m

a
ry

s
c
h

o
o

ls
h

a
v
e

b
e
e

n
o

rd
e

re
d

.

M
e

m
b

e
rs

IT
R

e
fr

e
s
h

9
0

.0
9

0
.0

8
5

.0
0

.0
9

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

A
ll

re
fr

e
s
h

w
a

s
c
o
m

p
le

te
d

b
y

th
e

e
n
d

o
f

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r.

R
e

m
a

in
in

g
b

u
d
g

e
t
to

b
e

a
llo

c
a
te

d
to

w
a

rd
s

p
u

rc
h

a
s
e

o
f

e
q

u
ip

m
e
n

t
fo

r
m

e
m

b
e

r'
s

o
ff
ic

e
s

a
n
d

fi
rs

t
y
e

a
r

re
n

ta
l
o

f
B

la
c
k
b

e
rr

y
d

e
v
ic

e
s
.

In
v
e

s
t

to
S

a
v
e

S
e

rv
e

r
R

e
fr

e
s
h

1
9

2
.0

1
9

2
.0

1
7

6
.4

1
3

.8
1

9
2

.0
0

.0
0

.0
P

u
rc

h
a
s
e

o
f

S
to

ra
g

e
A

re
a

N
e

tw
o

rk
,

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
a
n

d
in

s
ta

lle
d

.

IP
T

e
le

p
h

o
n

y
P

ilo
t

P
ro

je
c
t

7
0

.0
7

0
.0

6
6

.2
1

.3
7

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

P
ilo

t
u

n
d

e
rw

a
y
.

F
u

n
d
in

g
fo

r
th

e
a

d
d
it
io

n
a

l
p

u
rc

h
a
s
e

o
f

p
h

o
n

e
s
,
s
e

rv
e

r
a
n

d
d
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n

t
w

o
rk

h
a
s

b
e
e

n
id

e
n

ti
fi
e
d

fr
o
m

N
e

tw
o

rk
R

e
fr

e
s
h

.
E

x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
in

2
0

0
8

/0
9

w
ill

re
q

u
ir
e

th
e

c
a

rr
y

fo
rw

a
rd

fu
n

d
in

g
fr

o
m

Y
M

1
8

2
N

e
tw

o
rk

R
e

fr
e

s
h

.

C
a

p
it

a
l

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
-

C
o

u
n

c
il
-w

id
e

(c
u

rr
e

n
t

y
e

a
r

s
c

h
e

m
e

s
)

2
4

0
9

.9
1

9
1

0
. 7

1
0

1
3

.0
1

1
8

.4
1

9
1

0
.7

4
9

9
.2

0
.0

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
4
8

192



P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

s
5

3
%

6
%

7
9

%
2

1
%

0
%

C
a

p
it

a
l

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
-

C
o

u
n

c
il
-w

id
e

(a
ll

s
c

h
e

m
e

s
)

2
,4

8
0

. 9
1

,9
4

2
. 0

1
,0

2
2

.2
1

1
8

.4
1

,9
4

2
. 0

5
3

8
.9

0
.0

T
o

ta
l

C
a

p
it

a
l

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
3

,6
2

2
. 8
2

,6
6

9
. 0

1
,5

0
1

.1
1

6
4

.7
2

,6
6

9
. 0

9
2

6
.6

-2
7

.2

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

s
5

6
%

6
%

7
4

%
2

6
%

-1
%

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
4
9

193



P
M

R
4

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

/
C

X
O

F
F

IC
E

B
U

D
G

E
T

M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

-
T

O
E

N
D

F
E

B
R

U
A

R
Y

2
0
0
8

O
ri

g
in

a
l

C
a

s
h

V
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
C

u
rr

e
n

t
S

p
e

n
d

D
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t'
s

V
a

ri
a

n
c

e
V

a
ri

a
n

c
e

V
a

ri
a

n
c

e
B

u
d

g
e

t
&

B
u

d
g

e
t

A
p

p
ro

v
e

d
to

D
a

te
P

ro
je

c
te

d
O

v
e

r/
(U

n
d

e
r)

T
h

is
S

u
p

p
o

rt
e

d

NOTE

2
0

0
7

/2
0

0
8

C
/F

w
d

s
C

a
s

h
%

O
u

tt
u

rn
S

p
e

n
d

M
o

n
th

b
y

C
M

T

NOTE

B
u

d
g

e
t

£
0

0
0

%
£

0
0

0
£

0
0

0
£

0
0

0
£

0
0

0
£

0
0

0
£

0
0

0

D
ir

e
c
to

r
o

f
C

S

D
ir
e
c
to

r
o
f

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

2
4
8

1
3

2
6
1

8
3

2
4
7

-1
4

-1
4

2
0

H
e
a
d

o
f

D
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c

&
R

e
g

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

D
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c

&
S

u
p
p
o
rt

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

7
8
5

-1
7
8
4

8
7

7
8
0

-4
0

1
1

-4

M
e
m

b
e
r

a
n
d

M
a

y
o

ra
l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

8
8
5

2
8
8
7

9
2

9
0
9

2
2

0
2
2

R
e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o

n
o
f

B
ir
th

s
,
D

e
a
th

s
&

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
s

-1
8

0
-1

8
1
6
1

-3
2

-1
4

0
-1

4
R

e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o

n
o
f

E
le

c
to

rs
/

E
le

c
ti
o
n
s

2
2
2

-1
2
2
1

9
6

2
2
1

0
0

0

1
,8

7
4

0
1
,8

7
4

9
0

1
,8

7
8

4
0

4

H
e
a
d

o
f

C
u

s
to

m
e

r
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

L
o
c
a
l
T

a
x

C
o

lle
c
ti
o
n

4
4
8

1
1

4
5
9

-7
1
9

4
6
6

7
0

1
3

7

C
u
s
to

m
e
r

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

8
4
4

-5
7

7
8
7

9
9

7
7
4

-1
3

-4
7
,1

5
-9

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
0

194



1
,2

9
2

-4
6

1
,2

4
6

-2
0
3

1
,2

4
0

-6
-4

-2

H
e
a
d

o
f

L
e
g

a
l

S
e
rv

ic
e

s

L
e
g
a

l
8
3
0

2
8
3
2

8
5

7
9
0

-4
2

-3
0

2
-1

2

H
u

m
a
n

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

M
a
n

a
g

e
r

1
,

H
u
m

a
n

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

5
0
0

0
2

5
0
0

9
9

4
8
7

-1
3

0
1
4

-1
3

U
n
if
ie

d
T

ra
in

in
g

U
n

it
4
3
4

-2
4

4
1
0

6
3

3
9
7

-1
3

0
-1

3

9
3
4

-2
4

9
1
0

1
6
2

8
8
4

-2
6

0
-2

6

B
o

ro
u

g
h

T
re

a
s
u

re
r

B
o
ro

u
g
h

T
re

a
s
u
re

r
1
0
4

6
1
1
0

1
3
3

1
1
0

0
0

0

H
e
a
d

o
f

F
in

a
n

c
e

F
in

a
n
c
e

2
,2

1
6

4
7

2
2
,2

6
3

8
7

2
,4

8
5

2
2
2

4
9

9
1
7
3

In
s
u
ra

n
c
e

1
,3

0
1

2
1
,3

0
3

8
7

1
,3

0
3

0
0

0

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

1
,7

5
8

0
1
,7

5
8

8
0

1
,7

0
8

-5
0

-3
0

8
,1

7
-2

0

5
,2

7
5

4
9

5
,3

2
4

8
5

5
,4

9
6

1
7
2

1
9

1
5
3

H
e
a
d

o
f

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

5
3
0

-4
5
2
6

8
6

4
9
4

-3
2

-1
2

4
-2

0
In

d
u
s
tr

ia
l
&

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

1
0

P
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s

-1
,4

0
0

0
-1

,4
0
0

1
1
7

-1
,4

5
5

-5
5

0
-5

5

S
u
rv

e
y
o
rs

5
5
9

2
5
6
1

5
4

5
6
6

5
5
2

5
,1

6
,1

9
,2

0
-4

7

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s

1
,4

4
7

2
1
,4

4
9

9
2

1
,4

5
1

2
-8

6
,1

8
1
0

T
o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
R

e
d
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t

0
3
1
7

3
1
7

1
5
0

3
1
7

0
0

0

1
,1

3
6

3
1
7

1
,4

5
3

6
4

1
,3

7
3

-8
0

3
2

-1
1
2

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
1

195



C
h

ie
f

In
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

O
ff

ic
e

r

IC
T

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

2
,5

6
8

6
2

2
,6

3
0

9
1

2
,6

2
8

-2
0

-2

C
h

ie
f

E
x

e
c
u

ti
v

e
's

O
ff

ic
e

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

3
3
8

0
3
3
8

9
4

3
3
8

0
0

0

C
h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
's

O
ff

ic
e

9
9
6

7
8

1
,0

7
4

5
7

1
,0

2
5

-4
9

-3
7

1
,3

,1
2

-1
2

V
o
lu

n
ta

ry
S

e
c
to

r
G

ra
n
ts

2
7
7

0
2
7
7

9
2

2
7
7

0
0

0

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

S
a
fe

ty
0

2
0
8

2
0
8

1
0
5

2
0
8

0
0

0

S
m

a
rt

c
a
rd

2
2
9

9
5

3
2
4

7
3

3
2
4

0
0

0

D
e
s
ig

n
&

P
ri

n
t
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

-1
5
2

0
-1

5
2

4
7

-7
6

7
6

0
7
6

1
,6

8
8

3
8
1

2
,0

6
9

4
6
9

2
,0

9
6

2
7

-3
7

6
4

C
S

&
C

X
A

p
p

ro
v

e
d

In
Y

e
a

r
S

a
v

in
g

s
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

C
S

&
C

X
D

S
B

-
A

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
0
.4

7
5

%
P

a
y

R
is

e
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

T
O

T
A

L
C

S
A

N
D

C
X

O
F

F
IC

E
1
5
,9

4
9

7
6
0

1
6
,7

0
9

5
8

1
6
,7

4
2

3
3

-3
4

6
7

M
e
m

o
ra

n
d

u
m

it
e
m

D
e
v
o
lv

e
d

S
ta

ff
in

g
B

u
d
g
e

t
-

C
S

a
n
d

C
X

1
0
,1

1
5

8
6

1
0
,2

0
1

9
2

1
0
,1

1
0

-9
1

-4
4

2
,1

6
,1

9
,2

0
-4

7

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
2

196



N
o

n
C

a
s
h

B
u

d
g

e
ts

C
a
p
it
a
l
C

h
a
rg

e
s

1
,7

9
3

0
1
,7

9
3

1
,7

9
3

0
0

0

F
R

S
1
7

A
d
js

2
8
5

4
2
8
9

2
8
9

0
0

0

R
e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

-1
1
,2

1
9

6
9

-1
1
,1

5
0

-1
1
,1

5
0

0
0

0

-9
,1

4
1

7
3

-9
,0

6
8

-9
,0

6
8

0
0

0

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
3

197



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

/
C

X
O

F
F

IC
E

B
U

D
G

E
T

M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

V
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
&

B
u

d
g

e
t

C
a
rr

y
F

o
rw

a
rd

s

N
o

te
T

o
ta

l
E

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
'0

0
0

5
4
7

M
a

y
B

u
d

g
e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

V
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T

-6
J
u

n
e

B
u

d
g

e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

V
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T

-3
J
u

ly
B

u
d

g
e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

V
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T

4
7

O
c
to

b
e
r

B
u

d
g

e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

V
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T

1
2
0

N
o

v
e
m

b
e

r
B

u
d

g
e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

V
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
a
p

p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T

1
2
7

H
A

Y
R

e
v

ie
w

-
S

tr
u

c
tu

ra
l

C
h

a
n

g
e
s

F
u

n
d

in
g

C
M

T
is

re
q
u
e
s
te

d
to

a
p

p
ro

v
e

th
e

tr
a

n
s
fe

r
o
f

£
0
.0

2
6

M
fr

o
m

th
e

S
tr

u
c
tu

ra
l
C

h
a

n
g
e
s

R
e
s
e
rv

e
to

fu
n
d

th
e

H
A

Y
G

ro
u
p

g
ra

d
in

g
re

v
ie

w
fo

r
s
e
n
io

r
m

a
n
a
g
e
rs

a
n
d

th
e

d
e

v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t
o
f

a
b

e
h
a

v
io

u
ra

l
c
o
m

p
e
te

n
c
y

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

.

2
2
8

S
tr

u
c
tu

ra
l
C

h
a
n

g
e

s
R

e
s
e

rv
e

A
v
ir
e
m

e
n
t
re

q
u

e
s
t
is

b
e
in

g
m

a
d
e

fr
o
m

th
e

S
tr

u
c
tu

ra
l
C

h
a
n

g
e
s

R
e
s
e
rv

e
to

fu
n
d

th
e

£
0
.0

2
8
M

re
d
u
n

d
a

n
c
y

c
o

s
ts

re
la

ti
n
g

to
tw

o
F

in
a
n
c
e

A
c
c
o
u
n
ts

P
a

y
a
b

le
s
ta

ff
(0

.0
2
6
M

)a
n
d

o
n
e

H
u
m

a
n

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

A
d
v
is

o
r

(£
0
.0

0
2
M

).

7
6
0

T
o

ta
l

7
3

N
o

n
C

a
s
h

V
ir

e
m

e
n

ts

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
4

198



C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

/
C

X
O

F
F

IC
E

B
U

D
G

E
T

M
O

N
IT

O
R

IN
G

B
u

d
g

e
t

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e
s

N
o

te
R

e
p

o
rt

e
d

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
'0

0
0

6
7

B
u

d
g

e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T
P

M
R

1
-

3

B
u

d
g

e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T
-

F
e
b

ru
a
ry

1
-1

7
C

X
O

ff
ic

e
-

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti

o
n

s

In
te

rn
a

l
P

ri
n
ti
n

g
R

o
o
m

w
o
rk

a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d

w
it
h

th
e

B
o
ro

u
g
h

W
e
lc

o
m

e
P

a
c
k
s

w
ill

n
o
t

b
e

c
o
m

m
s
s
io

n
e
d

u
n
ti
l
e

a
rl

y
in

th
e

n
e
x
t
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e

a
r

s
o

th
e

p
ri

n
ti
n
g

b
u

d
g
e
t

w
ill

b
e

u
n

d
e
rs

p
e

n
t
b

y
£

0
.0

0
4
M

.

A
re

q
u
e
s
t
fo

r
a

b
u

d
g

e
t
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

is
to

b
e

m
a
d
e
.

T
h
e

re
m

a
in

in
g

o
n
e
-o

ff
u
n
d

e
rs

p
e
n
d

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
th

ro
u

g
h

lo
w

e
r

tr
a
in

in
g

e
x
p
e
n
d

it
u
re

d
u

e
to

s
e
v
e
ra

l
s
ta

ff
b
e
in

g
o
n

m
a
te

n
it
y

le
a

v
e

(£
0
.0

0
3
M

),
a
n
d

lo
w

e
r

th
a
n

b
u
d

g
e
te

d
c
o
s
ts

fo
r

T
o
w

n
&

C
o

u
n
tr

y
p
ro

d
u
c
ti
o
n

a
n
d

d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o

n
(£

0
.0

1
0
M

).

2
-4

4
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

ta
l
D

S
B

F
u
rt

h
e
r

to
th

e
v
a
ri

a
n
c
e

re
p

o
rt

e
d

la
s
t
m

o
n
th

,
th

e
d

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ta

l
D

S
B

is
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

a
c
h

ie
v
e

a
n

a
d
d

it
io

n
a

l
£

0
.0

4
4
M

u
n
d

e
rs

p
e
n
d

.
T

h
is

h
a
s

a
ri
s
e

n
p
ri

m
a
ri
ly

d
u
e

to
th

e
lo

w
e
r

a
c
tu

a
l
c
o
s
ts

o
f

c
o
v
e
ri
n
g

th
e

th
e
n

v
a
c
a

n
t

A
s
s
is

ta
n
t

B
o
ro

u
g

h
S

o
lic

it
o
r

p
o
s
t
u

n
ti
l
J
a
n
u
a
ry

2
0
0
8

a
n

d
a

ls
o

a
s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

p
la

n
n

in
g

w
o
rk

.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
5

199



3
-2

0
C

X
O

ff
ic

e
-

L
P

S
A

2
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
E

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

A
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
d

w
o
rk

it
e
m

s
w

ill
b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

d
u
ri

n
g

2
0
0

8
/0

9
m

o
s
t
n
o
ta

b
ly

1
)

A
c
o
n

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n

to
w

a
rd

s
th

e
im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o

n
o
f

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

T
V

(£
0
.0

0
6

M
).

2
)

D
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
c
o

n
te

n
t
o

n
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

T
V

(£
0

.0
0

2
M

).
3
)

P
ri
n

ti
n

g
o
f

le
a
fl
e
ts

a
n
d

v
e
n
u
e

c
o
s
ts

fo
llo

w
in

g
u
p

a
c
ti
o
n
s

fr
o
m

th
e

p
re

v
io

u
s

n
e

ig
h
b
o
u
rh

o
o

d
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n

a
ir
e

(£
0
.0

0
5

M
)

A
re

q
u
e
s
t
fo

r
a

b
u

d
g

e
t
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

is
b
e
in

g
m

a
d
e
.

4
-1

2
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
P

ro
p

e
rt

y
-

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

is
re

p
o
rt

in
g

a
£
0
.0

1
2

M
o

n
e
-o

ff
s
a
v
in

g
a
ri
s
in

g
fr

o
m

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
s

a
c
ro

s
s

a
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

s
u
p
p
lie

s
a
n

d
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

b
u

d
g
e
ts

,
th

e
la

rg
e
s
t
v
a
ri
a
n
c
e
s

a
re

s
u
m

m
a
ri
s
e
d

b
e
lo

w
:

1
)

T
o
w

n
C

e
n
tr

e
m

a
rk

e
ti
n
g

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
u
n

d
e
rs

p
e

n
t
b

y
£

0
.0

0
3
M

d
u

e
to

s
ic

k
le

a
v
e

.
2
)

T
ra

in
in

g
b
u

d
g
e
ts

£
0
.0

0
3

M
a
n

d
C

o
m

p
u
te

r
P

u
rc

h
a
s
e

(£
0
.0

0
3
M

)
u

n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
t

d
u
e

to
v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
h
e

ld
.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
6

200



5
5
2

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
-

S
u

rv
e

y
o

rs

A
re

v
ie

w
o
f

th
e

la
te

s
t
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

fr
o
m

S
u
rv

e
y
o
rs

fo
re

c
a
s
ti
n
g

th
e

ir
fe

e
s

s
u
g
g
e
s
ts

th
a
t
th

e
ir

c
a
p
it
a
l

fe
e

in
c
o
m

e
w

ill
b
e

£
0
.0

7
2

M
le

s
s

th
a

n
fo

re
c
a
s
t
th

ro
u

g
h

o
u
t
th

e
y
e
a
r.

T
h
e

p
ri
n
c
ip

a
l
re

a
s
o
n
s

fo
r

th
is

a
re

a
s

fo
llo

w
s
:

1
)

£
0
.0

3
0

M
o

v
e
r

e
s
ti
m

a
ti
o
n

o
f

fe
e
s

fo
r

a
s
c
h
o
o
l
c
a
p
it
a
l
p
ro

je
c
t.

2
)

£
0
.0

3
5

M
fe

e
s

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
b
u
t
a

lr
e
a

d
y

c
la

im
e
d
.

G
e
n
e
ra

lly
c
o
n
s
u

lt
a

n
c
y

s
u
p

p
o
rt

h
a
s

a
ls

o
b
e
e

n
u
s
e

d
to

p
ro

c
e
e
d

w
it
h

s
o
m

e
s
c
h
e
m

e
s

d
u
e

to
th

e
v
a
c
a
n

t
S

u
rv

e
y
o
rs

p
o
s
ts

,
w

h
ic

h
h
a
s

re
s
u

lt
e

d
in

th
e

S
u
rv

e
y
o
r'
s

c
h
a
rg

e
s

to
th

e
c
a

p
it
a

l
s
c
h
e
m

e
s

re
d
u
c
in

g
.
T

h
e
re

h
a
s

a
ls

o
b

e
e
n

a
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

s
c
h
e
m

e
s

th
a
t
h

a
v
e

b
e
e
n

d
e

la
y
e
d

b
y

th
e

c
lie

n
t

d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

a
n
d

re
s
u
lt
e
d

in
lo

w
e
r

fe
e
s

a
c
h
ie

v
a
b

le
in

th
e

y
e
a
r.

O
n
e
-o

ff
u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d
s

to
ta

lli
n
g

£
0
.0

2
0
M

h
a

v
e

b
e
e

n
a
c
h

e
iv

e
d

fr
o
m

th
e

S
u
rv

e
y
o
r'
s

m
o
s
tl
y

s
ta

ff
re

la
te

d
(n

o
n

D
S

B
)

re
v
e

n
u
e

b
u

d
g
e
ts

d
u
e

to
th

e
s
ta

ff
v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

d
u
ri
n

g
th

e
fi
n
a

n
c
ia

l
y
e

a
r.

T
h
e
s
e

in
c
lu

d
e

c
o

n
s
u
lt
a
n
t
fe

e
s

(£
0

.0
0
7
M

),
lu

m
p

s
u
m

s
(£

0
.0

0
4

M
)

a
n
d

s
u
b
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
s

(£
0
.0

0
4
M

).

6
-8

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
-

F
a

c
il

it
ie

s

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s

a
re

fo
re

c
a
s
t
to

u
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
b

y
£

0
.0

0
8
M

d
u
e

to
R

e
p

a
ir
s

a
n
d

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

w
o
rk

a
t
th

e
D

e
p
o
t

b
e

in
g

c
a
p
it
a

lis
e
d

ra
th

e
r

th
a

n
c
o
m

in
g

fr
o
m

th
e

re
v
e

n
u
e

b
u

d
g
e
t.

7
-4

C
u

s
to

m
e
r

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

T
h
e

la
s
t
b
u

d
g
e

t
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n

g
re

p
o
rt

e
d

a
p
re

s
s
u
re

re
la

ti
n

g
to

th
e

P
a

ym
e
n
t

P
o
rt

a
l
c
o

s
ti
n
g

£
0
.0

0
4

M
th

a
t

w
ill

b
e

u
s
e
d

in
c
o
n
ju

n
c
ti
o
n

w
it
h

o
n

lin
e

p
a

ym
e
n

ts
a
n
d

w
ill

p
ro

v
id

e
a

d
ir
e
c
t
lin

k
fr

o
m

a
n

y
a

p
p

lic
a
ti
o

n
fo

rm
th

a
t
a

c
u
s
to

m
e
r

fi
lls

in
to

th
e

o
n

lin
e

p
a

ym
e
n
ts

p
ro

c
e
s
s
.
A

s
th

is
w

ill
g

o
liv

e
d

u
ri
n
g

2
0
0

8
/0

9
a
n

d
b
e

s
u
b
je

c
t
to

a
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

re
q
u

e
s
t,

th
is

s
h
o
u

ld
n
o
t

h
a
v
e

b
e

e
n

re
p
o
rt

e
d

a
s

a
p
re

s
s
u
re

a
n
d

is
th

e
re

fo
re

re
v
e
rs

e
d

h
e
re

.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
7

201



8
-3

0
F

in
a
n

c
e

-
H

o
m

e
T

o
S

c
h

o
o

l
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

In
a
d

d
it
io

n
to

th
e

£
0
.0

2
0

M
s
a
v
in

g
s

re
p

o
rt

e
d

in
N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r

a
n

d
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r'
s

b
u
d
g

e
t
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

,
a

fu
rt

h
e
r

£
0
.0

3
0
M

b
u

d
g
e
t

s
a
v
in

g
is

a
n

ti
c
ip

a
te

d
a
s

a
re

s
u
lt

o
f

a
re

v
is

e
d

fo
re

c
a
s
t
fo

r
th

e
n
u
m

b
e
rs

o
f

c
h
ild

re
n

to
b
e

u
s
in

g
th

e
s
e
rv

ic
e
.

9
4
9

F
in

a
n

c
e

-
E

x
te

rn
a
l

A
u

d
it

F
e
e
s

T
h
e

c
o
u
n
c
il

h
a
s

in
c
u
rr

e
d

a
n

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l
£
0
.0

0
4

M
e
x
te

rn
a
l
a
u
d

it
fe

e
s

in
re

la
ti
o
n

to
th

e
p

u
b
lic

e
n

q
u

ir
e
s

to
th

e
2
0

0
6
/0

7
fi
n
a

l
a
c
c
o

u
n

ts
w

it
h

re
g
a
rd

to
C

re
s
s
e
x

L
o
d
g
e

.

A
ls

o
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

in
fo

rm
e
d

b
y

th
e

A
u
d

it
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
(t

h
e

n
e

w
e
x
te

rn
a

l
a

u
d
it
o
r)

th
a
t

w
e

a
re

re
q
u
ir
e

d
to

p
a

y
fo

r
G

ra
n
t
c
la

im
s

a
u
d
it

w
o
rk

d
u
ri
n
g

2
0
0

7
/0

8
th

a
t

w
ill

b
e

c
o

n
d
u
c
te

d
b

y
th

e
m

in
2
0
0
8

/0
9
.

G
ra

n
t
c
la

im
s

a
u
d
it

w
o
rk

fo
r

2
0
0
6
/0

7
h

a
s

a
lr

e
a

d
y

b
e
e

n
p
a

id
o
u
t

o
f

th
is

y
e
a

rs
b
u
d
g
e
t

s
o

th
e
re

w
ill

b
e

tw
o

p
a

ym
e
n
ts

in
2

0
0
7

/0
8

w
h
ic

h
w

ill
re

s
u
lt

in
a

b
u

d
g
e
t

p
re

s
s
u
re

o
f

£
0
.0

4
5
M

.

B
u

d
g

e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T
-

J
a
n

u
a
ry

1
0

-5
5

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

P
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l
&

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l
P

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s

a
re

re
p
o
rt

in
g

a
to

ta
l
s
a

v
in

g
o
f

£
0

.0
5

5
M

.

A
s
h
o
rt

fa
ll

in
in

c
o
m

e
is

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
o
f

£
0
.0

4
4

M
in

c
o
m

e
re

fl
e
c
ti
n
g

th
e

a
c
tu

a
l
ti
m

in
g

o
f

re
n
t
re

v
ie

w
s

a
n
d

re
n
ta

l
in

c
o
m

e
c
h
a
rg

e
a

b
le

fo
r

th
e

re
m

a
in

d
e
r

o
f

th
e

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l
y
e
a
r.

H
o

w
e
v
e
r

e
x
p
e
n
d

it
u
re

w
ill

b
e

£
0
.0

9
9
M

le
s
s

th
a
n

b
u
d

g
e
te

d
d
u

e
to

th
e

fo
llo

w
in

g
fa

c
to

rs
:

L
a
s
t

y
e

a
r

re
a
c
ti
v
e

m
a
in

te
n

a
n
c
e

o
v
e
rs

p
e

n
t
th

e
b

u
d
g

e
t

b
u
t
th

is
y
e
a
r

it
is

fo
re

c
a
s
t
to

b
e

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
t

a
s

le
s
s

w
o
rk

w
a
s

re
q

u
ir
e

d
.
-£

0
.0

3
8

M
A

n
a

ly
s
is

o
f

L
o
n

g
s
h
o
t

L
a
n

e
re

n
ta

l
e
x
p
e

n
d

it
u
re

b
u
d

g
e
t
s
h
o

w
s

b
u

d
g
e

t
h

ig
h

e
r

th
a

n
re

q
u
ir
e

d
.
-£

0
.0

1
9
M

F
o
re

c
a
s
t
s
a
v
in

g
o
n

J
o

in
t

A
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

B
u

d
g
e
t

d
u

e
to

th
e

n
u
m

b
e
rs

o
f
fo

rm
e
r

B
C

C
p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s

b
e
in

g
re

d
u
c
e
d

-£
0
.0

2
0
M

L
o

w
e
r

le
v
e

ls
o
f

w
ri

te
-o

ff
s

th
a
n

b
u
d
g

e
te

d
-£

0
.0

2
2

M

F
ro

m
th

is
n
e
t
s
a

v
in

g
,

a
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

is
b
e
in

g
re

q
u
e
s
te

d
fo

r
£
0
.0

4
0
M

to
w

a
rd

s
e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l
ro

o
fi
n
g

w
o
rk

s
th

a
t
w

ill
b

e
re

q
u

ir
e
d

d
u
ri
n

g
2

0
0
8
/0

9
.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
8

202



1
1

-4
D

e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c

&
R

e
g

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

T
h
e

p
ri
n
ti
n
g

b
u
d

g
e
t

w
it
h
in

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

w
ill

b
e

u
n
d

e
rs

p
e
n
t

b
y

£
0
.0

0
4

M
d

u
e

m
o
s
tl
y

to
th

e
c
o
n
ti
n

u
e
d

u
s
e

o
f

th
e

M
o
d
e
rn

.
G

o
v

s
y
s
te

m
re

q
u
ir
in

g
le

s
s

a
g
e
n

d
a

p
ri

n
ti
n
g

fr
o
m

th
e

P
ri
n
t

R
o
o
m

.
A

c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

re
q
u

e
s
t
is

rb
e

in
g

m
a
d
e

to
u
s
e

th
is

b
u
d
g

e
t
to

fu
n
d

a
C

o
m

p
u
te

ri
s
e

d
R

e
c
o
rd

s
R

e
g

is
te

r
fo

r
th

e
B

ir
th

s
D

e
a

th
s

a
n
d

M
a
rr

ia
g
e
s

T
e
a
m

.

1
2

-1
2

C
h

ie
f

E
x

e
c
u

ti
v

e
s

O
ff

ic
e

T
h
e

u
n
d
e
rs

p
e

n
d

h
a
s

b
e

e
n

a
c
h
ie

v
e

d
a
c
c
ro

s
s

a
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

a
c
c
o
u
n
t
c
o
d

e
s

a
c
ro

s
s

th
e

C
h

ie
f

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
's

O
ff

ic
e
,
m

o
s
t
n
o
ta

b
ly

w
it
h

in
o
ff

ic
e

s
ta

ti
o
n

e
ry

a
n
d

c
o

n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y
.

£
0
.0

1
2
M

h
a
d

b
e
e

n
e
a
rm

a
rk

e
d

to
fu

n
d

a
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
s
ys

te
m

w
it
h
in

th
e

C
h

ie
f

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
's

O
ff

ic
e

w
h

ic
h

w
ill

n
o

w
b

e
im

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
d
u
ri
n

g
2
0

0
8
/0

9
a

n
d

it
is

th
e
re

fo
re

a
ls

o
s
u
b
je

c
t
to

a
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

re
q

u
e
s
t.

1
3

-1
0

L
o

c
a
l
T

a
x
a
ti

o
n

C
o
u
rt

c
o
s
ts

in
c
o
m

e
is

a
n

ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

£
0
.0

1
0

M
u
p

a
g

a
in

s
t

b
u
d

g
e
t.

1
4

6
H

u
m

a
n

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y

w
o
rk

fo
r

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
p
la

n
n

in
g

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

c
o

m
m

is
io

n
e
d

a
n
d

is
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

in
J
u
n

e
2

0
0
8
.

T
h
is

w
ill

c
o
s
t

a
to

ta
l
o
f

£
0
.0

0
5
M

b
u
t

h
a

lf
o
f

th
is

s
u
m

w
ill

b
e

in
c
u
rr

e
d

d
u
ri
n

g
2

0
0
8
/0

9
s
o

a
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

is
p
ro

p
o
s
e

d
.

T
h
e

tr
a
n
s
fe

r
o
f

th
e

H
e
a

lt
h

&
S

a
fe

ty
T

e
a
m

fr
o
m

E
N

V
L

in
to

H
u
m

a
n

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

w
ill

re
q
u
ir
e

s
o
m

e
fu

rn
it
u
re

to
b
e

p
u
rc

h
a
s
e

d
,
c
o
s
ti
n
g

£
0
.0

0
3

M
.

It
is

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

to
fu

n
d

b
o
th

o
f

th
e
s
e

p
re

s
s
u
re

s
fr

o
m

th
e

d
e
p

a
rt

m
e
n
ta

l
u
n

d
e
rs

p
e

n
d

o
n

th
e

D
S

B
,

re
p
o
rt

e
d

b
e

lo
w

in
N

o
te

1
6

.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
5
9

203



1
5

4
C

u
s
to

m
e
r

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

A
P

a
ym

e
n

t
P

o
rt

a
l
c
o
s
ti
n

g
£

0
.0

0
4
M

is
p
la

n
n

e
d

th
a
t

w
ill

b
e

u
s
e

d
in

c
o
n
ju

n
c
ti
o
n

w
it
h

o
n
lin

e
p
a

ym
e
n
ts

a
n
d

w
ill

p
ro

v
id

e
a

d
ir
e
c
t

lin
k

fr
o
m

a
n

y
a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

fo
rm

th
a
t
a

c
u
s
to

m
e
r

fi
lls

in
to

th
e

o
n
lin

e
p
a

ym
e
n
ts

p
ro

c
e
s
s
.
T

h
is

w
ill

g
o

liv
e

d
u

ri
n
g

2
0
0

8
/0

9
a
n

d
is

s
u
b
je

c
t

to
a

c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

re
q
u

e
s
t.

It
is

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

to
fu

n
d

th
is

p
re

s
s
u
re

fr
o
m

th
e

d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ta

l
u
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
o

n
th

e
D

S
B

,
re

p
o
rt

e
d

b
e

lo
w

in
N

o
te

1
6
.

1
6

-1
2

D
e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

ta
l
D

S
B

F
u
rt

h
e
r

to
th

e
£
0
.0

3
5

M
D

S
B

v
a
ri
a

n
c
e

re
p

o
rt

e
d

la
s
t
m

o
n
th

,
th

e
d
e
p

a
rt

e
m

n
ta

l
D

S
B

is
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

a
c
h
ie

v
e

a
n

a
d
d

it
io

n
a
l
0
.0

1
2

M
u
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
d

u
e

to
th

e
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e

d
le

v
e
l
o
f

m
a
n
a
g
e
d

v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
.

B
u

d
g

e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

b
y

C
M

T
-

D
e

c
e
m

b
e

r

1
7

-5
F

in
a
n

c
e

/
H

o
m

e
to

S
c
h

o
o

l
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

In
a
d

d
it
io

n
to

th
e

£
0
.0

1
5

M
s
a
v
in

g
re

p
o
rt

e
d

la
s
t
m

o
n
th

,
a

fu
rt

h
e
r

£
0

.0
0

5
M

b
u
d

g
e
t

s
a
v
in

g
is

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
a
s

a
re

s
u

lt
o
f

th
e

fo
re

c
a
s
t
n
u
m

b
e
rs

o
f

c
h
ild

re
n

to
b
e

u
s
in

g
th

e
s
e
rv

ic
e

.

1
8

-4
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
P

ro
p

e
rt

y
/

F
a
c
il

it
ie

s

A
£
0

.0
1

4
M

b
u
d

g
e
t

p
re

s
s
u
re

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

re
p
o
rt

e
d

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

c
a

u
s
e
d

b
y

th
e

m
o
v
e

o
f

th
e

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

M
e
n
ta

l
H

e
a

lt
h

T
e
a
m

fr
o
m

T
im

e
S

q
u
a
re

to
n

e
w

e
x
te

rn
a

l
p
re

m
is

e
s
.
T

h
e

lo
s
s

o
f

in
c
o

m
e

fr
o
m

th
e

P
ri
m

a
ry

C
a
re

T
ru

s
t
w

a
s

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
fr

o
m

th
e

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
d
a
te

o
f

th
e

m
o
v
e

(1
9
/1

0
/2

0
0
7
)

b
u
t

in
fa

c
t
th

e
o
ff

ic
e
s

w
e
re

v
a
c
a
te

d
o

n
2
6

/1
1
/2

0
0
7
.

T
h
e
re

fo
re

£
0
.0

0
4

M
m

o
re

re
n
ta

l
in

c
o
m

e
w

a
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d

th
a
n

o
ri
g
in

a
lly

fo
re

c
a
s
t
a
n

d
re

p
o

rt
e
d

to
C

M
T

.

1
9

-1
0

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

D
S

B

T
h
e

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
o
f

v
a
c
a
n

t
p
o
s
ts

w
it
h
in

th
e

D
e

p
a
rt

m
e
n
t,

m
o
s
t
n
o
ta

b
ly

w
it
h
in

th
e

S
u
rv

e
y
o
r'
s

T
e
a
m

is
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

a
c
h
ie

v
e

a
£
0
.0

1
0
M

u
n

d
e
rs

p
e
n

d
w

h
ic

h
w

ill
e
n
s
u
re

th
e

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

a
n

d
th

e
C

h
ie

f
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
's

O
ff

ic
e

w
ill

b
e

w
it
h

in
b
u
d

g
e
t,

e
x
c
lu

d
in

g
th

e
C

P
A

a
n
d

E
x
te

rn
a

l
A

u
d
it

p
re

s
s
u
re

o
f

£
0
.1

7
5
M

.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
6
0

204



2
0

-2
5

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

D
S

B

T
h
e

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
o
f

v
a
c
a
n

t
p
o
s
ts

w
it
h
in

th
e

D
e

p
a
rt

m
e
n
t
is

a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

a
c
h

ie
v
e

a
fu

rt
h
e
r

£
0
.0

2
5

M
u
n
d
e
rs

p
e
n
d

w
h
ic

h
w

ill
b
e

s
u
b
je

c
t
to

a
c
a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

re
q
u
e
s
t
to

fu
n
d

tw
o

p
ro

je
c
ts

(s
e
e

a
n

n
e
x

D
).

3
3

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
6
1

205



T
o

ta
l

E
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

R
e
p

o
rt

e
d

in
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r'

s
B

u
d

g
e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

1
0

L
e
g

a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s

A
n

in
d

e
x

s
ys

te
m

fo
r

L
e
g
a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

d
e

e
d
s
.

1
5

F
in

a
n

c
e

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y

s
u
p
p

o
rt

fo
r

a
'le

a
n
's

tu
d

y
o
n

A
c
c
o
u
n
ts

R
e

c
e
iv

a
b
le

2
5

S
u

b
to

ta
l

R
e
p

o
rt

e
d

in
J
a
n

u
a
ry

's
B

u
d

g
e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

4
0

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

P
ro

p
e
rt

y

P
a
rt

fu
n
d

in
g

£
0
.0

8
0

M
o
f

e
s
s
e
n
ti
a

l
ro

o
fi
n
g

w
o
rk

s
to

b
e

s
ta

rt
e
d

d
u
ri
n

g
2
0

0
8
/0

9
.

4
D

e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c

&
R

e
g

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

-
R

B
D

M

A
C

o
m

p
u
te

ri
s
e

d
R

e
c
o
rd

s
R

e
g
is

te
r

is
n
e

e
d
e

d
b

y
th

e
B

ir
th

s
D

e
a
th

s
a
n

d
M

a
rr

ia
g

e
s

T
e
a
m

.

1
2

C
h

ie
f

E
x

e
c
u

ti
v

e
s

O
ff

ic
e

T
h
is

£
0
.0

1
2

M
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

e
a
rm

a
rk

e
d

to
fu

n
d

a
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
s
ys

te
m

to
b
e

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
d
u
ri

n
g

2
0
0
8

/0
9
.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
6
2

206



3
H

u
m

a
n

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y

w
o
rk

fo
r

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
p
la

n
n

in
g

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

c
o

m
m

is
io

n
e
d

a
n
d

is
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
to

b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

in
J
u
n

e
2
0
0
8

.
H

a
lf

th
e

b
u
d
g

e
t
a

llo
c
a
te

d
fo

r
th

is
w

ill
n
e

e
d

to
b
e

c
a
rr

ie
d

fo
rw

a
rd

.

4
C

u
s
to

m
e
r

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
a

ym
e
n
t

P
o
rt

a
l
(£

0
.0

0
4
M

).
T

h
is

w
ill

b
e

u
s
e
d

in
c
o

n
ju

n
c
ti
o
n

w
it
h

o
n

lin
e

p
a

ym
e
n
ts

a
n
d

w
ill

p
ro

v
id

e
a

d
ir
e
c
t

lin
k

fr
o
m

a
n

y
a
p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
fo

rm
th

a
t
a

c
u
s
to

m
e
r

fi
lls

in
to

th
e

o
n
lin

e
p
a

ym
e
n
ts

p
ro

c
e
s
s
.

6
0

G
ra

n
ts

to
V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
O

rg
a

n
is

a
ti

o
n

s

T
h
e

a
n
n
u

a
l
g
ra

n
t
to

B
F

V
A

w
a
s

re
d
u
c
e

d
in

th
e

s
h
o
rt

te
rm

in
th

e
lig

h
t

if
it
s

re
s
e
rv

e
s

a
n
d

th
is

n
o

w
n
e
e

d
s

to
b

e
re

p
la

c
e

d
in

2
0
0
8
/0

9

1
2
3

S
u

b
to

ta
l

N
e
w

C
a
rr

y
F

o
rw

a
rd

s
to

R
e
p

o
rt

F
e
b

ru
a

ry
B

u
d

g
e
t

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

9
C

X
O

ff
ic

e
-

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti

o
n

s
T

e
a
m

T
h
re

e
p
ro

je
c
ts

w
e
re

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d

d
u
ri
n

g
2
0

0
7
/0

8
b

u
t

w
ill

n
o
t
b
e

c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d

u
n
ti
l
2

0
0
8
/0

9

1
)

In
te

rn
a
l
P

ri
n
ti
n
g

R
o
o
m

w
o
rk

a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d

w
it
h

th
e

B
o
ro

u
g
h

W
e
lc

o
m

e
P

a
c
k
s

fu
n
d
e
d

fr
o
m

th
e

p
ri
n
ti
n
g

b
u
d

g
e
t

£
0
.0

0
4
M

.

2
)

D
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
g
o
o

d
q

u
a

lit
y

tr
a
n
s
la

ti
o

n
o
f

c
o
n
ta

c
t

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

in
to

th
e

m
a
in

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

la
n

g
u
a

g
e
s
,
th

a
t
c
a

n
b

e
u
s
e
d

in
m

a
jo

r
c
o
u
n
c
il

p
u
b

lic
a
ti
o
n
s

-
£

0
.0

0
2
M

3
)

D
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
o
n

lin
e

c
a
p

a
c
it
y

o
f

T
o
w

n
&

C
o

u
n
tr

y
-

£
0

.0
0
3
M

.

A
c

a
rr

y
fo

rw
a
rd

o
f

th
e
s
e

b
u

d
g

e
ts

w
il
l
a
ll
o

w
th

is
w

o
rk

to
b

e
c
o

m
p

le
te

d
w

it
h

o
u

t
a
d

v
e
rs

e
ly

e
ff

e
c
ti

n
g

th
e

2
0
0
8

/0
9

b
u

d
g

e
ts

w
h

ic
h

a
re

fu
ll

y
c
o

m
m

it
te

d
.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
6
3

207



1
6

H
u

m
a
n

R
e
s
o

u
rc

e
s

-
O

c
c
u

p
a
ti

o
n

a
l
H

e
a
lt

h
T

h
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t
to

p
ro

v
id

e
th

e
O

c
c
u
p
a

ti
o

n
a
l
H

e
a

lt
h

s
e
rv

ic
e

w
a
s

re
le

t
w

it
h

e
ff

e
c
t
fr

o
m

J
u
ly

2
0

0
7
.

£
0
.0

0
5
M

S
a

v
in

g
s

h
a
v
e

b
e
e

n
re

p
o
rt

e
d

to
C

M
T

in
N

o
v
e

m
b
e
r'
s

B
u
d
g

e
t
M

o
n

it
o
ri

n
g

a
lo

n
g

w
it
h

£
0
.0

1
0

M
b

u
d
g

e
t

s
a
v
in

g
in

J
u

ly
's

B
u
d

g
e
t

M
o

n
it
o
ri

n
g
.

H
o

w
e
v
e
r

a
n

a
ly

s
is

o
f

s
e
rv

ic
e

u
s
a

g
e

s
u
g

g
e
s
ts

a
b
a
c
k
lo

g
o
f

a
p
p
o

in
tm

e
n
ts

h
a

s
b
e
e
n

a
c
c
ru

in
g

th
ro

u
g
h

a
c
o
m

b
in

a
ti
o
n

o
f

in
c
re

a
s
e

d
s
ic

k
n
e
s
s

a
b
s
e
n
c
e

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t
re

fe
rr

a
ls

a
n
d

p
e
ri
o

d
s

w
h
e
re

th
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r
c
o
u
ld

n
o
t

s
c
h
e
d
u

le
a
p
p

o
in

tm
e
n
ts

d
u
e

to
tu

rn
o

v
e
r

o
f

th
e
ir

s
ta

ff
.T

h
e

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
c
o
s
t
o
f

th
e

b
a
c
k
lo

g
in

re
fe

rr
a
ls

is
£
0
.0

1
6
M

a
n

d
it

is
a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
th

a
t
th

e
y

w
ill

b
e

c
le

a
re

d
d
u
ri
n

g
2

0
0
8
/0

9
.
T

h
e

o
n
g

o
in

g
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

re
fe

rr
a
ls

is
b
e
in

g
m

o
n
it
o
re

d
a
n

d
s
h
o

u
ld

th
e

y
re

m
a
in

h
ig

h
e
r

th
a
n

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

b
u

d
g
e

te
d

d
u
ri

n
g

2
0
0
8
/0

9
,

o
n
g

o
in

g
b

u
d
g

e
t
fu

n
d
in

g
w

ill
b
e

re
q
u

e
s
te

d
th

ro
u

g
h

th
e

2
0
0
9
/1

0
b
u
d

g
e
t

p
ro

c
e
s
s
.

2
0

C
X

O
ff

ic
e

-
L

P
S

A
2

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

E
n

g
a
g

e
m

e
n

t

A
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
d

w
o
rk

it
e
m

s
w

ill
b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

d
u
ri

n
g

2
0
0

8
/0

9
,
th

e
m

o
s
t
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t
b
e

in
g
:

1
)

A
c
o
n

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n

to
w

a
rd

s
th

e
im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o

n
o
f

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

T
V

(£
0
.0

0
6

M
).

2
)

D
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
c
o

n
te

n
t
o

n
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

T
V

(£
0

.0
0

2
M

).
3
)

P
ri
n

ti
n

g
o
f

le
a
fl
e
ts

a
n
d

v
e
n
u
e

c
o
s
ts

fo
llo

w
in

g
u
p

a
c
ti
o
n
s

fr
o
m

th
e

p
re

v
io

u
s

n
e

ig
h
b
o
u
rh

o
o

d
q
u

e
s
ti
o

n
n
a

ir
e

(£
0
.0

0
5
M

)

3
0

D
ir

e
c
to

r
o

f
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

-
Im

p
le

m
e
n

ti
n

g
th

e
E

q
u

a
li
ty

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

A
c
ti

o
n

P
la

n

O
n

th
e

2
6
th

M
a
rc

h
,

C
M

T
a

g
re

e
d

th
a
t

£
3

0
,0

0
0

s
h
o

u
ld

b
e

c
a
rr

ie
d

fo
rw

a
rd

to
c
o

v
e
r

th
e

c
o
s
t
o
f

e
x
te

rn
a
l
s
u

p
p
o
rt

to
u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

e
q
u
a

lit
y

im
p
a
c
t
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t
w

o
rk

.
T

h
e

w
o
rk

w
ill

fo
c
u
s

o
n

th
e

th
re

e
k
e

y
a
re

a
s

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d

fo
r

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t
w

it
h

in
th

e
E

q
u
a
lit

y
S

ta
n
d

a
rd

A
c
ti
o

n
P

la
n

,
b

y
th

e
E

q
u
a

lit
ie

s
S

u
b

G
ro

u
p
:

1
)

E
q

u
a
lit

y
Im

p
a
c
t
A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

(E
IA

s
)-

re
v
ie

w
in

g
p
ro

g
re

s
s

to
d

a
te

,
e
s
ta

b
lis

h
in

g
n
e

w
p
ri
o
ri

ti
e
s

a
n
d

c
o
m

p
le

ti
n
g

o
u
ts

ta
n

d
in

g
E

IA
s

2
)

E
q

u
a
lit

y
Im

p
a
c
t
A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

-
re

fr
e
s
h
in

g
g
u

id
a
n
c
e

a
n

d
re

d
o
in

g
tr

a
in

in
g

fo
r

s
ta

ff
c
o
n
d
u
c
ti
n
g

E
IA

s
.

3
)

E
q

u
a
lit

y
a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n
ts

fo
r

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t.

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
6
4

208



7
5

S
u

b
to

ta
l

2
2
3

T
o

ta
l

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
R
e
p
o
rt

P
a
g
e
6
5

209



210

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 

5 June 2008 
 

 
CORPORATE ASSESSMENT FINAL AUDIT COMMISSION REPORT AND 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

   
 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 This report invites the Commission to consider the Council’s Corporate Assessment 
Improvement Plan, produced following the Audit Commission’s publication of their 
final report on their Corporate Assessment of the Council.  

 
 
2 SUGGESTED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the Corporate Assessment Improvement Plan be noted. 
 
 
3 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
3.1 At its meeting on 18 March, the Council’s Executive considered the attached report 

on the Corporate Assessment Improvement Plan. The Executive resolved that: the 
findings of the final Corporate Assessment Report (Appendix A to the report of the 
Chief Executive) from the Audit Commission be noted, and that the proposed actions 
on the Improvement Plan (Appendix B to the report of the Chief Executive) be 
endorsed. 

 
 
Contact for further information 
 
Richard Beaumont – 01344 352283 
e-mail: Richard.beaumont@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

211



212

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

TO: THE EXECUTIVE 
 18 MARCH 2008 

 

 
CORPORATE ASSESSMENT FINAL AUDIT COMMISSION REPORT AND 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
(Chief Executive) 

 
1 PURPOSE OF DECISION 
 
1.1 As part of the wider Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) “The Harder Test”, 

the Audit Commission published on 19 February 2008 their final report on their 
Corporate Assessment (CA) of Bracknell Forest Borough Council. This report sets 
out the main findings of the report and highlights the areas of improvement which the 
Audit Commission has recommended that Bracknell Forest Borough Council should 
review.  

 
1.2 In order to address the areas of improvement identified, we have developed a 

Corporate Assessment Improvement Plan, whose actions will be included and 
monitored through service plans of the relevant directorates.  The Plan will be shared 
with the Audit Commission.  Approval is now sought from CMT on the actions 
included in the Improvement Plan.  CMT to note that an earlier draft of the 
Improvement Plan was circulated on 6 February for comment. 

 
 
2 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1  That CMT’s reviews the findings of the final Corporate Assessment Report 

(Appendix A) from the Audit Commission.  
 
2.2 That CMT finalises and approved the proposed actions on the Improvement 

Plan (Appendix B). 
 
 
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is important for the Council to respond to the final findings of Audit Commission’s 

report and take action on the areas of improvement identified.  
 
4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 The final Corporate Assessment Report (Appendix A) reflects discussions held 

between the Council and the Audit Commission on their findings and have 
undergone their own internal consistency process.  Although it is arguable that the 
prioritisation judgement in particular does not fully recognise the excellent work done 
by the Council, the Chief Executive and leading Councillors decided it would not be a 
productive use of time or resources to appeal against the findings of the final 
Corporate Assessment Report during the appeal period between December 2007 
and January 2008.  The Improvement Plan (Appendix B) has been developed with 
the relevant lead officers and Directors and reflects existing service priorities and 
planned actions.   

 
 

213



 
 
 
 
5 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
  

Main Findings of the Corporate Assessment Report (Appendix A) 
 

Scoring 
 
5.1 Each key line of enquiry assessed under the CA was given a score out of 4 which 

translates as:  
 

1 – Inadequate Performance (below minimum requirements) 
2 – Adequate Performance (at only minimum requirements) 
3 – Performing well (consistently above minimum requirements) 
4 – Performing strongly (well above minimum requirements) 

  
5.2 The Council received an overall Corporate Assessment Score of 3 – ‘Performing 

well’.  The scores and main findings for each key line of enquiry are detailed below. 
 

Ambition – score: 4  
  
5.3 This is the Council’s highest scoring area of the report.  The Audit Commission found 

that the Council has clear and challenging ambitions which are founded on a sense 
of pride for the area and a commitment to quality of life and environment and an 
understanding of local, regional and national context.     

 
5.4 The Council has a good understanding of the challenges it faces and, with its good 

political and managerial leadership, takes the leading role with partners to properly 
articulate the long-term ambitions for the area through the Sustainable Community 
Strategy (SCS) and the Local Area Agreement (LAA).  These challenging and 
sustainable ambitions are supported by the Council’s vision and medium-term 
objectives are reflective of what is important to local people as result of effective 
engagement, consultation and communication with the public. 

 
5.5 Large scale projects such as the housing stock transfer and the waste management 

and disposal facilities agreement were cited as examples of the Council’s challenging 
ambitions.  The regeneration of Bracknell town centre in particular was used to 
demonstrate the scale of the Council’s “outstanding commitment, pride and ambition” 
for the community and the region. 

 
Prioritisation – score: 3  

 
5.6 It was acknowledged that the Council has in its priorities “appropriately focussed on 

local and national issues and addressing the needs of the local community”.  Long-
term priorities are clear and have been developed effectively in partnership.  The LAA 
is seen as a clear framework for sharing those priorities and improving outcomes for 
local communities. Effective prioritisation, information sharing and good 
understanding among partner organisations helps to ensure realism and delivery of 
ambitions.   

  
5.7 It was felt that the streamlining of the Council’s objectives for 2008-2011 has 

improved the Council’s focus and the over-arching priorities are closely linked to the 
wider ambitions for the area.  The Audit Commission highlighted the Council’s 

214



priorities are underpinned by robust or developing strategies in all key areas to 
deliver its priorities by providing a good framework for service planning.   

 
5.8 The Audit Commission recognised that while delivering good value for money the 

Council has maintained a good focus on its priorities by working to balance its budget 
and taking difficult decisions including transferring the housing stock, instituting 
alternative weekly waste collections and dealing with the development constraints of 
the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area.  The Council was judged as well 
placed to take further difficult decisions in order to maintain its priority services and a 
balanced budget. 

 
Capacity – score: 3  

  
5.9 The Audit Commission believes the Council is meeting the challenges its faces as a 

small unitary council with knowledgeable and effective councillors, robust decision-
making frameworks and supportive and well-trained staff. Delivery is seen as 
effectively supported by HR, project management, risk management and ICT and 
capacity increased through good partnership working and effective service 
management.  Decision-making, scrutiny and standards of behaviour structures are 
also effective.   

 
Performance Management – score: 3  

  
5.10 Performance management is judged as effective, with a strong cross-council 

commitment and is bolstered by external and overview and scrutiny challenges.  It is 
used to drive improvement which the Audit Commission saw in all priority areas for 
the Council and recognised a history of achievement in most service, improvement in 
weaker areas and delivering community benefits across shared priorities with 
partners.  The good balance between delivering on local needs and national and 
regional issues has been evidenced by good results in national performance 
indicators and satisfaction levels among local residents.  The Council also 
communicates well on its performance to staff, councillors and the public. 

  
Achievement – score: 3 

 
5.11 The report acknowledged that the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership and its 

work to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour is improving.  Adult Social Services 
was also highlighted as having improved and was seen to deliver good outcomes to 
older people in the Borough.  Health and well-being was seen as supported through 
the Council’s work to promote the take up of exercise, leisure and the addressing of 
health inequalities.  Outcomes for children and young people were assessed as good 
with most in need benefiting from prompt and effective services.  A strong focus was 
noted on promoting sustainable communities and good outcomes were seen to be 
achieved in most areas including waste management, planning, housing and the 
management of public spaces.  Work towards sustainable transport outcomes was 
seen to increase the use of cycling, buses and walking while keeping traffic growth 
and congestion in check. 

 
Areas for Improvement 

  
5.12 As part of its report, the Audit Commission highlighted areas to be improved by the 

Council as listed below and which the Improvement Plan (Appendix B) looks to 
address: 

 

• Level of the Qualities Standard for Local Government 

215



• The completion and implementation of current black and minority ethnic 
community mapping work  

• Addressing of low representation of black and minority ethnic and disabled 
workers among staff. 

• Developing a medium and longer term workforce plan which is shared with 
partners 

• Developing actions to address fear of crime  

• Building on work targeting sustainability within the Council 
 

Effect on overall CPA Rating 
  
5.13 The Council has received an overall score of 3 in the ‘Harder Test’ Corporate 

Assessment.  It is worth noting, that only 6 Councils have achieved a higher sore 
than Bracknell Forest under the Harder Test Corporate Assessment rules, and each 
of these has only scored ‘4’ on two Key Lines of Inquiry.  As the Bracknell Forest 
score is lower than the 2004 CA rating of 4, both the new and previous scores are 
included in the authority’s scorecard, but the higher of the two scores has been used 
to determine the overall CPA category, until all councils have undergone a CA under 
the ‘Harder Test’ rules.  It is expected that this protection will be lifted once the Audit 
Commission publishes its 2008 CPA scores in February 2009, although this proposal 
is currently under consultation as part of the CPA 2008 framework guidance.  The 
final guidance will be published in April 2008. 

 
 
6 ADVICE RECEIVED FROM STATUTORY AND OTHER OFFICERS 
 
 Borough Solicitor 
 
6.1 Nothing to add to the report. 
 
 Borough Treasurer 
 
6.2 No additional funding has been incorporated within the 2008/09 budget to help 

deliver the action plan attached to this report.  The report assumes that where 
resources or effort is required it is provided from within existing budget and staffing 
resources. 

 
 Impact Assessment 
 
6.3 The Improvement Plan itself includes actions to address equalities issues raised as 

part of the Corporate Assessment Report.   
 
 Strategic Risk Management Issues  
 
6.4 Risk management issues relating to actions in this plan have been or will be dealt 

with as part of the service planning process. 
 

Other Officers 
 
6.5 None. 
 
 
 
 

216



7 CONSULTATION 
 
7.1 The Improvement Plan was sent to CT and other key officers for comment. 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Appendix A - Corporate Assessment: Bracknell Forest Borough Council (Audit Commission, 

February 2008)  
Appendix B - Bracknell Forest Borough Council Corporate Assessment Improvement Plan 

2008-2010 (v.1.1. 15-02-08) 
 
Contact for further information 
 
Victor Nicholls 
Assistant Chief Executive 
Victor.Nicholls@Bracknell-Forest.gov.uk 
Tel: 5604 
 
Morag Dowds 
Senior Policy Officer 
Morag.Dowds@Bracknell-Forest.gov.uk 
Tel:2174 
 
Doc. Ref.: 
H:\Performance_and_Improvement\CPA \CPA 2007-08\Improvement Plan 
 

217



218

This page is intentionally left blank



C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
Im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -
 2

0
0
8
-1

0
 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 B
 

  K
e
y
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
: 

B
y
 w

h
e
n
: 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re

/ 
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In

d
ic

a
to

r:
 

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r/
 L

e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r:

 

1
 T

o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 h

ig
h
e
r 
le

v
e
ls

 o
f 
th

e
 E

q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

 f
o
r 

L
o
c
a
l 
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
(c
f 
p
a
ra
. 
1
5
 o
f 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
R
e
p
o
rt
) 

E
q

u
a
lit

y
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 
a
g

e
n
c
y
 

(a
) 

A
c
h
ie

v
e
 l
e

v
e
l 
3
 o

f 
th

e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

: 
S

u
m

m
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

N
I 

1
4
0
 –

 F
a
ir
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
b
y
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

D
C

S
) 

•
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 t

o
 r

e
a
c
h
 L

e
v
e
l 
3
 o

f 
th

e
 E

S
L
G

 t
o
 b

e
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 

E
q

u
a
lit

ie
s
 S

u
b
 G

ro
u
p
. 

 

J
a
n
 2

0
0
8
 

 A
ll 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
. 

D
C

S
/E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 S

u
b
 G

ro
u
p

 

•
 E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 I
m

p
a
c
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 (
E

IA
) 

–
 R

e
fr

e
s
h
 g

u
id

a
n
c
e
, 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 n

e
w

 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 o

u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 

E
IA

s
. 

 

S
e
p
t 

2
0
0
8
 

G
u
id

a
n
c
e
 r

e
fr

e
s
h
e
d
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
. 

A
ll 

E
IA

s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
. 

D
C

S
  

•
 R

e
v
ie

w
in

g
 a

rr
a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 

 

D
e
c
 2

0
0
8
 

 A
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
ts

 r
e
v
ie

w
e
d
 a

n
d
 a

m
e
n
d
e
d
. 

D
C

S
  

N
.B

. 
T

h
e
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 a

b
o
v
e
 w

ill
 e

n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

to
 f
u
lf
il 

it
s
 a

im
 o

f 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 l
e
v
e
l 
4
 i
n
 2

0
1
1
/1

2
 a

n
d
 l
e
v
e
l 
5
 i
n
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
 t

o
 b

e
 a

s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 i
n
 

S
u
m

m
e
r 

2
0
1
4
. 
 T

h
is

 t
im

e
lin

e
 i
s
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
f 

a
n
y
 o

f 
th

e
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
g

u
id

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 t
h
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

 i
s
 r

e
v
is

e
d
. 

 2
 C

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
B

M
E
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 (
c
f 
p
a
ra
. 
1
5
 o
f 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
R
e
p
o
rt
) 

 (a
) 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 e

th
n
ic

it
y
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 m

a
p
p
in

g
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0
0
8
 

P
ro

fi
le

 c
o
m

p
le

te
 b

y
 E

x
p
e
ri
a
n
  

 
D

C
S

 

(b
) 

P
u
b
lic

is
e
 e

th
n
ic

it
y
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 m

a
p
p
in

g
 

d
a
ta

 t
o
 d

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 k

e
y
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
8
 

E
x
p
e
ri
a
n
 r

e
p
o
rt

 c
ir
c
u
la

te
d
  

 M
o
n

it
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
u
s
e
 m

a
d
e
 b

y
 d

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

/p
a
rt

n
e
rs

 b
y
 

th
e
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

o
h
e
s
io

n
 &

 E
n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

W
o
rk

in
g

 G
ro

u
p
  

 

D
C

S
  

(c
) 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 f
o
r 

u
p
d
a
te

s
 t
o
 

e
th

n
ic

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 m

a
p
p
in

g
 

J
u
ly

 2
0
0
8
 

A
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n
t 
in

 p
la

c
e
 f
o
r 

u
p
d
a
te

s
 

C
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
 b

y
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

o
h
e
s
io

n
 &

 
D

C
S

  

219



K
e
y
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
: 

B
y
 w

h
e
n
: 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re

/ 
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In

d
ic

a
to

r:
 

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r/
 L

e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r:

 

E
n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
W

o
rk

in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 

 

•
 

P
ra

c
ti
c
a
l 
g

u
id

a
n
c
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t

o
  

d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

. 
 

•
 

M
o
n

it
o
ri
n
g
 b

y
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

C
o
h
e
s
io

n
 &

 E
n
g

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
W

o
rk

in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 

 

(d
) 

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
e
v
e
ry

 m
a
jo

r 
p
la

n
/s

tr
a
te

g
y
 

p
ro

d
u
c
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

c
a
n
 

d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
e
th

n
ic

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

m
a
p
p
in

g
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

in
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t

a
rg

e
ti
n
g
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 o

n
w

a
rd

s
 

N
I 

4
 %

 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le

 i
n
 t

h
e
 a

re
a
 w

h
o
 f

e
e
l 
th

e
y
 c

a
n
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
lit

y
 (

b
a
s
e
lin

e
 a

n
d
 

ta
rg

e
t 
to

 b
e
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 P
la

c
e
 

S
u
rv

e
y
, 

A
u
tu

m
n
 2

0
0
8
) 

 

D
C

S
/a

ll 
D

ir
e
c
to

rs
  

3
 S

tr
e
n
g
th

e
n
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 B

M
E
 a

n
d
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 (
c
f 
 p
a
ra
s
. 
1
5
 a
n
d
 1
7
 o
f 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
R
e
p
o
rt
) 

 

(a
) 

R
e
s
e
a
rc

h
 a

n
d
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 m
e
th

o
d
s
 o

f 
in

s
ti
tu

ti
n
g

 m
e
d
iu

m
/ 

lo
n
g

 t
e
rm

 
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 n

e
e
d
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
. 

 

C
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
 A

p
ri
l 

2
0
0
8
, 

J
a
n
 2

0
0
9
 

R
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 a

ll 
fi
n
a
lis

e
d
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

P
la

n
s
 –

 a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 b

y
 C

M
T

 a
n
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 P

o
rt

fo
lio

 
H

o
ld

e
r 

 

A
ll 

D
ir
e
c
to

rs
/C

h
ie

f 
H

u
m

a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r 

 

(b
) 

U
s
in

g
 t
h
a
t 
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 P

la
n
, 
c
o
n
s
tr

u
c
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 B

M
E

 &
 

d
is

a
b
le

d
 s

ta
ff

 i
n
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
. 
 T

h
is

 w
ill

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
: 

 

2
0
0
8
/1

0
 

C
h
ie

f 
H

u
m

a
n
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g

e
r 

 

•
 R

e
v
ie

w
 a

d
v
e
rt

is
in

g
 m

e
th

o
d
s
  

S
e
p
t 

2
0
0
8
 

D
C

S
/C

h
ie

f 
H

u
m

a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r 

 

•
 R

e
v
ie

w
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 

in
te

rn
e
t/
B

O
R

IS
 o

n
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 a

n
d
 

e
q

u
a
lit

y
. 

 

S
e
p
t 

2
0
0
8
 

D
C

S
/C

h
ie

f 
H

u
m

a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r 

 

•
 R

e
v
ie

w
 p

o
rt

fo
lio

 o
f 

tr
a
in

in
g
 c

o
u
rs

e
s
 i
n
 

re
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 a

n
d
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 

D
e
c
 2

0
0
8
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
B

M
E

 s
ta

ff
 f
ro

m
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 (

2
.9

6
%

) 
to

 3
.2

5
%

 b
y
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
0
 

  

D
C

S
/C

h
ie

f 
H

u
m

a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r 

220



K
e
y
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
: 

B
y
 w

h
e
n
: 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re

/ 
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In

d
ic

a
to

r:
 

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r/
 L

e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r:

 

 

•
 P

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 a

rt
ic

le
s
 i
n
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

s
 t
h
e
 “

E
m

p
lo

y
e
r 

o
f 

C
h
o
ic

e
”.
 

D
e
c
 2

0
0
8
 

D
C

S
/C

h
ie

f 
H

u
m

a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r/

H
e
a
d
 

o
f 

C
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 

M
a
rk

e
ti
n
g

 
 

(c
) 

U
s
e
 p

la
n
s
/ 
m

e
c
h
a
n
is

m
s
 i
n
s
ti
tu

te
d
 a

s
 a

 
re

s
u
lt
 o

f 
(a

) 
to

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 c

o
-o

rd
in

a
te

 
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

it
h
 r

e
le

v
a
n
t 

k
e
y
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

. 

J
a
n
 2

0
0
9
  

R
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 B

ra
c
k
n
e
ll 

F
o
re

s
t 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 B
o
a
rd

 
D

C
S

/ 
C

h
ie

f 
H

u
m

a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r 

 

(d
) 

S
h
a
re

 w
it
h
 w

o
rk

in
g

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
e
 P

a
y
 &

 
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

M
a
tr

ic
e
s
 a

s
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 
d
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 L

A
A

/ 
S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

a
 w

id
e
r 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
 o

n
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
. 

  

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 

R
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 B

ra
c
k
n
e
ll 

F
o
re

s
t 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 B
o
a
rd

 
D

C
S

/ 
C

h
ie

f 
H

u
m

a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r 

 

4
 R

e
d
u
c
e
 p

e
o
p
le

’s
 f
e
a
r 
o
f 
c
ri
m

e
 i
n
 B

ra
c
k
n
e
ll
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
. 
 (
c
f 
 p
a
ra
 1
6
 o
f 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
R
e
p
o
rt
) 

 (a
) 

In
c
lu

d
e
 w

o
rk

 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le

 f
e
a
r 

o
f 

c
ri
m

e
 i
n
 

th
e
 n

e
w

 C
D

R
P

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 P
la

n
 2

0
0
8
-

1
1
 

J
u
ly

 2
0
0
8
 

A
s
s
is

ta
n
t 
C

h
ie

f 
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
(A

C
E

)/
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty
 M

a
n
a
g

e
r 

(b
) 

U
s
e
 P

C
S

O
s
 t
o
 t
a
rg

e
t 
a
re

a
s
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
in

g
 d

is
p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
a
te

ly
 h

ig
h
  

le
v
e

ls
 o

f 
fe

a
r 

o
f 

c
ri
m

e
 a

s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e
 2

0
0
7
 F

e
a
r 

o
f 
C

ri
m

e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 

A
u
tu

m
n
 2

0
0
8
 &

 2
0
1
0
 

•
 N

I 
2
1
 d

e
a
lin

g
 w

it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 a

b
o
u
t 
a
n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

a
n
d
 c

ri
m

e
 

•
 N

I 
2
7
 U

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 o

f 
lo

c
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 a

b
o
u
t 

a
n
ti
-

s
o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

a
n
d
 c

ri
m

e
 b

y
 P

o
lic

e
 a

n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

  
(B

a
s
e
lin

e
 a

n
d
 t

a
rg

e
t 
to

 b
e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 t
h
e
 

n
e
w

 P
la

c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
, 

A
u
tu

m
n
 2

0
0
8
) 

 

A
C

E
/C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

a
fe

ty
 

M
a
n
a
g

e
r 

5
 E

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
w

o
rk

 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le

 c
li
m

a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 b

e
c
o
m

e
s
 e

m
b
e
d
d
e
d
 i
n
 C

o
u
n
c
il
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 (

c
f 
p
a
ra
. 
1
8
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
R
e
p
o
rt
) 

 (a
) 

P
u
b
lis

h
 a

 C
lim

a
te

 C
h
a
n
g

e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

(o
n
e
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 N

o
tt
in

g
h
a
m

 
D

e
c
la

ra
ti
o
n
 c

o
m

m
it
m

e
n
ts

) 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0
0
9
 

N
o
tt

in
g

h
a
m

 D
e
c
la

ra
ti
o
n
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

n
d
 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t,
 

C
u
lt
u
re

 &
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 

(D
E

C
C

) 

221



K
e
y
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
: 

B
y
 w

h
e
n
: 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re

/ 
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In

d
ic

a
to

r:
 

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r/
 L

e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r:

 

N
I 

1
8
5
 C

O
2
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
ro

m
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 
o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 

(B
a
s
e
lin

e
 a

n
d
 t

a
rg

e
t 
to

 b
e
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 n

e
w

 
N

I 
H

a
n
d
b
o
o
k
) 

 

(b
) 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 l
e
a
d
e
rs

h
ip

 r
o
le

 
w

it
h
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 o
n
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o

f 
c
lim

a
te

 
c
h
a
n
g

e
 b

y
: 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

 
D

E
C

C
 

•
 R

e
v
ie

w
in

g
 t

h
e
 r

o
le

 o
f 
th

e
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 i
n
 d

e
a
lin

g
 

w
it
h
 c

lim
a
te

 c
h
a
n
g

e
 

J
u
n
e
 2

0
0
8
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 T
e
rm

s
 o

f 
R

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 

m
o
d
if
ie

d
 

D
E

C
C

 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
0
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 t

h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
c
a
r 

jo
u
rn

e
y
s
 t
o
 w

o
rk

 f
ro

m
 

9
0
%

 t
o
 8

5
%

 
•
 I

m
p
le

m
e
n
ti
n
g

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 G

re
e
n
 

T
ra

v
e
l 
P

la
n
  

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
2
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 t

h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
s
in

g
le

 o
c
c
u
p
a
n
t 
c
a
r 

jo
u
rn

e
y
s
 

to
 w

o
rk

 f
ro

m
 9

0
%

 t
o
 8

0
%

 

D
E

C
C

 

•
 E

n
c
o
u
ra

g
in

g
 a

n
d
 a

s
s
is

ti
n
g
 a

ll 
L
E

A
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 h
a
v
e
 a

 T
ra

v
e
l 
P

la
n
 b

y
 2

0
1
0
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
0
 

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
it
h
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
d
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
tr

a
v
e
l 

p
la

n
s
 (

ta
rg

e
t 
1
0
0
%

) 
 

D
S

C
L
 

•
 A

d
o
p
ti
n
g
 a

 c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 f

o
r 

re
c
y
c
lin

g
 a

n
d
 w

a
s
te

 m
in

im
is

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 

o
ff

ic
e
s
. 

 

2
0
0
9
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 b

y
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
9
 

D
E

C
C

 

•
 C

o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 i
n
te

rn
a
l 
e
n
e
rg

y
 

m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t,
 b

y
: 

 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

N
I 

1
8
5
 C

O
2
 r

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 f
ro

m
 L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 
o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 (

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 t

o
 b

e
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 n

e
w

 
N

I 
H

a
n
d
b
o
o
k
) 

D
E

C
C

 

- 
C

re
a
ti
n
g
 E

n
e
rg

y
 C

h
a
m

p
io

n
s
 i
n
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

b
u
ild

in
g

s
 a

n
d
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
0
 

8
0
%

 o
f 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 w

it
h
 n

a
m

e
d
 C

h
a
m

p
io

n
s
 

D
E

C
C

 

- 
P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
n
g

 i
n
 t
h
e
 C

a
rb

o
n
 

T
ru

s
t’
s
 C

a
rb

o
n
 M

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 

D
E

C
C

 

222



K
e
y
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
: 

B
y
 w

h
e
n
: 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re

/ 
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In

d
ic

a
to

r:
 

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r/
 L

e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r:

 

- 
E

s
ta

b
lis

h
 S

y
s
te

m
lin

k
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 

- 
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
9
 

S
y
s
te

m
lin

k
 (

e
n
e
rg

y
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
s
y
s
te

m
 i
n
s
ta

lle
d
 

b
y
 J

a
n
 2

0
0
9
) 

D
E

C
C

 

- 
Im

p
le

m
e
n
ti
n
g

 i
n
v
e
s
t 
to

 s
a
v
e
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
s
 

 

O
n
g

o
in

g
 

1
0
0
%

 o
f 

s
c
h
e
m

e
s
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 b

y
 t

a
rg

e
t 
d
a
te

 
D

E
C

C
 

 223



224

This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Assessment Report  

February 2008 

Embargoed until 00.01 on 19 February 2008 

Corporate Assessment

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

225



© Audit Commission 2008 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 020 7828 1212  Fax: 020 7976 6187 Textphone (minicom): 020 7630 0421 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk 

The Audit Commission is an independent body responsible for ensuring that public 
money is spent economically, efficiently and effectively, to achieve
high-quality local services for the public. Our remit covers around 11,000 bodies in 
England, which between them spend more than £180 billion of public money each 
year. Our work covers local government, health, housing, community safety and fire 
and rescue services. 

As an independent watchdog, we provide important information on the quality of 
public services. As a driving force for improvement in those services, we provide 
practical recommendations and spread best practice. As an independent auditor, we 
ensure that public services are good value for money and that public money is 
properly spent. 

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille,  
on tape, or in a language other than English, please call 0844 798 7070. 

226



Corporate Assessment Contents  3

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Contents

Introduction 4

Executive summary 6

Areas for improvement 9

Summary of assessment scores 10

Context 11

The locality 11

The Council 12

What is the Council, together with its partners, trying to achieve? 14

Ambition 14

Prioritisation 16

What is the capacity of the Council, including its work with partners, to 
deliver what it is trying to achieve? 20

Capacity 20

Performance management 23

What has been achieved? 26

Sustainable communities and transport 27

Safer and stronger communities 29

Healthier communities 30

Older people 32

Children and young people 34

Appendix 1 – Framework for corporate assessment 36

227



4 Corporate Assessment Introduction 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Introduction
1 Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) is the means by which the Audit 

Commission fulfils its statutory duty, under section 99 of the Local Government 
Act 2003, to make an assessment, and report on the performance of local 
authorities. Corporate assessment is one element in the overall assessment that 
leads to a CPA score and category.

2 The purpose of the corporate assessment is to assess how well the Council 
engages with and leads its communities, delivers community priorities in 
partnership with others, and ensures continuous improvement across the range 
of Council activities. It seeks to answer three headline questions which are 
underpinned by five specific themes. 

 What is the Council, together with its partners, trying to achieve? 

- Ambition 

- Prioritisation 

 What is the capacity of the Council, including its work with partners, to deliver 
what it is trying to achieve? 

- Capacity 

- Performance management 

 What has been achieved? 

- Achievement 

 Considered against the shared priorities of: 

- sustainable communities and transport; 

- safer and stronger communities; 

- healthier communities; 

- older people; and 

- children and young people.  

3 Corporate assessments are normally aligned with a joint area review of services 
for children and young people (JAR). In practice this means that the Council’s 
achievements in relation to children and young people are assessed using the 
evidence provided from the JAR. In addition, examples of outcomes and activity, 
which are relevant to the other themes and which are identified through the JAR, 
are considered within the corporate assessment. 

228



Corporate Assessment Introduction  5

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

4 The JAR covers all services for children and young people that are directly 
managed or commissioned by the Council, as well as health and youth justice 
services provided by other bodies. It focuses on the contributions made by 
services to improving outcomes. The separate JAR report covers the leadership 
and management of services for children and young people and, in particular, the 
way that such services work together to improve outcomes. The description and 
judgement in respect of children and young people in this report is summarised 
from the JAR report. 

229



6 Corporate Assessment Executive summary 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Executive summary 
5 Overall the Council is performing well. The Council is very ambitious and with its 

partners it has developed clear and challenging ambitions that reflect its 
community's needs. Ambitions are rooted in a strong sense of pride in the area, 
commitment to quality of life and the environment and are informed by good 
knowledge of what is important to local people. The regeneration of Bracknell 
town centre is an overriding and challenging ambition which clearly reflects the 
Council's outstanding commitment, pride and ambition for its community and the 
region. This scheme is central to achieving many aspects of the Council's 
priorities and confidence in the delivery of this ambitious scheme is now high. The 
Council's engagement, consultation and communication with the public is 
effective. It has a well informed sustainable approach to issues and good 
awareness of the local, regional and national context.

6 The Council has an excellent understanding of the challenges it faces. Political 
and managerial leadership is good and well regarded. The Council takes a 
leading role with partners in shaping the challenging and realistic ambitions 
through the Bracknell Forest Partnership, in developing the Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) and a new sustainable community strategy. This clearly 
articulates the longer-term vision for the Borough and its importance within the 
region. The Council's overarching priorities for 2008 to 2011 are appropriately 
focused on local and national issues and reflect the needs of local communities. 
Partnership working is good. The Council is inclusive in its approach, highly 
engaging and receptive to new ideas. The Local Development Framework (LDF) 
sets a clear long-term vision to 2026. It is ambitious, prioritises plans for over 
11,000 houses and identifies new major urban extensions to Bracknell Town. The 
Council has made good progress in the LDF and supporting documents and this 
is recognised by the Government Office as best practice. The Council's  
longer-term plans provide a good framework for service planning and include the 
views of partners.

7 The Council has robust plans to deliver priorities and resources are allocated 
accordingly. The Council is successful in delivering its priorities, in taking difficult 
decisions and in moving resources to priority areas. This has included an 
additional £1 million for children's services this year and priority areas such as 
street cleansing and waste disposal have also received additional funding to 
maintain the high quality of these services. Performance management is 
effective, with strong commitment to it across the Council and most importantly, 
performance management is used to drive improvement. Overview and scrutiny 
is good, rigorously challenging performance and this leads to improved services. 
This is evident in the recent improvements made in adult social services and in 
the robust challenge it is pursuing to increase health funding for the area.

230



Corporate Assessment Executive summary  7

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

8 The Council has good capacity. It has knowledgeable and effective councillors, 
robust decision frameworks and supportive and well trained staff. It increases its 
capacity through good partnership working and effective service management. A 
workforce plan for the whole Council is not yet in place to match its own and 
partners' future vision for services. This is important to help ensure that its 
workforce meets future service needs and capacity challenges.

9 Finance is well managed. The Council has a good track record in managing its 
financial capacity and balancing its budget. Effective budget monitoring is helping 
to address potential overspends and the proposed housing stock transfer will 
provide additional capacity in the transition. The Council performs well in 
achieving and improving value for money. It has delivered efficiency savings in 
excess of targets and it addresses value for money when buying goods and 
services. Financial reporting and management are effective. The Council has 
identified options, including restructuring some services and possible reductions 
in some service areas, to bring its budget into balance in line with its high level 
priorities. This means that potentially difficult service decisions remain to be taken 
by the Council and communicated to the public. However, the Council is well 
placed to take these decisions and maintain its priority services. 

10 The Council understands its communities, uses good analysis of needs and 
communicates well to residents and other stakeholders. It provides good access 
to its services based on its broad knowledge of local need. The Council's work to 
improve its achievement and approach to equalities and diversity is making 
steady progress. It is well aware that its communities are changing, and its work 
to fully understand this is progressing well. The area has an increasing number of 
people from BME communities and the Council in the past has not found it easy 
to access their views. It has more to do to systematically make contact with and 
coordinate and analyse the needs of young people, parents and carers from BME 
communities and the most disadvantaged communities and vulnerable groups. 
However, the Council's recent consultation with BME groups is positive and a 
new BME forum is now established. Work is progressing well to complete its 
community mapping and to refresh its community cohesion strategy. This is 
important in assuring that future services meet all needs. 

11 The Council can show significant achievement in all its priority areas. It has a 
history of achievement in most services and in improving its weaker service 
areas. Its achievements range from national and regional issues - addressing the 
growth agenda, need for affordable housing and sustainability - to meeting the 
needs of local residents, where 72 per cent of local people believe that the 
Council is making the local area a better place to live. Customer satisfaction with 
Council services remains above average when compared to other councils. 
Achievement, as demonstrated by national performance indicators, is good.

231



8 Corporate Assessment Executive summary 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

12 The Council, with its partners, has delivered community benefits across the 
shared priorities. It is performing well in building safer and stronger communities. 
The Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP) has improved, crime 
levels are relatively low and partnership working to tackle crime and anti-social 
behaviour is improving. The CDRP has good information on residents' fear of 
crime in the Borough, but actions and targets to address the fear of crime are still 
developing.  

13 The independence and wellbeing of older people is addressed and Adult Social 
Services has improved to deliver good outcomes. The planned transfer of the 
Council's housing stock is clearly targeted at improving the management and 
customer satisfaction of this service. The Council successfully promotes health 
and wellbeing and addresses health inequalities. A wellbeing leisure team has 
supported almost 1,500 additional people to take up exercise or leisure activities.
Outcomes for children and young people in Bracknell are good and those most in 
need benefit from prompt and effective services. The Council and its partners 
have successfully reduced teenage pregnancy by more than 40 per cent to 
significantly lower rates than the national average. Educational achievement is 
good up to age 16 but education, training and employment outcomes for those 
over 16 are only adequate. Overall, these achievements show a willingness and 
ability to work in partnership to achieve tangible benefits for the community. 

14 The Council has a strong focus on promoting sustainable communities and is 
achieving good outcomes in most areas. This includes in waste management, 
planning, many areas of housing and in the management of public spaces. The 
Council is providing some good sustainable transport outcomes including 
additional cycle ways and is on track to increase the number of cycling trips by
20 per cent by 2011. School travel plans and safe cycling schemes have been 
implemented. As a result, cycling, walking and bus use have increased while 
traffic growth and congestion have been kept in check. Work is in progress, but at 
an early stage, to fully address its own sustainability in areas such as updating its 
green travel plan and in reducing its own carbon footprint. 

232



Corporate Assessment Areas for improvement  9

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Areas for improvement 
15 The Council should work towards achieving the higher levels of the Equalities 

Standard for Local Government, addressing the low representation of black and 
minority ethnic (BME) and disabled workers amongst its staff, and completing its 
current community mapping and work to better understand the needs of its BME 
communities and ensuring that this informs all future service planning and 
delivery. This is important to improve outcomes for BME communities and in 
ensuring services meet the needs of all sections of the community.

16 The local crime and disorder reduction partnership (CDRP) has clear ambitions 
for crime reduction and good information on the fear of crime in the Borough, but 
it should develop more specific actions and targets to address the fear of crime. 
This is important, since fear of crime is a key priority for local people. The CDRP 
and the Council need to be able to clearly demonstrate that its actions and 
initiatives result in improvement and impact in this.  

17 The Council's corporate workforce planning is at a basic stage and it should 
develop a medium and longer-term workforce plan for the whole Council to match 
its own and partners' future vision for services. It should share and coordinate this 
plan with partners including the voluntary sector. This will help ensure that its 
workforce meets future service needs and capacity challenges.

18 The Council needs to build on its early work on energy efficiency, office recycling 
and green travel and its decision to sign the Nottingham Declaration. It must 
understand the sustainability impacts of its own activities, including its carbon 
footprint and develop clear action plans to reduce these. This will help it to meet 
its obligations under the Declaration and also to provide clearer community 
leadership on this issue.

233



10 Corporate Assessment Summary of assessment scores 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Summary of assessment scores 

Headline questions Theme Score* 

Ambition 4

What is the Council, together with 
its partners, trying to achieve? 

Prioritisation 3

Capacity  3What is the capacity of the 
Council, including its work with 
partners, to deliver what it is trying 
to achieve? Performance management 3

What has been achieved? Achievement 3

Overall corporate assessment 
score**

 3 

*Key to scores 

1 – below minimum requirements – Inadequate performance

2 – at only minimum requirements – Adequate performance

3 – consistently above minimum requirements – Performing well

4 – well above minimum requirements – Performing strongly

**Rules for determining the overall corporate assessment score 

Scores on five themes  Overall corporate 
assessment score 

Two or more themes with a score of 4 

None less than score of 3 

4

Three or more themes with a score of 3 or more  

None less than score of 2 

3

Three or more themes with a score of 2 or more 2 

Any other combination 1 

234



Corporate Assessment Context  11

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Context

The locality 

19 Bracknell Forest is in Berkshire, 30 miles west of London. It is one of the smallest 
unitary authorities in England with a population of 112,200 residents covering
109 square kilometres. It is one of six Berkshire unitary councils, all former district 
councils which became unitary when Berkshire County Council was abolished in 
1998. The Borough consists of Bracknell town, a post-war planned new town, 
built between the 1950s to the 1970s which is now in need of modernisation and 
improvement. The Borough includes the smaller towns of Crowthorne and 
Sandhurst. These are linked by a number of villages and settlements separated 
by wooded, heath land or farmed countryside. A third of the area is woodland.

20 The Borough is in the prosperous Thames Valley with good access to the 
motorway network (M3, M4, M40 and M25), Heathrow Airport and direct trains to 
central London. Bracknell has high house prices and levels of prosperity and low 
levels of deprivation. In 2004, it ranked 319 out of 354 districts in England in 
terms of deprivation. The relatively small size of the Borough and its overall 
affluence masks differences between communities and locations. Within the 
Borough there are three 'super output areas' which are in the most deprived 20 
per cent in the country in relation to education, skills and training. Overall crime 
rates in Bracknell Forest are lower than the national and south east average.

21 Employment is high and residents tend to work in managerial, professional, 
technology or other skilled occupations. Bracknell hosts the headquarters of 
some high-tech and internationally renowned companies. Like much of the 
surrounding area, there is high employment mobility. Many of the jobs in 
Bracknell Forest are taken by people who live outside the Borough and 
conversely many people from Bracknell Forest work elsewhere. Car ownership 
rates are high. Bracknell Forest has seen a rapid and substantial growth in 
population since the 1990s. Between 1991 and 2001 the population grew by
14 per cent, twice as fast as the average for south east England. This reflects the 
growth of the Thames Valley economy. Meeting demand for new housing and 
improving the infrastructure to match its buoyant economy is a key challenge.

22 The population of Bracknell Forest is relatively healthy, well educated and 
younger than the national average (average age in Bracknell Forest is 35.4 years, 
11.5 per cent are of pension age; national average is 38.7 years and 8 per cent 
respectively). Average life expectancy in Bracknell Forest is high at 80.15 years. 
Levels of smoking and circulatory diseases are low although there is a higher 
than average number of people who are obese or have cancer. Educational 
achievement in GCSE and at most Key Stages is above the national average and 
improving.

235



12 Corporate Assessment Context

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

23 According to the 2001 census, 5.9 per cent of the Borough's population belong to 
minority ethnic groups. The Borough is becoming more diverse. Since 2001 the 
number of school pupils from minority ethnic groups has doubled to more than  
12 per cent and children in local schools now have 75 different first languages. 

The Council 

24 The Council is Conservative controlled and since 2001 has operated under a 
leader and cabinet model of governance. The Cabinet consists of the Leader and 
seven executive members (Children, Education, Adult Social Care/Housing, 
Planning and Transportation, Environment, Community Cohesion and Leisure). 
All are members of the majority party. The executive's performance is monitored 
by an Overview and Scrutiny commission. The Council has 42 elected 
councillors; the current composition is 39 Conservative and 3 Labour. Elections 
are held every four years, the most recent being in May 2007.  

25 The Council is currently organised into the following main departments. 

 Corporate Services. 

 Education, Children and Libraries. 

 Environment and Leisure. 

 Social Services and Housing. 

26 The corporate management team (CMT) comprises the Chief Executive, the four 
directors of the main departments and the Borough Treasurer.

27 The Council employs 3,888 people (3080 full-time equivalent). Its budgeted gross 
revenue spending in 2006/07 was £61.5 million and in 2007/08 is planned to be 
£64 million. The Council's 2006/07 council tax for Band D was £919 per year, in 
2007/08 this increased by 4.94 per cent to £964. This is the lowest of any unitary 
authority in England.

28 As part of this process and to smooth transition to unitary status in 1998 the 
Council used the Local Government reorganisation rules effectively to create 
revenue balances. Since then it has released these balances (between three and 
four million pounds per year) in order to deliver services and keep its Council Tax 
low. It had planned to bring its budget into balance by 2006. However, during this 
planned 'soft landing' it became a floor authority (which means relatively low 
increases in grant from the Government - 1 per cent for 2007/08). This, along with 
increasing demand in some services, such as adult care, and its limited scope for 
Council Tax rises, has increased the budgetary pressure on the Council.

236



Corporate Assessment Context  13

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

29 A three-year package of savings is now being developed by the Council aimed to 
bring its budget into balance by 2010/11. The Council is also planning to move 
from three main service directorates to two, as a part of a restructure following 
the potential transfer of two key service areas. The Council currently has
5,570 houses and tenants have recently opted in favour of transferring ownership 
and management of these to a housing association in February 2008. It is also 
likely that the Council's leisure services will be delivered in future by a trust, 
rather than directly by the Council.  

30 Bracknell Forest is in the Thames Valley Police area which covers the three 
counties of Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire. The Berkshire East 
local police Area Command Unit, and a Berkshire East Primary Care Trust (PCT) 
both cover three adjacent unitary councils (Bracknell Forest, Slough and Windsor 
& Maidenhead).

31 The Council is the lead partner in the Bracknell Forest Partnership (the Local 
Strategic Partnership (LSP)) which comprises a partnership board and 
partnership group with various theme-based partnerships. In 2005 the Bracknell 
Forest Sustainable Community Plan (SCP) - Living Together, Working Together - 
was published. During 2007, the Bracknell Forest Local Area Agreement (LAA) 
for 2007 to 2010 was agreed, incorporating the Local Public Service Agreement 2 
(LPSA2). Work is currently underway with partners to prepare for the new style 
LAA that is to take effect from April 2008. At the same time the partnership is 
undertaking a review of the SCP. 

237



14 Corporate Assessment What is the Council, together with its partners, trying 
to achieve? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

What is the Council, together with its 
partners, trying to achieve? 

Ambition

32 The Council is performing strongly in this area. Council leadership is good and it 
has developed clear and challenging ambitions with its partners that reflect the 
needs of its community. Ambitions are rooted in a strong sense of pride in the 
area and commitment to quality of life and the environment. Its ambitions are 
informed by good and improving knowledge of what is important to local people. 
The Council has a well informed, stable and focused approach to issues and 
challenges and is constructive in its approach to managing and working in 
partnership.

33 The Council is highly ambitious for the community it serves with a clear long-term 
vision to 'make Bracknell Forest a place where all people can thrive, living, 
learning and working in a clean, safe and healthy environment'. To deliver this it 
has developed with partners clear longer-term and challenging ambitions through 
to 2015 in eight key priority areas. These include key national and local priorities 
such as promoting learning, where the Council sets challenging school 
improvement aims, protecting the environment, improving health and wellbeing, 
providing decent and affordable housing and in community safety. The transfer of 
its housing stock includes challenging ambitions to improve housing 
management, accelerate the delivery of decent homes and allocate 75 per cent of 
the resulting capital receipt to the provision of affordable housing. The Council 
also has clear ambitions in relation to promoting sustainable development, whilst 
maintaining the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area and access to the 
surrounding areas of countryside and forest. Challenging targets are set by the 
Council to reduce waste and reliance on land fill and to increase recycling. This 
has driven ambitious plans and a 25-year agreement with partners to provide 
waste management and disposal facilities to help meet the Councils ambitious 
targets for waste minimisation, land-fill reduction and energy production from 
waste.

238



Corporate Assessment What is the Council, together with its partners, trying to 
achieve?  15

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

34 The scale of the Council's ambition is demonstrated in the regeneration of 
Bracknell town centre. This challenging project clearly reflects the Council's 
outstanding commitment, pride and ambition and is central to the delivery of its 
wider vision and ambitions for the community. The Council aims not only to 
improve facilities for local people but also to attract wider regional employment 
and economic benefits. The project aims to deliver a 'town fit for the twenty first 
century' and to make Bracknell a high quality regional and commercial centre. 
The project includes extensive new retail and leisure facilities, improved access 
to services, including health services, and facilities for disabled people, up to 
1,000 dwellings, new business space, new civic offices, library, magistrate’s 
court, police station, health centre, public spaces and comprehensive public 
transport and highway improvements. It also includes innovative plans for new 
council offices which are ambitious in addressing sustainability with combined 
heat and power systems and energy savings measures to reduce carbon 
emissions by  
30 per cent. 

35 This ambition is clearly articulated by the Council and strongly supported by 
partners and local people. After some delay, and as a result of sustained effort by 
the Council, confidence in the delivery of the £750 million scheme is now high 
among partners and in the Council. Plans for this are now agreed including a 
comprehensive planning and development agreement between the Council and 
the Bracknell Regeneration Partnership. Building work is planned to commence in 
2008. This will be one of the biggest building projects in the country and is a clear 
indicator of the extent of the Council's ambition. 

36 The Council is ambitious to maximise local employment benefits from the town 
centre regeneration scheme and improve labour supply for local and regional 
employers. It has recognised that such a large building project will require many 
skilled workers. It is also aware that its development is being undertaken at the 
same time as building in nearby London for the 2012 Olympic Games. As a result 
it has an ambitious scheme to grow, attract and develop the local and regional 
workforce; including a focus on opportunities for people in its most deprived 
wards.

37 Ambitions are stretching, shared with partners and aligned across all key 
strategies. Ambitions are challenging and sustainable and underpinned by a 
range of comprehensive strategies and delivery plans. The Council and its 
partners have developed a clear strategic framework, vision and challenging 
ambitions for the area. The Council's vision, medium-term objectives, corporate 
and service planning, and its corporate themes, all link to and support the existing 
community plan and are sustained in the developing new Sustainable Community 
Strategy (SCS). This includes for example, challenging shared targets for 'all 
schools to be good schools' and for improving recycling and reducing waste. This 
consistent and effective strategic framework across partners provides a firm 
foundation for the delivery of shared ambitions.

239



16 Corporate Assessment What is the Council, together with its partners, trying 
to achieve? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

38 The Council's engagement and communication with the public is effective. 
Consultation with local people is wide ranging and inclusive. This includes a well 
run citizen's panel, and through an improving network of Neighbourhood Action 
Groups and Forums. Information from consultation and community involvement is 
used to establish ambitions and objectives, such as to inform its plans for the 
town centre development and the transfer of its housing stock. Ambitions are 
clearly articulated through good communication with local people. The Council's 
award winning quarterly newspaper 'Town and Country' is particularly well used 
in this respect.

39 The Council's community leadership is strong, evident and rooted in a strong 
sense of pride in the area. This has helped it to maintain a clear and consistent 
thread through ambitions and in the work to develop the Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) and the SCS. Senior managers and councillors are well regarded and 
respected, both within and through their strong contribution to the region outside 
of the Council. The Council is inclusive in its approach and ambitions are based 
on a shared understanding among partners. Partner organisations see the 
Council as highly engaging and receptive to new ideas. This ensures that shared 
ambitions for the area reflect views from a wide spectrum of partner 
organisations.

40 Ambitions are based on a good knowledge of the region and local area and a 
broad knowledge of the local community and of their needs. It was one of the first 
councils in the country to establish a community cohesion strategy, in 2004, and 
this includes clear evidence of the Council understanding local need. The Council 
is now making good progress in its ethnic profiling work and in plans to use this to 
help refresh its community cohesion strategy. This knowledge is helping the 
Council continue to ensure that its ambitions are based on needs.  

Prioritisation

41 The Council is performing well in this area. Priorities are appropriately focused on 
local and national issues and address the needs of the local community. 
Consultation is wide and effective. Clear and robust plans exist to deliver 
priorities with partners and resources are allocated accordingly. The Council 
successfully delivers against its priorities and in taking difficult decisions to move 
resources to priority areas. Its approach to meeting the needs of black and ethnic 
minority groups is developing as the local population mix changes over time. 

42 Longer-term priorities for the area are clear within the existing community plan 
and are being developed effectively in partnership. Priorities are consistent and 
appropriately focused on local, regional and national issues and reflect the views 
and needs of the local communities. Working between partners on delivering 
priorities is good. Partners are prepared to pool and prioritise budgets, for 
example to deliver children's centres and improvements to children's mental 
health services and child protection. The LAA provides a clear framework for 
shared priorities and improving outcomes for local communities.

240



Corporate Assessment What is the Council, together with its partners, trying to 
achieve?  17

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

43 Partners in the Bracknell Forest Partnership (BFP) are clear about their roles and 
are effective. The BFP has a balanced membership drawn from all relevant 
partners who operate through a clear memorandum of understanding. This helps 
ensure good partnership working and includes for example an agreement that 
each partner would not take any action in its own area which undermines the 
objectives of the SCS. The new SCS is aligned to the development of the new 
LAA and these are being developed jointly from a robust evidence base. This 
includes clear criteria and an innovative priorities framework which maps for each 
partner all priorities in published plans and strategies, consultations and 
inspections, performance information, stakeholder opinion, key drivers and policy 
challenges. This effective prioritisation, information sharing and good 
understanding among partner organisations helps ensure that ambitions are 
realistic and deliverable.

44 The Council is clearly focussed on its priorities and has appropriate procedures in 
place to review them. This has been helped by its review and reduction of 
priorities following the May election. Its medium-term objectives have been 
reviewed, a smaller number of linked corporate themes have been established 
and the number of priorities reduced. This has improved the Council's focus. The 
four overarching priorities for the Council for 2008 to 2011 are: 'a town centre fit 
for the 21st century; protecting and enhancing our environment; promoting health 
and achievement; and safety and security'. These priorities remain closely linked 
to the wider ambitions for the area and previous priorities. The Councils overview 
and scrutiny function provides good challenge to the Council Executive and this 
has been used effectively to review and maintain focus on priority areas such as 
in environmental issues and in improving adult social services and health funding. 

45 The Council has robust strategies in place to deliver its priorities. The Council's 
longer-term vision and ambition is translated effectively into short and
medium-term priorities. Its Annual Report acts as the corporate strategy and sets 
plans, priorities and objectives for the coming year. It has a high quality Children’s 
and Young People Plan (CYPP) and effective or developing strategies in all key 
areas including the Local Transport Plan and the Local Development Framework 
(LDF). This document sets the long-term picture for the Borough to 2026. It is 
ambitious, for example it prioritises plans for over 11,000 houses by 2026 and 
identifies new major urban extensions to Bracknell Town which will deliver major 
new mixed use communities. The Council has made good progress in the LDF 
and supporting documents and this has been recognised by the Government 
Office as best practice. The Councils longer-term plans provide a good 
framework for future service planning and delivery.

241



18 Corporate Assessment What is the Council, together with its partners, trying 
to achieve? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

46 The Council manages and prioritises its budget effectively through its  
medium-term financial strategy (MTFS). Corporate, financial and service plans 
are linked and the MTFS is based on sound principles. Appropriate contingency 
funding is allocated to meet unpredicted demand in priority services and 
additional resources are reallocated where needed. This has included an 
additional £640,000 for additional residential placements for children this year 
and £340,000 for independent foster places for next year. This is important for the 
Council because in such a small area a small increase in demand has a big 
impact on the overall service budget. The Council manages this well. Priority 
areas such as street cleansing and waste disposal have also received additional 
funding to maintain the high quality of these services in line with local people's 
wishes.

47 The Council maintains good focus on its priorities and to balance its budget. It is 
now considering options, including restructuring some services and possible 
reductions in some service areas, to bring its budget into balance in line with its 
high level priorities. This is being managed effectively based on several options 
identified from an external review. This means that potentially difficult service 
decisions remain to be taken by the Council and communicated to the public. 
However, the Council is well placed and prepared to take these decisions in order 
to maintain its priority services and keep its budget balanced. 

48 The Council has delivered against its priorities. It prioritises and delivers good 
value for money. At the same time it has kept its council tax low - the lowest of 
any unitary authority. The Council redirects resources to areas of need and areas 
of under performance. This includes additional investment in adult social services 
which has led to improvement after a period of poor performance. Additional 
resources have been diverted to community safety and this is improving the 
service, for example through increased car park safety and in monitoring and 
addressing anti-social behaviour. The Council attracts a significant level of 
external funding to deliver its priorities including £37 million of pathfinder funding 
to redevelop one of its six secondary schools, and £2 million lottery funding to 
restore a local park. 

49 The Council maintains a clear focus on delivering its key priorities and has taken 
difficult decisions in the past to support this. It has maintained its strong 
leadership and focus on plans for the town centre and proposals to improve its 
housing stock. It has worked over a number of years to gain tenant support to 
transfer the stock to a housing association in February 2008. The Council has 
dealt effectively with the development constraints arising from the Thames Basin 
Heaths Special Protection Area. It has also successfully introduced alternate 
weekly waste collections to increase recycling rates, in the face of considerable 
local opposition and adverse comment in the local press.

242



Corporate Assessment What is the Council, together with its partners, trying to 
achieve?  19

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

50 The focus on delivering priorities in one area is not as strong. The local crime 
reduction partnership has clear priorities for crime reduction, but its plans and 
actions to address fear of crime are not always clear or targeted. The CDRP and 
the Council are aware of the fear of crime levels among local people, but actions 
to address this are not yet sufficiently focused or targeted specifically at reducing 
fear of crime. This is important, since fear of crime is a key priority for local 
people. The CDRP and the Council need to be able to clearly demonstrate that its 
actions and initiatives result in improvement and impact in this. 

51 The Council maintains a good knowledge of its communities, in most respects, 
and its priorities are based on this understanding. Its Customer Contact Strategy 
has improved access to services and it has a good framework for engagement 
and consultation with local people. The Council uses a range of regular surveys 
of residents, a well run citizens' panel and service specific reviews. Consultation 
is used to inform key strategies and plans such as the Local Development 
Framework and the housing stock transfer. Engagement with younger and older 
people is good, constructive and used to inform plans and priorities. A register of 
consultation ensures that information is shared with partners and across services. 
This knowledge helps the Council ensure that its priorities are based on needs.  

52 At this time the Council can not yet be sure that its priorities address all minority 
needs. Although it is well aware that its communities are changing quickly, and its 
work to fully understand this is progressing well. The Council has worked 
effectively with established BME groups such as its Nepalese community and 
Indian Community Association. This includes positive community work and 
increased support for Nepalese families which has lead to an increased 
awareness in the community following a serious racial incident at a school. It has 
also invested in support for children for whom English is a second language. The 
Council works effectively with the voluntary sector and disabled groups to 
improve access for disabled people. The area has an increasing number of 
people from BME communities and the Council in the past has not found it easy 
to access their views. It has more to do to systematically make contact with and 
coordinate and analyse the needs of young people, parents and carers from BME 
communities and the most disadvantaged communities and vulnerable groups. 
However, the Council's recent consultation with BME groups is positive and a 
new BME forum is now established. The Council is on track to complete its 
community mapping work and refresh its community cohesion strategy. This is 
important in assuring that future services meet all needs. 

243



20 Corporate Assessment What is the capacity of the Council, including its 
work with partners, to deliver what it is trying to achieve? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

What is the capacity of the Council, 
including its work with partners, to 
deliver what it is trying to achieve? 

Capacity

53 The Council is performing well in this area. The Council meets the capacity 
challenges that it faces as a small unitary council. It has knowledgeable and 
effective councillors, robust decision-making frameworks and supportive and well 
trained staff. Scrutiny is effective in challenging and supporting policy 
development. Delivery is underpinned by effective HR, project management, risk 
management, procurement and ICT; though some new processes are not yet 
fully embedded across departments. The Council increases its capacity by 
effective partnership working. Financial capacity is a key challenge, but the 
Council is taking the right steps to address this, assisted by a strong focus on 
value for money. The Council's capacity to ensure a robust approach to equalities 
and diversity is developing.  

54 The Council has effective structures for decision-making and maintaining 
standards of behaviour. The executive receives good quality reports in 
accordance with a forward plan. All councillors have governance training and a 
good partnership toolkit establishes a governance framework for partnerships. 
The Council's Standards Committee is appropriate and effective. Governance 
structures are also effective. Councillors and senior managers are well briefed, 
clear about their roles and responsibilities and a high degree of support and trust 
exists. Executive members provide clear political leadership and have a firm 
grasp of their portfolios and of wider cross-cutting agendas. A protocol on 
councillor-officer relationships is well observed. Councillors feel well supported by 
staff and staff are positive about their dealings with councillors. This helps to 
provide an effective governance framework to support service delivery.  

55 Scrutiny capacity to challenge and support the Council's executive is good. It has 
good officer support and engages actively in the scrutiny of performance and 
decision-making. It assists policy development, has improved procurement and 
ICT processes and it is extending its scope to wider community issues. Health 
scrutiny is established and has successfully challenged local health care 
provision and funding, for example by challenging and improving transport to a 
local hospital. The LSP is making plans to embrace the scrutiny provisions of the 
Police and Criminal Justice Act. Effective scrutiny is particularly important at 
Bracknell Forest, because the political opposition, although very well briefed and 
committed, is small.

244



Corporate Assessment What is the capacity of the Council, including its work 
with partners, to deliver what it is trying to achieve?  21

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

56 The Council is increasing its capacity through good and improving partnership 
working. The LSP is an effective forum for joint working with local public and 
voluntary sector agencies in delivering services. The Council successfully 
engages with and supports the local voluntary sector. Voluntary sector 
representatives are included in the Council's community cohesion and 
engagement group and voluntary organisations have good access to council 
facilities for community events. The Council works closely with the former 
Berkshire unitary councils, for example through the waste partnership PFI. The 
Council has a flexible approach to outsourcing services to increase its capacity, 
for example by outsourcing elements of its leisure services and its highways and 
street lighting maintenance. It has developed an effective partnership with the 
private sector to implement its ambitious town centre proposals, though it could 
still promote wider contact with a powerful local private sector in order to 
encourage wider benefits for the community from this sector. Effective 
partnership working adds significantly to the capacity of the Council.  

57 The Council has effective HR practices. HR is underpinned by appropriate 
policies and the Council uses biennial staff surveys to understand its workforce. 
The Council has successfully tackled localised sickness absence problems and 
actively promotes flexible working. It has reduced its sickness levels to about 
seven days per person per year, which is well below the average of all councils. 
Recruitment processes and outcomes have improved and turnover rates are low, 
with fewer unfilled vacancies over the last year. The Council is working to 
address low representation of BME and disabled workers within the staff group,
- this is improving although remains a challenge. Apart from in some discrete 
service areas longer-term workforce planning is under developed. The Council 
has an effective children's services workforce strategy but has not yet established 
longer-term corporate workforce plans to match its own and partners' future 
vision for services. This will help ensure that its workforce meets future service 
needs and capacity challenges.

58 Training and development is used effectively to improve staff and councillor 
capacity. The Council is laying good foundations for councillor development and 
councillors are well trained and knowledgeable. Training is well resourced and 
delivered through a new central training and development team. Staff training is 
planned and evaluated through personal development plans (PDPs) and 
appraisals. The Council is investing in member development and were the first 
Council in the South East to obtain the Charter for Member Development (2006). 
It is now making good progress in introducing PDPs for all councillors. Staff and 
councillors are positive about training opportunities and training is used effectively 
to increase skills, knowledge and capacity. 

245



22 Corporate Assessment What is the capacity of the Council, including its 
work with partners, to deliver what it is trying to achieve? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

59 Service delivery is supported by satisfactory project and risk management 
processes. The Council is improving these and has recently implemented new 
project management arrangements and increased its capacity by training and 
using external expertise. It has addressed recommendations in a recent Audit 
Commission report on its ICT project management. However, corporate 
mechanisms for coordinating projects and new risk management arrangements 
are still bedding in. A revised risk management strategy (2006) is resulting in 
clearer responsibilities, improved training and a more structured review of risks. 
This is still work in progress and corporate mechanisms for sharing project and 
risk information are not fully effective. As a result learning opportunities across 
services may not be taken and interdependencies across projects may not be 
picked up.

60 The Council has a firm basis for effective procurement and its capacity in this is 
developing. Procurement is overseen by a strategic group, and supported by a 
central team and effective strategy. The Council has a broad view of procurement 
which includes cost, quality and sustainability, with regular analysis of spend and 
review of contracts. It is developing markets and improved supplier capacity in 
areas such as social care. Joint working is improving through a Berkshire 
Procurement and Shared Services Unit and innovative procurement in for 
example e-auctions and e-invoicing. This helps the Council make effective use of 
its resources and has helped ensure that it is on track to achieve its procurement 
savings target of £370,000 over two years.

61 The Council's ICT capacity is good. It provides good ICT support to staff and 
partners. Staff and councillors have good access to ICT and remote access to the 
Council's network to facilitate flexible working. Some partners have access to the 
council network to share information, for example the Community Mental Health 
Team can easily access council held information and vice versa. The Council's 
external website and its internal intranet are good. This improves access for 
customers and for council staff when accessing information to serve customers.

62 The Council has a good track record in managing its financial capacity but this 
remains a key and constant challenge. Finances are well managed and the 
Council has commissioned external advice on potential service realignments and 
efficiency savings. The Council's executive is now considering this in its budget 
setting process. Effective budget monitoring is helping to address potential 
overspends and the proposed housing stock transfer will provide additional 
capacity in the transition. It is now developing clear plans to address current 
budget constraints, supported by close financial management. Growth in demand 
led services, such as Looked after Children, have placed significant stress on the 
Council's resources and its financial reserves are now approaching what it judges 
to be the lowest acceptable level. The Council proposes to reduce its  
£66.9 million revenue budget by over £6 million within three years and it has 
developed a strategy to achieve this.

246



Corporate Assessment What is the capacity of the Council, including its work 
with partners, to deliver what it is trying to achieve?  23

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

63 The Council has a strong focus on value for money, heightened by the need to 
meet savings targets. The Audit Commission's annual use of resources 
assessment shows that the Council performs well in this area. The Council has 
made a total of £2.3 million efficiency savings over the past three years and has 
clear plans to deliver improved value for money through reviews, procurement, 
new business processes and reduced transaction costs. It is currently 
restructuring primarily to refocus its services but also to reduce management and 
support costs. The Council has a proactive approach to external funding 
opportunities and the bulk of the Council's £25 million capital programme is 
externally funded. The Council successfully uses planning agreements with 
developers to improve community infrastructure. This helps it to maintain services 
in the face of competing demands for resources.

64 The Council provides good access to services based on identified need. Its 
Customer Contact Strategy includes a good range of access methods and 
transaction costs are low. Customers have good access to services through the 
website, digital TV, telephone arrangements, Smartcard technology and 
welcoming reception areas. A high percentage of services are being delivered 
electronically. This helps the Council achieve high customer satisfaction. 

65 The Council's approach to addressing equalities and diversity is improving, 
although areas remain to be addressed. It is developing its understanding of the 
needs of its increasingly diverse community and has good data on this through its 
work on housing, local labour markets and through its community cohesion 
strategy. Diversity training has been effective and councillors act as champions 
for particular client groups. Disability access to Council buildings is not good 
enough but improving, two years ago only 26 per cent of its buildings were 
compliant; this is now 50 per cent with plans to achieve 66 per cent by next year. 
The Council has an equalities scheme in place, and is preparing equality impact 
assessments to identify service gaps, but these are not complete. This places the 
Council at only Level 2 of the Equalities Standard for Local Government. This is 
important in raising awareness and for dealing with equality, diversity, race, 
gender and disability across the Council. 

Performance management 

66 The Council is performing well in this area . Performance management is 
effective and a strong commitment to it is in place across the Council. This is 
based on an effective framework and system which supports service 
improvement in priority areas and underpins an established performance culture. 
Overview and scrutiny is good and performance is challenged rigorously. 
Resource management and performance management is integrated within the 
Council. Performance monitoring is good overall, but is hindered in some cases 
within children’s services, by limited performance data. Performance 
management of partnership work is effective overall. The Council uses external 
challenge and benchmarking to drive improvement and it communicates well its 
performance to staff and local people. 

247



24 Corporate Assessment What is the capacity of the Council, including its 
work with partners, to deliver what it is trying to achieve? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

67 The Council's performance management framework is clear and well 
communicated. It makes strong links between corporate and service performance 
and provides staff with a coherent and consistent set of standards, templates and 
tools to manage service and staff performance. This is reinforced by a 
performance coordination group which effectively monitors and reports 
performance. Performance management is based on good data collection, 
monitoring and reporting. The Council coordinates the different departmental 
methods of data collection - some electronic and some paper based - into a 
consistent corporate system. Whilst this is effective in its operation, the Council 
acknowledges that greater efficiency could be achieved by all data being 
managed electronically. It is currently working with a partner organisation to 
improve this.

68 Performance monitoring is good overall and supports the performance 
management of the Council's priorities. Performance management is robust and 
performance is reported regularly and consistently using clear reports supported 
by comprehensive and detailed data analysis. The Corporate Management Team 
reviews performance monthly, directorate teams weekly and cabinet and 
overview and scrutiny quarterly. Reports include information on BVPIs, local PIs 
and targets. As a result the Council can quickly identify poor performance and act 
on it. 

69 Financial and service planning is good. The Council's service and financial plans 
are closely linked. Most action plans and targets are SMART, but this is not 
universal. For example, the procurement plan and its progress statement are not 
SMART. Otherwise, the quality of business and service plans is good. Plans are 
consistent, follow a corporate framework, and are easy to read with clear links 
between corporate, service and individual objectives. This integration gives the 
Council a good basis for service and financial planning.  

70 The Council's staff appraisal process is good and is a clear and important thread 
in the Council's performance management system. The appraisal process 
includes clear staff targets linked to service plans. However, appraisal take up 
varies across the Council. Although latest figures indicate that 90 per cent of staff 
are appraised, in some services this is as low as 70 per cent. This means that 
some managers and staff may not know how effectively they contribute to service 
and corporate priorities.

71 Councillors effectively challenge weaker performance. The Council's overview 
and scrutiny function is effective in challenging the performance of the Council's 
executive. Councillors receive regular good quality performance reports. 
Additionally, portfolio holders have regular informal meetings with Directors where 
they are briefed on current service performance issues. Councillors correct under 
performance by reallocating resources - such as in education where the overall 
achievement of school pupils has improved, in adult social care, where its former 
poor performance and weak performance management are now good. 
Performance management and scrutiny has also led to improvements in 
environmental services and libraries. This effective challenge leads to improved 
performance in key areas. 

248



Corporate Assessment What is the capacity of the Council, including its work 
with partners, to deliver what it is trying to achieve?  25

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

72 The performance management of the LAA and LSP is good. An effective 
handbook is used to support partners. The Bracknell Forest Partnership is clearly 
accountable and has shared performance monitoring arrangements with some 
partners. Data collection is widespread and partnerships are developing better 
systems integration for monitoring performance. Although this is still work in 
progress, it will eventually be supported by a new overarching performance 
management framework and plans for this are progressing well. In other 
partnerships performance management is variable. Some performance 
frameworks within partnerships are still under development, but making good 
progress. For example, the Local Safeguarding Children's Board is developing a 
performance framework which draws on a wide range of indicators, to assess 
safeguarding practice across all partner agencies. Good performance 
management of partnerships leads to better outcomes for local people. 

73 The Council has effective arrangements in place to monitor and respond to 
customer complaints and comments. It has responded well to comments from 
neighbourhood forums and action groups on improving engagement. Complaints 
about traffic congestion led to the Council setting up a business travel forum and 
this has resulted in an increase in vehicle sharing. The Council has many 
mechanisms for bringing together and sharing information gained from service 
users, but systems to ensure that this is used in business and service planning 
are less developed. This is important in driving improvement within and across 
services.

74 The Council communicates its performance well. Staff are well briefed and use an 
easily accessible intranet - BORIS - where clear performance data and reports 
are available through a dedicated area on performance management. Local 
people are kept abreast of the Council's performance through effective 
communication, including the Council's quarterly newspaper.

75 External challenge is used effectively to drive improvement. The Council uses 
external consultants appropriately. This includes a recent efficiency review, done 
by an external company, which included financial and service benchmarking and 
this has helped the Council challenge its own performance. The Council 
encourages challenge through its network of neighbourhood forums/action 
groups. The overview and scrutiny committee has met in local venues to 
stimulate interest and this has increased public access and participation. 

249



26 Corporate Assessment What has been achieved? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

What has been achieved? 
76 The Council is performing well in this area . The Council's local priorities clearly 

relate to national and shared priorities and it can show significant achievement in 
its priority areas. It has a history of achievement in most services and in 
improving its weaker service areas, although it does not yet fully address its own 
sustainability. It maximises its small capacity considerably through effective 
partnership working to deliver services that improve the quality of life for local 
people. Its achievements range from national and regional issues - addressing 
the growth agenda and need for affordable housing - to meeting the needs of 
local residents, where 72 per cent of local people believe that the Council is 
making the local area a better place to live. Customer satisfaction with Council 
services remains above average when compared to other councils nationally. 

77 The Council has achieved improvement or maintained high quality services in 
national priority areas and areas of concern to local people. Achievement, as 
demonstrated by national performance indicators, is good. The Council is ranked 
28th out of 388 (all authorities for which data is available) for the percentage of 
BVPIs that have improved in the last three years (71 per cent of BVPIs have 
improved in the last three years which is above the average range for all single 
tier authorities at 60.8 0 63.2 per cent). The Council's services compare well to 
other councils, more than a third of the Council's BVPIs indicate top performance, 
this is above average when compared to other councils.

78 The Council's contribution to the achievement of shared priorities (between local 
and central government) is good with positive outcomes in most areas. The 
Council has a strong focus on promoting sustainable communities and is 
achieving good outcomes, including in waste management, planning, housing 
and the management of public spaces. Work is still in progress to fully address its 
own sustainability in areas such as updating its green travel plan and in reducing 
its own carbon footprint. The Council is performing well in building safer and 
stronger communities with crime levels relatively low. The local crime and 
disorder reduction partnership is refocused and improving. Work to address the 
relatively high perception of fear of crime is not yet completed. The Council 
successfully promotes health and wellbeing and its communities are relatively 
healthy. The independence and wellbeing of older people is addressed and 
according to a recent assessment by the Commission of Social Care Inspection 
(CSCI), adult social services have improved and are now delivering good 
outcomes with promising capacity for further improvement.

79 Outcomes for children and young people in Bracknell are good and those most in 
need benefit from prompt and effective services. The Council and its partners 
have successfully reduced teenage pregnancy to significantly lower rates than 
the national average. Educational achievement is good up to age 16 but 
education, training and employment outcomes for those over 16 are only 
adequate.

250



Corporate Assessment What has been achieved?  27

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Sustainable communities and transport 

80 The Council has a strong focus on promoting sustainable communities and is 
achieving good outcomes. The Council is performing well in several areas, 
including waste management, planning, in many areas of housing and 
management of public spaces. The redevelopment of Bracknell Town Centre will 
deliver of a range of sustainability outcomes. The Council is improving its social 
housing and it is developing plans to improve its own sustainability.

81 The Council is intervening positively to address the needs of a buoyant local 
economy and pockets of disadvantage. It has consulted with local employers and 
is working to address their priorities, particularly shopping facilities, transportation 
and labour supply. The Council has made good progress to implement its major 
town centre scheme, which will bring improved services, jobs, affordable housing 
and better public transport for local residents. It is initiating skills training to meet 
the needs of the development and the wider economy. The Council facilitates 
effective community development through a network of community halls, 
community groups and its neighbourhood action groups. This is an appropriate 
level of intervention, given the characteristics of the area.

82 The Council is delivering good outcomes for local people from the planning 
system. It has improved decision-making by restructuring and changes to 
democratic processes. It has made good progress in its Local Development 
Framework, Local Transport Plan and supporting policies, well ahead of most 
councils. It has dealt effectively with the development constraints arising from the 
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area in order to protect the area and to 
allow some development. It is now bringing forward good quality housing and 
other development in accordance with regional guidance. This shows good use of 
planning powers to meet local needs. The Council has yet to implement some 
sustainability policies, for example for low energy developments and sustainable 
drainage schemes.  

83 The Council is addressing local housing needs effectively. Its new Local 
Development Framework is providing it with a sound basis for improving its 
affordable housing performance. It has delivered about 250 affordable homes 
since 2005 and it has sound proposals to meet its LAA targets by increasing 
delivery to nearly 300 per year in 2009/10. It has good intelligence on private 
sector stock condition and vulnerable households and it is providing good support 
though energy efficiency schemes, a home improvement agency and an equity 
release scheme run with an adjoining council. It provides effective support to 
prevent homelessness, integrated across services, and has achieved low levels 
of acceptances. It has clear plans to secure investment in its own housing stock, 
through stock transfer. This will enable it to meet the Decent Homes Standard by 
2010 and release resources for affordable housing.  

251



28 Corporate Assessment What has been achieved? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

84 The Council is providing some good sustainable transport outcomes, though 
significant planned changes are dependant upon the town centre redevelopment. 
The footpath and cycle path network has been consolidated (4 km of additional 
combined footpath/cycleway was built in 2006/07) and a programme of small 
scale highway improvements implemented to improve road safety. School travel 
plans and safe cycling schemes have been implemented. The Council is 
establishing a quality bus partnership and working on enhancements, such as 
real time passenger information. It promotes green travel planning with local 
employers, though outcomes are not consistently monitored. As a result, cycling, 
walking and bus use have increased while traffic flows have fallen and congestion 
has been kept in check. The Council is on target to increase the number of 
cycling trips by 20 per cent by 2011, bus use increased by 9 per cent in 2006 and 
the Council can show a 47 per cent reduction in serious road accidents, over the 
three-year period to 2006. This compares with the performance of the best
25 per cent of councils. Highway maintenance remains a key challenge and the 
Council as Government supplementary grants decline and the Council does not 
have long-term plans to address this. 

85 The Council manages its public spaces well. Standards of street cleanliness 
compare with those of the best councils, though public satisfaction remains low. 
The Council supports a number of biodiversity projects and has made substantial 
investments in its strategic open spaces with lottery funding. This has enabled it 
to increase their recreational and nature conservation value for example at Lilly 
Park and Southill Park. Public satisfaction with open spaces and recreational 
opportunities is high. The Council works effectively to manage pressures on the 
surrounding Special Protection Area and to free up local development 
opportunities.

86 The Council has worked effectively with the other Berkshire unitary councils to 
develop its waste management infrastructure and reduce the amount of waste 
going to landfill. Recycling rates have increased to over 40 per cent, making the 
Council one of the best performers in the country. Waste minimisation remains a 
challenge, though the Council has an active education programme and waste 
levels are falling. Partnership working in waste management is helping the 
Council to address some of the challenges it faces as a small council. This 
includes a £611 million joint PFI partnership with two neighbouring councils. This 
will provide a new household waste recycling centre, materials recovery facility 
and transfer station and the redevelopment of some existing facilities. 

87 The Council has recently signed the Nottingham declaration on climate change 
and it has started to take steps to address its own sustainability. It has waste 
recycling schemes in council offices. It purchases 'green energy' and it has 
upgraded heating systems and insulation to improve energy efficiency. This is 
reducing overall energy use. It has promoted green travel plans in schools and 
about half the councils schools participate in the ENCAMS eco-schools 
programme. This addresses recycling and other sustainability issues. The 
Council's own green travel plan is out of date, however, and it has not developed 
a comprehensive action plan to reduce its overall carbon footprint. This part of the 
action planning following the Nottingham Declaration is still work in progress.

252



Corporate Assessment What has been achieved?  29

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Safer and stronger communities 

88 The Council works effectively with partners in building safer and stronger 
communities. It has recognised this as a key priority for local people and invested 
resources to support and improve it. Crime levels are relatively low, although the 
fear of crime remains disproportionately high. Partnership working to build safer 
and stronger communities has improved and the crime and disorder reduction 
partnership (CDRP) is effective. 

89 The local CDRP is well lead and effectively managed. The Council's Chief 
Executive took over the chair of CDRP in January 2007. Its performance, 
leadership and impact had been poor under a previous chair and its weak 
performance management had been highlighted by the Government Office. Since 
January 2007, performance and reporting procedures have improved and the 
CDRP is now more effective. It is well led, appropriately structured with good 
support and commitment from all key partners. Partnership working to reduce 
crime is now strong and effective.

90 The CDRPs performance in reducing crime is good within the Thames Valley 
context, but not as strong when compared to other similar CDRP areas. However, 
the actual number of crimes in Bracknell Forest is low when compared nationally 
and regionally. Between 2005/06 and 2006/07 the area had an increase in overall 
crime figures. In the past 6 months, there is evidence that this has improved and 
robberies, burglaries and motor vehicle crime have reduced back to the previous 
low levels. In November 2007, overall crime rates have fallen since 2006 by  
18 per cent, against an already low number. Targeted initiatives to address 
issues such has anti-social motor cycle use, knife crime, improving car security 
and in improving the engagement of young people, along with closer 
neighbourhood and community policing, have been effective. Bracknell Forest is 
a relatively safe place to live. This has been achieved by effective partnership 
working and targeting of resources.

91 The Council and the CDRP have not been successful in reducing the fear of 
crime. It has good knowledge about fear of crime and sets targets to reduce it, 
but action to achieve this is not always clear or targeted. Its surveys and research 
work indicate that the fear of crime is too high in relation to the low crime in the 
area. Local people indicate that 'level of crime' is the most important issue for 
them, but also feel that it is not the issue most in need of improvement in the 
area. Despite this, and the low crime rates, 57 per cent of locals report that they 
are 'very or fairly worried' about becoming a victim of crime. The Council and the 
CDRP is working to address this. It has a constructive relationship with the local 
press and works well to publicise positive news on community safety. It identifies 
‘hot spots’ and police visibility is higher in these areas. A perception of crime  
sub-group is in place within the CDRP, but planning and delivery is not yet 
coordinated or performance managed to reduce the fear of crime. 

253



30 Corporate Assessment What has been achieved? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

92 The Council and the CDRP has an appropriate focus and organisation and it 
deals effectively with anti-social behaviour (ASB). This includes an ASB strategy 
and effective partnership working. Action is leading to reduced ASB, this includes 
careful implementation of ASB orders and acceptable behaviour contracts 
(ABCs). The Council uses an effective system in partnership with the police and 
parish/town councils to monitor ASB and to target actions. This records and helps 
analyse and resolve community nuisance and disorder such as abandoned 
vehicles, motorcycle nuisance, needle finds, broken glass reports, hoax fire 
reports, vandalism, noise, speeding and fly tipping. As a result the Council is able 
to target its action and initiatives appropriately. 

93 The Council and partners have an appropriate focus on drugs and alcohol. The 
Drug and Alcohol Action Team (DAAT) is delivering positive outcomes and drugs 
and alcohol misuse is below the national average. An effective multi-agency 
treatment centre provides good support and advice services - including 
preventative work with schools and young adults. Between 2005 and 2007 clients 
accessing treatment rose by 86 per cent and in 2006/07, 74 per cent of clients 
were retained for 12 weeks or more. The Adult Drug Treatment Plan 2007/08 
represents a comprehensive strategy for treatment and aftercare.

94 The Council's performance against its own targets for reducing road casualties is 
mixed, although actual numbers of road casualties are comparatively low when 
compared nationally. In 2006/07 the Council's targets to reduce the number of 
people killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions by 8 per cent was not 
achieved and 62 people were killed or seriously injured against a target of 32. 
However, this follows a sustained long-term reduction up until 2006 and action is 
now being taken to analyse and address the recent upturn.

95 The Council has an effective business continuity plan and an effective emergency 
plan based on risk. It participates fully with partners and neighbours through the 
Berkshire Emergency Planning Structure, an Emergency Planning Group and the 
Berkshire Regional Continuity Forum.  

96 The Council works to build stronger communities, but this is not complete in all 
areas. It has a good knowledge of its communities and is developing an 
integrated approach to social inclusion through its community cohesion strategy. 
However, data on the BME community is not yet detailed enough to target 
specific needs and work to map and better understand the needs of BME 
community is still work in progress.

Healthier communities

97 Promoting health and wellbeing is embedded as a mainstream Council activity 
and priority. Departmental service plans set out the actions being taken and the 
Council has a range of initiatives and good capacity to promote healthier 
communities. The recent assessment by the Commission for Social Care 
Inspection (CSCI) rated the Council's adult social services as providing 'excellent' 
outcomes in heath and emotional wellbeing. 

254



Corporate Assessment What has been achieved?  31

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

98 The Council's approach to promoting healthier communities is good. It focuses on 
wide-ranging measures to enable residents to pursue healthy lifestyles and to 
maintain good levels of health. The Council promotes access to a range of 
physical recreation opportunities and is making good progress on its LAA targets 
on exercise and Healthy Schools. This preventative approach is effective, valued 
and seen as complementary by health partners. Life expectancy and mortality 
rates in the Borough are improving. A public health consultant works part-time for 
the Council, strengthening further the integration of health issues and Council 
services.

99 The Council is improving health and wellbeing outcomes including for its most 
vulnerable groups. This includes targeted initiatives such as a successful 
exercise referral scheme; a scheme to promote competitive sports amongst 
school children; good advice to older people on how to stay healthy and free from 
accidents and smoking reduction measures. A wellbeing leisure team has 
supported almost 1,500 additional people to take up exercise or leisure activities 
(October 2006 to July 2007) and an e+smart card allows them to easily purchase 
a range of activities. The Council performs very well in reducing teenage 
pregnancies - the rate in 2006/07 was reduced by 40.7 per cent, against a target 
of 20.6 per cent. The Council’s children and adolescent mental health services 
(CAMHS) approach is well developed. The Supporting People service, with 
partners, meets the needs of teenage parents and young people unable to live 
with their parents and is applying systematic data sharing to target those most at 
risk of fuel poverty. This helps improve the basic living conditions for healthier 
communities.

100 The Council is taking a systematic approach to promoting healthier communities. 
A Health and Wellbeing strategy has been developed with partners. This includes 
good analysis of health needs, of existing and future contributions to health and 
wellbeing and sets a firm foundation for future health impact assessments and 
decision-making. Arrangements for performance management are clear within 
the strategy. The strategy will be further developed and targeted in light of the 
findings of a joint strategic needs assessment being undertaken with the PCT. 
The Council takes a targeted approach to reducing health inequalities. The most 
deprived wards in terms of health needs have been identified and are now the 
focus of specific work, including on healthy eating, smoking, and exercise. These 
arrangements enable the Council and its partners to target activities more 
systematically and based on identified needs. 

101 The Council has improved access to health services for groups at risk. It has 
increased access to physical recreation opportunities for adults with learning 
disabilities and take-up is high. Physical health checks and advice for people with 
learning disabilities and users of the Mental Health service are provided. The 
Council has incorporated health issues in its arrangements to engage with young 
people who are not in education, employment or training. The town centre 'NRG' 
scheme, run in partnership with other agencies, received over 200 young people 
during 2006/07, including those wanting help with health-related issues. These 
measures enable the Council to engage successfully on health matters with 
harder to reach teenagers and young adults. 

255



32 Corporate Assessment What has been achieved? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

102 The Council's Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel takes a robust approach to 
advocating the interests of local people to NHS partners. The Panel has worked 
proactively and extensively to increase health funding for the area and to ensure 
that effective arrangements exist to enable local people to have their say on 
where and how services are provided. This includes improving transport to a local 
hospital. This encourages partners to take account of local views in determining 
access to health services. 

Older people

103 The Council is performing well in promoting and supporting the independence 
and wellbeing of older people. The population of Bracknell Forest is relatively 
healthy and the average life expectancy in Bracknell Forest is high at over
80 years. Although not a stated top priority for the Council, older people’s issues 
are addressed within its current objectives and themes, along with strong links to 
health and community safety. The recent assessment by the Commission for 
Social Care Inspection (CSCI) rated the Council's adult social services as 'good' 
overall.

104 Through its older people's strategy the Council and partners have developed a 
comprehensive strategic approach to older people that goes beyond health and 
social care and the national 'Seven Dimensions of Independence'. This strategy 
represents an effective targeted approach to older people's services; it includes a 
clear commissioning strategy and a performance management system to monitor 
its delivery. The strategy is based on good research and inclusive engagement 
and this ensures that it reflects residents' needs.  

105 The Council has good capacity to address older people's issues. It has a  
co-ordinated cross-service approach and this contributes to improved outcomes 
and a good range of services, initiatives and activities for older people This 
includes its improving adult social services, good leisure and recreation facilities 
and a wide range of activities and initiatives for older people. It has an effective 
Executive Portfolio holder for Adult Services, Health, Commissioning and 
Housing and part of this role is to ensure that older people's needs are addressed 
across all services. The Council's services and response to older people is based 
on what older people say they need in their local communities. Positive initiatives 
and facilities include an active 'silver surfers' organisation, a well used and much 
appreciated drop-in café for the over 50s, successful intergenerational 
programmes to bring young and old together, leisure passes for over 50s, home 
security and safety initiatives and activities such as 'Walking for Health'. This 
helps ensure that older people have good access to facilities and events and are 
active and engaged with the Council.

256



Corporate Assessment What has been achieved?  33

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

106 The Council uses a wide range of methods to ensure it engages fully with older 
people. This is now inclusive of the 50 to 65 age group, but engagement with 
BME older people is limited. Consultation is extensive with a range of older 
people over 50 years of age, not only in existing wider forums, but also through 
various active older people's groups across the community such as the bi-annual 
‘Voice of Experience’ conference. This consultation leads to improved and 
changed services, for example, improvements to day centre provision and the
re-shaping of dementia services. As a result the Council and its partners are 
confident that the needs and aspirations of most older people are being met. In 
particular, the desire of older people to remain as long as possible in their own 
homes. Work to ensure that this includes older BME people is under developed 
and this means that the Council can not yet be sure that it is fully meeting their 
needs.

107 Social care initiatives and projects are targeted to meet the needs of older 
people, including through voluntary and community groups. This includes a 
review of day care provision, the agreed housing stock transfer which includes 
planned improvements to sheltered homes and improved routing of buses to the 
hospitals that serve the Council. A councillor champion for older people holds 
weekly meetings with a senor citizen's forum and initiatives such as an active 
home library service, a good range of educational courses and social events and 
improved internet access for older people have been implemented. Good 
arrangements are also in place for older people to meet with younger people to 
ease fears and reduce any friction. The Council and its partners have been 
successful in reducing the number of delayed transfers of care and in reducing 
hospital admissions. This helps ensure that older people do not spend 
unnecessary time in hospital.

108 The Council is making good progress towards modernising its services for older 
people, although this is still work in progress. The Council along with its partners 
is seeking to ensure that its adult social care services, including those services 
for older people, are fit for current and future needs. Modernising these services 
is a key challenge for the Council but recent progress has been good. According 
to a recent assessment by the Commission of Social Care Inspection (CSCI), 
Adult Social Services have improved and are now delivering good outcomes with 
promising capacity for further improvement. A transformation programme is now 
in place and this is focused on maximising the independence of older people.  

257



34 Corporate Assessment What has been achieved? 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Children and young people 

109 Outcomes for children and young people in Bracknell are good. They are very 
healthy and benefit from good community support for their mental wellbeing. 
Comparatively few children and young people are in need of protection plans or 
come into care. Those most in need benefit from prompt and effective services. 
Educational achievement is good up to age 16 but the combined outcomes in 
education, training and employment for those over 16 are only adequate. The 
great majority of children and young people behave responsibly; many take up 
the wide variety of opportunities to contribute to their schools and communities. 
Children and young people with learning difficulties and/or disabilities do well, 
with effective help in moving on within children’s services.

110 The management of children’s services in Bracknell Forest is good. The senior 
management team and elected members give very good leadership in expressing 
the area’s strong ambitions for integrated working to improve outcomes. 
Prioritisation is good and founded well on need, although the council recognises 
that the intensive analysis commissioned two years ago needs updating in the 
light of the rapidly changing population. Management and workforce capacity is 
good, enhanced by innovative recruitment and retention policies for teachers and 
social workers. Change has been managed well, although progress has been 
slow in the area of 14 to 19 partnerships. Partners and community sector 
organisations make an impressive contribution to preventative and family support 
work. Financial management is effective. Staff supervision is generally effective 
and purposeful; performance management systems are good and particularly well 
used in education.

111 The high quality Children’s and Young People Plan (CYPP) is clearly aligned to 
corporate strategy and the Local Area Agreement. A robust first year review of 
the CYPP drives forward the commitment of the council and its partners. There is 
good progress towards integrated services with key elements of a Children’s 
Trust due to be in place by the target deadline of April 2008. The council has a 
strong framework for redirecting resources to areas of need and areas of 
underperformance. With good capacity, robust financial and performance 
management systems in place, the council has good capacity to continue to 
improve.

112 All services and the 100 per cent of schools on the National Healthy Schools 
programme make an excellent contribution to the physical and mental health of 
children and young people through emphasis on prevention and healthy lifestyles. 
Babies are given a good start in life and levels of infant and child mortality are 
low. Dental health is very good. The authority has been judged as one of the top 
three local authorities in the country in reducing teenage pregnancy with 
significantly lower rates than the national average. The health of looked after 
children and those with learning difficulties and/or disabilities is supported very 
well through specialist services and good access to universal provision.  

258



Corporate Assessment What has been achieved?  35

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

113 Children and young people appear safe. The Local Safeguarding Children Board 
(LSCB) directs good multi-agency working through its business plans. This is 
seen in the good practice regarding domestic violence and bullying, including 
support to the victims of homophobic and racist bullying. Schools and settings 
where children are cared for provide a safe environment. Road safety is very 
good. Child protection plans are well managed. Children in care, including the 
high proportion who are placed in appropriate settings outside the borough, are 
skilfully supported. The majority are in stable placements although there is more 
to do in developing foster care for those with complex needs and for some black 
and minority ethnic children.

114 Educational and personal development outcomes are good and most pupils enjoy 
their school life. Achievement through pre-school and in both primary and 
secondary schools is good overall. The local authority takes effective action to 
improve schools. Attendance is good, including that for young people in care. 
Special educational needs processes are well managed and the Kennel Lane 
special school outreach services are highly regarded by other schools and 
parents for their effect on supporting inclusion in mainstream schools. Young 
people make good progress through involvement in youth work and have access 
to a good range of leisure facilities.  

115 The council and its partners take careful account of the views of all groups, 
although the participation of some groups of black and minority ethnic groups and 
some children in care is underdeveloped. Much effort is made to ensure those 
receiving services take part in reviews. There are outstandingly positive effects 
on behaviour and achievement in schools that have embarked on the UNICEF-
sponsored Rights Respecting Agenda. Partners work closely together to target 
anti-social behaviour effectively. The rate of offending is comparatively low for the 
region and those who offend get satisfactory help.

116 Support for economic wellbeing is good overall, although over-16s are less well 
served than younger age groups. High quality childcare is widely available. There 
is good preparation for working life in secondary schools. Provision for young 
people with learning difficulties is good. Strategies to improve provision for 14 to 
19 year-olds are not yet fully taking effect for those over the age of 16. There is 
still a low range of provision, too little flexibility and too few young people staying 
in employment, education or training. The comprehensive electronic prospectus 
is underdeveloped. Information, guidance and housing for vulnerable groups are 
good and young people are effectively involved in consultation for the 
regeneration of Bracknell Town Centre.

259



36 Corporate Assessment Appendix 1 – Framework for corporate assessment 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Appendix 1 – Framework for corporate 
assessment

1 This corporate assessment was carried out under section 10 of the Local 
Government Act 1999, under which the Audit Commission has power to inspect 
local authorities’ arrangements for securing continuous improvement. The results 
of the corporate assessment contribute to the determination of the overall CPA 
category for an authority, which the Audit Commission is required to assess and 
report on under section 99 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

2 The Council’s self-assessment provided a key resource in focusing the 
assessment activity which included consideration of: 

 key documentation, including the Council’s improvement plan; 

 updated performance indicators and performance data; and 

 interviews and meetings attended. 

3 The assessment for Bracknell Forest Borough Council was undertaken by a team 
from the Audit Commission and took place over the period from 15 October to
26 October 2007. 

4 This report has been discussed with the Council, which has been given the 
opportunity to examine the Audit Commission’s assessment. This report will be 
used as the basis for improvement planning by the Council. 

260



 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Road Traffic Casualties 
 
 
 

Report by a Working Group of the 
Environment and Leisure Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 8 May 2008 

 

Agenda Item 11

261



 

 

Table of Contents 
 
  Page Number 

 
1. Forward by the Lead Member 

 
3 

2. Background 
 

4 

3. Investigation and Information Gathering 
 

5 

4. Conclusions 
 

14 

5. Recommendations 
 

16 

Glossary of Terms 
 

17 
 

 
Graphics 
 
Figure 1 Killed and Seriously injured (all Ages) 6 
Figure 2 Children Killed or Seriously Injured 7 
Figure 3 Slight Injury (All Ages) 7 
Figure 4 KSI all Age – 3 Year Rolling Average 8 
Figure 5 Children KSI – 3 Year Rolling Average 8 
Figure 6 KSI Casualties including Traffic Flow and Population Factors 9 
Figure 7 Slight Casualties including Traffic Flow and Population 

Factors 
9 

Figure 8 Motorcycle KSI Casualties in Bracknell Forest 10 
Figure 9 Ranking (based on Casualties per 1000 population) [2003-

2007] 
11 

Figure 10 Annual KS totals for Berkshire Unitaries (plus Milton Keynes 
from 2000-2006 

12 

Figure 11 Count of Recorded causation factors for all collisions in 
Bracknell Forest in 2006 

12 

Figure 12 Count of recorded causation factors for all collisions 
between Jan 2005 and Nov 2007 in the Berkshire unitary 
authorities plus Milton Keynes 

13 

 

Acknowledgements 
 
The Working Group would like to express their thanks to the following people for their 
co-operation and time.  All those who have participated in the review have been 
thanked for their contribution and provided with a copy of this report. 
 
Councillor Mrs Ballin, Executive Member for Planning and Transportation  
Councillor McCracken, Executive Member for Leisure, Corporate Services and Public 
Protection 
 
The following officers from Bracknell Forest Borough Council: 
 
Roger Cook, Transport Development Manager  
Richard Beaumont, Head of Performance and Scrutiny 

262



 

 

1.  Foreword by the Lead Member  
 

Road traffic casualties are a tragedy for people affected by them, and 
reducing the number and severity of those casualties is a national priority. 
Helping drivers and others to reduce those casualties is a hugely important 
role for Bracknell Forest Borough Council and its partners. This report records 
the outcome of a Working Group of the Environment and Leisure Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel, established to examine performance in reducing road 
traffic casualties, at the request of the Council’s Executive. The Working 
Group’s review was conducted jointly with a representative of Thames Valley 
Police, due to their significant role in regard to road traffic casualties, and its 
membership comprised: 

 
Councillor Alvin Finch (Lead Member) 
Councillor Mrs McCracken  
Councillor McLean 
Mr Richard Owen, Operations Manager, Thames Valley Safer Roads 
Partnership 
 
This review demonstrates how Overview and Scrutiny can respond promptly 
and constructively to requests from the Council’s Executive, investigating 
matters of importance in collaboration with partners, adding insight and 
assisting in the formulation of Council policies and target setting.  

263



 

 

 
2. Background  

 
2.1 The Council's Executive asked for a review by Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) 

of the Borough's performance on minimising road traffic casualties (RTC), at 
their meeting on 23 October 2007, when they considered the Quarter 1 
Corporate Performance Overview Report for 2007/08. Noting the number of 
'red' Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPI) in this area, the Executive 
agreed to the Chief Executive's suggestion that Overview and Scrutiny should 
review that performance.   

 
2.2 The BVPI’s shown as ‘red’, i.e.  indicators that had not been or were not likely 

to be achieved on time/ to target were: 
 

• BV 99a (i) Number of people Killed or Seriously Injured (KSI) in road traffic 
 collisions in the previous calendar year 

• BV 99 a (ii) Percentage change in the number of people KSI in road traffic 
collisions in the previous calendar year 

• BV 99 a (iii) Percentage change in the number of people KSI in road traffic 
collisions in the previous calendar year compared to the 1994-98 
average 

• BV 99 c (i) Number of people slightly injured (SI) in road traffic collisions in 
the previous calendar year 

• BV 99 c (ii) Percentage change in the number of people SI in road traffic 
collisions in the previous calendar year 

• BV 99 c (iii) Percentage change in the number of people SI in road traffic 
collisions in the previous calendar year compared to the 1994-98 
average.  

 
 
 
2.3 The Environment and Leisure Overview and Scrutiny Panel decided to form a 

Working Group to carry out the review requested by the Executive, and to 
report back to the panel. The panel appointed Councillor members as listed in 
section 1 above, and as requested by the Executive, the Working Group also 
included a representative of Thames Valley Police (TVP). 

 
2.4 The Working Group agreed that the scope of their work should be to: 
 

a) understand the reasons for the ‘red traffic light’ indicators on the various 
 Best Value Performance Indicators No 99, with particular reference  to 
 the reported under-performance in 2006 
b) establish whether the statistics give a true reflection of the real 
 performance on  road traffic casualties (RTC) 
c) establish the long-term trends on RTC, taking account of all relevant 
 factors 
d) consider whether local targets are being set appropriately 
e) recommend whether there is a need for a separate and substantive 
 overview and scrutiny review of RTC reduction measures in the 
 Borough, and if  so, to propose an outline scope for the review 
f) ascertain and review the causes of RTC in the Borough. 
 

264



 

 

 

3.  Investigation and Information Gathering 
 
3.1 The Working Group first met in December and then on three subsequent 

occasions, allowing time for research work to be done between meetings. We 
wrote to the Executive Member for Planning and Transportation on 27 
February with the Working Group’s provisional findings and conclusions. The 
outcome of the group’s investigation and information gathering is summarised 
below. 

 
The Nature of the Targets against which Performance is Measured  
 
3.2 The Government determines the nature of the targets against which 

performance is judged, and all councils must comply with that framework, with 
additional local indicators as they see fit. The Working Group found that using 
those BVPI targets alone to judge performance made for a less than fully 
informative picture: 

 

• The three targets in the BVPI 99 area: KSI all-ages (BVPI99 (a)), KSI 
children (a sub-set of “all ages”) (BVPI99 (b)), and Slight Injuries 
(BVPI99(c)) each have three BVPIs relating to the performance in meeting 
that target, (Roman i, ii and iii) making 9 in all. Two of the three ‘subset’ 
BVPIs for each target are in effect identical (the Borough’s target for 
casualty reduction) – so, in terms of traffic lights, if achieving the target is 
at risk, two reds are shown, not one, and this effectively overstates the 
performance under-achievement. 

• It is possible for a BVPI to have a ‘red traffic light’ despite the annual 
(intermediate) target having been achieved, if performance has not been 
as good as in the previous year. 

• Unusually, the reporting period for BVPI 99s is the calendar year, not the 
financial year period, thus the reported performance in quarter 1 of 
2007/08 would have been heavily influenced by performance in 2006. 
This is particularly significant (see paragraph 3.14 below). 

 
3.3 The Working Group also noted that the BVPI definitions take no account of  

influencing factors such as the growth in population, traffic and vehicle 
ownership, nor changing lifestyles (the Borough is regarded as ‘money rich 
and time poor’). The Borough is a growth area, and this serves to make the 
national targets harder to achieve, all things being equal. We return to this 
point at paragraph 3.10 below. 

 
3.4 The Working Group also reviewed the new National Indicators, which 

replaced BVPIs from April 2008. The definitions contained an anomaly in our 
view, in that both the all-age and children KSI indicators would only measure 
the change from year to year, and not have any comparison to the national 
long-term target itself.  The Working Group also noted that the new NI targets 
have recently been defined as being on a rolling three year average basis, 
and slight injuries are no longer to be measured. 

 
Performance Against the Long-Term National and Borough Targets 
 
3.5 It is worth noting that relatively few road traffic collisions result in injuries, and 

the BVPI’s measure only the cases of personal injury resulting from collisions. 
 

265



 

 

3.6 The Government’s national targets for road accident collisions are, relative to 
the average figures for 1994-98, to achieve by 2010: a 40% reduction in the 
number of people Killed or Seriously Injured (KSI); a 50% reduction in the 
number of children KSI; and a 10% reduction in the number of people Slightly 
Injured (SI). 

 
3.7 Bracknell Forest Borough Council (‘the Council’) has chosen to adopt more 

stretching targets than the national targets referred to above. These were last 
set in the second Local Transport Plan, to achieve, by 2010:- 

 

• A 60% reduction in Killed and Seriously Injured (all ages of casualty)  

• A 66 % reduction Killed and Seriously Injured (children) (a sub-set of “all           
 ages”) (BVPI99(b)). 

• A 27% reduction in Slight Injuries (BVPI99(c)). 
 
3.8 Judging long-term performance against these ‘stretched targets’ must 

therefore be interpreted sensibly in relation to the national targets. Indeed, the 
stretched targets were the most demanding the Thames Valley Safer Roads 
Partnership had seen. Further reductions in casualties are increasingly 
difficult to achieve, and it has to be recognised that there is an irreducible 
minimum number of casualties which no amount of investment could remedy. 
The Borough’s performance against the three targets is shown in Figures 1 to 
3. 

 
 Figure 1  
 

 

Killed and Seriously Injured (all ages)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

94-9
8 a

v

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Year

K
S
I 
(N
o
.)

Original Target

Stretched taget

Performance

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

266



 

 

 Figure 2  
 

 

Child Killed or Seriously Injured

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

94-9
8 a

v

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Year

K
S
I 
(N
o
.)

Original Target

Stretched Target

Performance

 
 
 Figure 3  
 

 

Slight Injury (All Ages)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

94-9
8 a

v

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Year

K
S
I 
(N
o
.)

Original Target

Stretched target

Performance

 
 
  
3.9 Until 2008/09 the Council was required by government to measure 

performance on an annual basis. However, given the long-term nature of the 
national targets, and the effect of short-term variations, there is a case to also 
measure performance on a longer basis. Figures 4 and 5 illustrate the 
Borough’s performance on a rolling, three-year average basis for two of the 
targets. 

 
 
 
 
 

267



 

 

 Figure 4 
 

 

KSI 3 Year Rolling Average

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Year

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
K
S
I 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s

Target

Actual

3 yr rolling average

 
 
 
 Figure 5  
 

 

Child KSI 3 year Rolling Average

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Year

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
K
S
I 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s

Target

Actual

3 yr rolling averge

 
 
 
3.10 As noted in paragraph 3.3 above, the target base does not take account of 

influencing factors such as the growth in population, traffic and vehicle 
ownership, nor changing lifestyles, which all serve to make the targets harder 
to achieve, all things being equal. This may have a correlation with the high 
incidence of driver-related causes of collisions (see paragraph 3.20 below). 
Notwithstanding that, the increases in population and traffic had a 
disproportionately small impact on KSI cases, reflecting an even steeper real 
reduction in casualties than as reported using the BVPIs. This is illustrated in 
Figures 6 and 7. 

 
 
 
 
 

268



 

 

 Figure 6  
 

 

KSI casualties including Traffic Flow and Population Factors

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

94 - 98

Av.

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Year

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
C
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s

Actual

Factored by Traffic flow

Factored by Population

 
 
 Figure 7  
 

 

Slight casualties including Traffic Flow and Population Factors

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

94 - 98

Av.

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Year

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
C
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s

Actual

Factored by Traffic Flow

Factored by Population

 
 
 
Intermediate Targets 
 
3.11 The Council is required to set one-year, i.e. intermediate targets for each 

BVPI, within the long-term targets referred to above. As the ‘red traffic lights’ 
reported underperformance in the early part of 2007/08 would have been 
heavily influenced by performance in the 2006 calendar year, the Working 
Group focussed its attention on the targets set and performance achieved in 
2006. 

  
3.12 Taking targets first, we were informed that there were three main options in 

setting intermediate (one year) targets for casualty reductions in 2006: 
 

• ramp down the target from the target values in 2005; 

• ramp down the target from a trend line of progress towards reduction; or 

269



 

 

• draw the target line from the actual recorded values of 2005. 
 
3.13 In the event, the last option was chosen by the Council, giving an in-year 

target which was much more demanding than a ‘straight line’ reduction to 
achieve the ‘stretched’ long-term 2010 target; see Figures 1-3. Coupled with 
the Borough’s long-term targets being much more demanding than the 
national ones, the effect of that has been to give the Borough extremely tough 
targets in the  interim years, especially vulnerable to chance factors. The 
small size of the Borough and the relatively small number of casualties 
involved makes a variation against a one-year intermediate target quite likely.  
The Council’s target of not-more-than three child KSIs in one year is the most 
obvious example of that. 
 

3.14 Added to the very demanding intermediate targets for 2006, Bracknell Forest 
experienced a surge in road accident KSI in 2006. This ‘surge’ (which was 
worse than the national target for the year) was also replicated to varying 
degrees elsewhere in the Thames Valley (see paragraph 3.19 below). A lot of 
work has been done to attempt to identify the causes of the ‘surge’ in KSI 
casualties in 2006, which concluded that there was no identifiable reason for 
that surge.  The unusual nature of the surge in KSI injuries is made more 
remarkable by the fact that there were actually fewer ‘injury-producing’ 
collisions than in the previous year, but the collisions resulted in a higher rate 
of recorded casualties than in the previous year.  The Group noted that the 
number of motorcycle KSI casualties in Bracknell Forest in 2006 (Figure 8 
below) broadly matched the surge in all-age KSI. 

 
 Figure 8  
 
 Motorcycle KSI Casualties in Bracknell Forest 

 

  
 
 
3.15 Nationally, 2006 saw a levelling out of RTC. The Department of Transport has 
 yet to review the position. 
 
3.16 The Borough’s performance against the intermediate yearly targets is 
 illustrated in Figures 1-3. The combined effect of the intermediate year 
 stretched targets and the surge in injuries in 2006 resulted in two thirds of the 

270



 

 

 BVPI’s being underachieved. The overall ‘Killed or Seriously Injured’ (KSI) 
 figures for 2007 are close to 2005 performance, resuming the previous 
 downward trend. 
 
3.17 The surge in recorded KSIs lasted between April 2006 and March 2007, 
 however, since BVPIs are reported in the Performance Monitoring Report as 
 a rolling 12 month figure, the effect will be tending to cause a continuation of 
 red traffic lights into the Spring of 2008 for the BVPI’s.  Also, as the new 
 National Indicators are on a rolling three year average basis, the impact of the 
 2006 surge will continue to apply until 2009. 
 
Comparison with other Thames Valley Highway Authorities 
 
3.18 Bracknell Forest’s performance compared to other Highway Authorities in the 
 Thames Valley is very good – in 2003/07 Bracknell Forest was the third 
 lowest (out of the 16 TV Highway Authorities) for personal accident 
 collisions casualties per 1000 population; BF had the lowest rate per 
 1000 population (i.e 16th position out of 16) for three categories of road 
 users, and had lower casualties than the median point for all categories of 
 road users. This is shown in Figure 9. 
 
 
 Figure 9 
  
 Ranking (Based on casualties per 1000 population) [2003-2007] 

 
 

 
  
 
3.19 This performance of Bracknell Forest KSI reduction compared to other 
 Highway Authorities is illustrated in  the annual KSI totals in Figure 10 below 
 which also shows that the surge of casualties in 2006 was widespread. 
 
 
 

271



 

 

 
 
 Figure 10 
  
 Annual KSI totals for Berkshire unitaries (plus Milton Keynes) from 2000-2006 (plus 2007  data 
 to the end of November 2007) 

 
 

 
 
The Causes of Road Traffic Casualties 
 
3.20 The breakdown of causes of RTC in Bracknell Forest, set out in Figure 11  is 
 broadly similar to the breakdown for the Thames Valley at Figure 12. 
 This demonstrates that driver error is the major cause of collisions. 
 
 
 Figure 11  
 
 Count of Recorded Causation Factors for all Collisions in Bracknell Forest in 2006. 

 

  
  
 
 

272



 

 

 
 
 Figure 12 
 
 Count of Recorded Causation Factors for all Collisions between Jan 2005 and Nov 2007 in the 
 Berkshire Unitary Authorities plus Milton Keynes 

 

   
 
3.21 The Working Group established that there is no discernible effect on road 
 accident casualties resulting from the change from Summer time to Winter 
 time or vice-versa. 
 
3.22   The Working Group noted that Coroners’ verdicts on fatality cases – which 

give the definitive adjudged causes in such cases - were not routinely 
reported to Highway Authorities. 

 
The case for a further review 
 
3.23 This report has concentrated on understanding what lies behind the 
 performance  data, in response to the request from the Executive. Road  
 Accident casualties are an important issue for people who live in or travel 
 through the Borough. A follow-on review could usefully explore: the 
 Council’s participation in the Thames Valley Safer Roads Partnership, 
 operational issues including education and other measures taken to 
 reduce road accident  casualties, the arrangements for safety cameras, and 
 performance against  the Council’s Road Safety Plan. The review might also 
 examine whether the Council carries out sufficient analyses of the nature and 
 location of each type of accident and the vehicles involved, whether or not 
 drivers were local and whether or not more than one vehicle was involved, to 
 identify any particular feature which might be remedied. This separate and 
 substantive review of  operational issues is worthy of consideration by the 
 Environment and Leisure O&S Panel as part of its work programme but as 
 the Council’s performance is clearly good in relation to its long-term 
 targets, to other parts of the Thames Valley and nationally, this review 
 does not in our view have a high priority. 

273



 

 

4. Conclusions 
 
4.1 The Working Group found several deficiencies in the nature of the targets set 

by government in terms of their usefulness in assessing the true performance 
in RTC reduction. This deficiency is continued in part in the new National 
Indicators from April 2008.  The nature of the BVPI’s has somewhat 
overstated the underperformance against the targets.  

 
4.2. As performance against the BVPI’s is effectively on a rolling 12 month basis, 

the impact of the stretched target and the 2006 surge in injury numbers can 
be expected to cause a continuation of red traffic light BVPI indicators for KSI 
all- age and SI until the Spring of 2008.  As the new National Indicators are on 
a three year basis, that impact will continue to apply to 2009. 

 
4.3. Bracknell Forest’s long-term trend in the reduction of road traffic casualties is 

much better than that required by the national targets, and the long term 
targets for the Borough are much more stretching than those national targets.  
Given  the increasingly difficult task to further reduce what are already 
commendably  low casualty figures, it is important that the Council’s ‘stretched 
targets’ are reviewed to ensure they remain appropriate, and we note that this 
is being discussed with Government in the preparation of the new Local Area 
Agreement. 

 
4.4 With relatively small numbers of casualties occurring, figures in any one year 
 are more susceptible to variation by a high proportion due to chance factors. 
 The Government has decided to average KSIs in this way when reporting the 
 new National Indicators (NI). Given Bracknell Forest’s relatively small size 
 and low casualty numbers, measuring all types of casualty cases would 
 benefit from this approach as well. 
 
4.5. The reported under-achievement has occurred not in relation to the long-term 
 target, but with the intermediate 2006 targets (see figures 1 and 3). All the in-
 year 2006 targets were much more demanding than a ‘straight-line’ reduction 
 to achieve the long-term 2010 target. The reason for this appears to have 
 been that to set a target less demanding than the previous year’s 
 performance would not have been appropriate – despite that having been 
 done in previous years. The consequence was extremely demanding targets 
 for 2006, almost requiring the full reduction due until 2010 in just one year.  
 The increased intermediate target was clearly over-ambitious, and possibly 
 the long term target too. 
 
4.6. Individual years can contain large percentage variations due to the small 
 actual numbers of casualties (for example, the target for children KSI is no 
 more than 3 each year), making averaged outturns a more appropriate 
 measure of performance than single year targets.  
 
4.7 In recommending greater focus on long-term performance, the Working 

Group are mindful that the Council has no direct control over driver errors – 
the principal cause of collisions; also that investments in road safety are 
necessarily long-term in nature as are their returns, and it has to be accepted 
that there will be fluctuations in individual years. It would therefore be more 
appropriate to measure and report on outturns in relation to targets over a 
period greater than one year. 

 

274



 

 

4.8  Coroners’ verdicts on fatality cases are a useful source of information to 
understand the full causes of fatalities, and the adjudicated causes should be 
sought as a matter of routine for all fatality cases. 

275



 

 

 

5.  Recommendations of the Working Group 
 
To the Council’s Executive, we recommend that: 
 
5.1 The Council decides whether to adopt a local performance target for slight 

injuries, as the Government have ceased requiring this to be measured, and if 
so, this should be on a rolling three-year average basis. 

 
5.2. The Council should consider, with its partners, its long term targets for 
 casualty reduction, as set out in its Road Safety Plan and Service Plan.  
 They need to be challenging yet achievable, and the current ‘stretched 
 targets’ appear extremely ambitious. 
 
5.3. The Council’s annual targets should not set a step reduction in any one year, 

but  instead be based on a straight-line reduction to the 2010 ‘stretched’ 
BFBC  targets. 

 
5.4. The Council should ask government to change the methodology for 
 computing performance on RTC reductions to take account of (a) growth  and 
 other contributory factors (paragraph 3.3 above refers); and (b) 
 incorporating a progress measure against the national long-term target 
 (paragraph 3.4 above refers). 
 
5.5. Officers should standardise the form of a note to be issued to Local Members 
 and the Executive Member for Planning and Transportation on the officially 
 recorded circumstances of fatal road collisions and the causes of death 
 issued by the Coroners Service.   The Council should also use the information 
 to demonstrate publicly that it has a full understanding of fatality cases and 
 has both learnt what it can, and taken appropriate action in all cases. 
 
To The Environment and Leisure Overview and Scrutiny Panel, we recommend that: 
 
5.6. The work of the Working Group be regarded as concluded.  
 
5.7. The Environment and Leisure O&S Panel considers mounting a separate and 
 substantive review of operational issues affecting road traffic casualties as 
 part of its work programme, but as a low priority. 
 
5.8. This report should be copied to all Thames Valley Highway Authorities for 
 their information and interest. 
 

276



 

 

 
 

 
Glossary of Terms 
 
BVPI  Best Value Performance Indicator 
 
KSI  Killed or Seriously Injured 
 
O&S  Overview and Scrutiny 
 
RTC  Road Traffic Casualties 
 
SI  Slightly Injured 
 
The Council Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

 
TVP  Thames Valley Police  

 
  

 

277



278

This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMISSION 

 

EXECUTIVE WORK PROGRAMME: Chief Executive’s/Corporate Services 
 

REFERENCE I010447 

 

TITLE: Capital Outturn 2007/08 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To note the 2007/08 capital programme outturn. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: Within existing budget 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: None  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  None  

DATE OF DECISION: 24 Jun 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I010449 

 

TITLE: Revenue Outturn 2007/08 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To note the 2007/08 revenue expenditure outturn  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: Within existing budget 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: None  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  None  

DATE OF DECISION: 24 Jun 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I011501 

 

TITLE: Desktop &  Infrastructure Software Upgrade 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To approve the cost implications of upgrading to a Microsoft 
centric desktop and infrastructure software model. 

Agenda Item 13

279



FINANCIAL IMPACT: Renewal of the Desktop infrastructure will commit the Council to 
additional revenue and capital expenditure from 2009/10 onwards.  The increased 
expenditure will be determined by scale and timing of the update of the infrastructure. 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: ICT Steering Group 

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  Internal  

DATE OF DECISION: 24 Jun 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I010999 

 

TITLE: Member Development Strategy 2008-2011 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To adopt a Member Development Strategy which outlines the 
principles and key themes for Member development over the next four years.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: There are no additional financial implications arsing from this report 
as the Learning and Development Programme will be delivered from within existing 
resources.  If any additional resources are subsequently needed these will be considered 
through the Council's budget process. 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive Member for Leisure, Corporate Services and 
Public Protection 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: Not applicable. 

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  Not applicable. 

DATE OF DECISION: Before 27 Jun 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I011475 

 

TITLE: Discretionary Rate Relief - New Applications 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To consider applications for discretionary rate relief.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: Within existing budget. 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive Member for Leisure, Corporate Services and 
Public Protection 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: None.  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  None.  

280



DATE OF DECISION: Before 30 Jun 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I010545 

 

TITLE: Capital Strategy 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To agree the Council's Capital Strategy for 2009/10 onwards  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: None at this time 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: Capital Group  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  The Council's internal capital group  

DATE OF DECISION: 22 Jul 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I010453 

 

TITLE: Commitment Budget 2009/10 - 2011/12 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To approve changes to the commitment budget  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: Within existing budget 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: N/A  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  None  

DATE OF DECISION: 22 Jul 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I010465 

 

TITLE: Calculation of Council Tax Base - 2009/10 Local Council Tax discounts - 2009/10 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To agree calculation of council tax base for 2009/10 and the 
level of local council tax discount offered for 2009/10  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: To be determined 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Director of Corporate Services 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: Not applicable.  

281



METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  None  

DATE OF DECISION: Before 26 Nov 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I010455 

 

TITLE: Draft Capital Programme 2009/10 - 2011/12 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To agree draft budget proposals for consultation  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: To be determined 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: Council Taxpayers and business ratepayers  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  To be determined  

DATE OF DECISION: 16 Dec 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I010457 

 

TITLE: Draft General Fund Revenue Budget 2009/10 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To agree draft budget proposals for consultation  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: To be determined 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: Council taxpayers and business rate payers  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  To be determined  

DATE OF DECISION: 16 Dec 2008 

 
 

REFERENCE I010459 

 

TITLE: General Fund Revenue Budget 2009/10 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To approve the General Fund Revenue Budget 2009/10 for 
submission to Council 

282



FINANCIAL IMPACT: To be determined 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: Council taxpayers and business ratepayers  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  Widespread consultation with stakeholders via meetings 
and the Council's website  

DATE OF DECISION: 10 Feb 2009 

 
 

REFERENCE I010461 

 

TITLE: Capital Programme 2009/10 - 2011/12 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To approve the capital programme 2009/10 - 2011/12 for 
submission to Council  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: To be determined 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: Executive 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: Council taxpayers and business ratepayers  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  Widespread consultation with stakeholders via meetings 
and the Council's website  

DATE OF DECISION: 10 Feb 2009 

 
 

REFERENCE I010463 

 

TITLE: Financial Reporting Process 2009/10 

PURPOSE OF DECISION: To agree the detailed Budget Book which forms the basis of the 
Council's scheme of virement  

FINANCIAL IMPACT: Within existing budget 

WHO WILL TAKE DECISION: The Leader 

PRINCIPAL GROUPS TO BE CONSULTED: N/A  

METHOD OF CONSULTATION:  None  

DATE OF DECISION: Before 10 Mar 2009 

 

283



284

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSSION 

5 JUNE 2008 
 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2008/09 

(Assistant Chief Executive) 
 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to invite members of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Commission to consider the indicative work programme for 2007/08 attached at 
Appendix 1 to this report, before formally consulting the Corporate Management 
Team (CMT) and the Executive, as required by the Council’s Constitution. 

 
 
2 SUGGESTED ACTION 
 
2.1 That the indicative overview and scrutiny 2008/09 work programme for the 

Commission attached at Appendix 1 be approved.  
 
2.2 That at its meeting on 17 July 2008, the Commission considers any 

amendments proposed by the Overview and Scrutiny Panels to their own work 
programmes, prior to consulting CMT and the Executive on the whole 
programme. 

 
 
3 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1 The work of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission and panels during 2007/08 was 

summarised in the Annual Report of Overview and Scrutiny, adopted by Council at its 
meeting on 23 April 2008. The Annual Report contained an indicative work 
programme which took account of the views of CMT and the Executive. That 
programme has been amended in Appendix 1 to reflect the Council’s decision to 
restructure Overview and Scrutiny, also to incorporate additional topics put forward by 
Members since the Annual Report was produced. 

 
3.2 The indicative work programme aims to continue the strategic and effective approach 

to Overview and Scrutiny coverage.  It recognises that the work of many of the 
Working Groups in progress in 2007/08 will extend into the 2008/09 municipal year, 
that it has to reflect the limitations on both Members’ and Officers’ time, and that it 
has to allow space for additional review topics which experience suggests will arise 
during the year. To that end, Members may choose to adopt new review topics, but 
delay starting work on some or all of them until some of the current reviews have 
been concluded, thus releasing Member and officer resources to embark on new 
reviews. This is particularly so in the case of the large number of prospective reviews 
in the Environment, Culture and Communities area.  

 
3.3 The officer resource allocated to O&S is being increased in 2008/09. However, in the 

light of experience over the last year, when 6 out of 11 planned reviews did not reach 
completion before the end of the year, it is clear that the O&S programme remains 
ambitious. Therefore, Members should note that the draft indicative programme may 
well roll into the next municipal year, as work on the reviews is refined, new, 
unplanned reviews appear, or the Commission changes its priorities in the light of 
prevailing circumstances.  

Agenda Item 14

285



 

 

  
3.4 The indicative work programme needs to be considered by the newly appointed 

Commission and Panels after the Council’s Annual Meeting in May 2008, and the 
ensuing programme will be subject to consultation with the Council’s Executive and 
Corporate Management Team, as required by the Constitution. 

 
3.5 The Panels are due to consider their work programmes at their meetings scheduled 

between 12 June and 2 July 2008. The outcome of those discussions and any 
recommended changes to the overall work programme will be reported to the 
Commission at its meeting on 17 July. 

 
3.6 The work programme for the Joint East Berkshire Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, of which the Council is a member, is determined separately by that 
Committee. 
 

Background Papers 
 
Annual Report of Overview and Scrutiny – 2007/08  
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/overview-and-scrutiny-annual-report-2007-to-2008.pdf 
 
 
Contact for further information 
 
Richard Beaumont – 01344 352283. 
e-mail: richard.beaumont@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 

286



 

 

 
APPENDIX 1 

 
 

Indicative Work Programme for Overview and Scrutiny in 2008/09 
 

 
Note – the indicative work programme in the Annual Report 2007/08 has been 
amended in the table below to reflect the Council’s decision to restructure 
Overview and Scrutiny, also to incorporate additional topics put forward since the 
Annual Report was produced.  

 
 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 

 

1. Co-ordination of the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels 
 

2. Routine Monitoring of the performance of the Council’s corporate functions 
 
To monitor the performance of the Chief Executive’s Office and the Corporate 
Services department. To include the Bracknell Town Centre regeneration and the 
building of the new Civic Hub. 
 

3. Audit Committee duties 
 
To include the review of plans and the reports of both internal and external audit. 
 

4. Exercising pre-decision scrutiny by reference to the Executive Forward Plan 
 

5. Periodic review of the Council’s strategic risk management arrangements 
 

6. Working Group on the Local Area Agreement 
 
To continue the on-going review of the new Local Area Agreement and the activities 
of the Bracknell Forest (Local Strategic) Partnership 
 

7. 2009/10 Budget Scrutiny 
 
Note – each of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels will also scrutinise the budget 
proposals in their departmental areas. 
 

8.  
(New) 

Review of the Council’s Reorganisation 
 
To review the delivery of the Council’s reorganisation from three Service 
Departments to two in April 2008. 
 

 
SOCIAL CARE AND LEARNING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

 

1. Monitoring the performance of the Social Care and Learning department. 
 

2. Monitoring the implementation of the action plans for Supporting People and 
Adult Social Care 
 

287



 

 

3. Monitoring the action taken by the Executive to earlier reports by the Panel 
 
This would include a review of action taken in response to the O&S report on Anti-
Social Behaviour 
 

4. Exercising pre-decision scrutiny by reference to the Executive Forward Plan 
 

5. Budget Scrutiny 
 
To review the 2009/10 budget proposals for the Social Care and Learning 
department. 
 

6. Carers 
 
To complete the work of the working group undertaking a detailed review of the 
Council’s arrangements for carers. 
 

7. Care Homes 
 
To continue the work of the working group on Care Homes in the Borough. 
 

8. Social Care Modernisation Agenda 
 
To complete the work of the working group undertaking a detailed review of the 
Council’s implementation of the social care modernisation agenda, with particular 
reference to services for adults with learning disabilities.  
 

9. Refreshed Children and Young People Plan 2007 
 
To complete the work of the working group reviewing the refreshed Children and 
Young People Plan with particular reference to ‘English as an Additional Language’ 
(EAL). 
 

10. Extended Services/Children’s Centres 
 
To complete the work of the working group undertaking a detailed review of 
Extended Services/Children’s Centres jointly with the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel.   
 

11. 
(New) 

Adult Learning 
 
A strategic review, with particular reference to the new funding arrangements. 
 

 
ENVIRONMENT CULTURE AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

 

1. Monitoring the performance of  the Environment Culture and Communities 
department 
 

2. Exercising pre-decision scrutiny by reference to the Executive Forward Plan 
 

3. Budget Scrutiny 
 
To review the 2009/10 budget proposals for the Environment Culture and 
Communities department. 

288



 

 

4. Contributing to the development of the Community Arts Development Plan 
 

5. Strategic review of waste 
 
To complete the work of the working group undertaking the review of the new waste 
Private Finance Initiative Re3 contract and the experience of the first year of 
Alternate Bin Collection. 
 

6. Street cleaning / street scene 
 
To complete the work of the working group undertaking a detailed review of the 
Council’s performance in this area. 
 

7. 
(New) 

The Council’s Housing Functions 
 
Following the transfer of the Council’s housing stock, to review the Council’s housing 
role, including the interface with Registered Social Landlords and addressing the 
Borough’s needs for Affordable Housing. 
 

8. 
(New) 

Climate Change and the Nottingham Declaration 
 
To review progress on implementing the actions flowing from the Council signing the 
Nottingham Declaration and in applying the new performance indicators set by 
government. 
 

9. 
(New) 

Leisure Trust 
 
To monitor developments on the potential creation of a Leisure Trust. 
 

10. 
(New) 

Residential Parking 
 
To review issues concerning residential parking in the Borough, and to contribute to 
the formation of new policy.  
 

11. 
(New) 

Road Traffic Casualties (Part 2) 
 
The May 2008 report of the working group on the review of road traffic casualties has 
recommended that the panel consider, as a low priority, reviewing the operational 
issues connected with the reduction of road traffic casualties in the Borough. 
 

 
HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

 

 
1. 

 
Monitoring the implementation of the Borough’s Health and Well-Being 
Strategy  
 

 
2. 

 
Monitoring the Berkshire East Primary Care Trust’s budget for health care in 
the Borough 
 

3. Extended Services/Children’s Centres 
 
To complete the work of the working group undertaking a detailed review of 
Extended Services/Children’s Centres jointly with the Social Care and Learning 

289



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel.   
 

4. Patient focus 
 
To continue the work of the working group undertaking a detailed review centred on 
General Practitioner services. 
 

5. In conjunction with the Joint East Berkshire Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, monitoring the performance of the Berkshire East PCT 
 

6. Contributing to the annual ‘Health Check’ process and responding to 
consultations by the PCT and NHS Trusts operating in the Borough. 
 

7. 
(New) 

Maternity Services 
 
To review the quality and operations of maternity services in the Borough, with 
reference to the latest Healthcare Commission’s assessment that Heatherwood and 
Wexham Park Hospitals Trust give a ‘fair performing’ service. 
 

8. 
(New) 

The PCT’s New Commissioning Strategy 
 
To monitor the Berkshire East PCT’s Commissioning Strategy, following the ‘Right 
Care Right Place’ consultation. 
 

 
 
Note – This programme may need to be amended to meet new requirements arising during 
the year. 
 

290


	Agenda
	2 Minutes and Matters Arising
	5 External Auditor's Annual Audit and Inspection Letter
	Item 5 - External Auditor's Letter

	6 Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2007/08
	7 Corporate Performance Overview Report
	8 Performance Monitoring Reports (PMR)
	Item 8 - internet only - PMR - Corporate Services

	10 CPA Corporate Assessment Final Audit Commission Report and Improvement Plan
	Item 10 - ExCA Final AC Report & Improvement 2
	Item 10 -  Appendix B (3)
	Item 10 - internet only CPA Report

	11 Road Traffic Casualties - Working Group Report
	13 Executive Forward Plan
	14 Work Programme for 2008/09 Municipal Year

